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|dentifying data

Name: Caja Rural de Navarra (S. Coop. de Crédito)

Registered offices: Plaza de los Fueros, 1. 31003 PAMPLONA
Telephone: 948 16 81 00

Telex: 37764 CUNAE

Fax: 948 24 45 57 [ 948 24 08 67

Tax Identification No.: F / 31 -021611

Qualified Cooperative Bank.

(legal status allowing the credit co-operative to administer government lending)
Registered with the Bank of Spain: No. 3008

Registered with the Labour Ministry,

General Register of Credit Co-operatives: No. 344 /s.° M. T. 2,163.
Registered with the Mercantile Registry of Navarra:

No. 6790, Volume 11, page 175, sheet NAT183.

Included in the Credit Co-operatives Guarantee Deposit Fund:
Member of Banco Cooperativo Espanol.

Member of the Spanish Association of Credit Co-Operatives
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Governing Bodies

Board of Directors

Chairman: D. Ignacio Terés Los Arcos
Vice-Chairman: D. José Angel Ezcurra Ibarrola
Secretary: D. Marcelino Efayo Andueza
Board Members: D. JesUs Andrés Mauledn Arana
. Jesus Andrés Mauledn Arana
. Manuel Garcia Diaz de Cerio
. Pedro Jesus Irisarri Valencia
. Roberto Zabaleta Ciriza
. Pedro Maria Echarte Seviné
. Gabiriel Urrutia Aicega
. Francisco Javier Artajo Carlos
. Jesus Maria Del Castillo Torres
. Alberto Arrondo Lahera
. Carlos Snchez Diestro
. Fernando Olleta Gayarre

0000000000

Executive Committee

Chairman: D. Ignacio Terés Los Arcos
Vice-Chairman: D. José Angel Ezcurra Ibarrola

Secretary: D. Marcelino Etayo Andueza
Board Members: D. Pedro Maria Echarte Seviné
Board Members: D. Pedro Jesus Irisarri Valencia

Chief Executive Officer

D. Ignacio Arrieta del Valle
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MANAGEMENT REPORT 2018

Throughout 2018 the tone of activity on global financial markets was heavily
conditioned by a range of economic and geo-political uncertainties,
ranging from US/China trade tensions to a potential Brexit deal in Europe. All
these factors impacted capital markets which in turn hampered the global,
European and Spanish economies, affecting both 2018 performances and
2019 forecasts. Prices of the vast maijority of financial assets worldwide ended
the year down. The modest slowdown in the world economy was complicated
by some potentially highly destabilizing factors such as rising protectionism and
frade disputes, the ascent of populist political parties, Brexit negotiations, falling
commodity prices, violent bouts of monetary crisis in emerging markets such as
Turkey and Argentina and swelling public and private debt worldwide.

Overthe year, the maininternationalbodies downgraded their annual estimates
for global growth, most recently the OECD in November which trimmed 4 tenths
of a point from its May forecast to 3.5%. The euro zone economy was one of
the big disappointments, with growth dipping below 2% after unexpectedly
weak performances by the German and Italian economies in H2. More than
a decade on from the outbreak of the global financial crisis the monetary
authorities for the world's leading economic zones are still very active although
the divergence between Europe and the US continued in 2018. The Fed stuck to
an openly restrictive tone and put through four 0.25 point rate hikes in the year,
most recently in December to 2.50%. The European Central Bank (ECB) started
to row back its expansionary policy and, although benchmark rates remain
at zero, purchases of public and private debt have been gradually reduced
since January to vanish by end-December. As from the beginning of 2019, the
bank will only be reinvesting the proceeds of maturing debt. Expectations of an
initial ECB rate hike were repeatedly pushed back until at end-2018 they were
no longer expected before 2020.

In Spain, the economy entered a more mature phase of the cycle in 2018,
as expected, reflecting the gradual diminution of favourable tailwinds and
the impact of specific risk factors, notably the slowdown in the global and
European economies and crisis in some emerging economies. Two drivers of
the Spanish economy sputtered: consumption, undermined by the gradual
erosion of pent-up demand and other factors, and exports, suffering knock-
on effects from less dynamic European and emerging markets. On this point,
the sharp decline in the oil price over the last two months is good news for
the Spanish economy, cutting energy bills and making imports cheaper. As
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is the fact that the expected economic slowdown in Europe and instability
around the euro zone's struggles with the finances of major member states
like Italy, are extending the euro’s slide and so structurally boosting the intense
and dominant export business of the principal Spanish companies, most of
which are listed. The Bank of Spain, European Commission and OECD have all
reduced their estimates and by the end of 2018 were forecasting GDP growth
of 2.6% in 2018 and 2.2% in 2019. By component, consumption and exports
were downgraded but investment and construction estimates were raised as
were those for capital goods and intangibles.

The world’s leading stock market indices ended 2018 with substantial
accumulatedlosses, oscillating between -9.1% and -10.7%, following sharp gains
of near 20% in the prior year. The sharpest falls in stock prices were concentrated
on December. European and Spanish stock markets lost more than the global
average. The IBEX 35, Spain’s leading index, fell 15% and the pan-European
EuroStoxx50 14.3%.

In summary, Spain’s macro-economic and corporate environment was mainly
determined in 2018 by the following points:

» Cooling expectations for national and international growth with a switch in
consensus opinion during Q4 towards a less positive short- and medium-term
outlook.

e The US brought forward the timing of the change in monetary policy cycle.
Europe is expecting the same in 2019 with weakened growth fundamentals.

* The euro slipped versus the dollar. Oil prices rose steadily year-long only to fall
sharply by near 35% in the final quarter. Spain’s risk premium rose 80% in the
last 9 months.

* In Europe, weak public revenues and spending promises drove politicians
to make near impossible and unwise commitments: the euro and welfare
policies remain under pressure amid growing migratory pressures.

* After the Commission rejected the Italion budget, triggering a face-off
between Rome and Europe, downgraded growth forecasts and political
instability are also feeding through to Spain via the difficulties in getting the
budget through.

* Listed companies defied the uncertainties with their earnings and improved
financial strength.

These points will mostly continue to apply in 2019, which means that the macro
uncertainty is unlikely to disappear, although forecasts seem to be moving
increasingly toward a central scenario of economic slowdown without fipping
into recession.
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Financial Report of the Year
Consolidated balance sheet at 31/12/18 and 31/12/17

CHANGE

w THOUSANDS
31/12/2018 31122017 OF EUROS %

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Cash. cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 351449 343482 7,967 2.32%
Financial assets held for trading 7730 7483 247 3.30%
Derivatives 2,643 3,564 921 -25.83%
Equity instruments 3726 3919 -193 -491%
Debt securities 1,360 0 1,360 -
Financial assets not held for frading mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss 17,555 0 17,555 -
Debt securities 717 0 7171 -
Loans and advances 10,385 0 10,385 -
Customers 10,385 0 10,385 -
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0 -
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 746,490 2,811,308 2064818  -73.45%
Equity instruments 202,113 166,506 35,607 21.38%
Debt securities 544,377 2,644,802 -2,100,425 -79.42%
Financial assets at amortized cost 10,594,940 8,066,921 2528019  31.34%
Debt securities 2,716,139 616,373 2,099,766 340.66%
Loans and advances 7,878,802 7,450,548 428,254 5.75%
Credit institutions 100,002 115,786 -15,784 -13.63%
Customers 7,778,800 7,334,762 444,038 6.05%
Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge 65,020 0 65,020
Derivatives — hedge accounting 4774 80 4,694 5867.20%
Fair value changes to hedged items in portfolio hedges for interest rate risk 0 0 0 -
Investments in joint ventures and associates 49,945 49,671 274 0.55%
Associates 49,945 49,671 274 0.55%
Assets backed by insurance or reinsurance policies 0 0 0 -
Tangible assets 217,557 209,482 8,075 3.85%
Property and equipment 208,293 203,431 4,862 2.39%
For own use 208,122 203,260 4,862 2.39%
Assigned to welfare projects 171 171 0 0.11%
Investment property 9264 6051 3213 5310%
Of which: assigned under operating leases 584 627 -43 -6.84%
Memorandum items: acquired under leases 970 1219 249 -2039%
Intangible assets 1,797 12,297 -500 -4.07%
Goodwill 8,297 8,297 0 0.00%
Other intangible assets 3,500 4,000 500 -12.50%
Tax assets 43,637 48,106 -4,469 -9.29%
Current tax assets 3,170 2772 398 14.36%
Deferred tax assets 40,467 45,334 -4,867 -10.74%
Other assets 108,779 110,413 -1,634 -1.48%
Inventories 77,635 76,537 1,098 1.43%
Other 31,144 33,876 2,732 -8.06%
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale 48212 66,995 -18,783  -28.04%

TOTAL ASSETS 12202865 11726238 476627  406%

(*) To facilitate comparison with 2018, 2017 figures have been adapted to the presentation formats requi-
red by Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017
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CHANGE
31/12/2018  31/12/2017 (* % %
Financial liabilities held for trading 769 116 -347 -31.10%
Derivatives 769 1116 -347 -31.10%
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 10,877,827 10,398,133 479,694 4.61%
Deposits 9,095,208 8,604,262 490,946 571%
Central banks 927,862 931,642 -3,780 041%
Credit institutions 155,433 148,315 7118 4.80%
Customers 8,011,914 7,524,305 487,609 6.48%
Debt securities issued 1,653,935 1,657,010 3,075 0.19%
Other financial liabilities 128,684 136,861 8,177 597%
Derivatives — hedge accounting 251 0 251
Fair value changes to hedged items in portfolio hedges for interest rate risk 0 0 0
Liabilities backed by insurance or reinsurance policies 0 0 0
Provisions 93,111 93,511 -400 -0.43%
Pensions and other defined-benefit post-employment obligations 1,020 1,001 19 1.85%
Commitments and guarantees given 8,195 9.919 -1,724 -17.38%
Other provisions 83,897 82,591 1,306 1.58%
Tax liabilities 7,834 21,802 -13,948 -64.07%
Current tax liabilities 2,002 1,667 335 20.11%
Deferred tax liabilities 5832 20,135 -14,303 -71.03%
Share capital redeemable on demand 0 0 0
Other liabilities 93,982 123,162 -29,180 -23.69%
Of which: assigned to welfare projects 26,579 20,686 5,893 28.49%
Liabilities included in disposal groups held for sale 0 0 0
TOTAL LIABILITIES 11,073,775 10,637,724 436,051 4.10%
Shareholders' equity 1122515 1,049,187 73,328 6.99%
Share capital 167,380 168,272 -892 -0.53%
Called up paid capital 167,380 168,272 -892 -0.53%
Retained earnings 834,422 749,593 84,829 11.32%
Other reserves 28,796 42,030 -13,234 -31.49%
Accumulated reserves or losses from joint ventures and associates 4971 7,032 2,061 29.31%
Other 23,825 34,998 -11173 -31.92%
(-) Treasury shares 0 -1,158 1,158 -100.00%
Profit or (-) loss attributable to owners of the parent 93,502 92,413 1,089 1.18%
(-) Interim dividends -1,585 -1.963 378 -19.26%
Accumulated other comprehensive income 8,575 39,109 -32,534 -83.19%
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 8928 0 8,928
Changes in fair value of equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income 8928 0 8928
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 2353 39,109 -41,462  -106.02%
Changes in fair value of debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income -2.353 39,109 -41,462  -106.02%
Non-controlling interests 0 218 218 -100.00%
Accumulated other comprehensive income 0 218 218 -100.00%
TOTAL EQUITY 1,129,090 1,088,514 40,576 3.73%
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 12,202,865 11,726,238 476,627 4.06%
MEMORANDUM ITEMS: OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES
Contingent commitments given 1115829 1,167,334 -51,505 -441%
Financial guarantees given 83,597 86,251 -2,654 -3.08%
Other commitments given 553,078 674,827 -121,751 -18.04%

(*) To facilitate comparison with 2018, 2017 figures have been adapted to the presentation formats requi-
red by Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017
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VARIACIONES
MILES DE
31/12/2018 3122007 (Y) "EUROS %
Interest income 160,986 174,815 -13,849 -1.92%
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 1763 36,374 -34,611 95.15%
Financial assets at amortized cost 152480 132,244 20,236 15.30%
Other interest income 6723 6,197 526 8.49%
(Interest expense) -25,009 -33,868 8,859 -26.16%
(Expense on share capital redeemable on demand) 0 0 0 -
A) NET INTEREST INCOME 135,957 140,947 -4,990 -3.54%
Dividend income 6,019 9,365 -3,346 -35.73%
Profit (loss) of companies accounted for using the equity method 3159 2414 745 30.86%
Fee and commission income 71,603 68,876 2721 3.96%
(Fee and commission expense) -4,784 -4,452 -332 147%
Gains or () losses on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value
through profit or loss. net 2,140 48,200 -46,060 -95.56%
Financial assets at amortized cost 1743 145 1,598 1101.91%
Other financial assets and liabilities 398 48,055 -47,657 99.17%
Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading. net -198 147 345 -234.85%
Other gains or (-) losses -198 147 -345 -234.85%
Gains or (-) losses on financial assets not held for frading mandatorily measured at fair value
through profit or loss. net (287) -2,956 0 -2,956
Other gains or (-) losses 2956 2,956
n(e}fains or (-) losses on financial assets or liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss. 0 0 0
Gains or (-) losses from hedge accounting. net 100 197 -97 -49.01%
Gains or (-) losses from translation differences. net 929 43 186 25.03%
Other operating income 318,157 286,794 29,363 10.24%
(Other operating expenses) -251,368 -274,512 23,144 -8.43%
Of which: mandatory provisions assigned to welfare projects 9,963 9,425 -538 571%
Income from assets backed by insurance or reinsurance policies 0 0 0
(Expenses from liabilities backed by insurance or reinsurance policies) 0 0 0 .
B) GROSS INCOME 276,758 278,719 -1,981 -0.70%
(Administrative expenses) -150,334 -141,274 -9,060 641%
(Personnel expenses) 75,528 71919 -3,609 5.02%
(Other operating expenses) -74,806 69,385 5,451 7.86%
(Depreciation and amortization) -15,364 -14,409 -955 6.63%
(Provisions or (-) reversals) n3 -19,662 20,375 -103.83%
(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment and gains or losses from cash flow modifications of financial
assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss and net modification losses or (-) gains) -8,444 -14,070 5,626 -39.99%
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 735 -495 1,230 -248.46%
Financial assets at amortized cost 9179 -13,575 4,396 -32.39%
(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on investments in joint ventures and associates) -9 0 -9 -
(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets) -154 -953 799 -83.85%
(Tangible assets) -36 -302 266 -87.96%
(Intangible assets) 0 0 0 -
(Other) -118 -651 533 -81.95%
Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of non-financial assets. net 1,350 -345 1,495 -491.35%
Negative goodwill recognized in profit or loss 0 0 0
di(s‘yg(;r;\stﬂj(e)dlzs’:s)zsrc:rt?ommnon current assets and disposal groups held for sale not classified as 1634 3444 1810 52547
C) PROFIT OR (-) LOSS BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 106,081 91,450 14,631 16.00%
(Tax expense or (-) income on profit from continuing operations) -12.579 968 13547 -1399.46%
D) PROFIT OR (-) LOSS AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 93,502 92418 1,084 117%
Profit or (-) loss after tax from discontinued operations 0 0 0
E) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 93,502 92418 1,084 117%
Aftributable to non-controlling interests 0 5 -5 -100.00%
Attributable to owners of the parent 93,502 92,413 1,089 1.18%

(*) To facilitate comparison with 2018, 2017 figures have been adapted to the presentation formats required
by Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017
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PROPOSED APPROPRIATION OF NET SURPLUS

Thousand euro
Profit (loss) before mandatory allocation

to the Social Welfare Fund 101.213
Interest to be paid to members

on capital contributions 1.585
TOTAL AVAILABLE FOR APPROPRIATION 99.628
APPROPRIATION OF SURPLUS

Allocations to the Social Welfare Fund (1) 9.963
Allocations to the Mandatory Reserve Fund 89.665
TOTAL DISTRIBUTED 99.628

(1): Recognised in the income statement as a mandatory allocation

NOTE: The profits or losses of consolidated
subsidiaries will be appropriated as agreed
at their respective General Shareholders’
Meetings.
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Commentsto the Financial Statements

BALANCE (Millions of euro)
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Caja Rural de Navarra, Sociedad Cooperativa
de Crédito y sociedades dependientes
(Grupo Consolidado)

Informe de auditoria,
Cuentas anuales consolidadas al 31 de diciembre de 2018

e Informe de gestién consolidado del ejercicio 2018
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Informe de auditoria de cuentas anuales consolidadas
emitido por un auditor independiente

A los Socios de Caja Rural de Navarra, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito:

Informe sobre las cuentas anuales consolidadas

Opinién

Hemos auditado las cuentas anuales consolidadas de Caja Rural de Navarra, Sociedad Cooperativa de
Crédito (la Entidad dominante) y sus sociedades dependientes (el Grupo), que comprenden el balance
a 31 de diciembre de 2018, la cuenta de pérdidas y ganancias, el estado de ingresos y gastos
reconocidos, el estado total de cambios en el patrimonio neto, el estado de flujos de efectivo y la
memoria, todos ellos consolidados, correspondientes al ejercicio terminado en dicha fecha.

En nuestra opinién, las cuentas anuales consolidadas adjuntas expresan, en todos los aspectos
significativos, la imagen fiel del patrimonio y de la situacién financiera del Grupo a 31 de diciembre de
2018, asf como de sus resultados y flujos de efectivo, todos ellos consolidados, correspondientes al
ejercicio terminado en dicha fecha, de conformidad con las Normas Internacionales de Informacién
Financiera, adoptadas por la Unién Europea (NIIF-UE), y demés disposiciones del marco normativo
de informacién financiera que resultan de aplicacién en Espaiia.

Fundamento de la opinién

Hemos llevado a cabo nuestra auditorfa de conformidad con la normativa reguladora de la actividad de
auditoria de cuentas vigente en Espaiia. Nuestras responsabilidades de acuerdo con dichas normas se
describen més adelante en la seccién Responsabilidades del auditor en relacién con la auditoria de
las cuentas anuales consolidadas de nuestro informe.

Somos independientes del Grupo de conformidad con los requerimientos de ética, incluidos los de
independencia, que son aplicables a nuestra auditoria de las cuentas anuales consolidadas en Espaiia,
segiin lo exigido por la normativa reguladora de la actividad de auditoria de cuentas. En este sentido,
no hemos prestado servicios distintos a los de la auditoria de cuentas ni han concurrido situaciones o
circunstancias que, de acuerdo con lo establecido en la citada normativa reguladora, hayan afectado a
la necesaria independencia de modo que se haya visto comprometida.

Consideramos que la evidencia de auditoria que hemos obtenido proporciona una base suficiente y
adecuada para nuestra opinion.

Cuestiones clave de la auditoria

Las cuestiones clave de la auditoria son aquellas cuestiones que, segin nuestro juicio profesional, han
sido de la mayor significatividad en nuestra auditoria de las cuentas anuales consolidadas del periodo
actual. Estas cuestiones han sido tratadas en el contexto de nuestra auditoria de las cuentas anuales
consolidadas en su conjunto, y en la formacién de nuestra opini6n sobre éstas, y no expresamos una
opinién por separado sobre esas cuestiones.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L., Parque Tomdas Caballero, 2, 6.9 planta, 31006 Pamplona, Espaiia,
Tel.: +34 948 213 157 / +34 902 021 111, Fax: +34 948 228 770, WWWw.pwc.es 1

R. M. Madrid, hoja 87.250-1, follo 75, tomo 9.267, libro 8.054, seccién 3*
Inscrita en el R.0.A.C. con el numero S0242 - CIF: B-79 031290
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Caja Rural de Navarra, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito y

sociedades dependientes (Grupo Consolidado)

‘Cuestiones clave de la anditoria Modo en ¢l que se han tratado en la audita

Correcciones de valor por deterioro de
acttvos financieros, cartera crediticia

La determinacién de las correcciones de valor
por deterioro de la cartera crediticia
constituye una de las estimaciones mas
complejas y de mayor relevancia en la
preparacion de las cuentas anuales
consolidadas adjuntas.

El 1 de enero de 2018 ha entrado en vigor la
Norma Internacional de Informacion
Financiera 9 (NIIF 9) cuya modificaci6n
principal supone que los modelos de céleulo
de deterioro pasen a considerar la pérdida
esperada en lugar de pérdida incurrida.

La evaluacién del deterioro por riesgo de
crédito se basa en modelos que suponen un
elevado componente de juicio para la
determinacion de las pérdidas por deterioro,
considerando elementos como:

* La clasificacién de las diferentes carteras
crediticias en funcion de su perfil de
riesgo de crédito.

* Laidentificacién y clasificacion de los
activos en vigilancia especial o
deteriorados.

*  La utilizacién de hipétesis con efecto en
las provisiones, asi como de estimaciones
sobre la consecucion de un determinado
nivel de flujos de efectivo por parte de los
acreditados cuyo deterioro se estima
individualmente, en base a la filtima
informacién disponible.

«  Elvalor realizable de las garantias reales
asociadas a las operaciones crediticias
concedidas.

En este contexto, el Grupo utiliza modelos
que, teniendo como base su experiencia y la
informacion que tiene del sector bancario
donde opera, asi como de las previsiones
sobre condiciones futuras, le permiten
estimar las provisiones colectivas por riesgo
de crédito y las provisiones para riesgos
estimadas de manera individualizada.

Ver notas 1, 2y 10 de la memoria de las
cuentas anuales consolidadas adjuntas.

Nuestro trabajo sobre la estimacion del deterioro de
la cartera crediticia se ha centrado en el anélisis,
evaluacion y comprobacién del marco general de
control interno, la realizacién de pruebas de detalle
sobre las provisiones estimadas tanto colectiva
como individualmente, asi como sobre los impactos
por primera aplicacioén de la norma.

Respecto al sistema de control interno, entre otros,
hemos realizado los siguientes procedimientos:

*  Entendimiento y revision de las metodologias
de cileulo aplicadas.

+  Verificacion de la adecuacién de las distintas
politicas y procedimientos aprobados por los
Organos de Gobierno del Grupo a los
requerimientos normativos aplicables.

»  Comprobacion de los principales aspectos
relativos al entorno de seguridad de los
sistemnas de informaci6én que soportan el calculo
de provisiones.

*  Revisién de la evaluacién periédica de riesgos y
alertas de seguimiento efectuada por el Grupo
para la identificacién de riesgos que pudieran
considerarse en vigilancia especial o
deteriorados.

+  Evaluacion de que el proceso de revision
peribdica de expedientes de acreditados para el
seguimiento de su clasificacion contable y
registro del deterioro, en los casos en los que
aplica, se realiza de forma adecuada.

Adicionalmente, hemos realizado pruebas de detalle
consistentes en:

*  Comprobaciones selectivas de las bases de
datos de calculo de provisiones, contrastando
los principales atributos con documentacién
soporte.

*  Re-ejecucion del célculo de las provisiones
colectivas por riesgo de crédito.

+  Evaluaci6n de la idoneidad de los modelos de
descuento de flujos de efectivo para el cdlculo
de provisiones por andlisis individualizado.
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Caja Rural de Navarra, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito y

Cuestiones clave de la auditoria

sociedades dependientes (Grupo Consolidado)

Modeo en el que se han tratado en la aurin

*  Revision de una seleccion de expedientes para
evaluar su adecuada clasificacién y registro y,
en su caso, del correspondiente deterioro.

Cualquier diferencia obtenida como resultado de
nuestros procedimientos respecto a los célculos de
la Direccién se ha mantenido en un rango razonable
en relacion al importe incluido en las cuentas
anuales consolidadas adjuntas.

Provisiones por litigios fiscales, legales y
regulatorios

El Grupo se encuentra inmerso en
procedimientos administrativos, judiciales o
de cualquier otra indole, relacionados con
asuntos de naturaleza legal, fiscal y
regulatoria, principalmente, resultantes del
curso normal de su actividad.

En este contexto, también existen situaciones
que, aun no estando sujetas a proceso
judicial, precisan del registro de provisiones,
de acuerdo a la evaluacion de la Direccion,
como pueden ser las vinculadas a los posibles
impactos de la devolucién de las cantidades
percibidas como consecuencia de la
aplicacién del Real Decreto-Ley 1/2017, de
medidas de proteccién de consumidores en
materia de cldusulas suelo.

Generalmente, debido a la complejidad de
estos procedimientos y al largo periodo de
tiempo en que se desarrollan, tanto la
determinacién del resultado previsto de
dichos procedimientos como la evaluacion de
su efecto econémico son asuntos de especial
complejidad e incertidumbre en cuanto a su
posible desenlace y/o cuantia definitiva. En
consecuencia, la estimacion de las
provisiones por litigios es una de las areas
que conlleva un mayor componente de
estimacién en cuanto a su posible impacto en
las cuentas anuales consolidadas adjuntas.

Hemos analizado y documentado nuestro
entendimiento del proceso implantado por el Grupo
de identificacién y evaluacién de los litigios y
procesos abiertos y del proceso de registro de
provisiones por parte del Grupo, centrando
nuestros procedimientos en aspectos como:

+  Comprension de la politica de calificacion de
las reclamaciones y litigios y asignaci6n de
provisién, en su caso.

+  Andlisis de las principales tipologias de
demandas, reclamaciones y litigios vigentes.

*  Obtencién de cartas de confirmacién de
abogados y asesores que trabajan con el Grupo
para contrastar su evaluacion del resultado
esperado de las reclamaciones o litigios, la
totalidad de la informacion, el correcto registro
de las provisiones, asi como la identificaci6n de
potenciales pasivos omitidos.

+  Andlisis del registro, estimacion y movimiento
de provisiones contables.
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Cuestiones clave de la auditoria Modo en el que se han tratado en la auditoria
El Grupo registra una provisién por estos De forma especifica para las provisiones destinadas
conceptos, estimando, por tanto, el a la compensacion a clientes y cubrir los desenlaces
desembolso asociado como probable en base  de contingencias relacionadas con cliusulas suelo,
a las estimaciones realizadas, aplicando nuestros procedimientos se centraron en:
procedimientos de cilculo consistentes con la

experiencia de éxito, andlisis legal y las +  Evaluacién de la metodologia e hipétesis
condiciones de incertidumbre inherentes con empleadas por el Grupo, verificando que las
las obligaciones que cubren. mismas son consistentes con el marco contable

de aplicacion.

Ver notas 2 y 18 de la memoria de las cuentas

anuales consolidadas adjuntas. +  Comprobacién de la utilizacion de datos
histéricos para la determinacién de las
provisiones a mantener.

»  Analisis de una selecciéon de demandas y
reclamaciones, verificando la correcta
agrupacion de casos por tipologia para el
célculo de provisiones.

+  Andlisis de una seleccién de operaciones con
cldusulas suelo, verificando la trazabilidad de
los principales atributos determinantes de la
provision con los célculos del Grupo.

+ Confirmacion de abogados internos con
relacion a la totalidad de los procesos abiertos.

El resultado de nuestro trabajo pone de manifiesto
que las provisiones por litigios fiscales, legales y
regulatorios incluidas en las cuentas anuales
consolidadas adjuntas se encuentran en un rango
adecuado, derivado de la aplicacién de juicios
razonables en su proceso de evaluacién y
estimacién, teniendo en cuenta las particularidades
de las diversas reclamaciones, litigios y resto de
contingencias identificadas y comunicadas por la
Direccion del Grupo y/o los asesores legales y
fiscales.

Otra informacién: Informe de gestion consolidado

La otra informacién comprende exclusivamente el informe de gestién consolidado del gjercicio 2018,
cuya formulacién es responsabilidad de los administradores de la Entidad dominante y no forma parte
integrante de las cuentas anuales consolidadas.

Nuestra opinion de auditoria sobre las cuentas anuales consolidadas no cubre el informe de gestién
consolidado. Nuestra responsabilidad sobre la informacién contenida en el informe de gestion
consolidado se encuentra definida en la normativa reguladora de la actividad de auditoria de cuentas,
que establece dos niveles diferenciados sobre la misma:
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a)  Un nivel especifico que resulta de aplicacion al estado de la informacién no financiera, asi como
a determinada informacién incluida en el Informe Anual de Gobierno Corporativo, segiin se
define en el art. 35.2. b) de la Ley 22/2015, de Auditoria de Cuentas, que consiste en comprobar
Unicamente que la citada informacion se ha facilitado en el informe de gestién, o en su caso, que
se ha incorporado en éste la referencia correspondiente al informe separado sobre la
informacion no financiera en la forma prevista en la normativa, y en caso contrario, a informar
sobre ello.

b)  Un nivel general aplicable al resto de la informacién incluida en el informe de gestién
consolidado, que consiste en evaluar e informar sobre la concordancia de la citada informacién
con las cuentas anuales consolidadas, a partir del conocimiento del Grupo obtenido en la
realizacién de la auditoria de las citadas cuentas y sin incluir informacién distinta de la obtenida
como evidencia durante la misma, asi como evaluar e informar de si el contenido y presentacién
de esta parte del informe de gestién consolidado son conformes a la normativa que resulta de
aplicacion. Si, basdndonos en el trabajo que hemos realizado, concluimos que existen
incorrecciones materiales, estamos obligados a informar de ello.

Sobre la base del trabajo realizado, segiin lo descrito anteriormente, hemos comprobado que la
informacién no financiera mencionada en el apartado a) anterior se facilita en el informe de gestion
consolidado y que el resto de la informacién que contiene el informe de gestién consolidado concuerda
con la de las cuentas anuales consolidadas del ejercicio 2018 y su contenido y presentacién son
conformes a la normativa que resulta de aplicacién.

Responsabilidad de los administradores y de la Comisién de Auditoria en relacion
con las cuentas anuales consolidadas

Los administradores de la Entidad dominante son responsables de formular las cuentas anuales
consolidadas adjuntas, de forma que expresen la imagen fiel del patrimonio, de la situacién financiera
y de los resultados consolidados del Grupo, de conformidad con las NIIF-UE y demés disposiciones del
marco normativo de informacién financiera aplicable al Grupo en Espaiia, y del control interno que
consideren necesario para permitir la preparacion de cuentas anuales consolidadas libres de
incorreccién material, debida a fraude o error.

En la preparacion de las cuentas anuales consolidadas, los administradores de la Entidad dominante
son responsables de la valoracién de la capacidad del Grupo para continuar como empresa en
funcionamiento, revelando, segiin corresponda, las cuestiones relacionadas con empresa en
funcionamiento y utilizando el principio contable de empresa en funcionamiento excepto si los citados
administradores tienen intencion de liquidar el Grupo o de cesar sus operaciones, o bien no exista otra
alternativa realista.

La Comisi6n de Auditoria de la Entidad dominante es responsable de la supervisién del proceso de
elaboracién y presentacién de las cuentas anuales consolidadas.

Responsabilidades del auditor en relacién con la auditorta de las cuentas anuales
consolidadas

Nuestros objetivos son obtener una seguridad razonable de que las cuentas anuales consolidadas en su
conjunto estan libres de incorreccién material, debida a fraude o error, y emitir un informe de
auditoria que contiene nuestra opinién.
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Seguridad razonable es un alto grado de seguridad pero no garantiza que una auditorfa realizada de
conformidad con la normativa reguladora de la actividad de auditoria de cuentas vigente en Espaifia
siempre detecte una incorreccioén material cuando existe. Las incorrecciones pueden deberse a fraude
o error y se consideran materiales si, individualmente o de forma agregada, puede preverse
razonablemente que influyan en las decisiones econ6émicas que los usuarios toman basdndose en las
cuentas anuales consolidadas.

Como parte de una auditoria de conformidad con la normativa reguladora de la actividad de auditoria
de cuentas vigente en Espafia, aplicamos nuestro juicio profesional y mantenemos una actitud de
escepticismo profesional durante toda la auditoria. También:

. Identificamos y valoramos los riesgos de incorreccién material en las cuentas anuales
consolidadas, debida a fraude o error, disefiamos y aplicamos procedimientos de auditoria para
responder a dichos riesgos y obtenemos evidencia de auditoria suficiente y adecuada para
proporcionar una base para nuestra opini6n. El riesgo de no detectar una incorreccién material
debida a fraude es més elevado que en el caso de una incorreccién material debida a error, ya
que el fraude puede implicar colusion, falsificacion, omisiones deliberadas, manifestaciones
intencionadamente erréneas, o la elusién del control interno.

. Obtenemos conocimiento del control interno relevante para la auditoria con el fin de disefiar
procedimientos de auditoria que sean adecuados en funcién de las circunstancias, y no con la
finalidad de expresar una opinién sobre la eficacia del control interno del Grupo.

. Evaluamos si las politicas contables aplicadas son adecuadas y la razonabilidad de las
estimaciones contables y la correspondiente informacién revelada por los administradores de la
Entidad dominante.

. Concluimos sobre si es adecuada la utilizacién, por los administradores de la Entidad
dominante, del principio contable de empresa en funcionamiento y, basdndonos en la evidencia
de auditoria obtenida, concluimos sobre si existe o no una incertidumbre material relacionada
con hechos o con condiciones que pueden generar dudas significativas sobre la capacidad del
Grupo para continuar como empresa en funcionamiento. Si concluimos que existe una
incertidumbre material, se requiere que llamemos la atencién en nuestro informe de auditorfa
sobre la correspondiente informacién revelada en las cuentas anuales consolidadas o, si dichas
revelaciones no son adecuadas, que expresemos una opinién modificada. Nuestras conclusiones
se basan en la evidencia de auditoria obtenida hasta la fecha de nuestro informe de auditoria.
Sin embargo, los hechos o condiciones futuros pueden ser la causa de que el Grupo deje de ser
una empresa en funcionamiento.

. Evaluamos la presentacion global, la estructura y el contenido de las cuentas anuales
consolidadas, incluida la informacién revelada, y si las cuentas anuales consolidadas
representan las transacciones y hechos subyacentes de un modo que logran expresar la imagen
fiel.

. Obtenemos evidencia suficiente y adecuada en relacion con la informacién financiera de las
entidades o actividades empresariales dentro del Grupo para expresar una opinién sobre las
cuentas anuales consolidadas. Somos responsables de la direccion, supervision y realizacién de
la auditorfa del Grupo. Somos los tinicos responsables de nuestra opinién de auditoria.

Nos comunicamos con la Comisi6n de Auditoria de la Entidad dominante en relacién con, entre otras
cuestiones, el alcance y el momento de realizacion de la auditoria planificados y los hallazgos
significativos de la auditoria, asi como cualquier deficiencia significativa del control interno que
identificamos en el transcurso de la auditorfa.
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También proporcionamos a la Comisiéon de Auditoria de la Entidad dominante una declaracién de que
hemos cumplido los requerimientos de ética aplicables, incluidos los de independencia, y nos hemos
comunicado con la misma para informar de aquellas cuestiones que razonablemente puedan suponer
una amenaza para nuestra independencia y, en su caso, de las correspondientes salvaguardas.

Entre las cuestiones que han sido objeto de comunicacién a la Comisién de Auditoria de la Entidad
dominante, determinamos las que han sido de la mayor significatividad en la auditoria de las cuentas
anuales consolidadas del periodo actual y que son, en consecuencia, las cuestiones clave de la
auditoria.

Describimos esas cuestiones en nuestro informe de auditoria salvo que las disposiciones legales o
reglamentarias prohiban revelar piiblicamente la cuestion.

Informe sobre otros requerimientos legales y reglamentarios

Informe adicional para la Comisién de Auditoria de la Entidad dominante

La opinién expresada en este informe es coherente con lo manifestado en nuestro informe adicional
para la Comision de Auditoria de la Entidad dominante de fecha 2 de mayo de 2019.

Periodo de contratacion

La Asamblea General de Socios de la Entidad Dominante celebrada el 4 de mayo de 2018 nos nombrd
como auditores por un periodo de 1 afio, contado a partir del ejercicio finalizado el 31 de diciembre de

2017.

Con anterioridad, fuimos designados por acuerdo de la Asamblea General de Socios de la Entidad
Dominante para un periodo inicial y hemos venido realizando el trabajo de auditoria de cuentas de
forma ininterrumpida desde el ejercicio finalizado el 31 de diciembre de 2010.

Servicios prestados

Los servicios, distintos de la auditoria de cuentas, que han sido prestados al Grupo se desglosan en la
nota 32 de la memoria de las cuentas anuales consolidadas adjuntas.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. (S0242)

AUDITORZES

INSTITUT D& CENGORES [uRRYEY
OE CUENTAS Dk ESpafia

=~ José Antonio Simén Maestro (15886)

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS
& de mayo de 2019 AUDITORES, S.L.
2019 Num. 16/19/00505

SELLO CORPORATIVO: 96:00 EUR

Informe de auditoria de cuentas sujeto

ala normativa de auditoria de cuentas
espafiola o internacional
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CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO
AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated financial statements prepared by the Governing Board of
CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO
at its meeting held on 26 March 2019
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CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2018
(Thousands of euro)

ASSETS (*) Note 31,12,2018 31,12,2017 (**)
Cash. cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits(***) 7 351,449 343,482
Financial assets held for trading 8 7,730 7,483
Derivatives 2,643 3,564
Equity instruments 3,727 3,919
Debt securities 1,360 -

Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge - -
Financial assets not held for trading mandatorily measured at fair value through profit

or loss 1 17,555
Debt securities 7.170
Loans and advances 10,385

Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge -

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss - -
Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 9 746,490

Equity instruments 202,113
Debt securities 544,377
Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge

Available-for-sale financial assets 9 2,811,308
Equity instfruments 166,506
Debt securities 2,644,802
Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge -

Financial assets at amortized cost 10 10,594,941

Debt securities 2,716,139

Loans and advances 7,878,802

Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge 65,020
Loans and receivables 10 7,455,088
Debt securities 4,540
Loans and advances 7,450,548
Credit institutions 115,786
Customers 7,334,762
Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge -
Held-to-maturity investments 10 611,833
Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge -
Derivatives — hedge accounting 12 4,774 80
Fair value changes to hedged items in porifolio hedges for interest rate risk - -
Investments in joint ventures and associates 14 49,945 49,671
Jointly-controlled entities - -
Associates 49,945 49,671
Tangible assets 15 217,557 209,482
Property and equipment 208,293 203,431
For own use 208,122 203,260
Assigned fo social projects 171 171
Investment property 9,264 6,051
Of which: assigned under operating leases 584 627
Memorandum items: acquired under finance leases 970 1,219
Intangible assets 15 11,797 12,297
Goodwill 8,297 8,297
Other intangible assets 3,500 4,000
Tax assets 22 43,637 48,106
Current tax assets 3,170 2,772
Deferred tax assets 40,467 45,334
Other assets 16 108,778 110,413
Inventories 77,634 76,537
Other 31,144 33,876
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale 13 48,212 66,995
TOTAL ASSETS 12,202,865 11,726,238

(*) See reconciliation between IAS 39 reporting at 31 December 2017 and IFRS 9 reporting at 1 January 2018 (Note 1.c).
(**) Presented for comparison purposes only.

(***) See consolidated cash flow statement for details.

Notes 1 to 43 form an integral part of the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2018.
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CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO

AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2018
(Thousands of euro)

LIABILITIES (*) Note 31,12,2018 31,12,2017 (**)
Financial liabilities held for trading 8 769 1116
Derivatives 769 1,116

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss - -
Memorandum items: subordinated liabilities - -

Financial liabilities at amortized cost 17 10,877,828 10,398,133
Deposits 9,095,209 8,604,262
Central banks 927,862 931,642
Credit institutions 155,434 148,315
Customers 8,011,913 7,524,305
Debt securities issued 1,653,935 1,657,010
Other financial liabilities 128,684 136,861

Memorandum items: subordinated liabilities - -
Derivatives - hedge accounting 12 251 -

Fair value changes to hedged items in portfolio hedges for interest rate risk - -

Provisions 18 93111 93,511
Pensions and other defined-benefit post-employment obligations 2t 1,019 1,001
Commitments and guarantees given 8,195 9.919
Other provisions 83,897 82,591

Tax liabilities 22 7,834 21,802
Current tax liabilities 2,002 1,667
Deferred tax liabilities 5,832 20,135

Share capital redeemable on demand - -

Other liabilities 16 93,982 123,162
Of which: mandatory confributions to Social Welfare Fund 26,579 20,686

Liabilities included in disposal groups held for sale - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES 11,073,775 10,637,724

(*) See reconciliation between IAS 39 reporting at 31 December 2017 and IFRS 9 reporting af 1 January 2018
(Note 1.c).

(**) Presented for comparison purposes only.

Noftes 1 to 43 form an integral part of the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2018.
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CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO

AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2018
(Thousands of euro)

EQUITY (*)

Shareholders’ equity 1,122,515 1,049,187
Share capital 20 167,380 168,272
Called up paid capital 167,380 168,272
Memorandum items: uncalled capital - -
Retained earnings 21 834,422 749,593
Other reserves 21 28,796 42,030
Accumulated reserves or losses from joint ventures and associates 4971 7,032
Other 23,825 34,998
(Treasury shares) - (1,158)
Profit or (-) loss attributable to owners of the parent 93,502 92,413
(Interim dividends) (1,585) (1,963)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 19 6,575 39,109
[tems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 8,928 -
ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss (2,353) 39,109
Accumulated other comprehensive income - 218
TOTAL EQUITY 1,129,090 1,088,514
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 12,202,865 11,726,238

Memorandum items: off-balance sheet exposures
Contingent commitments given 23 1,115,829 1,170,068
Financial guarantees given 23 83,597 86,251
Other commitments given 23 553,076 678,613

(*) See reconciliation between IAS 39 reporting at 31 December 2017 and IFRS 9 reporting at 1 January 2018
(Note 1.c).

(**) Presented for comparison purposes only.

Notes 1 to 43 form an integral part of the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2018.
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Consolidated Income Statement ]
CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO
AND SUBSIDIARIES
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CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO

AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Income Statement for the year ended 31 December 2018 (¥)
(Thousands of euro)

Note 2018 2017 (**)
Interest income 25 160,966 174,815
(Interest expense) 26 (25,009) (33,868)
(Expense on share capital redeemable on demand) - -
NET INTEREST INCOME 135,957 140,947
Dividend income 27 6,019 9.365
Profit (loss) of companies accounted for using the equity method 14 3,159 2,414
Fee and commission income 28 71,603 68,876
(Fee and commission expense) 29 (4.784) (4.452)
Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair
value through profit or loss. net 30 2,140 48,200
Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading. net 30 (198) 147
Gains or (-) losses on financial assets not held for trading mandatorily measured at fair value
through profit or loss. net (2,956)
Gains or (-) losses on financial assets or liabilities designated at fair value through profit or _ _
loss. net
Gains or (-) losses from hedge accounting. net 12 100 197
Gains or (-) losses from translation differences. net 929 743
Other operating income 316,157 286,794
(Other operating expenses) (251,368) (274,512)
Of which: mandatory contributions to Social Welfare Fund (9.963) (9.425)
GROSS INCOME 276,758 278,719
(Administrative expenses) (150,334) (141,274)
(Personnel expenses) 31 (75.528) (71,919)
(Other operating expenses) 32 (74.,806) (69.355)
(Depreciation and amortization) 15 (15,364) (14,409)
(Provisions or (-) reversals) 33 713 (19.662)
(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value
through profit or loss) 34 (8.444) (14,070)
(Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income) 735
(Financial assets at amortized cost) (2.179)
(Available-for-sale financial assets) (495)
(Loans and receivables) (13,628)
(Held-to-maturity investments) 53
INCOME FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 103,329 89,304
(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on investments in joint ventures and associates) (79) -
(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets) 35 (154) (953)
(Tangible assets) (36) (302)
(Intangible assets) - -
(Other) (118) (651)
Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of non-financial assets and investments. net 1,350 (345)
Of which: investments in subsidiaries. joint ventures and associates - -
Negative goodwill recognized in profit or loss - -
Gains or (-) losses from non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale not classified as 35
discontinued operations 1,635 3,444
PROFIT OR (-) LOSS BEFORE TAX
FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 106,081 91,450
(Tax expense or (-) income on profit from continuing operations) 22 (12,579) 968
PROFIT OR (-) LOSS AFTER TAX
FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 93,502 92,418
Profit or (-) loss after tax from discontinued operations - -
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 93,502 92,418
Attributable to owners of the parent 93,502 92,413
- 5

Attributable to non-controlling interests

(*) See details on the impacts of adopting IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018 (Note 1.c).

(**) Presented for comparison purposes only.

Notes 1 to 43 form an integral part of the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31

December 2018.
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CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated statement of recognized income and expense for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (*)

(Thousands of euro)

Note 2018 2017 (**)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 93,502 92,418
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 8,896 (52,064)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 11,506 -
Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans - -
Changes in fair value of equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income. net 19 11,264

Gains or losses from hedge accounting for equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income. net -

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale - -
Changes in fair value of financial liabilities at fair value with changes in income attributable
to changes in credit risk _

Other valuation adjustments 242 -
Income tax on items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss - -

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 19 (2,610) (52,064)

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations (effective portion) - -
Valuation gains or (-) losses recognized in equity - -
Reclassified to profit or loss - -
Other reclassifications - -

Currency translation - -
Gains or (-) losses on currency translation recognized in equity - -
Reclassified to profit or loss - -
Other reclassifications - -

Cash flow hedges (effective portion) - -
Valuation gains or (-) losses recognized in equity - -
Reclassified to profit or loss - -
Reclassified to initial carrying amount of hedged items - -
Other reclassifications - -

Available-for-sale financial assets 19 (57.145)
Valuation gains or (-) losses recognized in equity (9.241)
Reclassified to profit or loss (47,904)

Other reclassifications -

Hedging instruments (undesignated) -
Valuation gains or (-) losses recognized in equity -
Reclassified to profit or loss -
Other reclassifications -

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (3.719)
Valuation gains or (-) losses recognized in equity (4,117)
Reclassified to profit or loss 398

Other reclassifications -

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale - -
Valuation gains or (-) losses recognized in equity - -
Reclassified to profit or loss - -
Other reclassifications - -

Income tax on items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 19 1,109 5,081

TOTAL RECOGNIZED INCOME AND EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR 102,398 40,354
Attributable to non-controlling interests - 5

Attributable to owners of the parent 102,398 40,349

(*) See details on the impacts of adopting IFRS 2 on 1 January 2018 (Note 1.c).

(**) Presented for comparison purposes only.

Notes 1 to 43 form an integral part of the consolidated statement of recognized income and expense
for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated comprehensive statement of changes in equity for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (*)

(Thousands of euro)

At 31 December 2018 (*)
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Source of change in equity (*)

Balance at 1 January 2018 168,272 749,593 42,030 (1,158) 92,413 (1,963) 39,109 218 1,088,514

Adjustments due to error correction

Adjustments due to changes in accounting policies (17.718) ) ) - (41.430) - (59.148)
Balance at 1 January 2018 (**) 168,272 749,593 24312 (1,158) 92,413 (1,963) (2,321) 218 1,029,366
Total recognized income and expenses for the year - - - - 93,502 - 8,896 - 102,398
Other changes to equity (892) 84,829 4,484 1,158  (92,413) 378 - (218) (2,674)

Ordinary shares issued 2,594 ) . B ) ) . ) 2,594

Preference shares issued B B

Other equity instruments issued B

Exercise or maturity of other equity instruments issued ° B

Debt/equity conversion B B

Capital reduction (3.486) ) . B ) ) B ) (3.486)

Dividends (or payments to members) ) ) (1.585) ) ) (1.585)

Buyback of treasury shares (2,329) - - - - (2,329)

Sale or cancellation of treasury shares 3,487 ) ) B ) 3487

Transfers of financial instruments from equity to . . . .

liabilities

Transfers of financial instruments from liabilities to . )

equity

Transfers between equity items 84,829 5621 - (92419 1.963 B

Increase (-) decrease in equity due fo business .

combinations

Share-based payments B °

Otherincreases (-) decreases in equity (1.137) B ) ) B (218) (1.359)

Of which: discretionary allocation to social projects . . . . . } . .
and funds
Balance at 31 December 2018 167,380 834,422 28,796 - 93,502 (1,585) 6,575 - 1,129,090

(*) See reconciliation between IAS 39 reporting at 31 December 2017 and IFRS ? reporting at 1 January 2018 (Note 1.c).
(**) Presented for comparison purnposes only.

Notes 1 to 43 form an integral part of the consolidated comprehensive stafement of changes in equity for the year
ended 31 December 2018

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA




Annual Report 2018

CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO

AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated comprehensive statement of changes in equity for the year

ended 31 December 2017 (*)

(Thousands of euro)

At 31 December 2017 (*)

— «n ?, E @ o
3 § ¢ 205 5z £
‘S o o 4 2 =
& & @ g 225 £% 35 23 3
s SE & Tz ¥ES ES 2E§ 85 2
5 238 g 2 £28. =2 EES= ¢£E
< ES O Of o - T 3 o o
g o) g £ © S o 0 =
Source of change in equity (*) ) <
Balance at 1 January 2017 167,249 685,188 36,737 - 69,501 (2,055) 91,173 212 1,048,005
Adjustments due to error correction - - ) - - - - - -
Adjustments due to changes in ) ) ; } ) ) ; } ;
accounting policies
Balance at 1 January 2017 (*) 167,249 685,188 36,737 - 69,501 (2,055) 91,173 212 1,048,005
Total recognized income and expenses for B R B - 92.413 - (52,064) 5 40,354
the year
Other changes to equity 1,023 64,405 5,293 (1,158) (69.501) 92 - 1 155
Ordinary shares issued 2,422 - - - - - - - 2,422
Preference shares issued - - - - - - - - -
Other equity instruments issued - - - - - - - - -
Exercise or maturity of other equity B R R R B B R R R
instruments issued
Debt/equity conversion - - - - - - - - -
Capital reduction (1.399) - - - - - - - (1.399)
Dividends (or payments to members) - - - - - (1.963) - - (1.963)
Buyback of treasury shares : - - (1.158) - - - - (1.158)
Sale or cancellation of treasury shares - - - - - - - - -
Transfers of financial instruments from
equity to liabilities B B B B B B B B B
Transfers of financial instruments from B R B R B B B R B
liabilities to equity
Transfers between equity items - 64405 3.041 - (69.501) 2,055 - - -
Increase (-) decrease in equity due to B B B B B B B B B
business combinations
Share-based payments - - - - - - - - -
Other increases (-) decreases in equity - - 2,252 - - - - ! 2,253
Of which: discretionary allocation to B B B B B ~ B B B
social projects and funds
Balance at 31 December 2017 (*) 168,272 749,593 42,030 (1,158) 92,413 (1,963) 39,109 2181,088,514

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only.
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Consolidated cash flow statement ]
CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO
AND SUBSIDIARIES
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CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2018 (*)
(Thousands of euro)

Note 2018 2017 (**)

A) CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 4,880 69.873

Profit for the year 93,502 92,418

Adjustments to obtain cash flows from operating activities 42,887 63,911
Depreciation and amortization 15and 16 15,364 14,903
Other adjustments 27,523 49,008

Net (increase) decrease in operating assets (474,057) (631,111)
Financial assets held for trading (247) 265
Financial assets not held for trading mandatorily measured at fair value through

profit or loss (17.555)
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss -
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 2,064,083
Available-for-sale financial assets (116,782)
Financial assets at amortized cost (2,518,841)
Loans and receivables (531,694)
Other operating expenses (1,497) 16,400

Net (increase) decrease in operating liabilities 341,672 543,952
Financial liabilities held for trading (347) (85)
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 479.695 579,619
Other operating expenses (137.676) (35.582)

Company income tax receipts (payments) 876 703

B) CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 4,406 15,420

Payments (49.281) (44.064)
Tangible assets 15 (16.038) (17.402)
Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 14 (1,490) (536)
Non-current assets and liabilities held for sale (31,753) (12,421)
Held-to-maturity investments (13,705)
Other payments related to investing activities - -

Receipts 53,687 59,484
Tangible assets 15 1,044 7,562
Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 14 4,375 -
Non-current assets and liabilities held for sale 48,268 17,790
Held-to-maturity investments 34,132
Other receipts related to investing activities - -

C) CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,319) (2,097)

Payments (7.400) (4.520)
Dividends 20 (1,585) (1,963)
Subordinated liabilities - -
Cancellation of own equity instruments 20 (3.48¢6) (1.399)
Acquisition of own equity instruments (2.329) (1.158)
Other payments related to financing activities - -

Receipts 6,081 2,423
Subordinated liabilities - B
Issue of own equity instruments 20 2,594 2,423
Disposal of own equity instruments 3,487 -
Other receipts relating to financing activities - -

D) EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATIONS - -

E) NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (A+B+C+D) 7,967 83,196

F) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT START OF YEAR 343,482 260,286

G) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 351,449 343,482

MEMORANDUM ITEMS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

Cash 46,194 45,164

Cash equivalents in central banks - -

Other demand deposits 305,255 298,318

Other financial assets - -
Less: Bank overdrafts repayable on demand - -

(*) See details on the impacts of adopting IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018 (Note 1.c).
(**) Presented for comparison purposes only.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. Introduction, basis of presentation, consolidation principles and
other information

a) Introduction

Caja Rural de Navarra, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito (hereinafter Caja
Rural de Navarra, the Bank or the Parent Company) is a cooperative credit
institution whose principal activity, pursuant to its arficles of association, is to
collect funds from the general public through deposits, loans, financial assets
sold under repurchase agreements, and other similar transactions involving a
repayment obligation, and to use the funds thus obtained to offer, on its own
account, loans, credit facilities and other similar transactions that meet the
financial needs of members and third parties.

Its articles of association were approved by the General Directorate for the
Treasury and Financial Policy of the Ministry for the Economy and Finance on
24 January 1994.

The Bank began operating on 23 January 1946. Its activities are governed by
Act 13/1989, of 26 May, on Cooperative Credit Institutions, the Cooperative
Credit Institution Regulations set out in Royal Decree 84/1993, of 22 January,
and Act 27/1999, of 16 July, on Cooperatives.

The Bank may engage in all kinds of lending, deposit and service activities in
which other credit institutions are permitted to engage, prioritising the financial
needs of its members in the exercise of such activities.

As established in its articles of association, the Bank operates on a nationwide
basis. At 31 December 2018, it had a network of 252 branches (two more
than at 31 December 2017), 139 of them located in Navarre and the rest in
neighbouring regions. Through this network it is able to perform all types of
operation typical of and/or specific to institutions of its kind.

As a cooperative creditinstitution, the Bank is subject to certain legal regulations
that establish, inter alia, the following requirements:

* That a minimum percentage of capital is deposited with the Bank of Spain
SO as to ensure coverage of the minimum reserve requirement, which at 31
December 2018 and 2017 was 1% of eligible liabilities (see Note 7).

* That appropriations to the Mandatory Reserve Fund and to the Social Welfare
Fund are made when distributing the net surplus for the year (Notes 21 and
22).

e That a minimum level of capital and reserves must be maintained (Notes 1.i).
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* That annual contributions are made to the Deposit Guarantee Fund for Credit
Institutions and the Spanish National Resolution Fund to provide creditors with
a further guarantee in addition to that provided by the Bank's equity (Note

1.j).
* That at least 50% of the Bank's total capital and reserves is used to extend

credit (loans, credit lines, discounts) o members of the Bank and/or members
of associated cooperative credit institutions.

The Bank is the Parent Company of a group of companies whose activities it
conftrols either directly or indirectly and that are engaged in various different
activities and, together with the Parent Company, make up the Caja Rural de
Navarra Group (hereinafter the Group). Consequently, in addition to its own
separate annual financial statements, Caja Rural de Navarra is required to
prepare consolidated annual financial statements for the Group.

The separate financial statements of the Group's Parent Company, Caja Rural
de Navarra, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito, are prepared according to
Spanish GAAP as defined in Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 and other financial
reporting regulations applicable to the Bank. The Parent Company recognizes
its investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures at cost as prescribed
by Circular 4/2017 and permitted by IAS 27. The financial statements of Caja
Rural de Navarra, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito at 31 December 2018
and 2017 are shown in Annex |.

At 31 December 2018, the assets, equity and profit for the year of the Parent
Company made up 98%, 97% and 98%, respectively, of the equivalent Group
items (compared to 99%, 97% and 94% at 31 December 2017).

b) Basis of presentation of the annual financial statements

Under Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council
of 19 July 2002, all companies subject to the law of an EU member state with
shares listed on a regulated market of any EU member state, must present
consolidated financial statements for years beginning on or after 1 January
2005 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
previously adopted by the EU (hereinafter, IFRS-EU). To adapt financial reporting
by Spanish banks to the new standards, the Bank of Spain issued its Circular
4/2004, of 22 December, on Public and Reserved Financial Reporting Standards
and Model Financial Statements, subsequently replaced on 1 January 2018 by
Circular 4/2017, of 27 November 2017.

These Group consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance
with IFRS-EU at 31 December 2018 taking into consideration Bank of Spain
Circular 4/2017, of 22 November, replacing its Circular 4/2004, of 22 December,
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as amended. The Circular develops and adapts IFRS-EU to the Spanish banking
sector.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all accounting standards, principles and mandatory valuation criteria with
a material impact on these statements, so as to give a true and fair view of the
Group's consolidated assets, liabilities and financial position at 31 December
2018 and of the consolidated profits from its operations, net change in equity
and cash flows in the year then ended.

Note 2 summarises the accounting principles and policies and significant
valuation criteria applied in preparing the Group's 2018 consolidated financial
statements.

The information in these consolidated financial statements is the responsibility of
the Members of the Board of the Group’s Parent Company.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis
of the accounting records maintained by the Parent Company and by the
other companies making up the Group. However, since the accounting
policies and measurement criteria applied in the preparation of the
Group's consolidated annual financial statements for 2018 may differ from
those used by certain entities included in the Group, the adjustments and
reclassifications necessary to harmonize these principles and criteria across
the Group and to bring them in line with IFRS-EU have been made in the
process of consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of euro,
except where otherwise stated.

These consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared by the
Governing Board of Caja Rural de Navarra and are pending approval by its
members, who have the powerto make amendments hereto, at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting. However, the Bank’s directors believe that the financial
statements will be approved without material amendment.

The consolidated annual financial statements for 2017 were approved at the
Bank’s Annual General Meeting held on 4 May 2018.

c) First-time application of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 “Financial instruments”, as adopted by the European Union, came into
force on 1 January 2018. This new standard makes a number of changes to the
way financial assets and liabilities are classified, measured and recognized.
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Its adoption has a material impact, which is why we have also applied some of
the elements of IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors” and the new standard’s own fransitional provisions.

The main issues raised by the new standard are:

* IFRS 9 maintains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and
defines three main categories for the way financial assets can be
measured: amortized cost, fair value through profit and loss and fair
value through other comprehensive income. Instruments are classified
in one or other category based on the business model of the entity
and the characteristics of the contractual cash flows arising from the
financial asset. Investments in equity instruments are measured at
fair value through profit and loss with an irrevocable option on initial
recognition to recognize fair value changes in OCI without recycling, if
the instrument is not held for trading. If the equity instrument is held for
trading, changes in fair value must be recognized in profit or loss.

For financial liabilities, IFRS 2 makes no changes to the rules on classification
and measurement, except that changes in own credit risk attaching to
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in other
comprehensive income.

* IFRS 9 also infroduces a new “expected loss” model to replace IAS 39’s
“incurred loss” model. This means that losses are recognized earlier than they
would have been under the old system.

Under this methodology, after initial recognition, transactions are classified as
“Phase 1", in which the firm recognizes the expected loss over the next 12 months. If
risk of default subsequently increases significantly they are reclassified as “Phase 2"
and expected loss is recognized for the residual term to maturity of the transaction,
taking into account any extension options. Finally, if fransactions are found to be
impaired - i.e., part of the investment is unlikely to be recovered allowing for the
time value of money — they are classified as “Phase 3" and the firm recognizes the
expected loss to residual maturity. Impaired transactions also recognize interest on
their carrying amount net of provisions instead of gross of provisions as previously.

* |[FRS 9 also changes the requirements for a hedge to be effective requiring
that there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the
hedging instrument and that the hedge ratio is the same as that actually
used in the entity’s risk management. Under the previous standard a hedge
is highly effective both prospectively and retrospectively.

The Group implemented an adaptation project overseen by the Management
of the Parent Company that addressed the following areas of the standard’s
first-time application as of 1 January 2018:
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a) Classification and measurement of financial instruments

The Group assessed and identified all its existing business models and classified
instruments accordingly, applying the principle of “solely payments of principal
and interest”.

The main qualitative impacts on the Group are:

* No significant change to classification and measurement of financial assets in
the “Loans andreceivables” portfolio as this follows a business model based on
contractual cash-flows from the underlying financial assets in the different loan
books. The analysis identified no portfolios with special features that breached
the IFRS 9 contractual cash flow criterion for measurement at amortized cost.

* The Management and Assets and Liabilities Committee of the Parent Company
mapped the old sub-portfolios — “Available-for-sale financial assets” and “Held-
tfo-maturity investments” — onto the appropriate business model as at 1 January
2018, in light of factors such as frequency, schedule and volume of past disposals,
reasons for such disposals, interest rate sensitivity and projected future disposals.
This resulted in substantial reclassifications of debt portfolios from fair value to
amortized cost. Also, assets that failed to meet the contractual cash-flow criterion
iN IFRS 9 were reclassified from amortized cost to at fair value through profit or loss.

e Certain unlisted capital instruments that were carried at cost have been
restated to fair value.

* “Financial assets held for trading” were unchanged, reported at fair value
through profit or loss.

* No change to the Bank’s financial liabilities as it carries no liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss.

b) Measuring significant increase in credit risk of financial instruments

The new impairment model based on expected loss has resulted in increased
provisions on the loan book. The Group has applied impairment models
based on collective and individual estimates of expected losses, classifying
fransactions in a way that means they can be assigned to the risk phases set
out in the standard.

The impairment assessment process takes into account all credit exposures,
whether debt instruments or off-balance sheet. The Group has applied
the parameters and methodology of IFRSs in force using an expected loss
methodology, and other local standards, based on data and statistical models
that aggregate average behaviour across the whole Spanish banking sector and
provides full compatibility with IFRS, to define the classification and measurement
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ofimpairmentinthe Group's on-and off-balance sheet exposures to its customers.
The methodology considers, among other points, the credit risk segment of the
fransaction, real and effective personal guarantees received, the debtor’s
financial position and, where applicable, the age of amounts overdue.

c) Hedge accounting

The Group has opted to maintain IAS 39 hedge accounting so there have been
no changes in this area.

Breakdowns in the notes only apply IFRS 9 changes to the current period figures.
Comparative data still show the prior year breakdowns.

Below, we show the detailed impacts on the Group of adopting IFRS 9:
Classification and measurement of financial instruments

The table below shows a comparison between the treatment under IAS 39 at 31
December 2017 and IFRS ? at 1 January 2018 for those instruments reclassified
under IFRS 9 criteria for classification and measurement (not including
impairment), and their book value:

IAS 39 (31.12.2017) IFRS 9 (01.01.2018)
Book value Book value
(Thousands (Thousands
Portfolio of euros) Portfolio of euros)
Equit Available-for-sale financial Financial assets at fair value
. q‘r Y ; assets including those carried 166,506 |through other comprehensive 166,506
NSTUMENTS | 4t cost at December income
Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive 227,155
income
Available-for-sale financial Financial assets not held for
assets 2,644,802 |trading mandatorily measured at 1,495
fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets held for trading 2,928
Debt Financial assets at amortized cost| 2,356,303
securities Financial assets not held for
) trading mandatorily measured at 2,214
Loans and receivables 4,540 |fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at amortized cost 2,501
Financial assets not held for
o trading mandatorily measured at 6,008
Held-to-maturity investments 611,833 |fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at amortized cost 605,825
Financial assets not held for
Loans and ) trading mandatorily measured at 12,791
advances  |toans and receivables 7,450,548 |fqir value through profit or loss
Financial assets at amortized cost| 7,415,764
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Reconciliation of valuation adjustments for impairment under IAS 39 and IFRS ¢

The table below shows a reconciliation between the freatment under IAS 39 at
31 December 2017 and IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 of valuation adjustments for
impairment to financial instruments under the new IFRS 9 criteria:

Thousands of euros

1AS 39 IFRS 9
31.12.2017 Impairment 01.01.2018

Financial assets at amortized cost 138,458 20,331 158,789

Loans and advances 138,114 19.815 157,929

Debft securities 344 516 860
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

income 894 557 1,451

Debt securities 894 557 1,451

Commitments and guarantees given 9.919 125 10,044

149,271 21,013 170,284
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Reconciliation of consolidated statement of financial position under IAS 39 and IFRS 9

Below we show a detailed reconciliation of the consolidated statement of
financial positionunderlAS 39 at 31 December2017 and IFRS ? at 1 January 2018,
distinguishing the impact of changes due to classification and measurement
from those due to impairment under IFRS 9:

Thousands of euros
Impact due to
classification

Impact due to

IAS 39 Change of and impairment/ IFRS 9

ASSETS 31.12.2017 terminology (*) measurement Other 01.01.2018

Financial assets held for trading 7,483 2,928 10,411
Debt securities 2,928 (c) 2,928

Financial assets not held for frading mandatorily

measured at fair value through profit or loss 22,508 22,508
Debt securities 9.717 9.717
Loans and advances 12,791 (a) 12,791

Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income 394,218 (557) 393,661
Equity instruments 166,506(c) - 166,506
Debt securities 227,712(d) - (b) (557) 227,155

Available-for-sale financial assets 2,811,308 (394,218) (2,417,090) -

Equity instruments 166,506 (166,506)(c) -
Debt securities 2,644,802 (227.712)(c)  (2.417,090) -

Financial assets at amortized cost 8,043,905 2,356,819 (20,331) 10,380,393
Debt securities 608,326(b) 2,356,819 (c) (516) 2,964,629
Loans and advances 7,435,579(q) - (19.815)(e) 7,415,764

Loans and receivables 7,455,088 (7,438,080) (17,008) -

Debt securities 4,540 (2,501)(d) (2,039)
Loans and advances 7,450,548 (7,435,579)(a) (14,969)

Held-to-maturity investments 611,833 (605,825)(b) (6,008) (b) -

Tax assets 48,106 - - 5,976(f) 54,082

Other assets 792,420 - - 792,420

TOTAL ASSETS 11,726,238 (57,851) (14,912) 11,653,475

(*) Due to first-time adoption of IFRS 9.

a) Amounts shown under “Loans and receivables” at 31 December 2017 have been reclassified to
“Financial assets at amortized cost” as a result of the renaming of this portfolio following adoption of
IFRS 9, with the exception of the finance granted to Gestién Arrendadora Social which did not pass
the SPPI test and was therefore classified under “Financial assets not held for trading mandatorily
measured at fair value through profit or loss”.

b) Instruments booked as “Held-to-maturity investments” at 31 December 2017 have been reclassified to
“Financial assets at amortized cost” as a result of the renaming of this portfolio following adoption of
IFRS 9, with the exception of 6 securities which have been reclassified to “Financial assets not held for
frading mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss”.

c) Instruments booked under “Available-for-sale financial assets” at 31 December 2017 have been
reclassified to “Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income” (following the
renaming of itfems under IFRS 9), except for 144 securities which were reclassified fo “Financial assets
at amortized cost”, 1 security which was reclassified under “Financial assets held for trading” and
3 secuirifies that failed the SPPI test and were therefore reclassified as “Financial assets not held for
frading mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss”.

d) Instruments reported under “Loans and receivables” at 31 December 2017 have been reclassified
to “Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income” (due to the renaming of this
portfolio following adoption of IFRS 9), with the exception of 5 securities which did not pass the SPPI test
and were therefore classified under “Financial assets not held for frading mandatorily measured at fair
value through profit or loss”.

e) This reflects increased impairment provisions against assets in “Financial assets at amortized cost” due
to the change in accounting policy.

f) This reflects the tax effect of the increase in provisions.
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Thousands of euros

Impact due
to
classification  Impact due
IAS 39 and to IFRS 9

LIABILITIES 31.12.2017 Renaming (*) measurement impairment  01.01.2018
Provisions- Commitments and guarantees
given 9,919 - - 125 10,044
Tax liabilities 21,802 - - (13,740) 8,062
Other liabilities 10,606,003 - - - 10,606,003
TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,637,724 - - (13,615) 10,624,109

(*) Due to first-time adoption of IFRS 9.

a) This reflects the tax effect of unrealized gains generated by the reclassifications of portfolios at 1
January 2018 discussed above.

Thousands of euros

Impact due to Impact due
classification to
1AS 39 Renaming and impairment/ IFRS 9
EQUITY 31.12.2017 (*) measurement Other 01.01.2018
CAPITAL AND RESERVES 1,049,187 - - (17,718) 1,031,469
Other reserves 749,593 - - (17,718) (c) 731,875
Accumulated other comprehensive income 39,109 - (41,430) - (2,321)
ltems that will not be reclassified to profit or
loss - (2,577) - - (2,577)
Changes in fair value of equity instruments
at fair value through other comprehensive
income (2,577) (a) - - (2,577)

ltems that may be reclassified to profit or

loss 39,109 2,577 (41,430) - 256
Changes in fair value of debt instruments
at fair value through other comprehensive

income 41,686 (a) (41,430) (b) - 256
Available-for-sale financial assets 39,109 (39,109) (a) - -
Debt instruments 41,686 (41,686) - -
Equity instruments (2,577) 2,577 - -
Non-controlling interests 218 - - - 218
EQUITY 1,088,514 - (41,430) (17,718) 1,029,366
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 11,726,238 - (41,430) (31,333) 11,653,475

(*) Due to first-time adoption of IFRS 9.

a) Amounts classified under “ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss — Available-for-sale financial
assefs” at 31 December 2017 have been reclassified to “ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss
— Changes in fair value of debt insfruments at fair value through other comprehensive income”, due to
the adoption of IFRS 9, except for equity instruments which cannot be recycled through profit or loss and
were therefore reclassified under “ltems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss — Changes in fair value
of debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income”.

b) Impact of measuring at amortized cost debt instruments reported under *Available-for-sale financial
assets” at 31 December 2017 and reclassified to “Financial assets at amortized cost”.

c) This reflects the increase in impairment provisions and the transfer of net gains on assets at fair value
through equity at 31 December 2017 to at fair value through profit or loss at 1 January 2018.
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The effects of implementing IFRS ? are currently being audited, but we present
below the aggregate impacts on the financial statements.

Millions of euros

Net impact on statement of financial position (59.1)
Increase in valuation adjustments for impairment of the loan book (21.0)
Change to fair value of transactions reported under “Financial assets not held for trading

mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss” (2.6)
Reclassifications of portfolios from *Available-for-sale financial assets” to “at amortized cost”. (55.2)
Deferred tax assets generated 19.7
Equity impact (decrease) (59.1)
Impact on valuation adjustments (decrease) (41.4)
Impact on reserves (decrease) (17.7)

The reclassification of a number of sub-portfolios from “available-for-sale” to
“at amortized cost” resulted in a substantial fall in valuation adjustments.

Application of IFRS 9 negatively impacted the Bank’s fully loaded CET1 ratio by
around 79 basis points.

First-time application of IFRS 16, Leases

IFRS 16 (applicable from 1 January 2019 with an early adoption option that
the Group has exercised) sets out the principles governing recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases. Its aim is to guarantee
that lessees and lessors report the right information to give a true and fair view
of these transactions.

The big change made by IFRS 16 is the single model for lessees to report their
leases. Lessees must now recognize the assets and liabilities of all leases with
a term of over 12 months unless the underlying asset has a low value or is
intangible. The main change is the obligation for the lessee to recognize a
right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying lease asset, and a
lease liability, representing the present value of its obligation to make the lease
payments. The asset is amortised over the lifetime of the agreement, the liability
generates a financial expense.

The main type of leases identified by the Bank that require it to estimate a right-
of-use asset and lease liability, are leases on the office buildings for its own use.

The results of the project to implement IFRS 16 are currently under review.
Application would result in an equal-sized asset and liability of approximately
EUR 6.6 million, with no impact on Equity.
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d) Accounting principles and measurement bases

These consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles described in
Note 2 “Accounting principles, policiesand measurement bases”. Almandatory
accounting principles and measurement bases with a significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements were applied.

e) Consolidation principles

The Group is defined in accordance with IFRS-EU. All subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associates are investees.

| . Subsidiaries

Investees are considered to be “subsidiaries” when the Group exercises control
over them, defined as when it has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and can use its power over the investee to
affect its returns.

Control is deemed to exist only when the following all apply:

- Power: An investor has power over an investee when it has existing rights
that give it the ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. the activities that
significantly affect the investee’s returns.

- Returns: An investor is exposed, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement in the investee when the returns it derives from its involvement
have the potential to vary as a result of the investee’s performance. The
returns can be positive, negative or both.

- Relationship between power and returns: To confrol an investee an investor
must not only have power over the investee and exposure orrights to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee but must also have the ability
to use this power to affect its returns from its involvement with the investee.

When assessing control, the Group also takes into consideration any relevant
factsorcircumstances, such asthose described in the implementation guidance
for the standards (e.g., whether the Group directly or indirectly owns more than
50% of the voting rights).

The financial statements of subsidiaries are fully consolidated with those of the
Bank. Accordingly, all material balances deriving from transactions between
fully consolidated companies have been eliminated on consolidation. Third-
party interests in:
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- The Group's capital are recognized as “Non-controlling interests” in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

- Profit for the year are recognized under “Attributable to non-controlling
interests” in the consolidated income statement.

The results of subsidiaries acquired by the Group in the course of the year are
included in the consolidated income statement from the date of acquisition to
the year-end only. Likewise, the results of subsidiaries disposed of by the Group
in the course of the year are included in the consolidated income statement
from the start of the year to the date of disposal only.

Inter-company transactions — the balances, income and expenses arising from
fransactions between Group entities are eliminated on consolidation. Also
eliminated are gains or losses generated by intragroup fransactions which are
recognized as assets. The accounting policies applied by subsidiaries have been
amended where necessary to ensure uniform policies are applied Group-wide.

Business combinations are booked according to the acquisition method. The
consideration tfransferred to acquire a subsidiary is measured as the fair value of
the assets tfransferred, any liabilities assumed to the prior owners of the acquiree
and any equity interests in the acquiree issued by the Group. Consideration also
includes the fair value of any assets or liabilities resulting from any contfingent
consideration agreement. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
confingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are initially measured
at fair value at the acquisition date. In each business combination, the Group
can choose to measure any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair
value or at its proportionate share of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree.

Acquisition costs are recognized as expenses for the year they are incurred.

If the business combination takes place in stages, at the final acquisition date
the Group remeasures any previously held interest in the acquiree’s net assets
at fair value through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is measured at
fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of
a contingent consideration treated as an asset or liability are recognized in
accordance with IFRS 9 in income for the period.

Goodwillis initially measured as the total consideration paid plus the fair value of
the non-controlling interests less the net amount of identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If this consideration turns out to be less than the fair value
of net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in income.

The details of fully consolidated subsidiaries at 31 December 2018 and 2017
were as follows:
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Thousands of euros

% ownership interest

Acquisition cost

Informes y Gestiones Navarra, S.A.

Harivasa 2000, S.A.

Harinera de Tardienta, S.A.
Harantico, S.L.

Harinera del Mar Siglo XXI, S.L.
Promocién Estable del Norte, S.A.
Haribericas XXI, S.L.

Harivenasa, S.A.

Industrial Tonelera Navarra, S.A.
Tonnellerie de I' Adour, SAS
Seresgerna, S.A. (¥)

Residencia Torre de Monreal, S.L.
Solera Asistencial, S.L.

Bouguet Brands, S.A.

Preventia Sport, S.L.

(*)

The Spanish Food & Drinks Company GMBH

(*) Indirect ownership interest via Solera Asistencial, S.L.

2018 2017 2018 2017
100.00%  100.00% 1,860 1,860
100.00%  100.00% 2,366 2,366
100.00%  100.00% 11,780 11,780
100.00%  100.00% 6,763 6,763
100.00%  100.00% 21,989 21,989
100.00%  100.00% 103,921 96,811
100.00%  100.00% 12,725 12,725
100.00% - 3,500 -
100.00%  100.00% 1.820 1,820
100.00% 90.00% 1,896 1,710
100.00%  100.00% - -
100.00%  100.00% - -
100.00%  100.00% 7,760 7.760
100.00%  100.00% 3,350 3,350
100.00%  100.00% 443 443
- 100.00% - 25

The activities and registered offices of Group companies included in the scope
of consolidation at 31 December 2018 are listed below:

Company

Head office

Line of business

Informes y Gestiones Navarra, S.A.

Pamplona

Document preparation and processing

Harivasa 2000, S.A.

Noain (Navarre)

Manufacture and sale of flour

Harinera de Tardienta, S.A.

Tardienta (Huesca)

Manufacture and sale of flour

Harantico, S.L. Pontevedra Manufacture and sale of flour
Harinera del Mar Siglo XXI, S.L. Valencia Manufacture and sale of flour
Promocidn Estable del Norte, S.A. Pamplona Real estate development

Haribericas XXI, S.L. Seville Manufacture and sale of flour

Harivenasa, S.A.

Noain (Navarre)

Manufacture and sale of flour

Industrial Tonelera Navarra, S.A.

Monteagudo (Navarre)

Manufacture and sale of barrels and casks

Tonnellerie de I'Adour, SAS

France

Manufacture and sale of barrels and casks

Seresgerna, S.A.

Pamplona

Development and operation of senior care centres

Residencia Torre de Monreal, S.L.

Tudela (Navarre)

Development and operation of senior care centres

Solera Asistencial, S.L. Pamplona Development and operation of senior care centres
Bouquet Brands, S.A. Pamplona Distribution of agri-foodstuffs
Preventia Sport, S.L. Pamplona Medical sports services
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Il. Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control
are treated as equity transactions, i.e. transactions between owners of the
company acting assuch. The difference between the fair value of consideration
paid and the proportional amount acquired of the carrying amount of the
subsidiary’s net assets is recognized in equity. Gains or losses on disposal of non-
conftrolling interests are also recognized in equity.

lll. Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to control a subsidiary any remaining equity interest is
remeasured at fair value at the date that control was lost and any change is
recognized as a change in the carrying amount through profit or loss. This fair
value is the initial carrying amount used thereafter to recognize the remaining
equity interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition,
any “Accumulated other comprehensive income” previously recognized in
respect of the subsidiary’s equity is freated as though the Group had directly
sold the assefts or liabilities concerned. This can mean that amounts previously
recognized in equity are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss.

IV. Joint ventures (Jointly controlled entities

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more entities
(“venturers”) undertake an economic activity that is subject to theirjoint control,
joint control being defined as the contractually agreed sharing of the power
to direct the financial or operating activities of an entity, or other economic
activity, so as to obtain benefits from its operations, where decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the venturers.

Also classified as “Joint ventures” are equity interests in entities that are not
subsidiaries but are jointly controlled by two or more entities unrelated to each
other, one of these being the Group.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017 there were no equity interests classified as
“Joint ventures”.

V. Associates

Associates are investee companies over which the Group has the capacity to
exercise significant influence. Significant influence usually, but not always, takes the
form of an equity interest, held either directly or indirectly through one or more other
investees, which gives the Group 20% or more of the votes in the investee company.
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In consolidating associates the Group followed the equity method as
defined in IAS 28. Accordingly, investments in associates were measured at
the proportional amount of the Group's interest in their capital adjusted for
dividends paid and other eliminations. Profit or loss from transactions with an
associate are eliminated in proportion to the Group's interest. If losses made
by an associate result in it having negative equity it is carried in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position at zero value unless the Group has
an obligation to support it financially.

For information on associates at 31 December 2018 and 2017 see Note 14.

The accounting principles and standards and measurement criteria used to
prepare the Group’s 2018 and 2017 financial statements may differ from those
used by certain subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates that fall
within its scope. However, any such discrepancies have been eliminated by
making the material adjustments and reclassifications required in the process
of consolidation.

f) Changes in scope of consolidation

We explain below the changes in the Caja Rural de Navarra Group's
consolidation scope during 2018:

- On 23 May 2018, the Parent Company acquired 100% of the share capital of
Harivenasa, S.A., for a value of EUR 3,500 thousand, of which it holds 24.90%
indirectly via Harivasa 2000, S.A.. Following this business combination the
company is now fully consolidated by the Group.

We explain below the changes in the Caja Rural de Navarra Group'’s
consolidation scope during 2017:

- In 2017, Edlica La Calera was dissolved and liquidated, which has had no
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements at 31 December
2017.

g) Accounting estimates and assumptions used

In the preparation of the Group's 2018 consolidated financial statements,
certain estimates were made by its senior executives, and subsequently ratified
by its directors, in order to quantify certain of the assets, liabilities, revenues,
expenses and commitments reported herein. These estimates related basically
to the following:

* Impairment losses on certain financial instruments. (Notes 2.g, 9, 10 and 18)
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* The actuarial assumptions used in calculating liabilities and commitments for
post-employment benefits. (Note 2.1)

* The useful lives of tangible assets. (Note 2.i)

e The fair value of certain financial assets not listed on official secondary mar-
kets. (Note 6.d)

* The cost and expected change in provisions and contfingent liabilities (Note
2.m)

* The assumptions used to calculate the fair value of “Loans and receivables”
and “Financial liabilities at amortized cost” (Note 6.d)

» Estimation of Income Tax and recovery of deferred tax assets (Note 22)

* Measurement of goodwill and assignment of prices in business combinations
(Note 15)

To determine the value of certain property assets at the year-end, the Group
also used valuations made by independent appraisers. These valuations were
based on estimates of future cash flows, expected returns and other variables,
which should be taken into consideration when interpreting the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

These estimates were made using the best data available on the items concerned
at 31 December 2018. But they may be revised up or down in light of future events
in coming years. Any such change will be applied prospectively, with the changed
estimates booked in the corresponding consolidated income statement.

h) Comparative information

In July 2014, the IASB published IFRS 9, which along with subsequent amend-
ments, has been adopted by the Group as from 1 January 2018. As the stan-
dard permits, the Group has opted not to restate comparative financial sta-
tements. It has therefore not restated figures for the year ended 31 December
2017 and these are therefore not comparable. Instead, Note 1.c, includes a
reconciliation of balances at 31 December 2017 under IAS 39 and those at 1
January 2018 under IFRS 9.

Similarly, to adapt the financial reporting of Spanish banks to the changes
brought in by IFRS 15 and IFRS 92, on 6 December 2017 the Bank of Spain publis-
hed Circular 4/2017, of 27 November, replacing Circular 4/2004, of 22 Decem-
ber and applying to years beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Adoption of
this Circular has changed the way certain items are disclosed and presented
in the financial statements, to adapt to IFRS 9. Data for the year ended 31 De-
cember 2017 has not been restated to reflect this Circular.
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Comparative figures for 2017 are presented alongside the accounting informa-
tion for the year ended 31 December 2018 according to IFRS-EU criteria. Figures
for 2017 are presented for comparative purposes only and do not form part of
the Group’s 2018 consolidated financial statements.

i) Equity

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision is leading the harmonization of
international financial regulation. In 1988, the Committee issued the Basel |
accords, creating an initial regulatory system for credit institutions which set
a minimum capital ratio of 8% of all risk-weighted assets. Subsequently, in
2004, Basel Il improved the sensitivity of the mechanisms for estimating risks
and intfroduced two new pillars: self-assessment of capital and risks by each
institution (Pillar 1l) and market discipline (Pillar Ill). In December 2010, the
Committee approved a third set of regulations (Basel Ill) which tightened
capital adequacy requirements, requiring capital to be made up of better-
quality instruments, and sought to impose a consistent standardized approach
between firms and across countries. The new capital accord improves the
fransparency and comparability of capital ratios. It also incorporates new
prudential tools to monitor liquidity and leverage.

The European Union transposed the Basel lll accords into its legal framework,
allowing a phased-in adoption process which must be completed by 1
January 2019. The relevant measures are: Directive 2013/36/EU (the Capital
Requirements Directive or CRD-IV) of the European Parlioment and of the
Council, of 26 June 2013, on access to the activity of credit institutions and the
prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms; and Regulation
(EU) No 575/2013 (the Capital Requirements Regulation or CRR) of the European
Parliament and of the Council, of 26 June 2013, on prudential requirements for
credit institutions and investment firms, effective from 1 January 2014.

Spanishlaw was adapted to incorporate the changes to international standards
by Act 10/2014, of 26 June, for the management, supervision and solvency of
credit institutions, continuing the fransposition begun by Royal Decree 14/2013,
of 29 November, and Bank of Spain Circular 2/2014 which set out the regulatory
options for capital requirements during the transition period. The minimum
capital requirements laid down by the current regulations (Pillar |) are based
on the Bank's exposure to credit, exchange rate, investment, market and
operational risks. The Bank must also observe limits on concentration risks.

Royal Decree 84/2015, of 13 February, completed the regulatory implementation
of Act 10/2014, of 26 June, for the management, supervision and solvency of credit
institutions, combiningin asingle revised text all the regulations governing management
and discipline of credit institutions issued to date at the time of publication.
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Also, during 2015-2018 new standards were published to complement the CRR,
regulating matters such as equity, liquidity, Pillar I risks and capital requirements.

Notably, on 2 February 2016, the Bank of Spain issued Circular 2/2016, which
basically completes, for credit institutions, the fransposition of EU Directive
2013/36 into Spanish law. It also picks up one of the options left up to competent
national authorities under Regulation (EU) No 575/2013, in addition to those
already taken up by the Bank of Spain in Circular 2/2014.

The new circular also tfransposes certain provisions of Directive 2011/89/EU of the
European Parliament and Council, of 16 November 2011, amending Directives
98/78/EC, 2002/87/EC, 2006/48/EC and 2009/138/EC, asregards supplementary
oversight of financial entities in a financial conglomerate. Major provisions of this
directive had already been transposed in amendments made by Act 10/2014
and Royal Decree 84/2015 to Act 5/2005, of 22 April, on oversight of financial
conglomerates and amending other financial sector laws, as implemented by
Royal Decree 1332/2005. The abovementioned circular came into force on the
day following its publication in the Spanish State Bulletin:

Finally, in 2017 the Bank of Spain published Circular 3/2017, of 24 October,
amending Circular 2/2014, of 31 January. The fundamental aim of the Circular
is to adapt some aspects of Circular 2/2014, regarding smaller banks, to the
latest provisions approved by the European Central Bank for significant banks
(mainly, ECB Guideline (EU) 2017/697, of 4 April 2017, on the exercise of options
and discretions available in Union law by national competent authorities in
relation fo less significant institutions). It also eliminated the rules on transitional
options in force until 2017.

Under the requirements of the CRR, credit institutions must at all fimes comply
with a total capital ratio of 8%. However, regulators have powers under the new
regulatory system to require firms to hold additional capital over and above this.

On this point, in December 2018 the Bank received a communication from the
Bank of Spain regarding its decision on minimum prudential requirements. This
requires that Caja Rural de Navarra maintain, as from 1 January 2019, a Total
Capital ratio of 11.38% and a Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital of 7.88%,
measured on phased-in regulatory capital. The requirements from 1 January
2018 to 31 December 2018 had been: Total Capital ratio of 10.755% and CET1
ratio of 7.255%, measured on phased-in regulatory capital. These requirements
include both the Pillar T minimum and the Pillar 2 requirement, including the
capital conservation buffer (CCB).

The Parent Company’s approach to capital management complies in its
definitions of concepts with the new solvency standards describe above
(Note 21).
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j) National Resolution Fund and Deposit Guarantee Fund

Single Resolution Fund

LAct 11/2015, of 18 June, and its implementing regulations in Royal Decree
1012/2015, of 6 November, transpose Directive 2014/59/EU, of 15 May, info
Spanish law. The regulation establishes a new resolution framework for credit
institutions and investment services companies and forms part of the new
Single Resolution Mechanism created by EU Regulation No. 806/2014, of 15 July,
which defines Europe-wide standards and procedures for the Single Resolution
Mechanism and Fund.

As part of the implementation of these standards, on 1 January 2016 the Single
Resolution Fund was born. It is a financing body that can be called in by the
Single Resolution Board, the European authority responsible for all decisions
on resolution, to apply whatever resolution measures are adopted. The Single
Resolution Fund is financed from contributions by the credit institutions and
investment services customers under its remit.

The Single Resolution Mechanism is backed by the Single Resolution Fund,
which will be built up gradually from banks’ contributions to a level of 1% of
guaranteed deposits by 31 December 2024.

The contribution of each institution is determined by Regulation (EU) 2015/63
and based on its share of the total liabilities of member institutions net of its
capital and the amount of the deposit guarantee which is then weighted to
reflect the institution’s risk profile. The obligation to contribute to the Single
Resolution Fund accrues at 1 January each year.

In 2018, the cost of contributions to the fund was EUR 2,289 thousand (EUR 1,799
thousandin 2017), including fees, and was accounted for in a similar way to the
cost of the Deposit Guarantee Fund as set out in IFRIC 21.

Deposit Guarantee Fund

The Parent Company is a member of the Credit Institution Deposit Guarantee
Fund.

Royal Decree 2606/1996, of 20 December, as amended by Royal Decree
1012/2015, of 6 November, empowers the management committee of the
Deposit Guarantee Fund to determine the annual contributions of institutions
belonging to the Credit Institution Deposit Guarantee Fund. In 2018, the
management committee set a contribution of 1.8 per thousand of guaranteed
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deposits at 30 June 2018. Each institution’s contribution is calculated based
on their guaranteed deposits and risk profile, allowing for indicators such as
capital adequacy, asset quality and liquidity, as defined in the Bank of Spain’s
Circular 5/2016 of 27 May. Similarly, the contribution to the securities guarantee
part of the fund was set at 2 per thousand of the guaranteed 5% of securities
and other financial instruments at 31 December 2018.

The expense for the ordinary conftributions described above accrues, in
accordance with IFRIC 21, as soon as the payment obligation is friggered i.e.
at 31 December each year.

On 30 July 2012, the management committee of the Deposit Guarantee Fund
decided to levy a one-off supplementary contribution on fund members, to
be paid by each institution in ten equal annual instalments. For the Parent
Company, thisamounted to EUR 12,276 thousand (ten annual instalments of EUR
1,228 thousand each). These instalments will be deducted from any ordinary
annual contribution for which the Parent Company may be liable up to the
total amount of the ordinary contribution. On 31 December 2018, the Parent
Company recorded a commitment of EUR 4,708 thousand (compared to EUR
5,763 thousand at 31 December 2017), under “Financial assets at amortized
cost — Loans and receivables — Customers — Other financial assets” on the asset
side of the consolidated statement of financial position (Note 10) and under
“Financial liabilities at amortized cost — Other financial liabilities” (Note 17) on
the liabilities side.

In 2018, total expenses in respect of Fund contributions were EUR 3,115 thousand
(EUR 8,008 thousand in 2017), recognized under “Other operating expenses” in
the consolidated income statement.

k) Environmental impact

Because of the activities in which it is engaged, the Group has no liabilities,
costs, assets, provisions or contingencies of an environmental nature that could
be material relative to its equity, financial position and results. Accordingly,
no specific breakdowns of environmental information have been included in
these notes to the financial statements.

I) Subscription alongside other institutions of a Framework Agreement to create
a Cooperative Institutional Protection Scheme

On 29 December 2017 the Rural Credit Cooperatives belonging to the Spanish
Association of Cajas Rurales (the “Banks”), including the Parent Company,
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subscribed alongside the Association, Banco Cooperativo Espanol, S.A. (BCE)
and Grucajrural Inversiones, S.L. (“Grucajrural”) a Framework Agreement to
create within the Caja Rural Group a “Cooperative Institutional Protection
Scheme” (IPS) and a number of ancillary agreements. These agreements
mainly address the following points:

* To modernize and strengthen the Association’s statutory and contractual
framework to replace the current solidarity mechanisms by an institutional
protection scheme in accordance with Article 113.7 of Regulation (EU)
575/2013 (CRR), as prescribed in the Credit Cooperative Institutions Act.
The IPS will be formed of the 29 current member Banks of the Association,
Grucajrural and BCE (the “IPS members”).

For the purposes of (i) Article 113.7 of the CRR and (ii) regulations on the
conftributions of the Deposit Guarantee Fund, the Bank of Spain has to approve
the IPS.

* To create a fund to provide financial support that may be needed within the
IPS financed by contributions from IPS members. The fund will be administered
and controlled by the Association, either directly or indirectly via one or more
vehicles.

On 29 December 2017, the Association nofified memiber Banks of their advance
contributions to the fund. This initial contribution must reach 0.5% of the total risk-
weighted assets (RWA) of the member Banks at March 2018. It can be adjusted
depending on the evolution of these total RWA.

* To pool the Banks' shareholdings in BCE and Rural Servicios Generales (RGA)
into the company Grucajrural, a vehicle constituted by the Association as
founding partner at 1 December 2017. This will be done in two stages. First,
the Association’s 29 member Banks will buy out the Association’s founding
partner stake in Grucajrural. Then, they will tfransfer their holdings in BCE and
Rural Servicios Generales to Grucajrural as a contribution-in-kind in exchange
for newly issued Grucajrural shares.

At 29 December 2017 the General Meeting of Grucajrural Partners agreed the
abovementioned capital increase via contribution-in-kind.

At the time the Framework Agreement was signed, the abovementioned
conftribution-in-kind was conditional on no objection being made by: (i) the
European Central Bank in respect of BCE and (ii) the Spanish Direccién General
de Seguros y Fondos de Pensiones (“DGSFP”) in respect of Rural Servicios
Generales. Also, as BCE owns 100% of the share capital and voting rights in the
fund manager Gescoperativo, S.G.LIL.C., S.A. ("Gescoperativo™), it will also be
necessary to secure no objection from the Spanish market regulator the CNMV.
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That said, before signing the Framework Agreement, the Associatfion’s
Management considered that, although administrative procedures remain to
be completed, given the preparations made before fiing and the nature of
the transaction and suitability analysis that the supervisors must apply, there is
no reason to expect any conclusion other than “no objection”.

The participation of the Parent Company in the Framework Agreement was
approved at the extraordinary meeting of the Governing Board held on 24
November 2017.

Regarding the pending procedures mentioned above, in the first few months
of 2018 the following events took place:

On 1 March 2018, the Spanish Association of Cajas Rurales held its General
Meeting. All member Banks, including the Parent Company, approved the
creation of an IPS and, to this end, approved new Articles of Association for the
Association, Rules of Procedure for the IPS, a number of Technical Notes related
to measuring solvency and liquidity of IPS members and the general risk policy
and a new agreement regulating financial relationships within the Caja Rural
Group.

On 23 March 2018 the Bank of Spain recognized the IPS as compliant with the
abovementioned regulation.

Regarding the need for no objection to the contribution-in-kind of BCE and
Rural Servicios Generales to Grucajrural, this was confirmed by the different
supervisory bodies on the following dates:

- European Central Bank and CNMYV on 23 February 2018,
- DGSFP on 6 March 2018

On 9 March 2018 the documents for Grucajrural’s capital increase against a
contribution-in-kind were officially notarised and registered with effect from 14
March.

The creation of the IPS involved the following transactions in the Parent
Company:

* The commitment to create the fund to provide financial support as necessary
within the IPS cost EUR 32,396 thousand in 2017, reported under “Other
operating expenses” in the income statement.

* Regarding Grucajrural’s capital increase against a contribution-in-kind, the
items comprising the contributions-in-kind by the Bank are 297,671 shares in
Banco Cooperativo Espanol, S.A., representing 15.45% of the share capital,
valued atEUR76,371thousand,and 1,099,706 sharesinRGA Seguros Generales
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Rural, S.A. de Seguros y Reaseguros, representing 12.90% of its share capital,
valued at EUR 41,767 thousand. As consideration for this contribution, the
Bank received 5,904,241,743 shares in Grucajrural Inversiones, S.L.. At 31
December 2018 and 2017, the Bank's stakes in Grucajrural were 20.35% and
18.48% of the share capital, respectively.

The Bank freated the transfer, by contribution-in-kind, of the shares in BCE
and RGA to Grucajrural as an asset swap, deemed to be of a commercial
nature. Given the above, the fransaction resulted in the booking in the con-
solidated income statement for 2017 of unrealised gains in the transferred
stakes totalling, at the date of the Framework Agreement, EUR 17,783 thou-
sand in BCE and EUR 21,370 thousand in RGA. These sums were reported
under the equity item “Accumulated other comprehensive income”. The
net proceeds were booked under “Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of
financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss,
net” on the consolidated income statement.

m) Post-balance sheet events

Asmentionedin Note 1 of these consolidated financial statements, IFRS 16 Leases
came into force on 1 January 2019. Note 1.c sets out the main quantitative and
qualitative impacts which the Parent Company estimates the new standard
will have on the financial figures.

No events having material effects on the Group occurred between 31
December 2018 and the date of preparation of these consolidated financial
statements.
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2. Accounting principles, policies and measurement bases

The accounting principles, policies and measurement bases applied in
preparing these consolidated financial statements were as follows:

a) Going concern principle

Inthe preparation of the consolidated financial statements, it has been assumed
that the Group will remain in business for the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
the accounting policies applied were not intended to establish the Group’s net
asset value for the purpose of tfransferring all or part of the resulting amount in
the event of its liquidation.

b) Accruals principle

Except, as appropriate, with regard to the consolidated cash flow statement,
these consolidated financial statements have been drawn up in the basis of
the actual flow of goods and services, irrespective of the dates of payment or
collection.

c) Other general principles

The consolidated financial statements have been drawn up using the historical
cost method and by the fair value measurement of financial instruments held
for trading, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale
financial assets and other financial assets and liabilities (including derivatives).

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the making
of some accounting estimates. The Management is also called on to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. Such
estimates may affect the amount of the assets and liabilities, the breakdown
of confingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the amount of income and expense over the period they
cover. Although estimates are based on the Management’s best information
as to current and future circumstances, final outturns may differ from these
estimates.

d) Nature and trading of Financial derivatives

Financial derivatives are instruments which, in addition to giving rise to a
profit or loss, may, in certain conditions, allow for all or part of the credit and/
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or market risks associated with balances and transactions to be offset, using
interest rates, certain indices, the prices of certain securities, the cross exchange
rates of various currencies or other similar benchmarks as underlying elements.
The Group uses financial derivatives fraded on organized markets or tfraded
bilaterally with the counterparty over the counter (OTC).

Financial derivatives are used to frade with customers who request them, to
manage risks on the Group’s own positions (hedging derivatives) or to profit
from changes in their prices. Financial derivatives that cannot be accounted
for as hedging operations are considered to be derivatives held for frading.
The conditions that must be satisfied for hedge accounting to be applied are
as follows:

i) The financial derivative must hedge against the risk of changes in the value
of assets and liabilities due to fluctuations in interest rates and/or exchange
rates (fair value hedges), the risk of changes in the estimated cash flows
generated by financial assets and liabilities, commitments and transactions
deemed to be highly probable (cash-flow hedges) or the risk on the net
investment in a foreign operation (hedge of net investments in foreign
operations).

i) The financial derivative should effectively eliminate some risk inherent to
the hedged item or position for the entire scheduled term of the hedge. It
must therefore be effective prospectively, effective at the time the hedge
is contracted under normal conditions and effective retrospectively, and
there must be sufficient evidence that the hedge will remain effective for
the entire life of the hedged item or position.

To guarantee that hedges are effective prospectively and retrospectively,
the Group uses the corresponding effectiveness tests, which demonstrate
that the change in the fair value of the hedging instrument is closely co-
rrelated to the change in the fair value of the hedged item. Under current
legislation, a hedge is assumed to be effective when the cumulative chan-
ge in the fair value of the hedging instrument is between 80% and 125% of
the cumulative change in the fair value of the hedged item. If a derivative
that initially passed the effectiveness test subsequently ceased to satisfy the
requirements, from this point onwards it would be classified for accounting
purposes as a derivative held for trading and the rules for termination of hed-
ges would be applied.

i) Adequate documentary evidence must be kept to show that the financial
derivative was contfracted specifically to serve as a hedge for certain specific
balances and fransactions and to demonstrate the method by which the
effectiveness of the hedge was intended to be achieved and measured,
provided that this method is consistent with the manner in which the Group
manages its own risks.
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Hedges may be applied to individual items or balances or to portfolios of
financial assets and liabilities. In the latter case, the set of financial assets or
liabilities being hedged must share the same type of risk. This is deemed to
be the case whenever the individual items hedged show a similar sensitivity
to changes in the hedged risk.

The Bank implements its hedges using a variety of derivatives: interest rate,
equity, currency, etc., based on the type of risk underlying the hedged as-
set. These take the form of interest rate swaps (IRS), call money swaps (CMS),
FRAs, interest rate futures, debt futures, equity index futures, equity futures,
forward selling/buying of currencies, interest rate options, stock index op-
tions, stock options, currency options, options on interest rate structures, op-
tions on equity structures and equity swaps.

The Group’s use of derivative hedging instruments, generally fair value hed-
ges, is intended to hedge all or part of the risk of changes in the fair value of
certain liabilities or deposits issued by the Bank as a result of changes in in-
terest rates or the fair value of certain equity and debt instruments in the "“Fi-
nancial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income” portfolio.

Financial derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or in host con-
fracts are recognized separately as derivatives when their risks and other
features are not closely related to those of the host contracts and when the
host contracts are not classified as “Financial assets held for trading™ or “Fi-
nancial assets or liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss”.

e) Financial assets and financial liabilities — Financial instruments

Financial assets

Financial assets are included for measurement purposes in one of the following
portfolios:

i) Financial assets at amortized cost.

i) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.

i) Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss:
a. Financial assets held for trading.

b. Financial assets not held for tfrading mandatorily measured at fair value
through profit or loss

iv)Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss.
v) Derivatives — hedge accounting.
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Classification into the above categories is based on two elements:

* the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets, and
e the characteristics of the contractual cash flows from the financial assets.

Business model

The business model is the way financial assets are managed to generate cash
flows. It is determined based on how a group of financial assets willmanaged
to achieve a specific objective. It does not, therefore, depend on the group’s
intentions for an individual instrument but for a set of instruments.

The business models used by the Group are:

* Hold financial assets to collect their confractual cash flows (the “hold to
collect” model): under this model, financial assets are managed with the
aim of collecting their specific contractual cash flows and not to achieve an
overall return by holding and selling assets. That said, such assets can still be
sold before maturity under certain circumstances. Sales may be considered
compatible with a hold-to-collect asset model when they are infrequent or
immaterial, concern near-maturity assets, are motivated by a rise in credit
risk or are used to manage concentration risk.

e Sale of financial assets.

* A combination of these two business models — holding financial assets to
collect contractual cash flows and sale of financial assets (“hold to collect
and sell” model): this model implies that asset sales will more frequent and
higher value and that this is an essential part of the business model.

Characteristics of contractual cash flows from the financial assets
A financial asset must be initially recognized in one of two categories:

* Those whose contractual terms give rise, at specific dates, to cash flows
that comprise solely payments of principal and interest on the outstanding
principal.

e Other financial assets

Forthe purposes of this category, the principal of afinancial assetisits fair value at
initial recognition. This may change over the life of the asset, forinstance if parts
of the principal are redeemed. Interest is understood as the total consideration
paid for the fime value of money, for financing and structure costs and for
credit risk associated to the principal outstanding during a specific period, plus
a profit margin.
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Classification of portfolios for measurement purposes
The Group classifies a financial asset, for measurement purposes:

* To the “Financial assets at amortized cost” portfolio, when the following con-
ditions are met:

a. it is managed using a “hold to collect” business model, and

b. its contractual terms give rise at specific dates to cash flows that comprise
solely payments of principal and interest on the outstanding principal.

* To the “Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income”
portfolio, when the following conditions are met:

a. it is managed using a “hold to collect and sell” business model, and

b. its contractual terms give rise at specific dates, to cash flows that comprise
solely payments of principal and interest on the outstanding principal.

* To the “Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss” portfolio: provi-
ded the Bank's business model for the asset’s management or the charac-
teristics of its contractual cash flows do not require it to be classified in any of
the portfolios above.

* The “Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or
loss” portfolio includes all instruments that are:

a. originated or acquired with the intention of their short-term sale.

b. are part of a group of identified and jointly managed financial instruments
for which there is evidence of recent actions to obtain short-term profits.

c. derivative instruments that do not meet the definition of a hedging
instrument and have not been designated as hedging instruments.

They represent an exception to the general measurement criteria described
above for investments in equity instruments. In general, the Group opfts to
initially and irrevocably recognize as “Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income” any investments in equity instruments that are
not classified as held for trading and which, if this option were not exercised,
would be recognized as “Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value
through profit or loss”.

The business model is not decided based on intentions for a single instrument
but determined for a set of instruments in light of the frequency, volume and
timing of sales in prior years, the reasons for these sales and expectations for
future sales. Sales that are infrequent orimmaterial, close to an asset’s maturity,
motivated by increases in the credit risk of the financial assets or used to
manage concentration risk, among other reasons, can still be compatible with
the hold-to-collect model.
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If a financial asset includes a clause that can affect the timing or amount
of contractual cash flows (such as early redemption or duration extension
clauses), the Group determines whether the cash-flows to be generated over
the lifetime of the instrument from the exercise of this clause are solely payments
of outstanding principal and interest (the SPPI test). To do this, it looks at all
confractual cash flows that may arise before and after the change in their
timing or amount.

Also, where a financial asset allows for periodic adjustments to the interest
rate but the timing of the adjustment does not coincide with the term of the
benchmark interest rate (e.g. the interest rate is adjusted every three months
based on an annual rate), the Group assesses the timing mismatch on initial
recognition and decides whether the contractual cash flows represent solely
payments of outstanding principal and interest.

Contractual terms that, on initial recognition, have minimal impact on cash
flows or are conditional on exceptional and highly improbable events occurring
(such as liquidation of the issuer) do not prevent the instrument being reported
at amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income.

i) Derivatives — hedge accounting, which includes financial derivatives
acquired orissued by the Group that qualify for hedge accounting.

ii) Fair value changes to hedged items in portfolios hedged for interest rate risk.
This is the balancing entry to amounts credited to the consolidated income
statement for changes in the value of portfolios of financial instruments whose
interest rate risk is effectively hedged by fair value hedging derivatives.

i) Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates which include equity
instruments in Group companies, Jointly managed entities or Associates.

iv)Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale which are of a financial
nature and which correspond to the carrying amount of an item intended
for sale (discontinued operations), either individually or as part of a disposal
group or business unit, and whose sale is highly probable, in the current
state of the assets, within one year of the reporting date of the consolidated
financial statements. The carrying amount of these financial or non-financial
items is expected to be recovered via their sale price. There are also other
non-current assets held for sale which are non-financial in nature whose
accounting treatment is explained in Note 2.n.

Recognition and measurement

All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value. They are then
remeasured at the end of each financial period according to the following
criteria:
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i) Financial assets are measured at fair value except for “Financial assets at
amortized cost and investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
and financial derivatives which have such instruments as their underlying
and are extinguished via their delivery.

i) The fair value of a financial assets at a particular date is understood as
meaning the value for which it can be tfraded between fully informed parties
in an arms’ length tfransaction. The best evidence of fair value is a trading
price on an active market that provides an organized, transparent and deep
market.

Where no market price is available for a particular financial assets, its fair
value is estimated from recent transactions in similar instruments or, if this is
not possible, from suitably tested valuation models. Also taken info account
are the specifics of the asset being valued, particularly the various types of
risk that it carries. Nonetheless, the inherent limitations of existing valuation
techniques and any inaccuracies in the assumptions these techniques
require may be such that the fair value resulting from such financial assets
does not exactly coincide with the price at which it could be bought or sold
on the measurement date.

i) Financial assets at amortized cost are measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest rate method. Amortized cost is understood as the
acquisition cost of a financial asset adjusted for redemptions of principal and
the portion taken to the consolidated income statement, via the effective
interest rate method, of the difference between initial cost and redemption
value at maturity less any impairment loss either recognized directly against
its value or via an allowance account. For financial assets at amortized cost
which are hedged by fair value hedges, changes in fair value arising from
the risk or risks being hedged are recognized in the hedging transactions.

The effective interest rate is the discount rate that exactly matches the
amount of a financial instrument to the cash flows it is expected to generate
over its residual term, based on confractual terms and conditions including
early call options, but without taking losses due to future credit risk into
consideration. For fixed-income financial instruments, the effective interest
rate is the interest rate contractually established at the time of acquisition
plus, where applicable, any fees and commissions that, given their nature,
are comparable to an interest rate. In the case of floating-rate financial
instruments, the effectiveinterestrateis the prevailingrate of return applicable
until the date of the next interest rate revision.

For financial instruments not recognized at fair value through profit or loss,
fair value is adjusted by adding or deducting transaction costs directly
attributable to their acquisition or issue. In the case of financial instruments
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at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs are
immediately recognized in the consolidated income statement.

Transaction costs are defined as directly attributable costs of acquisition or
disposal of a financial asset, or the issue or assumption of a financial liability
which the Bank would not have incurred were it not for the transaction.

iv) The fair value of financial derivatives carried at their listed price in an active
market is their daily trading price. If, for exceptional reasons, no frading price
can be established for a particular date, they are measured using methods
similar to those applied for OTC derivatives.

Derivatives for which the market is non-existent or largely inactive
are measured using the most consistent and appropriate economic
methodologies, maximizing the use of observable data and allowing for any
factor that a market participant would take into account, such as: a) recent
transactions in substantially equivalent instruments, b) discounted cash flows,
c) market option valuation models. The techniques applied are preferably
those used by market participants and have been shown to give the most
realistic estimate for the price of the instrument.

All financial derivatives are initially recognized at fair value. On initial
recognition the best evidence of a financial instrument’s fair value is normally
the transaction price. The Caja Rural de Navarra Group conducts no
material fransactions using derivative instruments whose fair value on initial
recognition differs from their transaction price.

Changes in the carrying amount of financial assets are generally recognized
in the consolidated income statement. Different treatment is applied to
those that originate from the payment of interest and similar items, which are
recognized under “Interest income”, and those originating from other sources,
which are recognized at net value under “Gains or (-) losses on financial assets
and liabilities held for trading, net”, “Gains or (-) losses on financial assets not
held for frading mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss, net”
or “Gains or (-) losses on financial assets or liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss, net” in the consolidated income statement.

Nevertheless, changes in the carrying amount of instruments included in
“Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income” are
temporarily recognized under the “Accumulated other comprehensive
income” equity item except where they arise from translation differences in
the value of monetary financial assets. Amounts reported in “Accumulated
other comprehensive income” continue to be reported as equity until the asset
that gave rise to them is derecognized from the balance sheet. They are then
cancelled against the consolidated income statement, as “Gains or (-) losses
on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value
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through profit or loss, net”, in the case of debt instruments or “*Other reserves”,
in the case of equity instruments.

In financial assets designated as hedged items or hedge accounting,
measurement differences are recognized based on the following criteria:

i) In fair value hedges, differences in both the hedges and hedged items,
as regards the type of risk being hedged, are recognized directly in the
consolidated income statement.

i) Valuation differences relating to the inefficient portion of cash flow hedges
and hedges of net investments in foreign operations are recognized directly
in the consolidated income statement.

iii) In cash flow hedges, valuation differences arising from the effective portion
of the hedges are temporarily recognized in equity under “Accumulated
other comprehensive income”.

iv) In hedges of net investments in foreign operations, valuation differences
arising from the effective portion of the hedges are temporarily recognized
in equity under “Accumulated other comprehensive income”.

In the two latter cases, valuation differences are not recognized asincome until
losses or gains by the hedged item have been recognized in the consolidated
income statement or the hedged item matures.

Financial liabilities
Classification

Financial liabilities are classified in the statement of financial position based on
the following criteria:

i) “Financial liabilities held for frading”, which include financial liabilities issued
with a view to short-term reacquisition, comprise either part of a portfolio
of jointly managed identfified financial instruments where recent actions
have been taken to realize short-term gains or derivatives not designated as
accounting hedges or originate from a firm sale of temporarily purchased or
borrowed financial instruments.

i) “Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss” comprise
financial liabilities that were designated as at fair value by the Group either on
initial recognition or when it would more accurately reflect theirreal circumstances
because:

- It eliminates or significantly reduces inconsistencies in the recognition or
measurement that might arise from using different criteria to measure as-
sets and liabilities or recognize their gains and losses.
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- They constitute a group of financial liabilities or financial assets and liabili-
ties managed, and whose returns are measured, based on their fair value
using a documented strategy for risk management or investment and for
which Key Managers can also see fair value information.

i) “Financial liabilities at amortized cost”, comprising those not included under
any other heading of the consolidated statement of financial position and
that arise in the course of banks’ ordinary deposit-taking activities, irrespective
of type of instrument and residual term to maturity.

iv) “Derivatives— hedge accounting” comprises financial derivatives acquired
or issued by the Group that qualify for hedge accounting.

v) “Fair value changes to hedged items in portfolios hedged for interest rate
risk” is the balancing entry to amounts credited to the consolidated income
statement for changes in value of portfolios of financial instruments whose
interest rate risk is effectively hedged by fair value hedging derivatives.

vi) “Shares redeemable on demand” comprises financial instruments issued by
the Group which, althoughitislegally capital, does not meet the requirements
to be classed as Equity. They are measured as “Financial liabilities at
amortized cost” except for those the Group has designated as “Financial
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss” if they qualify.

vii) “Liabilities included in disposal groups held for sale” includes credit balances
originating from “Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale™.

Recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognized at amortized cost on the same basis as
financial assets, except for:

i) Financial liabilities included in “Financial liabilities held for trading” and
“Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss” which are
carried at fair value on the same basis as financial assets. Financial liabilities
hedged by fair value hedges are adjusted, with changes in fair value due to
the risk being hedged booked under “Micro hedging” in the item to which the
financial liabilities belong.

i) Financial derivatives that have as their underlying a capital instrument whose
fair value cannot be established with sufficient objectivity and which is settled
by delivery of the instrument are measured at cost.

Changes in the carrying amount of financial liabilities are generally recognized
with a balancing entry in the consolidated income statement. Different
freatment is applied to those that originate from the payment of interest
and similar items, which are recognized under “Interest expense”, and those
originating from other sources, which are recognized at net value under “Gains
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or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net”, “Gains or
(-) losses on financial assets not held for frading mandatorily measured at fair
value through profit or loss, net” or “Gains or (-) losses on financial assets or
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, net” in the consolidated
income statement.

Income and expense from financial assets and liabilities

Income and expense from financialinstruments at amortized cost arerecognized
in accordance with the following criteria:

a) Accrued interest is recorded on the consolidated income statement,
applying the tfransaction’s effective interest rate to its gross carrying amount
(except doubtful assets, where interest is charged on net carrying amount).

b) Other changes in value are recognized as income or expense when the
financial instrument is derecognized from the statement of financial position,
reclassified or when financial assets generate impairment losses or gains for
reversals of such losses.

Income and expense from financial instruments at fair value through profit or
loss are recognized in accordance with the following criteria:

a) Changes in fair value are recognized directly in the consolidated income
statement, distinguishing, in the case of instruments that are not derivatives,
between the portion attributable to income accrued on the instrument,
which will be recognized as interest or dividends as applicable, and the rest
of the change in fair value, which will be recognized in “Gains (losses) on
financial assets and liabilities” for the applicable item.

b) Accrued interest on debt instruments is calculated using the effective interest
method.

Exceptionally, the Group must recognize changes in the value of a financial
liability designated at fair value through profit or loss as follows:

a) the portion of the change in the financial liability’s fair value attributable to
changes in its own credit risk are recognized in other comprehensive income,
and then taken directly to reserves if the financial liability is derecognized, and

b) the rest of the fair value change is taken to “Profit for the year”.

Income and expense from financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognized in accordance with the following criteria:

a) Accrued interest and, if applicable, accrued dividends are recognized in the
consolidated income statement. Interest is treated in the same way as for
assets at amortized cost.
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b) Translation differences are recognized in the consolidated income statement
in the case of monetary financial assets and in other comprehensive income
for non-monetary assetfs.

c) In the case of debt instruments, impairment losses or reversals are recognized
in the consolidated income statement.

d) Other value changes are recognized in other comprehensive income.

As a result, when a debt instrument is measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the amounts recognized in profit for the year will be
the same as for instruments measured at amortized cost.

When a debt instrument at fair value through other comprehensive income is
derecognized, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit for
the period. In contrast, when an equity instrument at fair value through other
comprehensive income is derecognized, the gain or loss in accumulated other
comprehensive income is notrecycled to the income statement but toreserves.

In either case, recognition would change if the instruments formed part of a
hedging relationship.

Reclassification of financial instruments between porifolios

Only in the circumstances that the Group changes its business model for
managing financial assets, all affected assets are reclassified as follows. This
reclassificationis done prospectively fromthe date of the reclassification, with
no need to review previously recognized gains, losses or interest. Changes
in business model are generally very rare, but the following circumstances
may arise:

i) If the Group reclassifies a debt instrument from amortized cost to fair
value through profit or loss, the Group must estimate its fair value at the
reclassification date. Any resulting gain or loss, due to a difference between
the previous amortized cost and fair value, is recognized in the consolidated
income statement.

ii) If the Group reclassifies a debt instrument from fair value through profit or
loss to amortized cost, the fair value of the asset at the reclassification date
becomes the new gross carrying amount.

ii) If the Group reclassifies a debt instrument from amortized cost to fair value
through other comprehensive income, the Bank must estimate its fair value
at the reclassification date. Any resulting gain or loss, due to differences
between the previous amortized cost and fair value, is recognized in other
comprehensive income. The effective interest rate and estimated expected
credit loss are not adjusted as a result of this reclassification.
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iv If adebtinstrumentisreclassified from fair value through other comprehensive
income to amortized cost, the asset is booked at its fair value at the
reclassification date. Any accumulated gain or loss recorded in equity under
“Accumulated other comprehensive income” is cancelled against the
carrying amount of the asset at the reclassification date. The debt instrument
is valued at the reclassification date as though it had always been carried
at amortized cost. The effective interest rate and estimated expected credit
loss are not adjusted as a result of this reclassification.

v) If the Group reclassifies a debt instrument from fair value through profit or
loss to fair value through other comprehensive income, the financial asset
confinues to be carried at fair value and previously recognized value
changes are unchanged.

vi) If the Group reclassifies a debt instrument from fair value through other
comprehensive income to fair value through profit or loss, the financial asset
confinues to be carried at fair value. Any accumulated gain or loss recorded
in equity under “Accumulated other comprehensive income” is tfransferred
to the income statement at the reclassification date.

vii) When an investment in a subsidiary, joint venture or associate ceases to be
reported as such any remaining investment is measured at fair value at the
reclassification date. Any resulting gain or loss due to differences between
the previous carrying amount and fair value is booked to profit or loss or other
comprehensive income based on how the investment is to be subsequently
measured.

Except for those explained in Note 1.c) as a consequence of the entry into force of
IFRS 9, there were no reclassifications between portfolios in 2018 and 2017. Nor were
there any reclassifications of financial instruments between portfolios or any sales of
financial assets at amortized cost/held to maturity.

f) Transfers and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

The accounting treatment of transfers of financial assets depends on the degree
tfo which the associated risks and rewards are fransferred to third parties. The
following cases can be distinguished:

l. If substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred, the transferred finan-
cial asset is derecognized and any right or obligation retained or created in
the transfer recognized separately.

Il. If substantially all the risks and rewards associated with the transferred finan-
cial asset are retained, the transferred financial asset is not derecognized
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and continues to be measured by the same criteria used before the transfer.
Nonetheless, in these cases the following items are recognized:

* An associated financial liability for an amount equal to the payment
received, which is subsequently measured at amortized cost.

* Both the income generated by the transferred (but not derecognized)
financial asset and the expense generated by the new financial liability.

[Il. If substantially all the risks and rewards associated with the financial asset trans-
ferred are neither tfransferred nor retained, the following distinction is made:

* If the transferring entity does not retain conftrol, the transferred financial
asset is written off and any right or obligation retained or created in the
fransfer is recognized.

e If the fransferring entity retains control of the transferred financial asset,
the asset continues to be recognized on the reporting date at an amount
equivalent to its exposure to potential changes in value and a financial
liability associated with the tfransferred asset is recognized. The net amount
of the transferred asset and associated liability will be the amortized cost
of the rights and obligations retained, if the transferred asset is measured
at amortized cost, or the fair value of the rights and obligation retained, if
the transferred asset is measured aft fair value.

As a result, financial assets are only derecognized from the consolidated
statement of financial position when the cash flows they generate have been
extinguished or the implied risks and benefits have been substantially transferred
to third parties. Likewise, financial liabilities are only derecognized once the
obligations they generate have been extinguished or they have been acquired
with a view to their cancellation or reissue.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group had assets transferred prior to 1
January 2004 for amounts of EUR 9,180 thousand and EUR 10,951 thousand,
respectively, which,inaccordance with previousregulationswere derecognized
from the consolidated balance sheet.

g) Impairment of financial assets and other credit exposures

The Group applies impairment requirements to debt instruments at amortized
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income and other exposures
that carry credit risk, such as loans and advances, financial guarantees given
and other commitments given.

The IFRS 9 approach to impairment is to recognize expected credit loss on
fransactions, measured collectively or individually, considering all reasonable
and supportable information available, including forward-looking information.
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Impairment losses over the period in debt instruments are recognized as an
expense in “Impairment of value or (-) reversal of impairment of financial assets
not measured at fair value through profit or loss and net modification gains
or losses” in the consolidated income statement. Impairment losses on debt
instruments at amortized cost are recognized against an allowance account
that reduces the carrying amount of the assets, while losses on debt instruments
at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognized against
accumulated other comprehensive income.

Hedges of impairment losses on credit risk exposures other than debt instruments
are recognized as a provision in “Provisions— Commitments and guarantees
given” on the liability side of the balance sheet. Write-downs and reversals
of these hedges are recognized under “Provisions or (-) reversals” on the
consolidated income statement.

The criteria for impairment by type of instrument and accounting portfolio are
as follows:

Debt instruments measured at amortized cost

The Group determines its impairment losses by monitoring debtors individually,
including all debtors of material amounts, and collectively, for groups of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics indicative of the debtors’
capacity to pay the amounts outstanding. When a specific instrument cannot
be classified in a group of assets with similar risk characteristics it is assessed
only individually to determine if it has been impaired and, if so, to estimate the
impairment loss.

The Group has policies, methods and procedures to estimate potential
losses from its credit risk as a result of counterparty insolvency or country risk.
These policies, methods and procedures cover the concession, amendment,
measurement, monitoring and control of debt instrument transactions and
off-balance sheet exposures, the identification of any impairment and, where
applicable, the calculation of amounts needed to cover estimated losses.

Accounting classification in light of insolvency credit risk

The Group has defined criteria to identify creditors presenting weaknesses or
objective signs of impairment and rank them according to their credit risk.

The following sections set out the principles of and methodology used by the
Group for its classification.
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Classification categories

Debtinstruments notincluded as “Financial assets held for trading” and off-balance
sheet exposures are classified, based on their insolvency credit risk, as either:

i. Standard risk:
a) Transactions that do not meet the criteria for any other classification.

b) Standard risk on special watch: fransactions that do not meet the criteria
to be classed as individually doubtful or written off, but whose solvency
shows weaknesses that may lead to greaterlosses than similarrisks classified
as standard.

ii. Doubtful risk:

a)On grounds of arrears: transactions where a contractual payment of
principle, interest or expenses is, in general, more than 90 days overdue
but not classed as written off. This category also includes guarantees
given when the recipient of the guarantee is in arrears on the guaranteed
transaction. Also, all sums owed by a particular borrower when they are,
in general, more than 90 days overdue on loans representing more than
20% of the total amounts pending payment.

b) For reasons other than arrears: transactions that, while not qualifying as
doubtful or written off on grounds of arrears, present reasonable doubt as
to the recovery of the whole of the contractual amounts, or off-balance
sheet exposures that are not classed as doubtful on grounds of arrears but
whose payment by the Group is probable and whose recovery doubtful.

ii. Write-offs:
this category includes all debt instruments, whether overdue or noft,
where the probability of recovery, individually assessed, is considered to
be remote due to a clear or irrecoverable impairment of the solvency
of either the transaction or the borrower. Assets classified as written off

are automatically derecognized and provisioned for the full gross carrying
amount of the transaction.

Transaction classification criteria

The Group uses a range of criteria to classify borrowers and transactions into
various credit risk categories. These include:

i. Automatic criteria,
ii. Specific criteria for refinancing, and

iii. Criteria based on monitoring models, supported by monitoring specific
parameters.
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The automatic factors and specific classification criteria for refinancing
constitute a classification and clean-up process that is applied to the whole
portfolio. In addition, to help early identification of weakness and impairment,
the Group has a monitoring model that prescribes appropriate management
procedures for debts according to their different levels of default risk.

Transactions classed as doubtful are reclassified as standard risk when, as
a result of having collected all or part of the amounts owed, in the case of
doubtful loans on grounds of arrears, or having successfully completed the
clean-up period, in the case of doubtful loans for other reasons, the original
motivation for their classification as doubtful has disappeared, unless there are
other reasons to retain this classification, such as the borrower being more than
90 days overdue on other outstanding credit transactions.

Using these procedures, the Group classifies its borrowers as standard on special
watch or doubtful on grounds of arrears or maintains them as standard risk.

The Group has set an exposure threshold of EUR 3,000 thousand, beyond which
borrowers are deemed to be material. This classification includes risks which
have been manually classified — i.e. not because of automatic classification
criteria —as doubftful risks for reasons other than arrears, such as transactions that
no longer have substantial amounts more than 90 days overdue but have not
been reclassified as standard risks because of the borrower’s arrears on other
debts—and transactions identified as at “*no appreciable risk” or guaranteed by
third parties posing “no appreciable risk” but classified as doubtful on grounds
of arrears or for other reasons.

Refinancing and restructuring transactions

The Group's credit risk management policies and procedures ensure careful
monitoring of borrowers and provisions are taken on any indication that their
solvency may be impaired. The Group recognizes insolvency provisions on
any restructuring/refinancing fransaction where the position of their borrower
so requires, when the transactions are arranged. Restructuring/refinancing
fransactions are defined as follows:

* Refinancing transaction: transactions undertaken for economic or legal
reasons related to existing or expected financial difficulties of the borrower.
They involve the Bank or other Group entities cancelling one or more credit
arrangements to the borrower or another company or company in its
economic group, or recognising them as fully or partly paid, to make it easier
for the borrowers to pay their debt (principal and interest) where they are
unable, or expect to be unable, to meet their repayment terms on time.
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» Restructuring transaction: the financial terms of a transaction are amended
for economic or legal reasons related to existing or expected financial
difficulties of the borrower to make it easier for them to pay their debt
(principal and interest) where they are unable, or expect to be unable, to
meet their repayment terms on time, even when such an amendment is
allowed for in the original agreement. A transaction is always considered
to be a restructuring if its tferms are amended to extend the maturity, the
repayment schedule is amended to reduce the size of repayments in the
short term orreduce their frequency or extend the grace period for payment
of principal, interest or both, except where the terms and conditions are
amended for reasons other than the borrower’s financial difficulties and are
similar to the market terms that other lenders would offer to similar risks.

If a transaction is classified to a particular risk category, refinancing cannot
improve its risk profile. Refinanced transactions are initially classified by their
characteristics, mainly related to the financial difficulties of the borrower, and
include a number of clauses such as extended grace periods.

In general, the Group classifies refinancings and restructurings as standard risk
on special watch, unless they meet the criteria for doubtful loans. Exceptionally,
the Group may class some refinanced or restructured transactions as standard
risk (if they have cash guarantees, are underwritten by a mutual guarantee
societies or public sector company guarantor or if the guarantees have been
increased). Also, the Group assumes there is a restructuring or refinancing in the
following circumstances:

* When all or some payments were more than 60 days overdue (without
being classed as doubftful risk) at least once in the three months before the
tfransaction was amended or would have been more than 60 days in arrears
without such amendment.

* When, on or around the tfime the additional financing is granted, the borrower
has paid principal or interest on another tfransaction all or some of which was
more than 60 days overdue during the three months before the refinancing.

* When the Bank has approved the application of implied restructuring or
refinancing clauses on debtors with payments more than 60 days overdue or
which would have been 60 days in arrears without the application of these
clauses.

These types of transaction are specifically lagged in the IT system so that it can
be appropriately accounted for and monitored.

Once initially classified, any transaction can only be reclassified to a lower risk
category where this is justified by significant evidence of an improvement in
the outlook for the transaction’s recovery, whether because the borrower has
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been meeting its payment obligations on schedule for a long time, because a
significant percentage of the initial debt has been repaid, because more than
2 years from the approval date of the transaction or because the borrower has
no other transaction more than 30 days overdue at the end of the trial period.

Calculation of coverage

The Group applies the criteria set out below to calculated the coverage
provided for credit risk losses.

Transactions identified as having no appreciable risk (fundamentally, with
centralbanks, financialinstitutions, mutual guarantee societies and government
fransactions, all in the EU or certain countries considered to be risk-free) are
assigned 0% coverage, unless classed as doubtful in which case an individual
estimate of impairment loss is made.

Individual estimates of coverage

The following exposures are individually estimated:

I. Coverage of doubtful loans of individually material borrowers (risks above
EUR 3,000 thousand).

i. Any fransactions or borrowers whose characteristics make a collective
impairment calculation impossible.

ii. Coverage of transactions identified as having no appreciable risk which are
classified as doubtful, either on grounds of arrears or for reasons other than arrears.

The Group has developed a methodology for estimating such coverage,
calculating the difference between the gross carrying amount of the
transaction and the present value of estimated cash flows that it expects to
collect, discounted at the effective interest rate. In such cases any effective
guarantees received are taken into consideration.

Two methods are used to calculate the recoverable amount of individually
valued assets:

i. Estimated cash flows: debtors whose estimated capacity to generate future
cash flows through the development of their own business makes it possible,
by the development of the borrower’s business and their financial structure,
to repay part or all of the contracted debt. This involves estimating the
cash flows that the borrower will earn from the conduct of their business.
Additionally, such cash flows may be supplemented by sales of assets that
are not essential to generating cash flows from the business.

ii. Execution of guarantees: debtors who cannot generate cash flows from their
own business, who will have to liquidate assets to meet their debt payments.
This involves estimating cash flows based on the execution of guarantees.
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Collective estimates of coverage
The following exposures are collectively estimated:

i. Exposures classified as standard risk (including those classified as on special
watch).

ii. Exposures classified as doubtful that are not measured by individual estimates
of coverage.

The impairment assessment takes into account all credit exposures, debt
instruments and off-balance sheet exposures. The Group has applied Bank of
Spain parameters and methodology, based on data and statistical models that
aggregate average behaviour across the whole Spanish banking sector and
provide full compatibility with IFRS, to define the classification and assessment of
impairmentin the Group's on- and off-balance sheet exposures to its customers.
The methodology considers, among other points, the credit risk segment of
the transaction, real and effective personal guarantees received, the debtor’s
financial position and, where applicable, the age of amounts overdue.

In estimating coverage for credit risk losses, the recoverable amount of property
collateral is calculated by adjusting the benchmark value for any uncertainty
in the estimate and potential falls in value before foreclosure and sale, as well
as foreclosure, maintenance and selling costs.

The Group determines the recoverable amount of real effective guarantees at
their benchmark value less haircuts estimated by the Bank of Spain in Circular
4/2017, based on experience and information available to the Spanish banking
sector.

Classification and coverage for credit risk derived from country risk

Country risk is the risk affecting counterparties living in a certain country due
to circumstances other than the normal run of business: sovereign risk, transfer
risk or risks derived from international financial activity. The Bank groups
fransactions with third parties based on countries’ economic performance,
political situation, regulatory and institutional structure, payment capacity
and experience, assigning each group the percentage insolvency provisions
prescribed by regulations in force.

Transactions are classed as doubtful assets due to materialisation of country risk
where the final debtors are resident in countries facing prolonged difficulty in
servicing their debt and the possibility of repayment is considered doubtful and
where the chances of recovering off-balance sheet exposures are considered
remote due to circumstances attributable to the country.

Provisions for this risk are immaterial compared to coverage for impairment
constituted by the Group.
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Guarantees

Real and personal guarantees are deemed to be effective when the Group
can show that they validly mitigate credit risk. Analysis of the effectiveness of
guarantees takes info account, among other matters, the time it would take to
execute the guarantees and the Group's capacity and experience in doing so.

In no case are guarantees considered effective if their effectiveness depends
substantially on the creditworthiness of the debtor or any group to which it may
belong.

Subject to these conditions, the following types of guarantee can be considered
effective:

i. Property guarantees structured as first charge mortgages:
a) Finished buildings and parts of buildings:
* Residential properties.
» Offices, commercial premises and multi-use units.
* Other buildings, such as non-multi-use units and hotels.
b) Urban and licensed urbanisable land.
c) Other real property (buildings, parts of buildings and other land plots).
ii. Pledges of financial instruments:
e Cash deposits.
* Debt or equity securities issued by issuers of recognized creditworthiness.
ii. Other real guarantees:
* Movable goods deposited in guarantee.
* Second and lower-ranking mortgages on buildings.

iv.Personal guarantees which engage the direct and joint liability of the
new guarantors to the customer. Guarantors must be people or entities of
demonstrable solvency for the purpose of guaranteeing the full repayment
of the fransaction on the terms agreed.

The Group applies measurement criteria forreal collateral against assetsin Spain
compliant with regulations in force. In particular, the Group applies criteria to
the selection and contracting of suppliers of appraisers designed to guarantee
their independence and the quality of their valuations. All appraisers are
appraisal companies and agencies registered in the Bank of Spain’s Special
Register of Appraisal Companies and valuations are carried out using criteria
set by Ministerial Order ECO/805/2003 on measurement standards for property
and certain rights for financial purposes.
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Property posted as collateral for loans and buildings are appraised at the time
the loan is granted or recognized, in the case of buildings either on purchase,
foreclosure or grant in payment and when the asset suffers a significant fall
in value. In addition, valuations are updated as established by Bank of Spain
Circular 4/2017.

Debt instruments at fair value

Impairment losses on debt securities classed as “Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income” are equal to the positive difference
between acquisition cost (net of any principal repayments) and fair value
less any impairment loss previously recognized in the consolidated income
statement.

Where there is objective evidence that the decline in fair value is due
to impairment, the unrealized losses recognized in “Accumulated other
comprehensive income” in equity are taken directly to income. If all or part of
the impairment loss is subsequently recovered, the corresponding amount is
recognized in the income statement for the period when it is recovered.

In the case of debt securities recognized as “Available-for-sale financial assets”
and/or “Financial assets held for trading”, the Group deems them to be
impaired if any payment of principal or interest is more than 20 days in arrears
or if they have lost more than 40% of their cost value and credit rating.

In the case of debt instruments fransferred to “Non-current assets and disposal
groups held for sale” losses previously recorded in equity are considered to
be realized and recognized in the consolidated income statement on their
transfer.

Equity instruments

Impairment losses on equity instruments classed as “Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income” are equal to the positive difference
between acquisition cost (net of any principal repayments) and fair value
less any impairment loss previously recognized in the consolidated income
statement.

Where there is objective evidence that the decline in fair value is due
to impairment, the unrealized losses recognized in “Accumulated other
comprehensive income” in consolidated equity are taken directly to “Other
consolidated reserves”. If all or part of the impairment loss is subsequently
recovered, the corresponding amount is recognized in equity in “Accumulated
other comprehensive income” in consolidated equity.
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In the case of equity instruments transferred to *Non-current assets and disposal
groups held for sale” losses previously recorded in equity are considered to be
realized and recognized in the consolidated income statement on their transfer.
Impairment losses on equity instruments measured at cost are calculated as
the difference between their carrying amount and the present value of the
expected future cash flows discounted at the market rate of return for similar
securities. These impairment losses are recognized in income as they occur by
directly reducing the carrying amount of the equity instruments. The loss can
only be subsequently recovered in the event of sale.

In the case of investments in associates, the Group estimates the amount of
impairment losses by comparing their recoverable amount to their carrying
amount. Impairment losses are recognized in consolidated income as they
occur and subsequent recoveries are recognized in income in the period in
which the recovery takes place.

h) Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are defined as contracts whereby the Group undertakes
to pay specific amounts on behalf of a third party if the latter fails to do so. The
main types of contracts included in this category, which are recognized in the
memorandum accounts at the end of the consolidated statement of financial
position, are financial and technical guarantees, irevocable documentary
credits issued or confrmed by the Group, insurance policies and credit
derivatives in which the Group acts as the seller of protection.

When the Group issues contracts of this kind, they are recognized in the “Other
liabilities” line in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
and also, at the same time, in the “Other financial assets” line of “Loans and
advances — Customers” at the present value of cash flows receivable. Both
entries use a discount rate similar to that applied to credits with a similar term
and risk extended to the same counterparty by the Group. Subsequent to
issuance, contracts of this type are recognized by recording the differences in
consolidated income as “Finance income” or “Fee and commission income”,
according to whether they correspond to “Other financial assets” or “Other
liabilities”, respectively.

Financial guarantees are classified on the basis of the default risk assigned to
the customer or transaction and, where applicable, an estimate made of the
provisions required to cover the credit risk (Note 18). The credit risk is determined
by applying criteria similar to those used to quantify impairment losses on
financial assets classified under “Financial assets at amortized cost” (Note 2.g).
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i) Tangible assets

Property and equipment for own use are presented at acquisition price,
discounted pursuant to certain legal regulations and re-measured in
accordance with the provisions of the new accounting standards, less the
related accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Tangible assets
are grouped into the following items: property and equipment for own use,
investment property, assigned to operating leases and assigned to social
projects.

All tangible asset items are depreciated on a straight-line basis according to
the estimated years of useful life shown below. The land on which buildings
and other structures are constructed has an indefinite life and is not therefore
depreciated.

Annual provisions for the depreciation of tangible assets are recognized with
a balancing entry in the consolidated income statement and are calculated
using the following percentage depreciation rates, determined on the basis of
the average estimated years of useful life of the related assets:

Annual percentage

Buildings for own use 4%
Furniture and fixtures 15-20%
Computer hardware (*)

(*) Decreasing digit method (based on three or four years, depending on the items).

The depreciation periods and methods used for each tangible asset item are
reviewed by the Group as a minimum at the end of each reporting period.
Upkeep and maintenance expenses that do not improve the productivity
or extend the useful life of the respective assets are charged directly to the
consolidated income statement when incurred.

At each closing date, the Group reviews whether there are internal or
external indications that the net value of its tangible asset items exceeds their
recoverable amount. If so, it writes down the carrying amount accordingly and
reduces future depreciation charges to match the new carrying amount and
the remaining useful life, where this has been re-estimated. Any such reduction
to the carrying amount of property and equipment for own use is charged
to “Net impairment/(reversal) of non-financial assets — Tangible assets” in the
consolidated income statement.

Similarly, where there are indications that property or equipment has recovered
previously impaired value, the Group reverses the prior period impairment loss,
through a credit to “(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial
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assets) — Tangible assets” in the consolidated income statement and adjusts
future depreciation charges accordingly. Reversals can never increase the
carrying amount of an asset above its initial pre-impairment value.

Tangible assets are derecognized from the consolidated statement of financial
position when they are disposed of, including if assigned under finance leases,
or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic
benefits are expected to be obtained from their disposal, assignment or
abandonment. The difference between the sale price and carrying amount is
recognized in the consolidated income statement for the period in which the
asset is derecognized.

j) Leasing

I. Finance leases

Finance leases are leases that fransfer to the lessee substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the leased asset.

Finance lease contracts are recognized as follows:

When the Group acts as lessor of assets in a financial lease, the summed pre-
sent values of the amounts the lessee will receive plus guaranteed residual
value, usually taken to be the exercise price of the lessee’s call option at the
end of the contract are recognized as third-party finance, and are therefore
included in “Financial assets at amortized cost” of the consolidated balance
sheet, based on the nature of the lessee.

The accounting criteria applied to impairment losses and balance sheet de-
recognition are the same as those applied to other financial assets (Notes 2.1.
and 2.9).

When the Group acts as lessee, the cost of the leased assets is recognized in
the statement of financial position according to the type of asset leased and a
liability for the same amount simultaneously recognized. This amount is determi-
ned as the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of
all amounts payable to the lessor plus, where relevant, the exercise price of the
call option. These assets are depreciated on the same basis as tangible assets
for own use.

Income generated by these agreements are credited to the consolidated in-
come statement under “Interest income”, discounted to present at the effecti-
ve interest rate of the transactions.
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Il. Operating leases

Under operating leases, the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the leased asset and therefore continues to recognize ownership
thereof.

When the Group acts aslessor, it presents the acquisition cost of the leased assets
under “Tangible assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
These assets are depreciated on the same basis as other similar property, plant
and equipment for own use and income from the lease contracts is recognized
in consolidated income on a straight-line basis.

When the Group acts as lessee, lease expenses, including any incentives
granted by the lessor, are taken to the consolidated income statement on a
straight-line basis.

k) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets that are without physical substance.
They are deemed to be identifiable when they are separable from other assets
—i.e. they can be individually disposed of, let or transferred — or when they arise
from contractual or other legal rights. An intangible asset is recognized when,
besides satisfying the above definition, the Group considers it probable that
the economic benefits arising from the asset will be realized and its cost can be
measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognized at cost of acquisition or production and
subsequently measured at cost less any accrued amortization or impairment
loss.

Goodwill

Goodwill corresponds to payments made by the Group in anticipation of future
economic benefits deriving from assets of an acquired entity that cannot be
individually and separately identified and recognized. It is recognized only
when acquired for consideration in a business combination.

Positive differences between the acquisition cost of interests in the capital and
the corresponding carrying amounts of the assets acquired, adjusted on the
date of first consolidation, are recognized as follows:

i) If the excess can be assigned to specific assets or liabilities of the companies
acquired, it is added to the value of assets whose market value is higher than
the carrying amount stated in the consolidated statement of financial positions
of the companies acquired, or subtracted from the value of liabilities whose
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market value is lower than the carrying amount. The accounting treatment is
similar to that of the corresponding Group assets or liabilities, respectively.

i) Where differences can be assigned to specific infangible assets, they are
explicitly recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position
provided their fair value at the acquisition date can be measured reliably.

i) The remaining amount is recognized as goodwill, which is allocated to one
or more specific cash-generating unifs.

Negative differences between the acquisition cost of interests in the capital
of associates and the corresponding carrying amounts of the assets acquired,
adjusted on the date of first consolidation, are recognized as follows:

i) If the difference can be assigned to specific assets or liabilities of the companies
acquired, it is added to the value of liabilities whose market value is higher than
the carrying amount stated in the consolidated statement of financial positions
of the companies acquired, or subtracted from the value of assets whose market
value is lower than the carrying amount, where the accounting freatment is
similar to that of the Group’s equivalent liabilities or assets, respectively.

ii) Unassignable amounts are recognized in the consolidated income statement
for the year when the acquisition took place.

Theremainingintangible assets are divided into two groups: those with anindefinite
useful life when, based on analysis of all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable
limit to the period when they are expected to generate net cash flows to the
Group, and those with a finite useful life. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful
life are not amortized. At each reporting date, the Group reviews their remaining
useful life to determine whether it can still be considered indefinite and, if not,
makes the corresponding accounting changes. Intangible assets with a finite
useful life are amortized over that life using similar criteria to the depreciation of
property and equipment.

The Group also recognizes any impairment loss to the carrying amount of these
assets, with a balancing enftry in the consolidated income statement. The criteria
for recognising impairment losses in these assets and any recoveries of previously
recognized impairment are similar to those used for tangible assets.

I) Inventories

Inventories include, inter alia, land and other property held by the Group for
sale as part of its real estate development activities and any other assets, other
than financial instruments, that are held for sale in the ordinary course of its
business and are in the process of production, construction or development.
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Inventories are carried at the lower of cost, including all costs of acquisition
or transformation and other direct and indirect costs incurred to create their
current condition and location, and net realisable value. Net realisable value
is defined as the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and estimated costs of sale.

The cost of inventory items that are not fradable in the normal course of business
and the cost of goods and services produced and reserved for specific projects
are determined individually for each case. The cost of other inventories is
determined using the first-in, first-out method (FIFO).

Both reductions and subsequent recoveries in the net realisable value of
inventories are recognized in income for the year in which they occur.

In the event of their sale, the carrying amount of inventories is derecognized
from the consolidated statement of financial position and recycled to the
consolidated income statement as an expense under “Other operating
expenses” for the same period in which the revenue from their sale is recognized
under “Other operating income™.

m) Provisions and contingent exposures

The Group makes a distinction between provisions and contingent liabilities.
Provisions are defined as present obligations of the Group arising as a result of
past events, which are specific in nature at the reporting date but uncertain as
to their amount or timing of cancellation, which the Group expects to cancel
on maturity through an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits.

Such obligations may arise for the following reasons:

i) A legal or contractual requirement.

i) An implicit or tacit obligation, arising from a valid expectation created by the
Groupinrespect of third parties that it will assume certain kinds of responsibilities.
Such expectations arise when the Group publicly accepts responsibilities, and
derive from past performance or business policies in the public domain.

i) Near certain changes in the regulations on certain issues. In particular, draft
legislation with which the Group will be required to comply.

Contingent exposures are possible obligations of the Group that arise out of past
events which are contingent upon the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events over which the Group does not have control. Contingent
exposures include present obligations of the Group where an outflow of funds
including economic benefitsis unlikely to be required to settle them or, in extremely
rare cases, where the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.
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Provisions and contingent exposures are classified as probable when they are
more likely to occur than not, possible when they are less likely to occur than
not, and remote when their occurrence is extremely rare.

The Group includes in the consolidated financial statements all significant
provisions and contingent exposures in respect of which the probability of the
obligation having to be met is greater than the probability of its not having to
be met. Contingent exposures classified as possible are not recognized in the
consolidated financial statements, but are reported, unless the likelihood of
an outflow of funds including economic benefits being required is considered
remote.

Provisions are quantified on the basis of the best available information on
the consequences of the event at their origin and are estimated at the close
of each accounting period. They are used to cover the specific obligations
for which they were recognized and are reversed in full or in part when such
obligations cease to exist or are reduced.

Provisions for commitments and guarantees given include the amount of the
provisions established to cover contingent commitments given — defined as
tfransactions where the Group guarantees the obligations of a third party as
a result of financial guarantees granted or contracts of another kind — and
contfingent commitments — defined as irrevocable commitments that could
give rise to the recognition of a financial asset — and the amount of other
provisions established by the Group.

Ongoing lawsuits and/or claims

At 31 December 2018 and 2017 a number of lawsuits and claims had been
filed against the Group as a result of the normal conduct of its business. Both
the Bank’s legal advisors and its directors are of the view that the outcome
of these proceedings and claims will have no significant effect beyond that
provisioned in the accompanying consolidated financial statements closed at
31 December 2018 and 2017.

It should be noted that following the European Union Court of Justice ruling of
21 December 2016 on “floor clauses” and the entry into force of Royal Decree
Law 1/2017 of 20 January, on urgent measures to protect consumers, the Bank
analysed possible contingencies arising from floor clauses and took a provision
at 31 December 2018 of EUR 81,268 thousand (EUR 82,591 thousand at 31
December 2017), recognized under “Provisions — Other provisions” (Note 18).
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n) Non-current assets and liabilities and disposal groups held for sale

“Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale” on the consolidated
statement of financial position include the carrying amount of items intended
for sale (discontinued operations), either individually or as part of a disposal
group or business unit, and whose sale is highly probable, in the current state of
the assets, within one year of the reporting date of the consolidated financial
statements. Also classed as “Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale” are investments in associates that meet the same criteria.

The carrying amount of these items, which may be financial or non-financial
assets, is expected to be recovered via their sale price rather than through their
continued use.

And so, real estate or other non-current assets received by the group as full
or part payment of its debtors’ obligations are reported under “Non-current
assets and disposal groups held for sale™ unless the Group has decided to make
continuing use of these assets.

Also, “Liabilitiesincluded in disposal groups held for sale” include credit balances
of the Group's disposal groups and discontinued operations.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are generally measured at
the lower of carrying amount at the time they are classified as such and their
estimated fair value net of costs to sell, except those of a financial nature. For as
long as they remain classified as “Non-current assets and disposal groups held
for sale” tangible and intangible assets that would normally be depreciated or
amortised are not.

Foreclosed assets or assets received in settlement of debt, whatever the legal
procedures that led to this outcome, are initially recognized at the lower of the
carrying amount of the associated financial asset, i.e. amortized cost less any
estimated impairment, and fair value at the time of foreclosure or receipt less
estimated costs to sell. Fair value is taken to be the market value measured by
full appraisal of each asset less costs to sell.

All costs of the foreclosure process are recognized immediately in the
consolidated income statement for the year the foreclosure took place.
Registration fees and taxes paid may be added to the value initially
recognized provided that their addition does not raise this amount above
the appraisal value less estimated costs to sell referred to in the previous
paragraph. All costs to maintain and protect the asset incurred between
foreclosure and sale, such asinsurance or security, are taken to consolidated
income as accrued.
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Subsequently, this appraisal value is updated in line with a benchmark valuation
used to estimate fair value. When measuring fair value less costs to sell, the Group
takes into account appraisals by different appraisal companies all of whom are
registered in the Bank of Spain Special Register and the discounts to benchmark
value estimated by the Bank of Spain on the basis of past experience and
information held by the Spanish banking sector. Also, when a building has a fair
value of EUR 250,000 or less it is updated using automated valuation models.
Any buildings that have remained on the balance sheet for three years undergo
a full reappraisal in any event. Also, the appraisal company that updates the
valuation is different from the one that carried out the previous valuation.

Where the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the assets less costs to
sell, the Group adjusts the carrying amount of assets by the difference, with
an offsetting entry in “Gains or (-) losses from non-current assets and disposal
groups held for sale not classified as discontinued operations” on the income
statement. In the event of any subsequent rise in the fair value of assets, the
Group reverses previously taken losses, increasing the book value of the assets
up to the pre-impairment amount, with an offsetting entry in “Gains or (-) losses
from non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale not classified as
discontinued operations” on the income statement.

Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets held for sale are reported under
“Gains or (-) losses from non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale not
classified as discontinued operations” on the consolidated income statement.

Discontinued operations

The Group classifies as a discontinued activity or operation any Group component
that has been sold or otherwise disposed of or classified under *Non-current assets
or disposal groups held for sale” and also fulfils any of the following conditions:

* |t represents a business line or geographical area of operations which is
material and independent of the rest.

e |tforms part of anindividual and coordinated plan to sell, or otherwise dispose
of, a business line or geographical area of operations which is material and
independent of the rest.

* |tis a subsidiary acquired for the sole purpose of selling it.

Results generated during the year by Group components classified as
discontinued operations are recognized under “Profit or (-) loss after tax from
discontinued operations” on the consolidated income statement whether or
not the component still remains on the balance sheet at the end of the year.
If activities previously presented as discontinued operations are reclassified as
contfinuing operations, their income and expenses are reported by nature on
the consolidated income statements for the current and prior years.
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o) Foreign currency transactions

I. Functional currency

The Group's functionalcurrencyis the euro. Consequently, allnon-euro balances
and transactions are considered foreign currency balances and transactions.

Il. Translation criteria for foreign currency balances

Balances receivable and payable in foreign currency are translated to euro
at the spot rate on initial recognition. The following translation criteria are
subsequently applied:

- Cash items denominated in foreign currency are translated to their functional
currencies using the official average Spanish spot rate at the close of the
year.

- Non-cash items measured at historical cost are translated at the exchange
rate applying on the date of acquisition.

- Non-cash items recognized at fair value are franslated at the exchange rate
applying on the date of fair value measurement.

- Income and expenses are translated at the exchange rate applying on the
fransaction date or using the average exchange rate for the period for all
fransactions performed in that period.

- Equity items are translated at historical exchange rates.

lll. Recognition of translation differences

Translation differences arising on the translation of foreign currency balances are
generally recognized in income, except for differences arising on non-cash items.

At 31 December 2018, the value of assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies was EUR 48,289 thousand and EUR 47,328 thousand,
respectively (compared with EUR 70,388 thousand and EUR 70,388 thousand
at 31 December 2017).

p) Recognition ofincome and expense

As a general rule, income is recognized at the fair value of the consideration
received or to be received, less frade and other discounts. Where the cash inflows
are deferred, fair value is determined by discounting the future cash flows.
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The recognition of any revenue item in consolidated income or consolidated
equity is subject to fulfilment of the following prerequisites:

* The amount can be reliably estimated.

e It is probable that the Bank will receive the economic benefits of the
transaction.

* The information must be verifiable.

The main criteria applied by the Group for the recognition of income and
expense are described below.

I. Interest and similar income and expense

As a generalrule, interest and similarincome and expense items are recognized
according to their accrual periods, using the effective interest rate method.
Dividends received from other companies are recognized in income at the
time the Group becomes entitled to receive them.

ll. Fees, commissions and similar items

Income and expense arising from fees, commissions and similar charges are

recognized in income according to various criteria, depending on their type.

The main fee and commission items are:

- Fees related to financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through
profit and loss, which are recognized when paid.

- Fees originating from transactions or services that continue over an extended
period, which are recognized over the life of the fransaction or service.

- Feesrelating to a service rendered in a single act, which are recognized when
the single act is carried out.

The Group classifies fees and commissions received or paid as follows:
Finance fees and commissions

Fees of this type, which form an integral part of the effective return or cost
of a finance transaction, are collected or paid in advance and generally
recognized in income over the expected term of the finance, net of direct
costs, as an adjustment to the cost incurred or effective revenue generated on
the transaction.

Non-finance fees and commissions

Fees of this type arise when services are rendered by the Group and are
recognized in income over the period in which the service is rendered or, if
relating to a service rendered in a single act, when the single act is carried out.
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lll. Non-finance income and expense

These are recognized for accounting purposes on an accrual basis.

q) Swaps of tangible and intangible assets

When tangible and intangible assets are the subject of swaps, the Group
measures the assets received at their fair value plus, if applicable, any cash
considerations delivered in exchange, unless clearer evidence of the fair value
of the asset received exists. When it is not possible to measure fair value reliably,
the assets received are recognized at the carrying amount of the assets
delivered plus, if applicable, any cash considerations delivered in exchange.

Losses on asset swaps are recognized directly in the consolidated income
statement, while gains are only recognized if the swap is of a commercial
nature and the fair values of the swapped assets can be reliably measured.

r) Social Welfare Fund

The Group recognizes mandatory allocations to the Social Welfare Fund under
liabilities and as an expense for the year. Voluntary contributions are recognized
as a distribution of earnings.

Applications of this fund are normally credited to cash and banks, unless
the amount of the related welfare project corresponds to the Group's own
activities, in which case the Social Welfare Fund is reduced and arevenue item
is simultaneously recognized in the consolidated income statement.

s) Off-balance sheet customer funds

The Group recognizes funds deposited by third parties forinvestmentininvestment
funds, pension funds and endowment policies at their fair value in memorandum
accounts, making a distinction between funds managed by Group companies
and funds marketed by the Group, managed by non-Group third parties.

The memorandum accounts also include the fair value or, if no reliable fair value
estimate is available, cost value of assets acquired by the Group on behalf of
third parties as well as debt securities, equity instruments, derivatives and other
financial instruments held in custody, under guarantee or on commission at the
Group on behalf of those responsible for the same.

The fees charged for these services are recognized in the consolidated income
statement as “Fee and commission income”.
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t) Personnel expenses and post-employment benefits

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefits are measured, without discounting, at the amount
payable for services received and generally recognized as personnel expenses
for the year plus an accrued liability of an amount equal to the difference
between the total expense and the amount already settled.

Pension commitments

The only Group company that has significant pension commitments to its
employees is the Parent Company.

In accordance with the current collective wage agreement, Caja Rural de
Navarra is obliged to supplement the state social security system benefits accruing
to widows and orphans of employees who die while employed by the Group. It
must also pay a seniority bonus to employees who leave the Parent Company due
to retirement or serious full and permanent disability after twenty or more years’
service. The amount of this bonus is established in the collective agreement.

Caja Rural de Navarra has covered all the aforementioned commitments
through various policies contracted with the insurance company Vidacaixa
Seguros y Reaseguros, S.A..

Liabilities recognized under the defined benefit plans are measured as the
current value of the obligation at the reporting date less the fair value of plan
assets. Obligations under defined benefit plans are calculated annually by
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method assuming the
earliest possible retirement age.

“Plan assets” are those assets associated with a specific defined benefit
obligation which will be used directly to settle these commitments and which
meet the following conditions:

* They are owned by a legally separate third party that is not related to the Group.

* They can be used only to pay or finance commitments to employees and are
unavailable to creditors of the Parent Company even in the event of insolvency.

* They can be returned to the Parent Company only if all employee benefit
commitments have been settled or if they are to be used to reimburse the Parent
Company for employee benefits already paid.

* They are not non-transferable securities issued by the Parent Company.
At 31 December 2018, the defined benefit obligation was in deficit as the fair

value of plan assets was less than the present actuarial value of the contracted
obligations.
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This deficit was recognized in accordance with Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017
as a provision for defined benefit pension plans under “Provisions — Pensions
and other defined-benefit post-employment obligations” on the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 December 2018.

Post-employment benefits are defined as any remuneration to employees
paid after they have ceased to be employed by the Group. Post-employment
benefits, including those covered by internal or external pension funds, are
divided into defined contribution or defined benefit plans based on the tferms
and conditions of the associated obligations, taking into consideration all
commitments undertaken both within and outside the terms and conditions
formally agreed with employees.

Bank of Spain Circular 472017 requires post-employment benefits to be reported
as follows:

i) On the income statement: employee current service costs and past service
costs that were not recognized in the year accrued, net interest on provisions
(assets), and the gain or loss on settlement.

i) Onthe statement of changes in equity: revaluations of provisions (assets), impact
of actuarial gains and losses, any returns on plan assets that were not included
in net interest on provisions (assets), and changes in the present value of plan
assets as a result of changes in the present value of cash-flows available to
the entity which are not included in net interest on provisions (assets). Amounts
recognized in the statement of changes in equity will not be reclassified to the
income statement in future years.

Defined benefit plans are therefore reported in the income statement as follows:

a) Cumrent service cost as “Personnel expenses”.

b) Net interest on provisions as “Interest expense”.

c) Net interest on assets as “Interest income”.

d) Past service cost as “(Provisions) reversals”.

The most significant actuarial assumptions applied are as follows:

Actuarial assumption 2018 2017
Interest rate 1.60% 1.50%
Expected return on plan assets 1.60% 1.50%
Mortality tables PERM/F2000P PERM/F2000P
Incapacity tables N/A N/A
Annual cumulative salary increase 2.00% 2.00%
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The discount rate applied to plan commitments is based on the duration of the
commitment, 16.6 years for post-employment obligations at arate of 1.60%, and
the benchmark curve is based on the yield paid by high-rated (AA) corporate
bonds denominated in euros (Source: Iboxx AA at 31 December 2018).

The percentage senisitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the
main assumptions for 2018 is as follows:

Change in
assumption Increase Decrease
Discount rate 0.5% -7.3% 8.1%
Annual salary growth rate 0.5% 7.9% -7.2%

The sensitivity analysis above assumes a change in the assumptions shown while
all other factors remain constant.

The amounts recognized in the Bank’s financial statements for pensions and
similar obligations are as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Assets/liabilities on statement of financial position
Post-employment obligations (3,024) (2,990)
Fair value of plan assets 2,005 1,989
Net asset (provision) recognized on statement of financial position (Note 18) (1,019) (1,001)

Expenses charged to the income statement for defined benefit obligations to
employees are as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Charged (credited) directly to income
Personnel expenses:
— Current service cost 179 165
— Allocation to provisions - -
Net income and interest expense 17 17
Total expenses charged 196 182
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The table below reconciles the amounts reported as present value of defined
benefit obligations at the start and end of 2018 and 2017:

Thousands of euros

Balance at 31 December 2014 2,736
Current service cost 165
Interest expense 50
Remeasurements 86
Benefits paid (47)
Effect of curtailments/settlements -
Balance at 31 December 2017 2,990
Current service cost 179
Interest expense 47
Remeasurements (137)
Benefits paid (55)
Effect of curtailments/settlements -
Balance at 31 December 2018 3,024

The table below reconciles the amounts reported as fair value of defined
benefit plan assets at the start and end of 2018 and 2017:

Thousands of euros

Fair value at 31 December 2014 1,804
Expected return on plan assets 40
Remeasurements 85
Confributions by the Bank 107
Benefits paid (47)
Effect of curtailments/settlements -
Fair value at 31 December 2017 1,989
Expected return on plan assets 30
Remeasurements (14)
Conftributions by the Bank 55
Benefits paid (55)
Effect of curtailments/settlements -
Fair value at 31 December 2018 2,005

The breakdown of the main asset classes in the defined benefit plan (as % of
total plan assets) is as follows:

2018 2017
Equities - _
Debt instruments - -
Property - -
Insurance policies 100% 100%
Other assets - -
100% 100%

Total
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The Bank expects to contribute EUR 178 thousand to defined post-employment
benefit plans in respect of 2019.

The estimate of the corresponding payments expected from defined post-
employment benefit plans over the next 10 years is as follows (in thousands of
euros):

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024-2028
Probably post-employment benefits 225,602 77,595 142,280 101,105 120,246 507,661

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized as a provision for pensions and other
defined-benefit post-employment obligations and as personnel expenses only
when it can be demonstrated that the Group has committed to terminating
the employment of an employee or group of employees before the normal
retirement date or to paying termination benefits to employees as incentivesin
a voluntary redundancy offer.

u) Tax on profit from continuing operations

The income tax expense for the year is recognized in the consolidated income
statement except when it results from a transaction recognized directly in
equity, in which case the income tax effect is also recognized in equity.

“(Tax expense or (-) income on profit from continuing operations)” is tax payable
on taxable profit for the year, adjusted for changes arising in the year due to
temporary differences, tax relief, tax credits and tax loss carryforwards.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities include the aforesaid temporary differences,
which are the amounts expected to be payable or recoverable on differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their related tax
bases.

Deferred tax assets, tax relief, tax credits and tax loss carryforwards are only
recognized if it is considered likely that the Group will have sufficient future
taxable profits against which they can be offset.

Deferred tax liabilities are always recognized, except those arising upon the
initial recognition of goodwill or the deferred tax liabilities associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly-controlled entities, provided
that the investor is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference and, in addition, that itis probable that the difference willnot reverse
in the foreseeable future. Notwithstanding the above, deferred tax assets and
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liabilities are not recognized in connection with the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a fransaction that is not a business combination and that, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reviewed on each reporting date to
determine whether they remain valid and whether there is sufficient evidence
on the probability of future taxable profits being made against which tax assets
can be applied. Any corrections identified as necessary in the review are then
made.

The reviews consider the following factors:

* Projected profits of the Parent Company and each subsidiary, based on
budgets approved by the Group's directors, adjusted using constant growth
rates estimated by the Parent Company’s management;

* Estimates of reversals of temporary differences depending on their nature
and

e Legal expiry periods or caps for the use of deferred tax assets in each
country.

Income and expenses recognized directly in equity are accounted for as tem-
porary differences.

On 28 December 2016, Navarre Regional Law 26/2016, on Company income
tax, was published in the Navarre Official Bulletin, taking effect the next day
and applying to all tax periods starting as from 1 January 2017. This amended
Navarre Regional Law 24/1996, of 30 December, on Company income tax, used
to determine company income tax in 2017, although it did not actually change
the tax rate payable by the Bank.

v) Consolidated statement ofrecognizedincome and expense and consolidated
statement of changes in equity

These statements form part of the consolidated financial statements and show
all changes in equity occurring in the reporting period. The main features of the
information presented in each part of the statement are outlined below.

Consolidated statement of recognized income and expense

This statement shows the income and expense generated by the Group as a
result of its activities in the reporting period, distinguishing between items of
income and expense that are recognized in profit and loss for the year and
items of income and expense that, as required under current regulations, are
recognized directly in equity.
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This financial statement therefore presents:
e Consolidated profit for the year

* The net income or expense recognized under “Other comprehensive
income” that will not be reclassified to profit or loss.

* The net income or expense recognized under "Other comprehensive
income” that may be reclassified to profit or loss.

» “Totalrecognized income and expenses for the year”, calculated as the sum
of the three items above.

Changes in net income or expense recognized under “Other comprehensive
income” as “ltems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss” are composed of:

a) Actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit pension plans: this includes gains
or losses over the period from changes in the valuation of obligations due to
changes and differences in actuarial assumptions, certain returns on plan
assets and changes in the limit of the asset.

b) Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale: this includes gains
and losses for the period that must be recognized in other comprehensive
income as a result of the measurement of this asset class and which are not
subsequently taken to income.

c) Share of other recognized income and expense of investments in joint
ventures and associates: this item, which only appears in the consolidated
statement of recognized income and expense, summarizes gains and losses
for the period from companies accounted for using the equity method
obligatorily recognized in OCI and not subsequently taken to income.

d)Changes in fair value of equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income: this item includes gains or losses for the period from
changesin the fair value of equity instruments, when an entity has irrevocably
opted to report these in OCI.

e) Gains or losses from hedge accounting for equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, net: this represents changes over the
period in the ineffectiveness of fair value hedges where the hedged item is
an equity instrument at fair value through OCI. It also includes the difference
between changesin fair value of equity investmentsrecognized as *Changes
in fair value of equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income (hedged item)” and changes in fair value of hedging derivatives
booked under “changes in fair value of equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income (hedge)”

f) Changes in fair value of financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss attributable to changes in credit risk: this shows changes in the
fair value for the period of financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss attributable to changes in own credit risk.
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Changes in net income or expense recognized under “Other comprehensive
income” as “ltems that can be reclassified to profit or loss” are composed of:

a)Hedges of net investments in foreign operations (effective portion): this
includes the change over the period in retained earnings due to the impact
of exchange rate differences on the effective portion of hedges, continuing
or discontinued, of net investments in foreign operations.

b) Currency translation: this recognizes changes over the period due to the
translation of functional currency items into the reporting currency.

c) Cash flow hedges (effective portion): this recognizes the gain or loss over
the period in the effective portion of the changes in fair value of hedging
instruments in this type of hedging relationship.

d) Hedging instruments (undesignated): this includes changes over the period
in accrued change in the fair value of the following items when they have
not been designated as a hedge: time value of options, future elements
of futures contracts, base differential of exchange differences on financial
instruments.

e) Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income:
this includes gains or losses for the period on these instruments not due
to impairment or exchange differences, recognized in, respectively,
“Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured
at fair value through profit or loss)” and “Gains or (-) losses from translation
differences, net”, in the income statement.

f) Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale: this includes gains
and losses for the period that must be recognized in other comprehensive
income as a result of the measurement of this asset class and which can
subsequently be taken to income.

g) Share of other recognized income and expense recognized in investments
in joint ventures and associates. This item, which only appears in the
consolidated statement of recognized income and expense, summarizes
gains and losses for the period from companies accounted for using the
equity method obligatorily recognized in OCI which can be subsequently
taken to income.

Each individual item is also broken down into the following sub-items:

a) Gains or losses recognized in equity: reflects the amount of income, net
of expenses arising in the year, recognized directly in equity. Amounts
recognized directly in equity during the year are held in this item, although
they are recycled in the same year to income or transferred to the initial
carrying amount of assets and liabilities, or reclassified to another item, in
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accordance with paragraphs b), c) and d) below, respectively. When this
breakdown refers to paragraph b) of the previous item, it is called “Gains or
(-) losses on currency translation recognized in equity”.

b) Reclassified to profit orloss: measurement gains orlosses previously recognized
in equity, including in the same year, which are recognized in the income
statement (sometimes this process is referred to as “recycling of income and
expense” and the amount fransferred as “Reclassification adjustments”).

c) Reclassified to initial carrying amount of hedged items: this sub-item is only
used forthe items covered by c) in the previous section. It shows measurement
gains or losses previously recognized in equity, even in the same year, which
are recognized in the initial carrying amount of assets and liabilities as a result
of cash flow hedges.

d) Otherreclassifications: tfransfersbetweenitemsduring the year,inaccordance
with the criteria set out in the standards of this section.

The amounts of items in this account are carried gross. Income tax for each
item, whether or not they are recyclable to income, is shown in a separate item
af the end.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

This statement shows all changes in equity, including those resulting from
changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors. The statement
therefore provides a reconciliation between the carrying amount of each
item of consolidated equity at the beginning and end of the period, grouping
movements by type under the following headings:

» Effects of changes in accounting policies and correction of errors: reflecting
changes in equity resulting from retrospective adjustments to consolidated
financial statement balances because of changes in accounting principles
or to correct errors.

* Total recognized income and expenses for the year: representing the
aggregate value of allthe aforementioned itemsrecognized in the statement
of recognized income and expense.

* Other changes to equity: representing the remaining items recognized in
equity, including capital increases or decreases, distribution of earnings,
freasury share transactions, equity-based payments, transfers between
equity items, and any other increase or decrease in equity.
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w) Consolidated cash flow statement

The consolidated cash flow statement uses a number of specific concepts,
which are defined as follows:

i) Cash flows are inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, that is, in-
vestments that are short-term, highly liquid and subject to a low risk of chan-
ges in value.

i) Operating activities are the Group's typical activities and other activities that
cannot be classified as investing or financing and interest paid on financing
received, even if it relates to financial liabilities classified as financing activi-
ties.

i) Investing activities are those relating to the acquisition, sale or disposal by
other means of long-term assets and other investments not included in cash
and equivalents, such as property and equipment, intangible assets, equity
investments, joint ventures and associates, non-current assets and disposal
groups classified as “Financial assets at fair value through other comprehen-
sive income” and the associated liabilities.

Changes arising from the acquisition or disposal or a set of assets for liabilities
making up a business or activity are reported under “Other business units” in
the separate financial statements or under “Subsidiaries and other business
units” in the consolidated statements as positive or negative items as appro-
priate.

iv)Financing activities are activities that result in changes in the size and com-
position of the consolidated net assets and liabilities that are not part of ope-
rating activities.

The Group treats the balances included under “Cash, cash balances at
central banks and other demand deposits” in the consolidated statement of
financial position as cash and cash equivalents.

x) Business combinations

Business combinations are defined as transactions through which two or more
entities oreconomic units are merged into a single entity or group of companies.

When the business combination results in the creation of a new entity that issues
shares to the owners of two or more entities that have merged. one or other
of the two original entities is deemed to be the acquirer and the transaction is
tfreated in the same way as if one entity had acquired the other.

Business combinations are booked by the acquisition method. The consideration
fransferred to acquire another company is measured as the fair value of the
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assets transferred, any liabilities to the previous owners that the Group takes on
and any equity interests in the acquiree issued by the Bank. Consideration also
includes the fair value of any assets or liabilities resulting from any contfingent
consideration agreement. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contfingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are initially measured
at fair value at the acquisition date. In each business combination, the Group
can choose to measure any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair
value or at its proportionate share of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree.

Acquisition costs are recognized as expenses for the year they are incurred.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is measured at
fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of
a contingent consideration treated as an asset or liability are recognized in
accordance with IFRS 9 in the consolidated income statement.

Goodwillis initially measured as the total consideration paid plus the fair value of
the non-conftrolling interests less the net amount of identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If this consideration turns out to be less than the fair
value of net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in
income.

During a one-year “measurement period” from the date of the business
combination the acquirer can adjust the provisional amounts recognized as
it completes the estimates required to prepare the first consolidated financial
statements following the combination.

y) Goodwill

Positive differences between the acquisition cost of business combinations and
the percentage interest acquired in the net fair value of the assets and con-
tingent liabilities of the acquirees are recognized as goodwill on the consoli-
dated balance sheet. Goodwill therefore corresponds to payments made by
the Group in anticipation of future economic benefits deriving from assets of
an acquired entity that cannot be individually and separately identified and
recognized. It is recognized only when acquired for consideration as a result of
a business combination. This goodwill is never amortized but at each reporting
date it is tested for any impairment that would reduce its fair value below its
recognized net cost and, if so, it is written down with the resulting loss being re-
cognized in the consolidated income statement.

Goodwillimpairment tests are based on measurements that principally use the
discounted distributed profits method, which takes account of the following
parameters:
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o Key business assumptions. These assumptions are the basis for forecasting
future cash flows used in the valuation. For financial businesses the variables
projected may include: lending volumes, non-performing loans, customer
deposits and interest rates in a projected economic environment and capital
requirement,

o Estimates of macro-economic and other financial variables.

o Forecast period. The forecast term/period is usually 5 years. Beyond this, profits
and yields are assumed to run at a constant level. Economic projections at the
time of the valuation are used to make forecasts over this period.

o Discount rate. The present value of future dividends, used to derive value
in use, is calculated at a discount rate based on the entity’s cost of equity
(Ke) to a market participant. It is determined using the capital asset pricing
model (CAPM) method: “Ke = Rf +8 * (Rm — Rf) + «; where Ke = rate of return
demanded by the shareholder, B = the company’s systemic risk factor, Rm =
market rate of return, Rf = risk-free rate and a = an additional premium to take
account of future contingencies”.

o A growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the period covered
by the most recent forecasts. This is based on long-term estimates of key
economic and business variables, taking into account at all times the state of
financial markets. The estimated perpetual growth rate is 1%.

Impairment losses recognized for goodwill are not reversed in subsequent
periods.
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3. Changes and errors in accounting principles and estimates

I. Changes in accounting principles

Changes in accounting principles, whether resulting from a change in an
accounting standard affecting a particular fransaction or event or a decision of
the Governing Board of the Bank or the Board of Directors of a Group company,
for duly disclosed reasons, are applied retrospectively, except where:

* |t would be impractical to determine the effects of a given change on the
comparative information for a prior year. In this case the new accounting
principle is applied as from the earliest prior year for which retrospective
application is practical. Sometimes it may be impractical to determine
the cumulative impact at the start of the current financial year of the
application of a new accounting principle to all prior years. In this case the
new accounting principle is applied prospectively starting from the earliest
practical date.

* The measure or accounting standard that amends or creates the principle
sets a start date for its application.

Certain accounting standards applied to the Group in 2018 underwent changes
from those applied in the prior year. The most significant of these changes are
detailed below:

i Standards, amendments and interpretations mandatory for financial years
starting on or after 1 January 2018

- IFRS 4 (amendment) “Applying IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” with IFRS 4
“Insurance contracts” - Amendments to IFRS 4”

The amendments to IFRS 4 which the IASB published in September 2016 infroduce
two optional approaches for insurance companies:

e The deferral approach, a temporary exemption from IFRS 9 until 2021 for firms
that meet specific requirements, assessed at reporting entity level;

* The overlay approach, offering all companies that issue insurance contracts
an option to recognize in OCI, rather than profit for the year, any volatility
that may arise from applying IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” before the new
insurance conftract standard is published.

IFRS 4 (and all previously published amendments) will be replaced by the
upcoming insurance contract standard. The deferral and overlay options
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are therefore expected to cease to apply when the new insurance standard
comes into force.

The amendments to IFRS 4 allow deferred implementation of IFRS 9 for insurers
forming part of a financial conglomerate as defined in Directive 2002/87/EC
2.14, provided they meet the conditions in Regulation EU 2017/1988 2.

The application of this change has had no material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements for the year.

- IFRS 92 “Financial instruments”

IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets
and financial liabilities. The final version of IFRS ¢ was issued in July 2014 and replaces
the guidance in IAS 39 on classification and measurement of financial instruments.
IFRS 9 maintains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and defines three
main categories for the way financial assets can be measured: amortized cost, fair
value through profit and loss and fair value through other comprehensive income.
Instruments are classified in one or other category based on the business model
of the entity and the characteristics of the contractual cash flows arising from the
financial asset. Investments in equity instruments are measured at fair value through
profit and loss with an imevocable option on initial recognition to present changes in
fair value in OCI, without recycling, if the instrument is not held for trading. If the equity
instrument is held for tfrading, changes in fair value are recognized in profit or loss.
For financial liabilities, the rules on classification and measurement are unchanged,
except that changes in own credit risk attaching to liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss are recognized in other comprehensive income. IFRS 9 also
creates a new model for impairment, the “expected loss” model. This replaces IAS
39's “incurred loss” model and will mean that losses are recognized earlier than
they would have been under IAS 39. It also eases the qualifying requirements for a
hedge to be deemed effective. Under IAS 39 a hedge had to be highly effective
both prospectively and retrospectively. IFRS 9 replaces this line, requiring instead
that there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging
instrument and that the hedge ratio is the same as that actually used in the entity’s
risk management. Contemporaneous documentation is still required but is different
to that previously prepared under IAS 39. Finally, a broad range of disclosures are
required, including a reconciliation between initial and final amounts of the provision
for expected credit loss, assumptions and data, and areconciliation of the transition
from the original classification categories under IAS 39 to the new IFRS 9 categories.

IFRS 9 applies to financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018. It applies
retrospectively, although there is no requirement to restate comparative figures.

The impact of applying IFRS 9 is explained in Note 1.c.

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

- IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”

In May 2014, the IASB and FASB jointly issued a converged standard on the
recognition of revenue from contracts with customers. Under the converged
standard, revenues are recognized when control over the good or service sold
passes to the customer, in other words, when the customer can both direct
its use and obtain the benefits of the good or service. This IFRS includes new
guidance on determining whether revenue should be recognized over time
or at a specific point in fime. IFRS 15 sets broad disclosure requirements for
revenue recognized and expected to be recognized in future as a result of
existing contracts. It also requires quantitative and qualitative disclosures on
significant judgements made by the management in determining the revenues
recognized as well as any changes in these judgements.

Subsequently, in April 2016, the IASB published amendments to this standard
that, while leaving the underlying principles unchanged, clarified some of its
more complex points.

IFRS 15 applies to financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

The application of this change has had no material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year.

- IFRS 15 (amendment) “Clarifications of IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with
customers”

The IASB has amended IFRS 15 to:

» Clarify guidance on identifying performance obligations, IP licensing and
when a firm is principal rather than agent (presentation of receipts on net or
gross basis).

* Include new amended examples for each of these guidance areas.

* Provide additional practical resources to help with fransition to the new
standard.

These amendments do not change the fundamental principles of IFRS 15 but
do clarify some of its more complex points.

This amendment applies to all years starting on or after 1 January 2018.

The application of this change has had no material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements for the year.
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- IFRS Annual Improvements cycle 2014-2016

The amendments affect IFRS T and IAS 28 and apply to financial years beginning
on or after 1 January 2018. The principal amendments relate to:

* I[FRS 1, “First-time adoption of international financial reporting standards™: End
of short-term exemptions for first-time adopters.

* IAS 28 “Investments in associates and joint ventures”: Fair-value measurement
of an investment in an associate or joint venture.

The application of this change has had no material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements for the year.

- IFRS 2 (amendment) “Classification and measurement of share based payment
fransactions”:

The amendment of IFRS 2, developed by the interpretations committee, clarifies
the accounting treatment of certain share-based payment transactions. It
imposes requirements to report:

* The effects of irevocable conditions and non-irrevocable vesting conditions
on the measurement of cash-settled share based payments.

e Share-based payment transactions with net settlement features for tax
withholding purposes; and

* Any amendment to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment
that changes it from cash-settled to equity-settled.

The amendment applies to financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

The application of this change has had no material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements for the year.

- IAS 40 (amendment) “Transfers of investment property”

This amendment clarifies that any transfer to, or from, investment properties must
involve a change of use. To decide if a change of use has occurred an assessment
must be carried out as to whether the property meets the definition of investment
property. This change must be supported by evidence. The IASB confirmed that a
change in intention alone would be insufficient to warrant a fransfer.

The amendment applies to financial years beginning on or after 1 January
2018. Earlier application is permitted.

The application of this change has had no material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year.

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

- IFRIC 22 “Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration”

This IFRIC addresses the issue of how to determine the transaction date when
applying IAS 21 on foreign currency transactions. It applies when an entity pays
or receives advance consideration under contracts denominated in foreign
currency.

IAS 21 requires that the exchange rate to use for initial recognition of the
associated asset, expense or income should be that at the “transaction date”,
defined in turn as the first date at which the transaction qualifies for recognition.
The issue, then, is whether the transaction date is the date when the asset,
expense or income is first recognized or the first date that the advance
consideration is paid or received, creating an advance payment or deferred
income.

The interpretation offers guidance as to when a single payment/receipt takes
place and how to account for multiple payments/receipts. The guidance aims
to reduce the current diversity of practice.

The interpretation applies to financial years beginning on or after 1 January
2018.

The application of this change has had no material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements for the year.

ii) Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet in force with an early
adoption option

At the date of signature of these consolidated financial statements the |ASB
and IFRS Interpretations Committee had published the following standards,
amendments and interpretations which the Group has not adopted early:

- I[FRS 16 “Leases”

In January 2016, the IASB published this new standard, the result of a joint project
with the FASB, replacing the former IAS 17 “Leases”.

The IASB and FASB came to similar conclusions in many areas, including the
definition of alease, the generalrequirement to disclose leases on the statement
of financial position and the measurement of lease liabilities. The two boards
also agreed to leave the accounting treatment by the lessor substantially
unchanged from the previous standard.

Differences, however, remain between the IASB and FASB on how lease costs
should be reported on the income statement and cash flow statement.
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The standard will apply to all years starting on or after 1 January 2019. Earlier
adoption is permitted.

The potential impacts of applying IFRS 16 are explained in Note 1.c.

- IFRS 9 (amendment) “Prepayment features with negative compensation”

The terms of instruments with prepayment features with negative compensation,
where the lender may be obliged to accept a prepayment amount substantially
below the unpaid amounts of principal and interest, were incompatible with
the idea of “reasonable additional compensation” for early cancellation of
an agreement according to IFRS 9. This means these instruments would have
no contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principle and interest,
which would mean they would have to be accounted for at fair value through
profit or loss. The IFRS 9 amendment clarifies that a party can pay or receive
reasonable compensation when an agreement is terminated early, which
would allow these instruments to be carried at amortized cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income. The amendment will apply to financial
years beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early adoption is permitted.

This amendment is not expected to have a material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

- IFRIC 23, “Uncertainty over income tax treatments”

The interpretation introduces requirements that are added to those in IAS
12 “Income tax”, specifying how the effects of uncertainty in accounting
for income tax should be reflected. The interpretation clarifies how IAS 12's
requirements for recognition and measurement should be applied when there
is uncertainty about their accounting tfreatment.

The interpretation will apply to financial years beginning on or after 1 January
2019. Early adoption is permitted.

The new standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

iii) Standards, amendments and interpretations of existing standards that cannot
be adopted early or are not yet adopted by the European Union

At the date of preparation of these consolidated financial statements the IASB
and IFRS Interpretations Committee had published the following standards,
amendments and interpretations which have not yet been adopted by the
European Union:
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- IFRS 10 (amendment) and IAS 28 (amendment) “Sales or contributions of
assets between an investor and its associate/joint venture”

These amendments clarify the accounting tfreatment of sales and contributions
of assets between an investor and its associates or joint ventures which will
depend on whether the non-monetary assets sold or contributed constitute a
business. If the non-monetary assets constitute a business the investorrecognizes
the gain or loss in full. If the assets fail to meet the definition of a business, the
investor only recognizes the gain or loss in light of the interest attributable to the
other equity holders. These amendments will only apply when an investor sells
or contributes assets to its associate or joint venture.

Originally, these amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 were to be applied
prospectively to financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2016. However,
at end-2015, the IASB decided to postpone the effective date (setting no new
date) and produce a broader scope amendment that would simplify the
freatment of such transactions and other aspects of accounting for associates
and joint ventures.

The amendment is not expected to have a material impact on the Group'’s
consolidated financial statements if adopted by the EU.

- IFRS 17 “Insurance contracts”

InMay 2017, the IASB concluded itslong-term project to develop an accounting
standard for insurance contracts and published IFRS 17 “Insurance contracts”.
IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 “Insurance contracts”, which currently permits a wide
range of accounting approaches. IFRS 17 will fundamentally change the
accounting for all entities that issue insurance contracts and investment
contracts with discretionary participation features.

The standard applies to financial years starting from 1 January 2021, with early
application permitted if the user also adopts IFRS 15 “Ordinary income from
contracts with customers” and IFRS 9 “Financial instruments”. IFRS 17 is pending
adoption by the European Union.

The amendment is not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements if adopted by the EU.

- IAS 28 (amendment) “Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures”

This limited scope amendment clarifies that long-term interests in an associate or
joint venture which, in substance, form part of a net investment in the associate
or joint venture but which are not reported by the equity method should be
reported under IFRS 9 “Financial instruments”. The IASB has also published an
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illustrative example of how the requirements of IAS 28 and IFRS 9 should be
applied to such long-term interests. The amendment will apply to financial
years beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early adoption is permitted.

The amendment is not expected to have a material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements if adopted by the EU.

- IFRS Annual Improvements cycle 2015-2017

This cycle of amendments affects IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS 23 and will
apply to financial years starting on or after 1 January 2019, all subject to their
adoption by the EU. The principal amendments relate to:

* IFRS 3 “Business combinations”: Previously held interests in a joint operation
are remeasured when the reporter takes control of the business.

* [FRS 11, *Joint arrangements” Previously held interests in a joint operation need
not be remeasured when the reporter takes joint control of the business..

* |AS 12 “Income tax”: All tax impacts of dividend payments are reported in
the same way.

* |AS 23 “Borrowing costs”: Any specific loan originally made to develop an
asset is treated as part of the general borrowings once the asset is ready for
use or sale.

These amendments are not expected to have a materialimpact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements if adopted by the EU.

- IAS 19 (amendment) “Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement”

This amendment specifies how companies should determine pension costs
when there are changes to a defined benefit plan. The amendment takes
effect from 1 January 2019 if adopted by the EU.

The amendment is not expected to have a material impact on the Group'’s
consolidated financial statements if adopted by the EU.

- IFRS 3 (amendment) “Definition of a business”

These amendments will help determine whether an acquisition is of a business
or a group of assets. The amended definition lays the emphasis on whether the
product of the business is to provide goods and services to clients. The previous
definition focused on providing returns in the form of dividends, lower costs or
othereconomic benefits toinvestors and others. Besides redrafting the definition,
it provides additional guidance. To be considered a business, an acquisition
must include an input and a process that together significantly contribute to the
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ability to create outputs. The new guidance sets out a framework for assessing
when both these conditions are met (including for early stage businesses that
have not generated any products). To qualify as a business without generating
profits, it will now be necessary to have an organised workforce.

These amendments shall apply to business combinations whose acquisition
date is after the first financial reporting year beginning on or after 1 January
2020 and to acquisitions of assets that happen after the start of the same year.
Earlier adoption is permitted.

The amendment is not expected to have a material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements if adopted by the EU.

- IAS 1 (amendment) and IAS 8 (amendment) “Definition of material”

These amendments clarify the definition of “material”’, adding to the criteria of
information whose omission or misrepresentation may influence users’ decisions,
the concept of “obscure” information. These amendments make IFRS more
coherent but are unlikely to have a material impact on preparation of the
financial statements.

They apply to financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2020. Early
adoption is permitted.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements if adopted by the EU.

Il. Errors and changes in accounting estimates

Accounting errors

Errors made in preparing the consolidated financial statements for prior years
are omissions or misstatements caused by a failure to use, or misuse of, reliable
financial information that was available when the consolidated financial
statements for those periods were authorised for issue and which the Parent
Company could reasonably be expected to use in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

Prior period errors are corrected retrospectively in the first consolidated financial
statements prepared after their discovery, so that they read as if the error had
not occurred. This means:

* restating the amounts of all affected items in the consolidated financial
statements, including notes, for publication as comparative information for
the year the error occurred and any subsequent years and, if applicable,
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* restating the opening balances of assets, liabilities and equity for the earliest
year presented as comparative information if the error occurred before this
date.

Whenitisimpractical to establish the effects of a prior year error on each specific
year, initial balances are restated for the earliest years where it is practical to
do so. Where it isimpractical to determine the cumulative effect, at the start of
the current year, of an error on all prior years, comparative information should
correct the error prospectively starting at the earliest possible year that it is
possible to do so.

Prior year errors that affect consolidated equity are corrected in the year
they are discovered through the corresponding consolidated equity item. In
no circumstances can errors from prior year periods be corrected through the
consolidated income statement of the year in which they are discovered unless
they are immaterial or it is impractical to determine the effect of the error as
indicated in the paragraph above.

Changes in accounting estimates

A change in an accounting estimate is an adjustment of the carrying amount
of an asset or a liability, or the amount of the periodic consumption of an
asset, that results from the assessment of the present status of, and expected
future benefits and obligations associated with, the corresponding assets and
liabilities.

Changes in accounting estimates result from new information or new
developments and, accordingly, are not corrections of errors. Changes are
recognized prospectively in the consolidated income statement for the year or
for the current and future years affected by the change.

There were no corrections of material prior period errors in 2018 and 2017, nor
were there any material changes in accounting estimates that had an effect
in those years or are expected to have an effect in future periods.
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4. Appropriation of earnings

The appropriation of the Parent Company’s net profit for 2018 that the Parent
Company’s Governing Board will propose to members for approval at the
Annual General Meeting, together with the appropriation for 2017 approved
at the General Meeting held on 4 May 2018, is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Profit or (-) loss for the year before mandatory allocation to the
Social Welfare Fund and after Income Tax 101,213 96,217
To dividends and remuneration (1,585) (1,963)
Total retained earnings or surplus available 99,628 94,254
To the Mandatory Reserve Fund 89,665 84,829
To the Social Welfare Fund 9.963 9,425
Total appropriated 99.628 94,254

The profits or losses of consolidated subsidiaries will be appropriated as agreed
at their respective General Shareholders’ Meetings.
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5. Remuneration and other benefits paid to key management
personnel

The Parent Company considers certain members of the Management
Committee, as well as the members of its Governing Board, to be key
management personnel.

Remuneration paid to members of the Governing Board

Members of the Parent Company’'s Governing Board receive no remuneration
for the work they perform as board members, except for per diem allowances
and other expenses.

The table below sets out the gross remuneration received by members of the
parent company’'s Governing Board in 2018 and 2017:

Thousands of euros
Board members 2018 2017

Ignacio Terés Los Arcos 22 ]
Luis Miguel Serrano Cornago _

José Maria Arizaleta Nieva
José Angel Ezcurra Ibarrola
Pedro Maria Echarte Sevine
Melchor Miranda Azcona
Alberto Arrondo Lahera
Pedro Jesus Irisarri Valencia
Isidro Bazterrica Mutuberria
José Javier Lépez Morrds
Pedro Maria Beorlegui Egea
Francisco Javier Artajo Carlos
Jesus Andrés Mauledn Arana
Roberto Zabaleta Ciriza
Carlos Sdnchez Diestro
Manuel Garcia Diaz de Cerio
Fernando Olleta Gayarre
Marcelino Efayo Andueza
Jesus Maria del Castillo Torres
Gabiriel Urrutia Aicega
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The Parent Company has no pension commitments in respect of any current or
former member of its Governing Board.

As regards professional indemnity insurance for damages caused in the
discharge of their duties, the Parent Company has taken out insurance policies
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covering all directors. The premiums on these policies were EUR 30 thousand
and EUR 24 thousand in 2018 and 2017, respectively, and were recognized
under “Administrative expenses” in the income statement.

Credit facilities

Any credit facilities extended to members of the Parent Company’s Governing
Board at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are detailed in Note 37.

Remuneration paid to senior executives

Ordinary remuneration accrued by the Bank’s senior executivesin 2018 totalled
EUR 1,882 thousand. This amount was shared among 14 persons, including
the Managing Director and other members of the Management Committee.
Remuneration in 2017 was EUR 1,711 thousand to 13 people). The Bank has
no additional commitments with any member of senior management beyond
their entitlements as employees of the Bank (Note 2.1).
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6. Risk management

a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the possibility of losses being incurred as a result of non-fulfilment of
confractual obligations on the part of the Group’s counterparties, the Bank being
the Group company most exposed to this risk. In the case of repayable finance
extended to third parties (in the form of credit facilities, loans, deposits, securities and
other instruments), credit risk is a consequence of non-recovery of principal, interest
and other items in the amount, within the deadlines and pursuant to the other terms
and conditions set out in the credit agreements. Off-balance sheet risk arises when
counterparties fail to fulfil their obligations in respect of third parties and the Group
is required to assume these obligations itself by virtue of its confractual undertaking.

Credit risk is the most significant risk to which the Group is exposed in the
execution of its banking activities and is defined as the risk of a counterparty
being unable to repay the amounts it owes in full.

The Group'’s credit risk management policies are thus defined and structured
based on objective, professional criteria while also being designed to allow
maximum flexibility in final customer decisions.

Management of credit risk in the Bank is an integrated, streamlined process
that is initiated as soon as a customer applies for a loan through the branch
network and ends when the funds lent out have been repaid in full. In addition,
there are different basic criteria for accepting any credit risk and minimum
documentation required under regulations in force, all of which relate to the
key issues of liquidity, security, profitability and collateral business.

With a view to establishing more flexible and specialized procedures for
examining and analysing customer credit applications, the Bank has set up
dedicated units for each segment or type of credit facility that, due to their
specific characteristics, is or should be processed in a particular way. In this way,
we are able to provide a highly professional but flexible service to customers
while at the same time ensuring the precision in decision-making that allows us
to build a credit portfolio of the highest quality.

Credit risk management encompasses three key areas:

Money markets

Credit risk on money market positions is limited as wherever possible the Bank
uses the services of Banco Cooperativo Espanol, the bank providing centralized
services to the cooperative credit institutions making up the Caja Rural Group.
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Debt instruments

The breakdown of these instruments by rating, in order of the highest rating
awarded by any of the rating agencies shown below, at 31 December 2018

and 2017 is as follows:

Credit rating 2018 2017 S&P’s Moody’s Fitch DBRS
1 9.84% 8.82% | AAA to AA- | Aaa to Aa3 | AAA to AA- AAA to AAL
2 71.49% | 69.68% A+ to A- Al to A3 A+ to A- AH to AL
3 17.33% | 20.00% | BBB+ to BBB- Baal to BBB+ to BBB- | BBBH fo BBBL
Baa3
0.55% 0.72% | BB+ to BB- Bal to Ba3 BB+ to BB- BBH to BBL
0.02% 0.02% B+ to B- B1 to B3 B+ to B- BH to BL
0.06% 0.06% | Lowerthan | Lowerthan | Lower than | Lower than BL
B- B3 B-
Unrated 0.71% 0.70%
100.00% | 100.00%

Loans and receivables

Caja Rural de Navarra's risk management procedure is initiated as soon as a
customer applies for aloan and ends when the funds lent have been repaid in full.

When granting loans and credit facilities, the Bank places great importance on
case-by-case analyses that take account of the type of applicant (individual,
company, agricultural sector, etc.), the type of facility (current loan, consumer
credit, investment, trade discounting, etc.), the applicant’'s repayment
capacity, and the guarantees provided (personal, mortgage, collateral, etc.).

Before the Bank can perform this analysis, certaininformation must be collected,
essentially from three sources:

e Customers

* External sources (RAI, the Bank of Spain Register of Defaults, other registers,
etc.)

* Internal records on existing Bank customers (average balances, payment
history, etc.).

Once approved and arranged, all loans and credit facilities are subject to
ongoing monitoring, which may take either of the following forms: in the case
of high-risk customers (either individually or as part of an economic group), the
Bank monitors financial position, any increases in system debt, payment history,
etc.; for all other customers, all transactions that result in payment incidents are
monitored.
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In addifion to monitoring individual customers and customer groups, the Group
monitors its investment portfolio by product, by interest rate and by decision-
making centre, with a view to identifying potential changes in portfolio returns
and the manner in which credit facilities are being granted (amounts, rates,
charges, etc.) such that decisions affecting the investment policy to be
adopted at any given time can be taken as quickly as possible.

The following table gives a breakdown of credit risk exposure at the close of
2018 and 2017:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017

Loans and advances — Customers 7,789,185 7,334,762
Loans and advances — Credit institutions 100,002 115,786
Debt securities 3,269,046 3,261,175
Derivatives 7.417 3,644
Guarantees given 636,673 761,078
Total risk 11,802,323 11,476,445
Credit lines drawable by third parties 1,005,470 1,005,978

12,807,793 12,482,423

Total exposure

The breakdown of the amortized cost of credit risks benefiting from guarantees
and credit enhancements in addition to the personal guarantee of the debtor
at 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Mortgages (guaranteed by real property) 4,475,566 4,269,989
Residential buildings 3,859,208 3,536,988
Commercial buildings 616,358 733,001
Other loans with real guarantees 51,869 59,850
Cash 50,966 58,811
Other 903 1,039
Financial guarantees received 954,078 935,516
5,481,513 5,265,355

Total

Information on the distribution of “Loans and advances — Customers” by sector,
region, NPL ratio, provisions and risk concentration is provided below.
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Sector
2018 2017
Farming and cattle-raising 3.44% 3.57%
Industry and construction 20.84% 21.11%
Services 20.35% 20.17%
Personal and other 55.37% 55.15%
Region
2018 2017
Navarre 49.83% 51.31%
GuipUzcoa 17.64% 17.89%
La Rioja 9.89% 9.58%
Alava 7.04% 6.86%
Vizcaya 15.60% 14.36%
Impaired assets and impairment adjustments
2018 2017
Total impaired assets 140,122 150,084
Total loans and advances to customers. gross (before 7,922,995 7,469,563
valuation adjustments)
NPL ratio 1.77% 2.01%
Total valuation adjustments for impairment of financial 144,448 138,114
assets
NPL coverage 103.09% 92.02%
Coverage of total loans and advances to customers 1.82% 1.85%

Concentration risk

The EU Capital Requirements Regulation, as amended, sets restrictions on large
exposures, defined as those with a value of at least 10% of eligible capital.
No exposure to a single client or group can exceed 25% of eligible capital,
except exposures which are subject to an excess capital charge if they exceed
the large exposure limits. The Parent Company applies these limits via its risk
policy, which sets counterparty exposure limits that comply with the regulatory
requirements and establishes excess control procedures.

At 31 December 2018, only one group is considered to be a “large exposure” as
it exceeded 10% of capital. Exposure to this group totals EUR 137,113 thousand,
equivalent to 12.43% of capital. At 31 December 2017, three groups exceeded
10% of capital and were therefore considered “large exposures”. Total exposure
to these groups was EUR 411,806 thousand, equivalent to 38.53% of capital.

The table below gives a breakdown of “Financial assets at amortized cost —
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Loans and advances — Customers” by type of counterparty at 31 December
2018 and 2017, showing the amounts covered by each of the main types
of guarantee and, for secured loans, the carrying amount of the loan as a
percentage of latest appraised or measured value of the collateral (loan to

value).
Secvured loans: Carrying amount/last appraised value
(loan to value) (c)
Of which:
Of which: Other real Between Between Between
mortgages collateral Up to 40% and 60% and 80% and Above
31/12/2018 (a) Total (b) (b) 40% 60% 80% 100% 100%
General governments 166,887 797 - 27 - - - 770
Other financial
corporations and self-
employed
(financial businesses) 43,828 1,098 - 275 306 480 37 -
Non-financial
corporations and self-
employed (non-
financial businesses) by
purpose 3,292,445 1,013,132 23,444 209,769 191,738 225,573 94,252 315,244
- Construction and
real-estate
development
(including land) (d) 312,656 267,403 501 22,456 15,854 33,645 17,030 178,919
- Civil engineering 158,203 61,633 2,899 12,062 14,707 26,146 6,641 4,976
- Other 2,821,586 684,096 20,044 175,251 161,177 165,782 70,581 131,349
Large
corporates (e) 506,734 14,366 - 6,946 2,512 447 1,189 3,272
SMEs and self-
employed 2,314,852 669,730 20,044 168,305 158,665 165,335 69,392 128,077
Other households (f) by
purpose (g) 4,218,257 3,852,095 22,813 426,767 707,747 1,170,660 765,483 804,251
— Housing 3,765,978 3,648,787 13,486 379,581 659,134 1,124,219 733,918 765,421
- Consumption 77,364 15,994 632 4,87 3.860 4,116 1,173 2,602
- Other 374,915 187,314 8,695 42,311 44,753 42,325 30,392 36,228
TOTAL 7,721,417 4,867,122 46,257 636,838 899,791 1,396,713 859,772 1,120,265
MEMORANDUM ITEMS
Refinancing,
refinanced and
restructured loans 29,672 28,276 - 4,561 3,809 4,312 4,213 11,381
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Secvured loans: Carrying amount/last appraised value
(loan to value) (c)

Of which:
Of which: Other real Between Between Between
mortgages collateral Up to 40% and 60% and 80% and Above
31/12/2017 (a) Total (b) (b 40% 60% 80% 100% 100%
General governments 148,251 950 - 30 - 920 - -
Other financial
corporations and self-
employed
(financial businesses) 7,343 1,733 8 215 231 760 535 -
Non-financial
corporations and self-
employed (non-
financial businesses) by
purpose 3,156,960 1,054,306 24,378 230,460 217,001 203,801 119,596 307,826
- Construction and
real-estate
development
(including land) (d) 334,825 281,886 1,200 26,232 23,832 16,864 15,832 200,326
- Civil engineering 163,633 73,127 4,322 10,077 10,361 33,687 19,273 4,051
- Other 2,658,502 699,293 18,856 194,151 182,808 153,250 84,491 103,449
Large
corporates (e) 437,828 17,550 249 11,085 553 357 558 5,246
SMEs and self-
employed 2,220,674 681,743 18,607 183,066 182,255 152,893 83,933 98,203
Other households (f) by
purpose (g) 3,941,517 3,589,629 22,446 430,796 703,132 1,066,868 663,135 748,144
— Housing 3,520,201 3,415,772 14,278 384,264 655,754 1,028,716 639,395 721,921
- Consumption 73,736 17,204 715 5,710 4,496 4,356 1,170 2,187
— Other 347,580 156,653 7,453 40,822 42,882 33,796 22,570 24,036
TOTAL 7,254,071 4,646,618 46,832 661,501 920,364 1,272,349 783,266 1,055,970
MEMORANDUM ITEMS
Refinancing,
refinanced and
restructured loans 40,172 36,248 10 3.840 3.459 6,710 6,018 16,231

(a) Loans to customers are defined in the same way as in preparing the statement of financial position. This
statement includes all fransactions of this type, irrespective of the item under which they are recognized in the
statement of financial position. Amounts shown are the carrying amount of transactions, i.e. after deducting
valuation adjustments for hedging of specific fransactions.

(b) The carrying amount of all loans with mortgages or other real collateral of whatever loan to value and
form (mortgage, finance lease, reverse repurchase agreement, etfc.).

(c) Loan to value is the ratio that comes from dividing the carrying amount of each loan at the reporting date
by the last appraisal or other valuation of the corresponding real collateral.

(d) Includes all activities related to construction and real-estate development, including land bank financing,
irespective of the principal economic activity of the counterparty.

(e) Non-financial corporations are classified as ““Large corporates” and “SMEs” based on the definitions set out
in Recommendation 2003/361/EC, of 6 May 2003, concerning the definition of micro, small and medium-sized
enterprises. Self-employment is the activity exercised by individuals in the course of their business activities.

(f) Households includes not-for-profit entities providing services fo households but not the business activities of
the self-employed.

(g) Loans are classified by purpose using the criteria in Circular 4/2017.
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The table below gives the concentration of risk by geographical location,
broken down by type of counterparty and showing the carrying amount (a) of
each exposure at 31 December 2018 and 2017:

Rest of
31/12/2018 Total Spain Rest of EU Americas World
Central banks and credit institutions 950,995 771,786 155,950 10,232 13,027
General governments 2,576,746 2,369,979 205,265 - 1,502
—  Cenftral government 2,244,645 2,037,878 205,265 - 1,502
—  Ofther public sector 332,101 332,101 - - -
Other financial corporations and self-
employed (financial businesses) 498,386 373,325 108,961 15,061 1,039
Non-financial corporations and self-
employed (non-financial businesses) 4,016,235 3,857,131 130,810 20,799 7,495
—  Construction and real-estate
development (including land) (b) 349,034 349,034 - - -
—  Civil engineering 171,298 169,758 1,540 - -
—  Other 3,495,903 3,338,339 129,270 20,799 7,495
Large corporates (c) 738,519 646,965 85,506 4,368 1,680
SMEs and self-employed (c) 2,757,384 2,691,374 43,764 16,431 5815
Other households (d) 4,321,001 4,315,916 2,762 1,397 926
—  Housing 3,765,977 3,761,331 2,560 1,182 904
- Consumption 79,016 78,989 22 - 5
—  Other 476,008 475,596 180 215 17
TOTAL 12,363,363 11,688,137 603,748 47,489 23,989
REGIONAL GOVERNMENTS
31/12/2018 Basque
Spain Total Navarre Madrid country La Rioja Other
Cenfral banks and credit
institutions 771,786 1 585,881 82,550 - 103,354
General governments 2,369,979 79.863 60,853 99,604 36,078 2,093,581
—  Cenfral government 2,037,878 - - - - 2,037,878
—  Other public sector 332,101 79.863 60,853 99,604 36,078 55,703

Other financial corporations and
self-employed (financial
businesses) 373,325 669 358,641 13,555 430 30
Non-financial corporations and
self-employed (non-financial
businesses) 3,857,131 1,270,071 783,888 1,237,464 317,596 248,112
—  Construction and real-
estate development

(including land) (b) 349,034 112,733 21,657 165,171 17,955 31,518
—  Civilengineering 169,758 72,964 42,960 43,459 9,624 751
—  Other 3,338,339 1,084,374 719,271 1,028,834 290,017 215,843
Large corporates (c) 646,965 92,268 296,555 153,223 25,575 79,344
SMEs and self-employed
(c) 2,691,374 992,106 422,716 875,611 264,442 136,499
Other households (d) 4,315,916 2,163,872 17,315 1,747,475 335,919 51,335
—  Housing 3,761,331 1,828,532 14,774 1,596,458 275,619 45,948
—  Consumption 78,989 45,262 192 25,842 6,424 1,269
—  Other 475,596 290,078 2,349 125,175 53,876 4,118
TOTAL 11,688,137 3,514,476 1,806,578 3,180,648 690,023 2,496,412
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Rest of
31/12/2017 Total Spain Rest of EU Americas World
Central banks and credit institutions 842,307 749,168 71,281 48 21,810
General governments 2,791,720 2,703,427 88,293 - -
- Cenftral government 2,449,012 2,360,719 88,293 - -
- Other public sector 342,708 342,708 - - -
Other financial corporations and self-
employed (financial businesses) 438,248 348,197 84,452 5,079 520
Non-financial corporations and self-
employed (non-financial businesses) 3,865,783 3,748,275 89,486 21,095 6,927
- Construction and real-estate
development (including land) (b) 369,689 369,689 - - -
- Civil engineering 166,281 166,281 - - -
—  Other 3,329,813 3,212,305 89,486 21,095 6,927
Large corporates (c) 644,673 586,001 56,382 1,291 999
SMEs and self-employed (c) 2,685,140 2,626,304 33,104 19.804 5,928
Other households (d) 4,056,803 4,052,214 2,758 951 880
- Housing 3,521,842 3,517,514 2,635 844 849
- Consumption 73,736 73,714 10 - 12
- Other 461,225 460,986 113 107 19
TOTAL 11,994,861 11,601,281 336,270 27,173 30,137
REGIONAL GOVERNMENTS
31/12/2017 Basque
Spain Total Navarre Madrid country La Rioja Other
Central banks and credit
institutions 749,168 2 431,659 85,911 - 231,596
General governments 2,703,427 65,630 64,948 88,013 31,950 2,452,886
- Cenftral government 2,360,719 - - - - 2,360,719
—  Other public sector 342,708 65,630 64,948 88,013 31,950 92,167

Other financial corporations and
self-employed (financial
businesses) 348,197 650 318,735 19.012 464 9,336
Non-financial corporations and
self-employed (non-financial
businesses) 3,748,275 1,265,831 728,897 1,179,983 318,137 255,427
- Construction and real-
estate development

(including land) (b) 369,689 128,027 16,366 159,221 27,872 38,203
- Civil engineering 166,281 77,977 46,630 35,515 4,978 1,181
—  Ofther 3,212,305 1,059,827 665,901 985,247 285,287 216,043
Large corporates (c) 586,001 69,537 279.770 149,106 26,229 61,359

SMEs and self-employed
(c) 2,626,304 990,290 386,131 836,141 259,058 154,684
Other households (d) 4,052,214 2,116,095 15,422 1,581,801 289,548 49,348
—  Housing 3,517,514 1,772,657 12,387 1,448,890 239,288 44,292
- Consumption 73,714 42,061 98 24,927 5,485 1,143
—  Ofther 460,986 301,377 2,937 107,984 44,775 3,913
TOTAL 11,601,281 3,448,208 1,559,661 2,954,720 640,099 2,998,593

(a) Exposures shown in this statementinclude loans and advances, debt securities, equity instruments, derivatives
(held-for-tfrading or hedging), investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, and guarantees given,
irespective of the item under which they are reported on the statement of financial position.

Assets are shown at the carrying amount of fransactions, i.e. after deducting valuation adjustments for hedging
of specific transactions. Guarantees are measured at their nominal value.

The geographical breakdown of risk is based on the country of residence of the borrowers, securities issuers or
counterparties for the derivatives or guarantees given.

(b) Includes all activities related to construction and real-estate development, including land bank financing,
irespective of the principal economic activity of the counterparty.

(c) Non-financial corporations are classified as “Large corporates” and “SMEs” based on the definifions set out
in Recommendation 2003/361/EC, of 6 May 2003, concerning the definition of micro, small and medium-sized
enterprises. Self-employment is the activity exercised by individuals in the course of their business activities.

(d) Households includes not-for-profit entities providing services to households but notf the business activities of
the self-employed.
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The geographical breakdown of risk is based on the country or autonomous
region of residence of the borrowers, securities issued or counterparties for the
derivatives or confingent exposure.

Refinancing

The aim of any refinancing process is to reach an agreement satisfactory to
both parties, which allows the customer to cancel its debts with the Group,
meet all its other commitments and, where applicable, remain in business. To
achieve this may require more than a financial restructuring. It may involve a
restructuring of business operations and strategy to ensure the firm's viability.

The basic principles that will be followed when agreeing such transactions are
as follows:

* Viability of the loan is fundamental. If there is no prospect of viability for the
loan and/or customer then there can be no refinancing. If there is no viability
the Bank must realize its collateral (foreclosure) or negotiate the taking of
assets in lieu of payment to avoid a rise in costs.

e Collateral improvement. No refinancing should lead to a reduction in
collateral. All arrangements should tend to increase the collateral already
held by the Group.

e Try to reduce the size of the loan. As a rule, the Group'’s risk to its customer,
should not increase unless the increase in collateral reduces the risk to below
its previous level.

* Allow for possible problems in the event of insolvency. When dealing with
companies, it is essential to be aware of the law on accepting guarantees
and the circumstances in which they may be cancelled.

* Improve the Group's position. The aim of these transactions must always be
to improve the Group's position relative to the debtor and other creditors.

* Medium/long-term vision. It is essential to seek comprehensive solutions for
customers in the medium/long term.

* Approval by central services. These transactions must all be approved by
cenftral services.

The Group may consider a transaction is viable, i.e. the customer should be
able to pay, if the following requirements are met:

- Individuals

* For transactions with monthly repayments, these must be no more than 50%
of recurrent monthly income.
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* Atransaction based on the sale of assets can be considered viable provided
there has been no prior refinancing based on the same grounds.

* Inclusion of guarantors that could on their own either settle the debt or
contribute to its repayment.

- Legal entities

e Acredible viability/repayment plan must be submitted. This will be individually
analysed and assessed by the Group. A plan based on the sale of assets can
be considered viable provided there has been no prior refinancing based
on the same grounds.

* Inclusion of guarantors that could on their own either settle the debt or
contribute to its repayment.

The Group carries out regular monitoring of those transactions classified as
normal as well as those classified as doubtful or special watch. Transactions
classified as doubtful or special watch may be reclassified into another
category if the Group’s analysis shows that the borrower’s ability to pay has
improved and it has been meeting its contractual obligations over a sufficiently
long period (Note 2.9).

In accordance with the changes brought in by Circular 6/2012 of 28 September,
which defined criteria for classifying transactions as refinancing, refinanced
or restructured loans, and with the Group’s own policies and the Bank of
Spain’s published recommendations, the table below gives a breakdown, at
31 December 2018 and 2017, of the refinancing, refinanced and restructured
loans made by the Bank:
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31 December

TOTAL Of which: in arrears/doubtful
2018 /
Unsecured Secured = Unsecured Secured
- o) -
Maximum € Maximum
g | o g | o applicable S g | o g | o applicable
o | g 2 | £ o Q2 | Q| £ oc
S|l 2| T | == collateral £ S leel T | == collateral 20
2 183] 21|53 © 2183 8|33 o £
= o c o 3 ol > c | o c o @ S=| 2=
] a € ¢} o € > 89 5 S |2 E| © o € S 62| E g
E 20| = 20 o | -8 3 E |go|l E| g0 o | -8 3£
o] 0 o] 0 2 © 0 S |0 s | B 2 ©0 =
z © z © [ £90 % 2 |© 21© o) £
= O o O = O ©
Credit institutions
General
governments
Other financial
corporations and
self-employed
(financial
businesses) - - 1 43 43 - (6) - - 1 43 43 - (6)
Non-financial

corporations and
self-employed
(non-financial
businesses) 40| 2438|118 31,090 17.837| 318|(15,749) 14| 1,180] 53| 15810 10,284 - (12,400)

Of which: Loans
for construction
and real estate

development

(including land) 20 344 56| 12,7201 6,800 18| (5.398) 9| 277) 23] 6,059 2826 - (4,135)
Other households 41 682 130 16,172| 8931 - (4.998)] 15| 292| 47| 8340 3,580 - (4,240
Total 81| 3120{ 249 47,305\ 26,811| 318)|(20,753)| 29| 1.472| 101 24,193 13,907 -| (16,848)
NEW

INFORMATION

Loans classified
as non-current
assets and
liabilities and
disposal groups
held for sale
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31 December TOTAL Of which: in arrears/doubfful
2017
Unsecured Secured = Unsecured Secured
Maximum g Maximum
S o S 2] applicable S é o) S o) applicable o=
S| 2| T | ¢ collateral i S|l T 2% collateral Z 0
2083 2|83 5 oo 2| 5(83 8|83 g |ag| 26
S| ol S| o] 8 |88 2 | S§|o€|l S| o] 8 |g5| 27
£ | go0| £ | go© s |-2 e E | 80| £E| g0 s -2 3 g
. o . o 8 £ .19 .| 9 8 S £
219 | 219 | 5 |£€5] E[ 219 | 2|9 | 5 |£3
= o o O = O ©
Credit institutions
Generadl
governments
Other financial
corporations and
self-employed
(financial
businesses) - - ] 43 43 - - - - 1 43 43
Non-financial
corporations and
self-employed
(non-financial
businesses) 62| 9305 124 36,460 23,333 47 (19.029)] 33| 6,602 59| 15751 9,760 11 (15,079)
Of which: Loans
for construction
and real estate
development
(including land) 26| 1,479 61| 19,655 13283 47| (7,695) 16| 1,304] 30| 8149 4,651 1| (6214)
Otherhouseholds | oo 117l 17| 16600 9106 9| (4323) 22| 26| 42| 7546 3323 | (374
Total 115 10422| 252| 53,103 32,482 56((23,352)| 55| 7,228| 102 23,340 13,126 1| (18,825)
NEW
INFORMATION
Loans classified
as non-current
assefs and
liabilities and
disposal groups
held for sale

Policies, methods and procedures regarding responsible consumer lending
and transparency and protection of banking services customers

CCaja Rural de Navarra has established risk policies compliant with Act 2/2011,
of 4 March, on the sustainable economy, with Ministerial Order EHA/2899/2011, of
28 October, on tfransparency in banking services and with Bank of Spain Circular
5/2012, of 27 June, on transparency of banking services and responsible lending.
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These policies are contained in the “Lending Policy Handbook™ approved when
first published by the Governing Board and whose latest version was approved
by the Governing Board at their meeting on 26 March 2018. The Handbook
includes the following policies:

- Rigorous analysis of the customer’s ability to repay, i.e. an appropriate ratio
of income to obligations.

- Documentary verification of the information provided by the customer and
of his/her solvency.

- Appropriate independent appraisal of real collateral.

Caja Rural de Navarra has also taken the following measures to ensure
tfransparency and protection of banking services customers:

- Posting its current charges in branches and websites (including interest rates,
fees and expenses) for the different financial products.

- Each year, customers are sent a personal letter detailing the interest, fees
and expenses charged in the previous year for the products they had
contfracted.

b) Market risk

The Group is exposed to market risk due to its banking activities. However, as
the Parent Company engages in only a limited level of market trading, its main
conftrols of market risk are various limits on market activity including limits on
fixed income and equity exposures, monthly stop-losses and a global annual
stop-loss. The Bank also applies concentration limits on exposures to securifies
and economic sectors, as well as on positions in foreign currency.

In addition, to measure the risks assumed on certain portfolios, the Bank also
performs VaR (Value at Risk) analyses and analyses of portfolio sensitivity to
interest rate fluctuations.

b.1.) Interest rate risk

Interest rateriskis managed by the Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALC), which
meets regularly to systematically analyse exposure to this risk and to plan and
manage the balance sheet. The ALC sets guideline risk policies to be applied
on an ongoing basis, so that the Group can maximize its finance income and
optimize its balance sheet financing.

Interest rate risk in the whole balance sheet is measured by calculating interest
gaps and performing duration analyses and simulations. For these purposes,
the Bank has the support and assistance of the Asset and Liabilities Department
of Banco Cooperativo Espanol, which draws up regular reports on interest rate
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risk. The Bank’s statement of financial position has a high level of immunity to
interest rate fluctuations. At 31 December 2018, it was estimated that a 200
basis point decline in interest rates would reduce net interest income by 1.45%
(at 31 December 2017 the impact of such a movement was estimated to be a
4.31% fall in net interest income).

The table below details the Group's exposure to interest rate risk, grouping the
carrying amount of financial assets by the interest rate review date or by the
mafturity date in the case of fixed-rate tfransactions. The table uses contractual
interest rate review dates in the case of floating-rate transactions. For fixed-
rate transactions, it uses contractual maturity dates. In the case of traditional
banking liabilities, such as current or savings accounts, these have been
classified according to the balance and the remuneration of each account:
balances of up to EUR 90,000 at interest rates of less than or equal to 0.5% are
classified in the “Between 2 and 3 years” tranche; balances of up to EUR 20,000
with interest rates of over 0.5% are classified in other franches up to 1 year,
in line with the said interest rate; and lastly, balances of over EUR 90,000 are
considered more sensitive and are classified in the shortest franches based on
the Bank’s experience, with more than 50% in the “Less than 1 month” tranche.
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Thousands of euros

More
Less than 1103 3 months 1102 2to 3 3to 4 than 5
2018 1 month months to 1 year years years years 4 to 5 years years Total
Assets
Loans and
advances -
Credit institutions 88,077 - - 11,925 - - - - 100,002
Loans and
advances -
Customers: 1,015,449 1,690,120 3,524,990 739,251 270,756 138,084 76,210 334,325 7,789,185
Debt securities 135,534 88,426 288,444 152,386 614,558 540,465 240,806 1,208,427 3,269,046
Total 1,239,060 1,778,546 3,813,434 903,562 885,314 678,549 317,016 1,542,752 11,158,233
Liabilities
Deposits —
Central banks - - - 446,274 481,588 - - - 927,862
Deposits — Credit
institutions 76,266 - - 25,642 3,412 - - 50,114 155,434
Deposits —
Customers 1,286,013 542,699 1,448,236 518,876 459,229 458,760 3,297,586 514 8,011,913
Debt securities
issued - 99,791 - - - 499,954 498,600 555,590 1,653,935
Total 1,362,279 642,490 1,448,236 990,792 944,229 958,714 3,796,186 606,218 10,749,144
Gap (123,219) 1,136,056 2,365,198 (87.230) (58,9195) (280,165)  (3,479,170) 936,534 409,089
Cumulative gap (123,219) 1,012,837 3,378,035 3,290,805 3,231,890 2,951,725 (527,4495) 409,089 409,089
Thousands of euros
More
Less than 1103 3 months 1102 2to 3 3to4 than 5
2017 1 month months to 1 year years years years 4to 5 years years Total
Assets
Loans and
advances -
Credit institutions 103,634 - - 12,152 - - - - 115,786
Loans and
advances -
Customers: 980,530 1,568,003 3,274,948 450,639 453,917 201,493 89,930 315,302 7,334,762
Debt securities 575,334 91,076 312,816 159,825 188,786 594,208 384,615 954,515 3,261,175
Total 1,659,498 1,659,079 3,587,764 622,616 642,703 795,701 474,545 1,269,817 10,711,723
Liabilities
Deposits —
Central banks - - - - 448,114 483,528 - - 931,642
Deposits — Credit
institutions 89,034 11,603 18,851 20,700 5,600 1,942 240 345 148,315
Deposits —
Customers 1,132,983 610,629 1,709,396 463,482 396,247 392,207 2,819,163 198 7.524,305
Debt securities
issued - 99,721 508,159 - - - 499,321 549,809 1,657,010
Total 1,222,017 721,953 2,236,406 484,182 849,961 877,677 3,318,724 550,352 10,261,272
Gap 437,481 937,126 1,351,358 138,434 (207,258) (81,976)  (2,844,179) 719,465 450,451
Cumulative gap 437,481 1,374,607 2,725,965 2,864,399 2,657,141 2,575,165 (269,014) 450,451 450,451

E A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

b.2.) Price risk

This is defined as the risk arising as a result of changes in market prices caused
either by factors specific to the instrument or by factors affecting all instruments
fraded on the market.

The Group uses the VaR method to manage its portfolios of “Equity instruments”,
using data series of one year, calculated with a 99% confidence level, and
a time horizon of one day. Using these assumptions, the “Equity instruments”
portfolio would have a one-day VaR of EUR 598 thousand at 31 December 2018
(compared with EUR 612 thousand at 31 December 2017). Since most of the
portfolio of listed equities is classified as Available-for-sale financial assets, the
greatest impact would be on equity.

b.3.) Exchange rate risk

The Group had no significant exposure to exchange rate risk on the date of
these consolidated annual financial statements.

c) Liquidity risk

This risk reflects the potential difficulties the Group could experience in raising
or accessing liquid assets in sufficient quantity and value to cover its payment
obligations at any given time.

At Caja Rural de Navarra, as a credit institution focused on retail banking, this
risk derives mainly from the existence of a very significant volume of liabilities
(customer deposits) payable on demand, but for which the timing of repayment
is not certain. However, past experience demonstrates that the behaviour of
this category of liabilities tends to be very stable over time.

Caja Rural de Navarra monitors the performance of those lines of the statement
of financial position that affect its liquidity on an ongoing basis, keeping within
certain limits and using dedicated tools to predict potential fluctuations that
may require action to sustain short-, medium- and long-term liquidity. These
conftrols are carried out by the ALC.

A breakdown of financial securities by residual term to maturity at 31
December 2018 and 2017 is given below. The maturity dates used are those
in the contractual terms and conditions. The same criteria as in the section on
interest rate risk were applied to group customer demand deposits, current
accounts and savings by tranche. In its management of liquidity risk, the Group
considers the collection/payment of cash flows, which include the principal of
tfransactions and interest that mature in each tfranche.
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Thousands of euros

Less than 1 1to3 3 months 1to5 More than
018 Demand month months fo 1 year years 5years Total
Assets
Loans and advances —
Credit institutions - 88,077 - - 11,925 - 100,002
Loans and advances -
Customers - 312,199 372,645 851,913 2,896,785 4,672,581 9,106,123

Debt securities - 131,635 13,565 332,997 1,837,900 1,033,270 3,349,367

Total - 531,911 386,210 1,184,910 4,746,610 5,705,851 12,555,492
Liabilities
Deposits — Central banks - - - 927,862 - 927,862
Deposits — Credit institutions - 20,805 - 9 70,552 64,068 155,434
Deposits — Customers - 1,277,180 537,677 1,429,427 4,770,249 14,136 8,028,669
Debt securities issued - - 5,077 11,945 1,164,610 577,136 1,758,768

Total - 1,297,985 542,754 1,441,381 6,933,273 655,340 10,870,733
Gap - (766,074) (156,544) (256,471)  (2,186,663) 5,050,511 1,684,759
Cumulative gap - (766,074) (922,618) (1,179,089) (3,365,752) 1,684,759 1,684,759

Thousands of euros
Lessthan 1 1to3 3 months 1105 More than

2017 Demand month months fo 1 year years 5 years Total
Assets
Loans and advances -
Credit institutions - 103,634 - - 12,152 - 115,786
Loans and advances -
Customers - 412,935 315,871 800,989 2,735,211 4,547,868 8,812,874
Debt securities - 459,297 33,303 369,437 1,575,781 861,037 3,298,855

Total - 975,866 349,174 1,170,426 4,323,144 5,408,905 12,227,515
Liabilities
Deposits — Cenfral banks - - - - 931,642 - 931,642
Deposits — Credit institutions - 846 1,929 11,884 118,708 4,648 138,015
Deposits — Customers - 1,121,842 606,881 1,712,090 4,077,203 14,231 7,532,247
Debt securities issued = - 5,059 523,537 649,402 567,608 1,745,606

Total - 1,122,688 613,869 2,247,511 5,776,955 586,487 10,347,510
Gap - (146,822) (264,695) (1,077,085) (1,453,811) 4,822,418 1,880,005
Cumulative gap - (146,822) (411,517) (1,488,602) (2,942,413) 1,880,005 1,880,005

As the table shows, the Group has a short-term liquidity gap, as is normal in retail
banking, although as mentioned above historical data reveal a high degree of
stability in its deposits.
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d) Fair value of financial instruments

Thisrisk corresponds to changes occurringin the fair value of financialinstruments,
as defined in Note 2.e).

As describedin Note 2.e.), except for financialinstruments classified as “Financial
assets at amortized cost” and equity instruments whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured or derivative securities with such equity instruments as their
underlying, the Group’s financial assets are recognized in the consolidated
balance sheet at their fair value. Likewise, except for financial liabilities
designated as “Financial liabilities at amortized cost”, all the Group’s financial
liabilities are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position at
their fair value.

In addition, certain items recognized in “Financial assets at amortized cost” and
“Financial liabilities at amortized cost” could be related to fair value hedges
(Note 2.e), their value having been adjusted by an amount equivalent to the
changes in fair value resulting from the hedged risk, mainly interest rate risk.

The table below shows the fair values, at the close of 2018 and 2017, of the
financial assets and liabilities indicated below grouped according to the
different measurement methods used by the Group to determine fair value:

Thousands of euros

2018
Total Fair Fair value hierarchy
Balance value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other

demand deposits 351,449 351,449 351,449 - -
Financial assets held for trading 7.730 7.730 5,087 2,553 90
Financial assets not held for trading mandatorily

measured at fair value through profit or loss 17,555 17,555 - 7,170 10,385
Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income 746,490 746,490 571,645 2,576 172,269
Financial assets at amortized cost 10,594,491 11,478,945 2,766,452 8,612,491 100,002
Derivatives - hedge accounting 4,774 4,774 - 4,774 -
Total financial assets 11,722,489 12,606,943 3,694,633 8,629,564 282,746
Financial liabilities held for frading 769 769 - 734 35
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 10,877,828 10,897,101 - 10,667,278 229,823
Derivatives — hedge accounting 251 251 - 251 -
Total financial liabilities 10,878,848 10,898,121 - 10,668,263 229,858
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Thousands of euros

2017
Total Fair Fair value hierarchy
Balance value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Cash, cash balances at central banks and

other demand deposits 343,482 343,482 343,482 - -
Financial assets held for trading 7,483 7,483 3.919 3,564 -
Available-for-sale financial assets 2,811,308 2,811,308 2,667,884 4,576 138,848
Loans and receivables 7,455,088 8,207,141 - 8,207,141 -
Held-to-maturity investments 611,833 618,392 451,463 166,929 -
Derivatives — hedge accounting 80 80 - 80 -
Total financial assets 11,229,274 11,987,886 3,466,748 8,382,290 138,848
Financial liabilities held for trading 1.116 1.116 - 1,116 -
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 10,398,133 10,520,899 - 10,440,436 80,463
Derivatives — hedge accounting - - - - -
Total financial liabilities 10,399,249 10,522,015 - 10,441,552 80,463

The following criteria were used to determine fair values:

* Level 1: the prices quoted in active markets for these financial instruments.

* Level 2: the prices quoted in active markets for similar instruments or other
valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are based on directly or
indirectly observable market data.

* Level 3: valuation techniques in which some of the significant inputs are not
based on observable market data.

The particular valuation techniques used and the assumptions made for
determining fair values are as follows:

* Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits: The fair
value of these assets is considered equal to their carrying amount since they
are either redeemable on demand or payable in the near term.

» Debt securities: For government bonds and certain fixed-income securities
issued by credit institutions, the price quoted on active markets is used
(Level 1). For some fixed-income securities, measurement methods based
on discounting cash flows have been applied, using the yield curves and
market spreads of similar instruments (Level 2). For all other debt securities,
prices calculated by accredited external appraisers are used (Level 3).

* Equity instruments: The price quoted on active markets has been used
(Level 1). For some venture capital funds and investments in foreign financial
institutions fair value has been calculated using valuation techniques in
which all the significant inputs are based on market data (Level 2).
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* Financial assets at amortized cost - Customers: Fair value has been estimated
by discounting future cash flows based on the yield curve at the close of each
year, using a discount factor corresponding to the residual term between
the date of analysis and the date of revision or redemption. Likewise, the
level of credit risk provisions for the credit risk portfolio has been quantified
in accordance with the accounting standard applicable and is considered
sufficient to cover the credit risk in question. However, in an economic and
financial crisis of the kind we are currently experiencing, and given that there
is no market for these financial assets, the amount at which such assets might
be exchanged between interested parties could be lower than the net asset
value recognized since the potential buyer may wish to discount not only
losses incurred and already recognized in accordance with applicable
accounting standards but also the losses that it is estimated might occur in
future in the event of a prolongation of the current unusually lengthy and
severe economic downturn.

* Financial liabilities at amortized cost: Fair value has been estimated by
discounting future cash flows based on the yield curve at the close of each
year, using a discount factor corresponding to the residual term between the
date of analysis and the date of revision or maturity. In the case of demand
deposits, there are assumed to be no significant differences between fair
value and carrying amount since the vast majority of such accounts are
benchmarked to a floating interest rate and/or, if not benchmarked, have a
term to maturity of less than one year.

Differences between the fair value and carrying amount of financial instruments
may exist for the following reasons:

* In the case of fixed-income instruments, fair value changes according to
movements in market interest rates. The longer the instrument’s residual term
to maturity, the greater the change in fair value.

* In the case of instruments bearing interest at a floating rate, fair value may
differ from carrying amount if the spread on the benchmark interest rate has
changed since the instrument was issued. Assuming spreads remain stable,
fair value is equal to carrying amount only on repricing dates. On all other
dates, flows that are already certain are subject to interest rate risk.

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

No financial instruments were transferred between measurement levels in 2018
and 2017. Movements in Level 3 assets during both years were as follows:

Assets Liabilities
Balance at 31 December 2014 126,719 37,904
Valuation adjustments recognized in income (47.,904) -
Valuation adjustments not recognized in income (9.241) -
Purchases, sales and settlements 69,274 42,559
Net inflows/(outflows) to Level 3 - -
Translation and other differences - -
Balance at 31 December 2017 138,848 80,463
Valuation adjustments recognized in income - -
Valuation adjustments not recognized in income 11,264 -
Purchases, sales and settlements 22,157 149,395
Net inflows/(outflows) to Level 3 110,477 -
Translation and other differences - -
Balance at 31 December 2018 282,746 229,858

In 2018, the biggestitem derecognized from “Accumulated other comprehensive
income” in equity was the transfer of the shares in BCE and RGA (Note 1.h).
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e) Transparency of information on loans for construction and real estate
development, home loans, assets received in settlement of debts and finance
requirements and strategies

In accordance with the Bank of Spain’s tfransparency guidelines on loans for
construction and real estate development, home loans and assets received in
settlement of debt and assessment of market financing needs and with Bank of
Spain Circular 5/2011, of 30 November, the Group reports as follows:

Information on loans for construction and real estate development

The value of loans for construction andreal estate development and associated
coverage at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was as follows:

2018
Excess of gross exposure
Gross carrying | over recoverable amount of Cumulative
amount effective guarantees impairment
Loans for construction and real estate development
(including land) (Spanish business) 324,898 102,150 10,978
Of which: in arrears/doubtful 9.246 5,813 5,337
IMemorandum items: Write-offs 51,625
Memorandum items:
- Loans and advances to customers, excluding public
sector (Spanish businesses) (carrying amount) 7,562,309
- Total assets (all businesses) 12,202,865
- Impairment and provisions for exposures classified as
standard (all business) 53,928
2017
Excess of gross exposure
Gross carrying || over recoverable amount of Cumulative
amount effective guarantees impairment
Loans for construction and real estate development
(including land) (Spanish business) 352,974 120,954 16,263
Of which: in arrears/doubtful 15,572 9.802 9,148
IMemorandum items: Write-offs 49,561
IMemorandum items: Amount
- Loans and advances to customers, excluding public
sector (Spanish businesses) (carrying amount) 7,186,503
- Total assets (all businesses) 11,762,238
- Impairment and provisions for exposures classified as
standard (all business) 46,449
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The table below shows disclosures of finance for construction, real estate
development and home loans at 31 December 2018 and 2017:

Loans for construction and real
estate development.
Gross carrying amount

2018 2017

Unsecured by property 39,936 52,070
Secured by property 284,962 300,904
Buildings and other completed constructions 49,845 47,816
Homes 44,636 42,165
Other 5,209 5,651
Buildings and other constructions under construction 211,977 222,066
Homes 210,777 220,320
Other 1,200 1,746

Land 23,140 31,022
Consolidated urban land 17,682 25,476
Other land 5,458 5,546

Total 324,898 352,974

Information on home loans

The breakdown of home loans at 31 Decemlber 2018 and 2017, is as follows:

2018 2017
Gross carrying | Of which: in || Gross carrying Of which: in
amount arrears/doubtful amount arrears/doubtful
Home loans 3.605,080 27,180 3,358,914 23,251
Unsecured by mortgages 76,350 283 66,538 824
Secured by mortgages 3,528,730 26,897 3,292,376 22,427

At 31 December 2018 and 2017 the breakdown of home loans secured by
mortgages according to the percentage loan to latest available value is as follows:

LTV
2018
LTV under LTV 80- LTV over
40% LTV 40-60% | | LTV 60-80% 100% 100% Total
Gross carrying amount 342,351 628,458 1,099,073 714,361 744,487 3,528,730
Of which:in
arrears/doubtful 1,275 2,183 3,807 3,572 16,060 26,897
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LTV
2017
LTV under LTV 80- LTV over
40% LTV 40-60% | | LTV 60-80% 100% 100% Total
Gross carrying amount 344,008 624,596 1,004,533 621,616 697,623 3,292,376
Of which: in
arrears/doubtful 882 2,094 2,240 5,145 12,066 22,427

Information on assets acquired in settlement of debt

The detail of assets acquired in settlement of debt at 31 December 2018 and
2017 is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Gross Gross
carrying |Cumulative| carrying |Cumulative
amount |impairment| amount |impairment
Real estate assets acquired from construction and real estate
development loans 44,956 15,151 54,731 11,814
Buildings and other completed constructions 8,451 1,595 16,173 2,595
Homes 5,781 1,120 12,351 1,857
Other 2,670 475 3.822 738
Buildings and other constructions under construction 305 - 305 -
Homes 305 - 305
Other - - - -
Land 36,201 13,556 38,253 9.219
Consolidated urban land 16,297 6,949 17,665 5,713
Other land 19,903 6,607 20,588 3,506
Real estate assets originating from loans to individuals to fund home
purchases 7.278 670 12,034 1,279
Other real estate assets foreclosed or received in settlement of debt 13,374 1,885 15,358 2,350
Equity instruments foreclosed or received in settlement of debt 945 - 1,800
Equity instruments of holding companies of real estate assets
foreclosed or received in payment of debt - -
Loans to holding companies of real estate assets foreclosed or
received in payment of debt - - - -
Total 66,553 17,706 83,923 15,443

Policies for managing problematic assets

As part of its general risk management policy, Caja Rural de Navarra has
specific processes for dealing with assets from the construction and real estate
development sector, which has been particularly hard hit by the current crisis.

These processes aim to sustain, wherever possible and without impairing the
recovery of contracted risks, the business continuity and viability of companies
and other customers, mitigating the risks to which the Group is exposed. This
means seeking alternatives that allow projects to be completed and sold,
analysing where risks can be renegotiated if the customer’s credit position
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improves, with a view to keeping the debtor in business. The process considers
the Bank’s track record with the debtor, their manifest ability to pay and
potential improvements to the customer’s expected loss, looking to increase
loan collateral without increasing risk exposure to the customer.

The Group also supports developers once developments have been completed,
working in partnership to manage and speed up sales.

If the above approach fails or is insufficient, other alternatives are analysed,
such as taking assets in lieu of payment or buying assets and, as a last resort,
legal proceedings to foreclose the buildings.

All assets taken onto the Group's balance sheet are managed with a view to
their disposal or lease. For this purpose, the Group has operating companies that
specialize in the sale or leasing of real estate assets. The Group has the resources
to develop these strategies and coordinate the work of the subsidiaries and
branch network.

In accordance with Act 8/2012, at 31 December 2018 and 2017 the Group
held, among other assets, all the real estate assets acquired as a result of its
financing of construction andreal estate development operationsin Promocion
Estable del Norte, S.A.. The breakdown and percentage interest in each asset
are given in Note 1.f).

The cumulative volume of assets transferred to Promocién Estable del Norte,
S.A. at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was EUR 26,382 thousand and EUR 32,317
thousand and the net carrying amount of the company at these two dates was
EUR 15,553 thousand and EUR 22,633 thousand, respectively. At 31 December
2018 the balance of capital or member confributions transferred to the
company was EUR 103,921 thousand (EUR 96,811 thousand at 31 December
2017), against a revaluation for impairment of EUR 76,713 thousand (EUR 73,971
thousand at 31 December 2017).

Assessment of market financing needs

Caja Ruralde Navarra has historically adhered to aliquidity management policy
under which wholesale financing that involves future repayment commitments
is not included in the calculation of its net liquidity. This means that the Group's
liquidity assumptions do not include the issue of securities on wholesale markets
that entail future repayment commitments as sources of funding that can be
used to grow loans and advances.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group has concluded a number of issues
on the market for the following purposes:

- To increase available liquidity;
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- To gain experience of different forms of financing in different markets and
instruments;

- To generate collateral discountable at the European Central Bank and/or
usable as security for repurchase fransactions with clearing houses.

Overall, the Group foresees no need for wholesale financing givenitsrepayment
schedule and the current level of available liquidity.

In addition, Caja Rural de Navarra has various contingency plans for obtaining
liquidity. These include a sizeable stock of assets discountable at the European
Central Bank.

In the medium to long term the Group will maintain the same policy of not
using market financing to grow its lending business, while at the same time
maintaining the aforementioned contingency plans.
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7. Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand
deposits

The detail of this line of the statement of financial position at 31 December 2018
and 2017 is as follows:

Thousands of Euros

2018 2017
Cash 46,194 45,164
Cash balances at central banks - -
Other demand deposits 305,255 298,318

351,449 343,482

The Bank complies with the minimum reserve requirement pursuant to the
provisions of Article 10 of Regulation (EC) 1745/2003 of the European Cenftral
Bank, of 12 September 2003, regulating the maintenance of minimum reserves
held indirectly through an intermediary (Note 10).

Banco Cooperativo Espanol, S.A. and the rural credit cooperatives and
cooperative credit institutions that constitute its membership have concluded
agreements whereby members assign funds to Banco Cooperativo Espanal,
S.A. forexclusive investment in the interbank and money markets, with members
assuming joint liability for any losses that may be incurred as a result of such
investments. The liability assumed by the Group under these agreements
amounted to EUR 111,916 thousand and EUR 152,281 thousand at 31 December
2018 and 2017, respectively, and is recognized in “Guarantees given — Other
guarantees given” in the memorandum accounts (Note 23).

For purposes of preparation of the consolidated cash flow statement, the Group
freated the balance of this line of the consolidated statement of financial
position as “cash and cash equivalents”.

The average annual interest rate applied to “Other demand deposits” in 2018
was -0.40% (0.05% in 2017). Interest accrued on the financial assets included in
this portfolio in 2018 totalled a negative EUR 1,163 thousand compared with a
positive EUR 172 thousand in 2017 (Notes 25 and 26).
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8. Financial assets and liabilities held for trading

The breakdown of this line of the statement of financial position at 31 December
2018 and 2017 by type of counterparty and type of instrument is as follows:
Thousands of euros

Assets Liabilities
2018 2017 2018 2017

By counterparty

Credit institutions 3,307 3,281 320 -
Other resident sectors 4,096 3,943 449 1,116
Other non-resident sectors 327 259 - -
Total 7,730 7,483 769 1,116
By type of instrument

Derivatives 2,643 3,564 769 1,116
Equity instruments 3,727 3,219 - -
Debt securities 1,360 - - -
Total 7,730 7,483 769 1,116

The fair value of itemsincluded in “Financial assets and liabilities held for frading”
was calculated using valuation techniques based on market data.

Financial assets held for trading. Equity instruments

The breakdown of this line of the consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Shares in credit institfutions 968 801
Shares in other resident companies 2,432 2,859
Shares in other non-resident companies 327 259
Total 3,727 3,919

All securities classified as “Equity instruments” at 31 December 2018 and 2017
were shares listed for tfrading on official markets.

Financial assets held for trading. Derivatives

This line includes, at 31 December 2018 and 2017:
- Swaps related to the Group's securitisation transactions.

- Transactions contracted to hedge the market risk associated with structured
customer deposits incorporating an embedded derivative.

- Currency hedging transactions with customers (currency forward contracts).
Details of the notional and fair values of the financial derivatives recognized

under “Derivatives”, by type of market, counterparty, residual term to maturity
and type of risk, are as follows:
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Thousands of euros

Notional value Fair value Fair value
Memorandum Assets Liabilities
accounts
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
By type of market
Bilateral (OTC) markets 280,448 277,088 2,643 3.564 769 1,116
TOTAL 280,448 277,088 2,643 3,564 769 1,114
By type of product
Swaps 179,237 202,369 1,868 2,449 - -
Futures 38,029 18,709 469 1,084 463 1,085
Options 63,182 56,010 306 31 306 31
TOTAL 280,448 277,088 2,643 3,564 769 1,116
By counterparty
Resident credit institutions 230,246 239,847 2,316 2,480 - -
Other resident sectors 50,202 37,241 327 1,084 769 1,116
TOTAL 280,448 277,088 2,643 3,564 769 1,114
By residual term to maturity
Less than 1 year 38,029 72,019 469 1,084 463 1,085
1 to 5 years 63,182 2,700 306 31 306 31
More than 5 years 179,237 202,369 1,868 2,449 - -
TOTAL 280,448 277,088 2,643 3,564 769 1,116
By type of risk
Interest rate risk 179,237 202,369 1,868 2,449 - -
Equity risk 63,182 56,010 306 31 306 31
Currency risk 38,029 18,709 469 1,084 463 1,085
TOTAL 280,448 277,088 2,643 3,564 769 1,114

The notional and/or contractual value of the formal derivative contracts does not
represent the real risk assumed by the Group as the net position is obtained by
offsetting and/or grouping together these financial instruments.

Financial assets held for frading. Debt securities

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
By counterparty
Ofther non-resident sectors 1,360 -
Total 1,360 -
By type of instrument
Other non-resident fixed-income securities 1,360 -
Total 1,360 -

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

9. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income

The breakdown of this line in the consolidated statement of financial position
by region, type of counterparty and type of instrument, is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017 (*)
By counterparty
Spanish public sector 326,521 2,040,952
Non-resident General governments - 87,597
Credit institutions 85,511 280,219
Other resident sectors 242,170 262,071
Other non-resident sectors 92,288 140,469
Total 746,490 2,811,308
By type of instrument
Debt securities 544,377 2,644,802
Spanish government debft 326,521 2,040,952
Non-resident General governments - 87,597
Issued by credit institutions 75,988 272,166
Other Spanish fixed-income securities 50,561 107,984
Other non-resident fixed-income securities 91,307 136,103
Equity instruments 202,113 166,181
Shares in credit institutions 9,523 8,053
Shares in Spanish companies 191,325 154,087
Shares in foreign companies 968 799
Units and shares in investment funds 297 3,567
Total 746,490 2,811,308

(*)Corresponds to balances in "Available-for-sale financial assets”
(Note 1.c).

The average annual interest rate for debt securities included in “Available-for-
sale financial assets” in 2018 was 1.46% (1.50% in 2017), while interest accrued in
2018 on these financial assets was EUR 1,763 thousand (EUR 36,374 thousand in
2017) (Note 25).

A breakdown by residual term to maturity of debt securities recognized in this line
at 31 December 2018 and 2017 is given in Note 6.

At the close of 2018 and 2017, the breakdown of “Equity instruments” according
to the listing status of the securities included in the entry and the percentage
accounted for by each category was as follows:
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2018 2017
Thousands Thousands
of euros % of total of euros % of total
Listed for trading 27,565 13.64% 27,151 16.31%
Not listed for trading 174,548 86.36% 139,355 83.69%
202,113 100.00% 166,506 100.00%

The Group has recognized the following investments measured at fair value
under “Equity instruments — Not listed for frading”:

Thousands of euros

Eair valve
2018 2017

Company

Banco Cooperativo Espanol, S.A. (*) 5 5
Seguros Generales Rural, S.A. de Seguros y Reaseguros (*) 1 1
Grucajrural Inversiones, S.L. (*) 153,554 118,084
Espiga Capital Inversién, Sociedad de Capital Riesgo 694 682
Espiga Capital Inversion Il, Sociedad de Capital Riesgo de Régimen Simplificado, S.A. 183 210
Espiga Equity Fund, Fondo de Capital Riesgo de Régimen Simplificado 370 333
Rural Servicios Informdticos, S.C. (*) 7,158 5,733
Docalia, S.L. (¥) 1,371 356
Nessa Global Banking Solutions, S.A. 274 274
DZ Bank A.G. 1,264 1,264
Lazora, S.A. - 1,737
Minicentrales Canal de las Bardenas A.ILE. 180 180
Mondragdn Navarra, S.P.E., S.A. 176 176
Start-Up Capital Navarra, S.A. 137 137
Idifarma Desarrollo Farmacedutico, S.L. 310 310
3P Biopharmaceuticals, S.L. 558 558
Caja Rural de Jaén, S.C.C. 648 648
Caija Rural de Burgos, Fuentepelayo, Segovia y Castelldans, S.C.C. 1,311 1,475
Caja Rural de Extremadura, S.C.C. 1,377 1.836
Other 4,977 5,356
Total 174,548 139,355

(*) Due to agreements between existing shareholders, the Group has valued its ownership interest
in these companies on the basis of its share in their equity at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

On 27 September 2017, Banco Cooperativo Espanol, S.A. paid a scrip dividend
of EUR 38.6 million as a capital increase charged against its voluntary reserves
in respect of net profit for 2016. The Bank subscribed for the entire allocation of
shares proportional to its equity stake, totalling EUR 5,978 thousand. The dividends
were recognized under “Dividend income” in the income statement (Note 27).

In 2017, the Parent Company made a contribution-in-kind to Grucajrural
Inversiones of EUR 297,671 shares in Banco Cooperativo Espanol, S.A., valued at
EUR 76,317 thousand, and EUR 1,099,706 shares in RGA Seguros Generales Rural,
S.A. de Seguros y Reaseguros, valued at EUR 41,767 thousand. In consideration
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for this contribution-in-kind, the Bank received EUR 5,904,241,743 shares in
Grucajrural Inversiones, S.L. (Note 1.1).

The breakdown of *Accumulated other comprehensive income” shown under
equity at 31 December 2018 and 2017 resulting from changes in the fair value
of the assets in this portfolio is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Debt securities (2.353) 41,686
Equity instruments 8,928 (2,577)
6,575 39,109

Movements recognized in “Accumulated other comprehensive income”
corresponding to securities classified in “Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income” are detailed in Note 19.

Overdue and impaired assets

e Debt securities

At 31 December 2017 the Group had assets classified as available for sale that
had been individually identified as impaired due to the associated credit risk in
a gross amount of EUR 2,342 thousand.

Details of the valuation adjustments recognized by the Group at the 2018 and 2017
accounting close due to the impairment of debt securities included in “Financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income” are as follows:

Standard risk
Standard on special Doubtful

risk watch risk Total

Closing balance at end-2016 318 - 81 399
Net additions charged/(credited) to income 143 - 352 495
Balances for the year - - R
Other movements

Closing balance at end of the prior year (*) 461 - 433 894
Effect of the first-time application of Circular 4/2017 (Note 1.b) (160) - - (160)
Opening balance 301 - 433 734
Net additions charged/(credited) to income (685) - - (685)
Balances for the year - - - -
Other movements 1,101 - (433) 668
Closing balance at end-2018 717 - - 717
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10. Financial assets at amortized cost

The breakdown of this asset item in the consolidated statement of financial
position by nature of the related financial instrument is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017 (*)
Loans and advances
Credit institutions 100,002 115,786
Customers 7,778,800 7,334,762
Debt securities 2,716,139 616,373
Total 10,594,941 8,066,921

(*) Correspondstobalancesin “Loansandreceivables” and *Held-to-maturity investments”
(Note 1.c).

Loans and advances - Credit institutions

Thousands of euros

2018 2017

By type

Term deposits 88,418 96,688
Other assets 11,478 19,024
Total 99,896 115,712
Valuation adjustments 106 74
Total 100,002 115,786
By currency

Euro 87,783 103,535
US dollar 10,012 11,416
Other 2,207 835
Total 100,002 115,786

In accordance with European Central Bank Regulation (EC) 1745/2003 of 12
September 2003, concerning the application of minimum reserves, the Parent
Company uses the services of Banco Cooperativo Espanol, S.A. to indirectly
maintain its minimum reserves through an intermediary. Accordingly, the
Entity holds a deposit in the Banco Cooperativo Espanol, S.A. for the indirect
compliance of the minimum reserves rate, registered under “Term accounts”,
with a balance at 31 December 2018 of EUR 76,493 thousand, compared with
EUR 72,624 thousand at 31 December 2017.

A breakdown by residual term to maturity in 2018 and 2017 is given in Note 6.

The average annual interest rate applied to deposits with credit institutions
in 2018 was 0.25% (0.16% in 2017). Interest accrued on the financial assets
included in this portfolio in 2018 totalled EUR 274 thousand compared with EUR
667 thousand in 2017 (Note 25).
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Loans and advances. Customers

The breakdown of this item in the consolidated statement of financial position
by type and status of facility, borrower sector, region in which the borrower is
resident and type of interest rate applied is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
By loan type and status
Commercial credit 566,768 537,890
Secured loans 4,929,242 4,710,119
Other term loans 1,922,932 1,722,997
Finance leases 194,805 173,001
Repayable on demand and other 52,493 48,957
Other financial assets 116,633 126,515
Doubftful assets 140,122 150,084
Total 7,922,995 7,469,563
Valuation adjustments (144,195) (134,801)
Total 7,778,800 7,334,762
By borrower sector
General governments 171,636 155,241
Other resident sectors 7,542,912 7,134,004
Non-resident sectors 64,252 45,517
Total 7,778,800 7,334,762
By interest rate type
Floating 7,005,246 6,394,070
Fixed 917,749 1,075,493
Total 7,922,995 7,469,563
Valuation adjustments (144,195) (134,801)
Total 7,778,800 7,334,762

The average annual interest rate applied to the financial instruments included
in this item in 2018 was 1.63% (1.78% in 2017) and the interest accrued was EUR
122,079 thousand (EUR 124,998 thousand in 2017) (Note 25).

The carrying amount shownin the above table, ignoring the portion corresponding
to “Accumulated other comprehensive income”, represents the Group’s
maximum credit risk exposure from these financial instruments.

A breakdown by residual term to maturity is given in Note 6.

Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 exempts from its derecognition requirements all financial
assets and liabilities that were derecognized before 1 January 2004 (Note 2.).
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Inrespect of derecognitions that took place after 1 January 2004, as the conditions
governing the asset transfers meant that the Bank retained material risks and
benefits from the securitized assets (basically credit risk on the transactions
transferred), these assets have not been derecognized from the statement of
financial position. Also, in compliance with the standard, a financial liability has
been initially recognized for an amount equal to the payment received and is
carried at amortized cost. These transactions therefore remain on the consolidated
statement of financial position, in amounts of EUR 190,192 thousand and EUR
204,090 thousand at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.

In addition, liabilities of EUR 8,405 thousand and EUR 9,618 thousand were
recognized in “Financial liabilities at amortized cost — Deposits — Customers” in
the statements of financial position at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively,
(Note 17). The difference between the liability balances and the carrying amounts
of the assets fransferred in the securitizations reflects securitization fund assets
initially retained or subsequently recovered by the Bank which are presented in
the aforementioned liability account after netting.

The Bank fransferred assets to the following securitization funds: Rural Hipotecario V,
Rural Hipotecario VI, Rural Hipotecario VI, Rural Hipotecario VI, Rural Hipotecario
IX, Rural Hipotecario X, Rural Hipotecario Xl, Rural Hipotecario Xl and Rural
Hipotecario XVII, all managed by Europea de Titulizaciéon S.A., S.G.FT.

In addition, the Group had subordinated loans in the amount of EUR 31,351
thousand outstanding with the aforementioned securitization funds at 31
December 2018 (EUR 33,564 thousand at 31 December 2017).

The detail of the valuation adjustments made in relation to tfransactions classified
as "“Loans and advances — Customers” is as follows:

Thousands of euros
Valuation adjustments 2018 2017

Valuation adjustments for impairment of financial

assets (144,448) (138,114)
Accrued inferest 7,469 11,516
Fees and commissions (7,216) (8,203)

(144,195) (134,801)
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Loans and advances - Customers. Valuation adjustments for impairment of
financial assets

Details of the movement in 2018 and 2017 in “Valuation adjustments forimpairment
of financial assets” forming part of the balance of the “Loans and receivables —
Customers” line are as follows:

Standard risk
on special
Standard risk watch Doubitful risk Total

Closing balance at end-2016 27,082 10,883 127,518 165,483
Net additions charged/(credited) to income 4,592 (1,594) 13,098 16,096
Balances for the year - - (34,654) (34,654)
Other movements - - (8.811) (8.811)
Closing balance at end of the prior year (*) 31,674 9,289 97,151 138,114
Effect of the first-time application of IFRS 9 (Note 1.c) 1,554 16,752 1,509 19,815

The detail of "*(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets
not measured at fair value through profit or loss) — Loans and receivables —
Customers” on the consolidated income statement at 31 December 2018 and
2017, is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Net impairment in the period 13,859 16,096
Suspense items recovered (5.674) (3.725)
Assets directly derecognized 993 1,428
Other items 1 (171)
Total (Note 34) 9.179 13,628

The impairment losses recognized at 31 December 2018 and 2017 cover the
minimum provisions required by the Bank of Spain, taking account of the status
and circumstances of the transactions and borrowers.
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Loans and receivables — Debt securities

The breakdown by counterparty of this line of the consolidated statement of
financial position is as follows:
Thousands of euros

2018 2017 (*)

Counterparty

Spanish public sector 1,870,509 440,769
Non-resident General governments 206,767 697
Credit institutions 336,136 3,311
Other resident sectors 193,083 169,813
Other non-resident sectors 111,209 2,127
Total 2,717,704 616,717
Valuation adjustments for impairment of financial assets (1,565) (344)
Total 2,716,139 616,373

(*) Corresponds to balances in “Loans and receivables” and "Held-to-
maturity investments” (Note 1.c).

The average annual interest rate for debt securities included in *Available-for-
sale financial assets” in 2018 was 1.02% (1.08% in 2017), while interest accrued
in 2018 on these financial assets was EUR 30,062 thousand (EUR 6,405 thousand
in 2017) (Note 25).

A breakdown by residual term to maturity at 31 December 2018 and 2017 is
given in Note 6.

Details of the valuation adjustments for asset impairment recognized by the
Group at the close of 2018 and 2017 for “Debt securities” included in “Financial
assets at amortized cost” are as follows:

Standard risk

on special
Standard risk watch Doubtful risk Total
Closing balance at end-2016 398 - - 398
Net additions charged/(credited) to income (54) - - (54)
Balances for the year - - - -
Other movements - - - -
Closing balance at end of the prior year (*) 344 - - 344
Effect of the first-tfime application of IFRS ¢ (Note 1.c) 516 - - 516
Opening balance 860 - - 860
Net additions charged/(credited) to income 629 76 - 705
Balances for the year - - - -
Other movements - - - -
Closing balance at end-2018 1,489 76 - 1,565
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Impaired and overdue assets

Details of financial assets classified as “Financial assets at amortized cost” and
considered impaired due to credit risk at 31 December 2018 and 2017:

Impaired assets

2018 2017

Up to 6 months overdue or not due 51,316 56,732
6 to 9 months overdue 12,272 14,501
9 to 12 months overdue 8,948 92,113
12 to 15 months overdue 4,570 10,563
15 to 18 months overdue 11,187 6,491
18 to 21 months overdue 5,596 4,641
More than 21 months overdue 46,233 48,043

140,122 150,084

Accumulated finance income from impaired financial assets not recognized in
income at 31 December 2018 and 2017 amounted to EUR 3,882 thousand and
EUR 4,228 thousand, respectively.

Details of the movements in impaired financial assets derecognized because
the likelihood of their recovery was considered remote but where the Group is
still seeking to recover the amounts receivable are as follows:

Thousands of
euros

2018 2017
Opening balance 205,490 204,767
Additions 28,666 43,981
Charged to valuation adjustments for impairment of financial assets 21,816 34,654
Charged directly to income 993 1,427
Receivables past-due but not collected 5,857 7,900
Other items - -
Recoveries (5.674) (3,725)
Collected in cash (5.674) (3,725)
Definitively derecognized (4,770) (39,533)
Due to write-offs (4,770) (39,533)
Due to debft restructuring - -
For other reasons - -
Closing balance 223,712 205,490
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11. Financial assets not held for frading mandatorily measured at
fair value through profit or loss

The breakdown of this line of the statement of financial position at 31 December
2018 and 2017 is as follows:

2018 2017
Debt securities 7,170
Loans and advances 10,385
17,555

The breakdown of these instruments by rating, in order of the highest rating
awarded by any of the rating agencies, at 31 December 2018 and 2017, is

shown in Note 6.

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

12. Derivatives — hedge accounting for assets and liabilities

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments are recognized at fair value, as
detailed in Note 2.d).

The breakdown of hedging derivatives by type of hedge at 31 December 2018
and 2017 was as follows:

Thousands of euros
Assets Liabilities
2018 2017 2018 2017

Micro-hedging
Fair value hedges 4,774 80 251 -
Cash flow hedges - - - .

4,774 80 251 -

The breakdown of the notional and fair values of the financial derivatives recognized
as “Derivatives — Hedge accounting” for assets and liabilities by type of market, type
of product, counterparty, residual term to maturity and type of risk is as follows:

Thousands of euros

Notional value Fair value Fair value
Memorandum accounts Assets Liabilities
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
By type of market
Bilateral (OTC) markets 281,591 28,055 4,774 80 251 -
TOTAL 281,591 28,055 4,774 80 251 -
By type of product
Swaps 281,591 28,055 4,774 80 251 -
TOTAL 281,591 28,055 4,774 80 251 -
By counterparty
Resident credit institutions 281,591 28,055 4,774 80 251 -
Other resident sectors - - - - - -
TOTAL 281,591 28,055 4,774 80 251 -
By residual term to maturity
Less than 1 year 1,350 26,705 - 80 4 -
1 to 5years 30,241 1,350 - - 247 -
More than 5 years 250,000 - 4,774 - - -
TOTAL 281,591 28,055 4,774 80 251 -
By type of risk
Interest rate risk 281,591 28,055 4,774 80 251 -
Equity risk - - - - -
TOTAL 281,591 28,055 4,774 80 251 -
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The following financial swaps have been contracted (listed with their hedged
items):

* Inferest rate swap, to hedge customer deposits bearing interest at a fixed
rate and fixed rate debt securities (Note 17).

* Equity swap, to hedge customer deposits bearing interest at a rate indexed
to the price of securities or market indices.

At 31 December 2018, the Group recognized net gains of EUR 5,869 thousand
as aresult of changes in the fair value of hedging transactions (compared with
a net gain of EUR 315 thousand in 2017). With regard to the hedged items, a
net loss of EUR 5,769 thousand attributable to the hedged risk was recognized
in 2018 (versus a net loss of EUR 118 thousand in 2017). The net amount of gains
from hedges and losses on hedged items was recognized under “Net gain/
(loss) from hedge accounting” in the consolidated income statement for 2018
and 2017.

The notional and/or contractual value of the hedging derivatives does not
represent the real risk assumed by the Group as the net position is obtained by
offsetting and/or grouping together these financial instruments.
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13. Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

The breakdown of this line of the consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

2018 2017
Tangible assets 48,212 66,995
Investment property 272 277
Foreclosed property and equipment 65,805 82,320
Valuation adjustments for impairment of financial assets (17,865) (15,602)
48,212 66,995

Movementsin “Investment property” and “Foreclosed tangible assets” included

in “Non-current assets held for sale” in 2018 and 2017 were as follows:
Thousands of euros

Investment property Foreclosed tangible assets

Cost -

Balance at 31 December 2016 1,473 57,834
Additions 2,577 9,844
Retirements and writedowns (115) (17.675)
Transfers (3.493) -
Other movements - 32,317

Balance at 31 December 2017 442 82,320
Additions - 31,753
Retirements and writedowns - (48,268)
Transfers - -
Other movements - _

Balance at 31 December 2018 442 65,805

Accumulated depreciation-

Balance at 31 December 2016 178 -
Provisions 6 -
Retirements and writedowns - -
Transfers (19) -

Balance at 31 December 2017 165 -
Provisions 5 -
Retirements and writedowns - -
Transfers - -
Balance at 31 December 2018 170 -

Property and equipment, net -

Balance at 31 December 2017 277 82,320

Balance at 31 December 2018 272 65,805

The fair value of non-current assets in disposal groups held for sale located in
Spain was estimated in light of their expected recoverable amounts. It also
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includes as an input the appraisals done by Appraisal Companies registered
with the Bank of Spain and valuations carried out using criteria set by Ministerial
Order ECO/805/2003 on valuation standards for property and certain rights for
financial purposes

Movements in “Valuation adjustments for impairment of financial assets” in
“Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale” in 2018 and 2017 were

as follows:
2018 2017
Opening balance 15,602 7,350
Net additions charged against income 2,789 62
Reversals or sales - (1,463)
Transfers (526) 9.653
Closing balance 17,865 15,602
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14.Investments in joint ventures and associates

The detail of the Bank's equity investments at 31 December 2018 and 2017, by

company, was as follows:
Thousands of euros
% ownership interest Acquisition cost Net carrying amount

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Associates

Bodegas Principe de Viang, S.L. 50.00% 50.00% 11,015 11,015 13,340 12,568
Omegageo, S.L. 50.00% 50.00% 1,092 1,092 833 1,059
Reivalsa Gestion, S.L - 50.00% - 50 - 1,039
Renovables de la Ribera, S.L. 50.00% 50.00% 820 320 797 302
Bosgalia, S.L. 48.40% 48.40% 1,452 1,452 760 921
Errotabidea, S.L. 46.01% 46.01% 8,431 8,431 10,244 9,426
Servicios Empresariales Agroindustriales, S.A. 33.33% 33.33% 30 30 21 84
Rioja Vega, S.A. 25.07% 25.07% 4,491 4,491 2,461 2,453
Investi Navarra In Est, S.L. 25.00% 25.00% 5,000 5,000 - -
Rural de Energias Aragonesas, S.A. 25.00% 25.00% 475 475 329 445
Harivenasa, S.L. - 24.90% - - - -
Compania Edlica de Tierras Altas, S.A. 23.75% 23.75% 3,184 3,184 6,447 8,062
lparlat, S.A. 21.54% 21.54% 4,836 4,836 13,678 13,312
loerjaldn, S.A. 20.00% - 990 - 964 -

Total 41,816 40,376 49,945 49,671

At 31 December 2018, there was no implied goodwill recognized in the carrying
amount of subsidiaries.

The activities, registered offices and key performance indicators of companies
accounted for by the equity method at 31 December 2018 are as follows:

Thousands of euros

Company Head office Line of business Total Equity [Earnings
assets
Bodegas Principe de Viana, S.L. Pamplona Production and sale of wine 51,326 26,679 635
Omegageo, S.L. Pamplona Civil engineering and building 1,811 1,609 (1)
projects
Renovables de la Ribera, S.L. Pamplona Construction and operation of
wind farms 19,138 1,595 (8)
Bosqalia, S.L. Pamplona Forestry 5,586 1,571 (310)
Errotabidea, S.L. Pamplona Development and 44,839 22,263 1,702

management of rent-
conftrolled housing

Servicios Empresariales Pamplona Management of cooperative 1,005 381 36
Agroindustriales, S.A. services
Rioja Vega, S.A. Viana Production and sale of wine 16,396 9.816 (59)
(Navarre)
Investi Navarra In Est, S.L. Pamplona Real estate development 0 0 0
Rural de Energias Aragonesas, S.A. Zaragoza Generation and sale of 1,307 1.317 (17)
renewable energy
Compahia Edlica de Tierras Altas, S.A. | Soria Construction and operation of 30,397 27,147 3,203
wind farms
lparlat, S.A. Urnieta Production of dairy products 134,092 67,093 5,366
(Guipuzcoa)
lberjalén, S.A. Zaragoza Construction and operation of 5,681 4,076 (125)
wind farms
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The activities, registered offices and key performance indicators of companies

accounted for by the equity method at 31 December 2017 were as follows:

Thousands of euros
Company Head office Line of business Total Equity |Earnings
assets
Renovables de la Ribera, S.L. Pamplona Construction and operation of 604 603 (7)
wind farms
Bodegas Principe de Viana, S.L. Pamplona Production and sale of wine 50,920 30,673 513
Omegageo, S.L. Pamplona Civil engineering and building 2,697 2,118 3
projects
Reivalsa Gestion, S.L Vitoria (Alava) | Provision of administrative 12,369 2,062 374
services to public sector bodies
Bosqalia, S.L. Pamplona Forestry 5913 1,894 (118)
Errotabidea, S.L. Pamplona Development and 47,469 23,287 904
management of rent-
confrolled housing
Servicios Empresariales Agroindustriales, | Pamplona Management of cooperative 834 252 -
S.A. services
Rioja Vega, S.A. Viana Production and sale of wine 15,696 9,917 87
(Navarre)
Investi Navarra In Est, S.L. Pamplona Real estate development 543 - -
Rural de Energias Aragonesas, S.A. Zaragoza Generation and sale of 1,651 1,640 (39)
renewable energy
Harivenasa, S.L. Noain Manufacture and sale of flour 20,849 1,963 457
(Navarre)
Compania Edlica de Tierras Altas, S.A. | Soria Construction and operation of 33,645 29,943 3,205
wind farms
Iparlat, S.A. Urnieta Production of dairy products 140,929 62,971 4,415
(Guipuzcoa)

The total assets, equity and earnings figures shown in the above table are those
of the individual companies, prepared in accordance with the accounting
principles applied by each one, before standardization and harmonization
adjustments for the purposes of consolidation into the financial statements of
Caja Rural de Navarra and subsidiaries.

At the close of 2018 and 2017, all balances included under “Investments in joint
ventures and associates” corresponded to securities not listed for trading on
official markets.
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Movements in this line of the consolidated statement of financial position in
2018 and 2017 were as follows:

Thousands of euros

Balance at 31 December 2016 46,721
Additions 536
Profit or (-) loss of companies accounted for using the equity method 2,414
Retirements -
Transfers -

Balance at 31 December 2017 49,671
Additions 1,490
Profit or (-) loss of companies accounted for using the equity method 3.159
Retirements (4.375)
Transfers

Balance at 31 December 2018 49,945

Based on the policy set out in 2.g) no impairment losses were recorded against
investments in these companies at 31 December 2018 and 2017.
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15. Tangible assets, intangible assets and business combinations

Tangible assets
Movements in “Tangible assets” on the consolidated statement of financial

position in 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

Thousands of euros
Property and equipment

Assigned to Investment
For own use social projects property Total

Cost -

Balance at 31 December 2016 399,051 416 8,513 407,980
Additions 17,401 - 1 17,402
Retfirements and writedowns (6,448) - (1,115) (7.563)

Additions/(refirements) in business combinations
Transfers (1) - 3,493 3,492

Balance at 31 December 2017 410,003 416 10,892 421,311
Additions 12,829 - 3,209 16,038
Retirements and writedowns (1,183) - - (1,183)

Additions/(retirements) in business combinations
7,355 - - 7,355
Transfers - - - -

Balance at 31 December 2018 429,004 416 14,101 443,521

Accumulated depreciation-

Balance at 31 December 2016 193,232 245 2,175 195,652
Provisions 14,071 - 332 14,403
Retirements and writedowns (560) - - (560)

Additions/(retirements) in business combinations
Transfers - - 20 20

Balance at 31 December 2017 206,743 245 2,527 209,515
Provisions 14,282 - 298 14,580
Retirements and writedowns (143) - - (143)

Additions/(retirements) in business combinations
Transfers - - - -
Balance at 31 December 2018 220,882 245 2,825 223,952

Valuation adjustments for impairment -

Balance at 31 December 2016 - - 2,616 2,616
Provisions (Note 35) - - (302) (302)
Additions/(retirements) in business combinations - - - -
Transfers - - - -

Balance at 31 December 2017 - - 2,314 2,314
Provisions (Note 35) - - (302) (302)
Additions/(retirements) in business combinations
Transfers - - - -
Balance at 31 December 2018 - - 2,012 2,012

Property and equipment, net -

Balance at 31 December 2017 203,260 171 6,051 209,482

Balance at 31 December 2018 208,122 171 9.264 217,557
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At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the value of tangible assets acquired under
lease finance agreements totalled EUR 970 thousand and EUR 1,219 thousand,
respectively.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017 the Group had no property and equipment
that was temporarily out of service or had been withdrawn from active use.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017 the Group had no significant outright sale
undertakings relating to tangible assets.

Fully depreciated tangible assets still in use within the Group were worth a
total of EUR 121,949 thousand and EUR 114,928 thousand, respectively, at 31
December 2018 and 2017.

In accordance with Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, the Group re-measured
certain unrestricted items included in “Buildings for own use” on 1 January
2004 (Note 2.i). The Group carries out regular appraisals of its main buildings
to identify potential impairment. Based on the latest available appraisals, the
Directors consider that the fair values of the Bank’s property and equipment do
not differ significantly from their carrying amounts.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill at 31 December 2018 and 2017 totalled EUR 8,297 thousand in both
years, all from Harantico, S.L..

The Parent Company had a 50% direct holding in Harantico, S.L. until 11 July
2014, when it acquired the remaining 50% taking full control. The subsidiary
makes and sells flours. Based on the estimates and forecasts available to the
Parent Company’s Directors, the financial forecasts of the company justify the
goodwill acquired during the takeover.

The cash generating unit (“CGU") that was assigned the goodwill generated
in the business combination leading to the acquisition of Harantico, S.L. assets
(Note 2.y) is regularly tested for impairment, including the portion of goodwill in
its carrying amount. This test is carried out at least annually or whenever there
are indications of impairment.

The fair value of the CGU and the fair value assigned toits assets and liabilities are
based on estimates and assumptions that the Group management considers
most appropriate in the circumstances. However, changes in the valuation
assumptions used could change the result of impairment tests.
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Three key assumptions used in calculating the impairment test sensitively affect
the recoverable value:

* Estimates of cash flow projections by Group Management, based on the
latest available budgets for the next 5 years. The key variables input to the
financial forecasts were: the change in the contribution margin (affected by
forecast business volumes and interest rates) and the development of other
income statement items.

* The sustainable perpetual growth rate extrapolating cash flows beyond the
fifth year (2024) to cover the period beyond budget positions or forecasts. The
Group used a sustainable perpetual growth rate of 1.5% based on inflation
projections.

* The discountrate for future cash flows, whichis taken to be the CGU’s assigned
cost of capital and compirises a risk free rate plus a premium reflecting the
risk inherent to the business being valued (6.54% at 31 December 2018 and
2017).

In determining its assumptions Group Management relied on its projections and
past experience. The values arrived at are consistent with external sources of
information. The present value of distributable cash flows used to derive value in
use is based on Harantico, S.L.’s cost of equity (Ke) to a market participant. They
were determined using the CAPM (Capital Asset Pricing Model) or discounted
cash flow valuations.

In addition, a sensitivity analysis was carried out looking at the key variables in
the valuation, which found no evidence of impairment at 31 December 2018
and 2017. The two assumptions that carry greatest weight and whose volatility
could weigh most in determining the present value of cash flows beyond the
fifth year are the discount rate and the growth rate. If the discount rate applied
to discounted cash flows were to be 5% higher than the management’s
estimates, the Group would still have no need to reduce the carrying amount
of its goodwill. Nor would it have to reduce goodwill if the sustainable perpetual
growth rate applied to discounted cash flows were to be 5% lower than the
management’s estimates.

In making the assumptions used to determine the CGU's EBITDA, the base for
calculating free cash flow, the most conservative scenario was used so that
negative distortions to this line are unlikely. Nevertheless, simulations using
other growth rates and 5% increases or decreases in EBITDA, show no risk of
impairment in 2018 or 2017.
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Intangible assets

Unfil 11 July 2014, the Parent Company directly owned 50% of the share capital
in Harinera del Mar Siglo XXL, S.L.. At that date the Parent Company acquired
the 50% additional stake through a business combination giving them 100% of
the share capital. The subsidiary makes and sells flours.

In the course of this business combination the Group acquired EUR 5,000
thousand of intangible assets. These corresponded to the rights and commercial
relationships in various parts of the country that had previously been contributed
to Harinera del Mar Siglo XXI, S.L. in a 2008 capital increase by the shareholders
from whom the Parent Company acquired the additional 50% in the takeover.

At end-2018 the Group carried out impairment tests on both these intangible
assets acquired in the Harinera del Mar Siglo XXI takeover and the company’s
business by estimating its recoverable amount.

The valuation methodology used to test for impairment was the same as for
the Hardntico, S.L. goodwill, with a discount rate of 6.54% in both years and a
sustainable growth rate of 1.5%.

The Group valued the whole recoverable amount of the company, including
the rights and commercial relations that made up the EUR 5,000 thousand
intfangible assets, using the abovementioned method based on the best
estimates and forecasts available to the Parent Company’s Directors at the
time.

A senisitivity analysis was carried out looking atf the key variables in the valuation,
which found no evidence of impairment at 31 December 2018 and 2017. The
two assumptions that carry greatest weight and whose volatility could weigh
most in determining the present value of cash flows beyond the fifth year are the
discount rate and the growth rate. If the discount rate applied to discounted
cash flows were to be 5% higher than the management’s estimates, the Group
would still have no need to reduce the carrying amount of its goodwill. Nor
would it have to reduce goodwill if the sustainable perpetual growth rate
applied to discounted cash flows were to be 5% lower than the management’s
estimates.

In making the assumptions used to determine the CGU's EBITDA, the base for
calculating free cash flow, the most conservative scenario was used so that
negative distortions to this line are unlikely. Nevertheless, simulations using
other growth rates and 5% increases or decreases in EBITDA, show no risk of
impairment in 2018 or 2017.
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16. Other assets and liabilities

The breakdown of these asset and liability itemsin the accompanying consolidated
statement of financial position at the close of 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Assets:
Inventories relating to non-financial activities 77,634 76,537
Of which: Real estate business 15,083 15,964
Agricultural business 54,504 52,827
Other 8,047 7.746
Transactions in transit 24,392 27,800
Accruals 46 329
Other items 6,706 5,747
108,778 110,413
Liabilities:
Social Welfare Fund 26,579 20,686
Transactions in transit 35,472 57,866
Accruals 16,928 23,687
Other items 15,003 20,923
93,982 123,162

Social Welfare Fund

In accordance with Act 13/1998 on Cooperative Credit Institutions, Act
27/1999 on Cooperatives and the Parent Company’s articles of association,
the Education and Development Fund must consist of at least 10% of free cash
flow, to be used for activities that fulfil one of the following purposes:

a) Training and education of the members and employees of Caja Rural in the
principles and values of the cooperative movement or in specific material relating
to its corporate or labour-related activity and other cooperative activities.

b) Promoting the cooperative model and fostering relationships between
cooperative entities.

c) Cultural, business and welfare initiatives serving the local area or community
in general, initiatives that enhance quality of life, promote community
development and/or protect the environment.

The basic guidelines for application of the Education and Development Fund
are agreed by members at the General Meeting.

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

In pursuit of the Fund’s objectives, the Group may work in conjunction with other
companies and entities, in such cases providing either full or partial funding.

The Education and Development Fund can be neither encumbered nor
garnished and allocations to the Fund must be recognized in the consolidated
statement of financial position separately from all other items, pursuant to the
provisions of the regulations governing the activities of credit institutions.

The definitive allocation to the Education and Development Fund is approved
by the Parent Company’s Governing Board. Once approved, the Fund is
managed by the Marketing Department.

In 2018 and 2017, the Education and Development Fund was used, in
accordance with the basic guidelines agreed by members at the General
Meeting, for the following activities:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017

Consultancy, fraining and promotion of the cooperative business model 1,79 1,84

7 4

Teaching and research 1,13 1,090
5

Sports aid 136 121

Charity work 84 137

Cultural, recreational and other activities 304 282

Economic and social development 654 526

4110 4,000

Tangible assets assighed to the Education and Development Fund at 31 December
2018 and 2017 totalled EUR 171 thousand in both years. (Note 15).

The breakdown by item of the balances assigned to the Parent Company’s Education
and Development Fund at 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017

Application of Education and Development Fund
Maintenance costs incurred in the year 4,110 4,000
Financial income (41) (18)
Applied to property and equipment (1771) (1771)

(13,328

Applied to other investments ) (7,651)
TOTAL (9.430) (3,840)
Amount committed 4,149 4,805
Amount not committed 9.963 9,425
Amount committed for investments 3,037 2,616
TOTAL 17,149 16,844
Education and Development Fund (Social Welfare Fund) 26,579 20,686
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17. Financial liabilities at amortized cost

The breakdown of this balance sheet item at 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as

follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Deposits 9,095,209 8,604,262
Central banks 927,862 931,642
Credit institutions 155,434 148,315
Customers 8,011,913 7,524,305
Debt securities issued 1,653,935 1,657,010
Other financial liabilities 128,684 136,861
Total 10,877,828 10,398,133

Deposits — Central banks

The breakdown of “Deposits — Central banks” in the consolidated statement of
financial position at 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Other central banks 935,000 935,000
Valuation adjustments (7.138) (3.358)

927,862 931,642

Total

In 2017 and 2016 the Bank took part in the liquidity auctions announced by the
ECB in September and December 2016 and March 2017. At 31 December 2018
and 2017, the Bank had various deposits with the ECB totalling EUR 935 million
in both years.

The average interest rate on these deposits in 2018 and 2017 was -0.40% in both
years and interest expense accrued in 2018 and 2017 on financial liabilities in
this portfolio was, respectively, -EUR 3,780 thousand and -EUR 3,272 thousand
(Note 25), which were recognized in “Interest income - Interest income on
liabilities” on the consolidated income statement.
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Deposits — Credit institutions

The breakdown of this consolidated statement of financial position item by
type of deposit and currency of denomination is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017

Type of deposit

Term deposits 148,911 147,750
Repurchase agreements (Note 9) - -
Other accounts 6,500 780
Valuation adjustments 23 (215)
Total 155,434 148,315
Currency

Euro 155,434 148,315
Total 155,434 148,315

A breakdown of this item by residual term to maturity is given in Note 6.

“Term deposits” also included EUR 20,721 thousand at 31 December 2018
corresponding to funds from the Official Credit Institute relating to brokerage
loans (EUR 36,716 thousand at 31 December 2017).

The average interest rate of these securities was -0.27% in 2017 (-0.26% in 2017)
and the accrued interest in 2018 on the financial liabilities included in this
portfolio came to EUR 3,336 thousand (EUR 3,203 thousand in 2017) (Note 26).

Also in 2018, negative interest on some repurchase operation totalling EUR 19
thousand (EUR 518 thousand in 2017) were recognized in “Interest income —
Interest income on liabilities” in the consolidated income statement (Note 25).
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Deposits — Customers

The breakdown of customer deposits by type of deposit, sector of activity, type
of inferest rate and currency of denomination is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Type of deposit
Demand deposits 5,937,404 5,043,059
Term deposits 2,074,250 2,480,160
Reverse repurchase agreements - -
Valuation adjustments 259 1,086
Total 8,011,913 7,524,305
Sector of activity
Spanish public sector 307,844 199,531
Other resident sectors 7,683,226 7,302,718
Non-resident sectors 20,843 22,056
Total 8,011,913 7,524,305
Type of interest rate
Floating 304,508 273,325
Fixed 7,707,405 7,250,980
Total 8,011,913 7,524,305
Currency
Euro 7,984,759 7,475,516
UsS dollar 23,364 40,667
Other currencies 3,790 8,122
Total 8,011,913 7,524,305

The average interest rate applied to these instruments was 0.03% in 2018
(0.07% in 2017). Interest accrued on the financial liabilities included in this
portfolio in 2018 came to EUR 3,566 thousand (versus EUR 6,939 thousand in
2017). (Note 26).

Pursuant to prevailing legislation, term deposits include the liability
corresponding to the securitisation transactions mentioned in Note 10,
amounting to EUR 8,405 thousand at 31 December 2018 (versus EUR 9,618
thousand at 31 December 2017).

A breakdown of this item by residual term to maturity is given in Note 6.

Debt securities issued

In this line of the statement of financial position, the Group recognizes the value
of bonds and other bearer debt securities and promissory notes that are not
subordinated liabilities. This line also includes the portion of compound financial
instruments that is treated as a financial liability.
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The breakdown of this item in the consolidated statement of financial position,

by type of financial liability, is as follows:
Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Promissory notes and other bills - 300
Mortgage covered bonds 1,542,500 1,543,920
Other non-convertible securities 99,798 99,798
Valuation adjustments 11,637 12,992
Total 1,653,935 1,657,010

At 31 December 2017, *Promissory notes and other bills” recognized the amount
corresponding to issues of promissory notes for which the issue prospectus has
been filed with the Official Registry of the Spanish National Securities Market
Commission (CNMV). The balance at 31 December 2017 corresponds to the
eighteenth issue of commercial paper registered on 14 February 2017 with
the C.N.M.V.. Maximum balances of these issues are EUR 100,000 thousand,
extendible to EUR 200,000 thousand.

Promissory notes are issued at a discount, their cash value being determined at
the time of issuance of each note based on the interest rate and maturity date
agreed in the terms of issue.

The details of the “Mortgage covered bonds” item are as follows:

Issue 31/12/2018 | 31/12/2017 lssue date Redemption date Effective interest rate

Issue | — Mortgage covered bonds - 498,120 | 11/06/2013 11/06/2018 2.957%

Issue Ill - Mortgage covered bonds 50,000 50,000 | 07/02/2014 07/02/2029 3.67%

Issue V - Mortgage covered bonds 496,890 496,890 | 16/03/2015 16/03/2022 0.591%

Issue VIl - Mortgage covered bonds 498,910 498,910 | 01/12/2016 01/12/2023 0.657%

Issue VIl - Mortgage covered bonds 496,700 - | 08/05/2018 08/05/2025 0.973% (*)
1,542,500 1,543,920

(*) The Bank contfracted a hedging interest rate swap (IRS), which swaps a fixed rate to a
floating rate benchmarked to 6-month Euribor on a nominal equal to 50% of the VIl issue of
mortgage covered bonds (Note 12).

At 31 December 2018 and 2017 the Bank also held other issues of mortgage
covered bonds, which were retained in their entirety on its books with a debit
balance of EUR 300,000 thousand recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position, as required by regulations on the derecognition of financial
assets and liabilities (Note 2.f).

As CajaRuralde Navarrais anissuer of mortgage covered bonds, in accordance
with Artficle 21 of Royal Decree 716/2009, of 24 April, and Bank of Spain Circular
712010, of 30 November, Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements gives
information on the special accounting register that must be kept by institutions
issuing covered bonds and mortgage bonds.
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The Bank held its second issue of uncovered bonds in 2017, for a total amount
of EUR 100,000 thousand. The bonds bear interest at a floating rate indexed to
the 3-month Euribor, revisable and payable quarterly, plus a spread of 65 basis
points maturing 2022. The issue is recognized under “Other non-convertible
securities”. The issue is guaranteed by the Bank'’s universal asset liability.

The promissory notes, bonds and covered bonds issued have been admitted
for trading on the AIAF fixed-income market.

The average interest rate of these securities was 1.00% in 2018 (1.49% in 2017)
and the accrued interest in 2018 on the financial liabilities included in this
portfolio came to EUR 18,593 thousand (EUR 23,675 thousand in 2017) (Note 26).

Other financial liabilities

All financial liabilities recognized in this line are classified as “Financial liabilities
at amortized cost” and measured accordingly. The balance includes any
payment obligations having the substance of a financial liability that are not
included in other items.

The breakdown of other financial liabilities by type of instrument is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Payment obligations 9,239 44,857
Tax revenue collection accounts 29,852 27,081
Payable for purchases and non-financial services 81,786 56,398
Other items 7.807 8,525
Total 128,684 136,861

“Payment obligations” at 31 December2018 and 2017 includes the commitment
to the Deposit Guarantee Fund, explained in Note 1.j).

Also, at 31 December 2017, “Payment obligations” included a EUR 32,396
thousand payable for the commitment in respect of the newly created fund to
provide financial support that may be needed within the IPS (Note 1.1).

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

18. Provisions

The breakdown of this line of the consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

2018 2017
Pensions and other post-employment benefit obligations (Note 2.s) 1,019 1,001
Other long-term employee benefits - -
Provisions for taxes and other legal confingencies - -
Commitments and guarantees given 8,195 9,919
Other provisions 83,897 82,591
93,111 93,511

The balance recognized under “ Provisions for guarantees given” and “Other
provisions” of the consolidated statement of financial position at the close of
2018 and 2017 and movements in those years were as follows:

Commitments

and guarantees Other

given provisions
At 31 December 2017
Opening balance 10,978 80,500
Additions, including increases in existing provisions 5,673 20,811
(Provisions used) (6,821) (18,720)
(Unused provisions reversed during the year) - -
Increase in discount for passage of time and effect of changes in discount rate - -
Other movements 89 -
Closing balance 92,919 82,591
At 31 December 2018
Closing balance at end of the prior year 92,919 82,591
Effect of the first-fime application of IFRS ¢ (Note 1.c) 125 -
Opening balance 10,044 82,591
Additions, including increases in existing provisions 80 2,378
(Provisions used) (3.171) -
(Unused provisions reversed during the year) - -
Increase in discount for passage of tfime and effect of changes in discount rate - -
Other movements 1,242 (1.072)
Closing balance 8,195 83,897
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“Other provisions” on the consolidated statement of financial position at 31
December 2018, is basically the estimated amount to settle obligations from
litigation and other unquantifiable obligations arising from the Group's activities,
included compensation for “floor clauses”. The Parent Company’s directors
do not expect any additional losses to arise from the resolution of outstanding
cases which would materially impact the consolidated financial statements.

Note 2.1) to the consolidated financial statements shows the detail of movements
in “Pensions and other post-employment benefit obligations” under this item
during 2018 and 2017.
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19. Accumulated other comprehensive income

The breakdown of this line of the statement of financial position at 31 December
2018 and 2017 is as follows:

2018 (*) 2017
Iltems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: 8,928 -
Changes in fair value of equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income 8,928
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: (2,353) 39,109
Changes in fair value of debt instfruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (2,353)
Available-for-sale financial assets 39,109
Debt instruments 41,686
Equity instruments (2,577)
6,575 39,109

(*) See reconciliation between IAS 39 reporting at 31 December 2017 and IFRS 9 reporting at 1
January 2018 (Note 1.c).

“Available-for-sale financial assets” for 2017 includes the net effect of changes

in the fair value of assets classified as available-for-sale that, pursuant to Note
2 above, would normally be classified as part of the Group’s equity. These
changes are recognized in the income statement when the assets giving rise
to them are sold or written down as impaired.

The equity item “Accumulated other comprehensive income — Financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income — Debft instruments” reflects
the net change in the fair value of fixed-income instruments recognized in the
Bank’s equity. Changes are taken to income when the financial assets are sold.

The equity item “Accumulated other comprehensive income — “Financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income — Equity instruments” reflects
the net change in the fair value of equity instruments recognized in the Bank’s
equity. Changes are taken to equity under “Other reserves” on disposal.
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20. Share capital

Capital contributions made to the Parent Company by members in 2018 and
2017, and changes in capital occurring in those years, are shown in the table
below.

Thousands of euros

Balance at 31 December 2014 167,249
Subscriptions 2,422

Redemptions (1,399)
Balance at 31 December 2017 168,272
Subscriptions 2,594

Redemptions (3,486)
Balance at 31 December 2018 167,380

Pursuant to prevailing legislation and the Parent’s articles of association, the
minimum conftribution forindividualsis EUR 60.11, while the minimum contribution
for legal entities is EUR 120.22. Contributions at 31 December 2018 and 2017
were represented by 2,784,565 and 2,799,398 fully paid-up registered shares,
respectively, with a nominal value of EUR 60.11 each. At 31 December 2018
the Bank had 19,256 in own contributions[#] with nominal value of EUR 1,158
thousand.

The Parent Company satisfies its minimum capital requirement of EUR
4,808,096.83, established pursuant to the provisions of the enacting regulations
of Act 13/1989, of 26 May, on Cooperative Credit Institutions.

The remuneratfion that may be paid on both types of capital confributions
is limited to no more than six percentage points above the legal interest
prevailing in the reporting period. The rate of remuneration for contributions
is determined at the Parent Company’'s General Meeting each year, where
members authorise the Governing Board to set the rate of remuneration and
the payment schedule. In 2018 and 2017 remuneration paid to cooperative
members in respect of contributions made came to EUR 1,585 thousand and
EUR 1,963 thousand, respectively.

In accordance with prevailing regulations, the sum of mandatory and voluntary
conftributions must not exceed 2.5% of share capital in the case of individuals
and 20% in the case of legal entities. Legal entities that are not cooperative
entities cannot hold more than 50% of capital. None of the aforementioned
limits had been exceeded at 31 December 2018 and 2017.
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21. Retained earnings and Other reserves

Definition

The balance in the consolidated statement of financial position under “Equity
— Retained earnings” and “Equity — Other reserves” comprises the net amount
of retained profit or loss recognized in income in prior years and appropriated
to equity, as well as the reserves of companies accounted for by the equity
method.

Breakdown

The detail of this item and movements in 2018 and 2017 are as follows:
Thousands of euros

Accumulated
Mandatory
Other reserves or losses
Reserve . Total
reserves | from joint ventures
Fund R
and associates
Balance at 1 January 2017 685,188 33,947 2,790 | 721,925
Appropriation of prior year's profit 64,405 - - 64,405
Other movements - 1,051 4,242 5,293
Balance at 31 December 2017 749,593 34,998 7,032 791,623
Appropriation of prior year's profit 84,829 84,829
Effect of the first-time application of IFRS 9 and
other movements (17,718) (17,718)
Other movements - 6,545 (2,061) 4,484
Balance at 31 December 2018 834,422 23,825 4,971 863,218

Mandatory Reserve Fund

The aim of the Mandatory Reserve Fund is to strengthen and guarantee the
Parent Company’s solvency. In accordance with Act 13/1989, of 26 May 1989, on
Cooperative Credit Institutions, the Mandatory Reserve Fund is established and
maintained by allocating at least 20% of earnings for each year, net of prior years’
accumulated losses, if any. Any gains generated on the disposal of property and
equipment or obtained from sources unrelated to the Bank's specific objectives
must also be assigned to this Fund, unless the Group recognizes an overall loss for
the year.

The Parent Company'’s articles of association establish that 0% of profit for the
year must be allocated to the Mandatory Reserve Fund.
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Other reserves

The breakdown by company of “Other reserves” at 31 December 2018 and
2017 is as follows:

Thousands of euros
Accumulated reserves or
losses from joint ventures
Other reserves and associates
2018 2017 2018 2017
Parent institution, after consolidation adjustments 66,729 69,632 - -
Informes y Gestiones Navarra, S.A. 885 654 - -
Harivasa 2000, S.A. 8,718 11,115 - -
Harinera de Tardienta, S.A. (2,460) (2,497) - -
Promocion Estable del Norte, S.A. (44,494) (42,072) - -
Industrial Tonelera Navarra, S.A. 2,973 2,940 - -
Solera Asistencial, S.L. 3,950 1,314 - -
Bouquet Brands, S.A. (2,741) (2,989) - -
Preventia Sport, S.L. (461) (399) - -
The Spanish Food & Drinks Company, GMBH - (217) - -
Harantico, S.L. 3,702 3.056 - -
Harinera del Mar Siglo XXI, S.L. (6,057) (1.334) - -
Haribericas XXI, S.L. (7.415) (4,406) - -
Harivenasa, S.A. 352 - - -
Tonnellerie de I'Adour, SAS 144 201 - -
Bodegas Principe de Viana, S.L. - 2,007 1,363
Bosqalia, S.L. - (542) (478)
Renovables de la Ribera, S.L. - (19) (16)
Omegageo, S.L. - (342) (106)
Servicios Empresariales Agroindustriales, S.A. - 61 54
Rioja Vega, S.A. - (2.015) (2,036)
Errotabidea, S.L. - 944 994
Reivalsa Gestién, S.L. - - 794
Investi Navarra In Est, S.L. - (5.000) (5,000)
Rural de Energias Aragonesas, S.A. - (142) (30)
Companiia Edlica de Tierras Altas, S.A. - 2,503 4,116
lparlat, S.A. - 7,516 7.377
Total 23,825 34,998 4,971 7,032
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Shareholders’ equity and capital management

In managing its capital the Parent Company has since 1 January 2014 followed
the conceptual definitions set out in the solvency regulations described in the
CRD-IV and CRR (Note 1.h).

The strategic objectives set by the Parent Company’s Management Committee
in relation to capital management are as follows:

* To comply with applicable regulations on minimum capital requirements at
all times, in both its separate and consolidated financial statements.

* To pursue maximum efficiency in capital management, such that, together
with other risk and return variables, capital consumption is considered a key
variable in the analyses of investment decisions taken by the Bank.

To achieve these objectives the Parent Company applies a range of capital
management policies and processes, whose main elements are:

* The Parent Company is responsible for monitoring, control and analysis of the
degree of compliance with capital adequacy regulations.

* Inits strategic and commercial planning the Parent Company considers as a
key factor in its decisions the impact that they will have on the Bank's eligible
capital base and the relationship between capital consumption, profitability
and risk.
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The detail of its eligible capital base and minimumrequirements at 31 December
2018 and 2017 is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Common equity tier 1 capital ratio (CET1) (1) 1,102,701 1,027,036
Eligible capital 167,380 167,114
Eligible reserves 834,974 766,773
Qualifying profit 89,665 84,829
Accumulated other comprehensive income 6,575 39,245
Deductions and fransitional adjustments 4,107 (30,925)
Additional tier 1 capital (Il) - -
Tier 2 capital (lll) - 41,895
Complementary credit risk allowances and provisions - 43,306
Deductions and fransitional adjustments - (1,411)
Total eligible capital (1) + (I) +(Ill) 1,102,701 1,068,931
Total minimum capital requirement (537,949) (516,636)
Surplus (*) 564,752 552,295
Risk-weighted assefts 6,724,360 6,457,954
Capital ratios
Common equity tier 1 ratio (minimum 4.5%) 16.40% 15.90%
Tier 1 ratio (minimum 6%) 16.40% 15.90%
Capital ratio (minimum 8%) (*) 16.40% 16.55%

(*) In line with the communication received by the Bank from Bank of Spain (Note 1.g), as part
of its supervisory review and evaluation process (SREP) the Bank must maintain a total capital
rafio of 11.38% and a CET1 ratio of 7.88%, measured against regulatory phased-in capital. At
31 December 2018 the Bank calculated it had surpluses over these minimums of EUR 337,469
thousand of total capital and EUR 572,821 thousand of CET 1 capital.

In addition to the guarantee that its shareholders’ equity provides to creditors,
the Parent Company is required, pursuant to prevailing regulations, to make
annual contributions to the Deposit Guarantee Fund for Credit Institufions
and the National Resolution Fund. The purpose of these funds is to guarantee
deposits pursuant to the terms established in specific regulations (Note 1.j).
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22. Tax position

All taxes to which the Parent Company is subject are open to inspection in
respect of the last four years, except Income Tax (2014 and later) and VAT (2014
and later). In accordance with tax law, declared taxable income cannot be
considered definitive until it has been inspected by the tax authorities or four
years has elapsed since the return was filed.

Because the tax regulations relating to the activities of financial institutions can
be interpreted in different manners, certain confingent tax liabilities for the
years open to inspection could exist. Although it is not possible to objectively
quantify the tax obligations that could arise as a result of future tax inspections,
the Governing Board is of the opinion that the possibility of significant liabilities
arising in this respect is remote, and that any such liabilities would in any case
be without materialimpact on the financial position of the Group and, thus, the
consolidated annual financial statements.

Reconciliation between accounting and taxable profit

A breakdown of “(Tax expense or (-) income on profit from continuing
operations)” in the 2018 and 2017 consolidated income statement is given
below:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Income tax expense accrued in the year 11,776 (1.527)
Tax expense to subsidiaries 786 550
Positive adjustments to Company income tax 7 -
Other taxes on income 10 9
TOTAL 12,579 (968)

Conforme a lo establecido en la Ley Foral 26/2016, de 28 de diciembre, a
lUnder Navarre Regional Law 26/2016, of 28 December, the Parent Company is
subject to a 25% tax rate for the tax years 2018 and 2017.

Certain deductions for double taxation, reinvestment and fraining expenses
may be applied to these rates. Because tax legislation permits different
freatments for certain transactions, accounting profit differs from taxable profit.

The Parent Company and its subsidiaries do not file consolidated tax returns as
the subsidiaries are public limited companies and cannot therefore be included
in the same tax return as the parent, since it is a cooperative entity. However,
the reconciliation between the Bank's accounting profit and taxable profit for
2018 and 2017 is included below:
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Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Increases Decreases Total Increases | Decreases Total

Consolidated profit before
accrued tax and after mandatory
allocation to the Education and 112,989 94,699
Development Fund
Permanent differences 6,565 (93,455) | (86.890) 9,221 (104,941) | (95,720)

Adjusted accounting profit 26,099 (1,021)
Temporary differences
- Arising in the year 2,494 2,494 20,994 - 20,994
- Arising in prior years 574 (4.127) (3,553) 7,430 (18,778) | (11,348)

Taxable profit for the year 25,040 8,625

In 2018 and 2017, the permanent differences reflect falls in taxable income,
mainly due to mandatory contributions to the Mandatory Reserve Fund (Note
21) and the Social Welfare Fund (Note 26), interest on capital contributions
(Note 4), the transfer of shares in BCE and RGA (Note 1.I) and the sale of Lazora
SlI, S.A. y Reivalsa Gestion, S.L..

Applying the Parent Company’s effective income tax rate for 2018 to adjusted
accounting profit and taxable profit, the amounts of income tax expense
accrued and repayable for the year were EUR 11,776 thousand and EUR 1,299
thousand, respectively.

Independently of the income tax expense recognized in the consolidated
income statement, the Group recognized as “Tax assets and liabilities” tax
reported under “Accumulated other comprehensive income” that relates to
“Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income”, up to
the moment the assets in question are sold, for a total of EUR 2,169 thousand of
assets at 31 December 2018 (compared with EUR 905 thousand and EUR 13,895
thousand, respectively at 31 December 2017).

Tax assets and liabilities

The balance of “Current tax assets” and “Current tax liabilities” shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position includes the assets and
liabilities corresponding to various taxes applicable to the Group, including
VAT, withholdings at source and income tax payments on account, and the
provision for Company income tax relating to profit for each year (Note 2.u.).

The difference between the tax expense accrued and the tax expense payable
is the result of the deferred tax assets and liabilities arising due to temporary
differences.
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The deferred taxes recognized in the consolidated statement of financial
position at 31 December 2018 and 2017 arose from the following sources:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017

Deferred tax assets arising from:

Allocations to pension funds 162 194
Deductions pending application 2,503 6,488
Other unallowable provisions 20,317 20,649
Tax loss carryforwards of the Parent Company 9,125 10,690
Available-for-sale equity instruments 1,145 905
Deferred tax of subsidiaries 5,773 6,004
Debt securities at fair value 1,023 -
Other items 419 404
Total 40,467 45,334
Deferred tax liabilities arising from:

Available-for-sale debt securities - 13,895
Re-measurement of property 3,619 3,619
Deferred tax of subsidiaries 2,213 2,621
Total 5,832 20,135

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the breakdown of income tax deductions and
credits attributable to the Parent Company and pending application in future
years is as follows:

Thousands of euros

Deadline for

Year generated  application 2018 2017
Limited deductions against tax expense 2016-2018 2031-2033 745 1,735
Unlimited deductions against tax expense 2014-2018 2029-2032 1,757 4,753
Tax loss carryforwards 2012 2027 9,126 10,690
11,628 17,178

Unlimited deductions against tax expense are mainly those generated by
reinvestment of the proceeds of security sales.

Deferred tax assets arising from tax loss carryforwards and deductions awaiting
offsetting are recognized when it is probable that a taxable profit against which
they can be applied will be realized in the next 10 years. At 31 December 2018,
the directors of the Bank considered it reasonable to recognize deferred tax
assets of EUR 9,125 thousand in respect of tax loss carryforwards and EUR 2,503
thousand in respect of unused deductions (EUR 10,690 thousand and EUR 6,488
thousand in 2017) as they expect these amounts to be offset against taxable
income generated by the Bank in future years in accordance with the Strategic
Plan and its tax planning.
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23. Guarantees and contingent commitments given

Guarantees given

At the close of 2018 and 2017, the breakdown of guarantees given, defined
as those amounts the Group will have to pay on behalf of third parties if the
parties originally liable default, is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Financial guarantees 83.597 86,251
Guarantees and other sureties 424,527 509,019
Irevocable documentary credits issued 15,037 13,527
Other guarantees given (Notes 7 and 17) 113,512 152,281
Total 636,673 761,078

A significant proportion of these contingent exposures will mature without the
Group being required to make any payment. Accordingly, the total balance
of these commitments cannot be considered a real future need to provide
funding or liquidity to third parties.

“Other guarantees given” includes the Group's formal guarantee to cover
Banco Cooperativo Espanol, S.A.’s fransactions in the interbank market of EUR
111,916 thousand and EUR 152,281 thousand, at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively (Note 7).

Income from guarantee instruments is recognized under “Fee and commission
income” in the consolidated income statement and is calculated by applying
the rate established in the related contract to the nominal amount of the
guarantee.

Contingent commitments given

The breakdown of contingent commitments given at 31 December 2018 and
2017 is as follows:
Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Drawable by third parties 1,005,470 1,005,978
Subscribed but unpaid capital 360 383
Other contingent commitments 109,999 160,973

1,115,829 1,167,334
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This includes irrevocable commitments to provide financing in accordance
with certain previously stipulated conditions and deadlines.

The breakdown by counterparty of amounts drawable by third parties in 2018
and 2017 is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017

Credit institutions 12 46
General governments 68,701 43,501
Other resident sectors

Credit cards 238,526 231,893

Demand accounts 345,627 339,383

Other 352,166 390,630
Non-resident 438 525
Total 1,005,470 1,005,978
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24. Off-balance sheet customer funds

The breakdown of funds from customers managed by the Group off the
balance sheet at the close of 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Companies and investment funds 1,536,453 1,525,497
Pension funds and endowment policies 698,853 681,901
Total 2,235,306 2,207,398

The Group does not manage assets under management or financial mandates
directly. Its activities are limited to marketing and the mandates are then
enfrusted to Banco Cooperativo Espanol, S.A., which signs the portfolio
administration and management contract with the Group’s customers and is
therefore the party liable in their respect.

The breakdown of the net Fee and commission income generated by the
aforementioned activities in 2018 and 2017, which are included in “Sale of non-
banking products” (Note 28), is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Investment companies and funds 12,002 12,552
Pension funds and endowment policies 4,509 4,629
16,511 17,181

The Group also provides securities administration and custody services to its
customers. Commitments assumed by the Group in relation to these services at
31 December 2018 and 2017 came to EUR 542,395 thousand and EUR 594,895
thousand respectively.
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25.Interest income

The breakdown by source of interest income accrued in 2018 and 2017 was as

follows:
Thousands of euros
2018 2017
Financial assets held for trading (Note 8) 17 -
Cash, cash balances at central banks and other
demand deposits (Note 7) - 172
Financial assets not held for frading mandatorily
measured at fair value through profit or loss (Note 11) 555 -
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (*) (Notfe 9) 1,763 36,374
Financial assets at amortized cost (**) (Note 10) 152,415 132,070
Debt securities 30,062 6.405
Loans and advances 122,353 125,665
Credit institutions 274 667
Customers 122,079 124,998
Other assets 1,036 691
Interest income on liabilities 5,180 5,508
Total 160,966 174,815

(*) The 2017 figure reflects interest on available-for-sale financial assets (Note 1.c).

(**) The 2017 figure reflects interest on assets classed as “Loans and receivables”
or "Held-to-maturity investments” (Note 1.c).
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26. Interest expense

The breakdown by source of interest expense accrued in 2018 and 2017 was

as follows:
Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Financial liabilities at amortized cost (Note 17) 25,495 33,817
Deposits 6,902 10,142
Cenftral banks - -
Credit institutions 3.336 3.203
Customers 3.566 6,939
Debt securities 18,593 23,675

Derivatives — hedge accounting, inferest rate risk
(1,697) -
Other liabilities 48 51
Interest expense on assets 1,163 -
Total 25,009 33,868
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27.Dividend income

“Income from equity instruments” corresponds to dividends and other
remuneration on equity instruments paid from the profits of investees after the
date of acquisition of the interest.

The breakdown of this line of the consolidated income statement is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Financial assets held for trading 119 66
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income/Available-for-sale 5,900 9,299
financial assets
Total 6,019 9,365
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28. Fee and commission income

“Fee and commission income” reflects the sum of all fees and commissions
accrued in favour of the Group in the year, except those that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate on financial instruments.

The breakdown of this line of the consolidated income statement is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
For guarantees given 8,304 8,372
For confingent commitments given 1,622 1,586
For exchange of foreign currencies and notes 381 348
For collection and payment services 23,292 22,022
For securities services 5,909 3,420
For sale of non-banking products 29,096 29,407
Other fees and commissions 2,999 3.721
Total 71,603 68,876
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29. Fee and commiission expense

“Fee and commission expense” reflects the sum of all fees and commissions
accrued to the charge of the Group in the year, except those that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate on financial instruments.

The breakdown of this line of the consolidated income statement is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Fees and commissions assigned to other entities and correspondents 4,472 4,124
Fees and commissions paid on securities transactions 289 328
Other fees and commissions 23 -
Total 4,784 4,452
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30. Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of financial assets and
liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net
and Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities held for
trading, net

The breakdown of the balances of these items, by type of instrument and
accounting classification, is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of financial assets and
liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net 2,140 48,200
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income/Available-for-sale financial assets 398 47,904
Financial assets at amortized cost/Loans and receivables 1,742 145
Financial liabilities at amortized cost - 151
Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities held for
frading, net (198) 147
Total 1,942 48,347
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31. Personnel expenses

“Personnel expenses” reflects all remuneration accruing to personnel on the
payroll, whether permanent or temporary, irrespective of their position or
activity, in the course of the year. It includes the current service cost of pension

plans and breaks down as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Wages and salaries 40,597 40,021
Social security contributions 10,238 10,039
Transfers to defined benefits plans (Note 2.1) 197 204
Other personnel expenses 599 438
Personnel expenses of subsidiaries 23,897 21,217
Total 75,528 71,919

The breakdown by professional category and gender of the Group's average

headcount is as follows:

201 2017

Men Women Men Women
Senior managers 213 64 220 61
Executives 143 208 147 204
Administrative staff 137 197 132 192
Messengers 3 - 3 -
Staff of subsidiaries 390 337 346 303
Total 886 806 848 760

Of the total headcount at 31 December 2018, 3 employees of the Parent
Company have a recognized disability of 33% or more. One is a senior
manager and the others are executives. In addition, another 3 employees of

the subsidiaries have the same recognized level of disabillity.
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32. Other operating expenses

The breakdown of this line of the consolidated income statement is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Property and equipment 3,819 3,889
Computer hardware and software 13.904 12,924
Communications 1,651 1,543
Advertising and marketing 3.318 2,683
Legal 4,260 5,946
Staff travel and agency costs 1,383 1,414
Security guards and cash fransportation 1,054 1,020
Subconfracted administrative services 1,511 1,359
Conftributions and taxes 3,320 2,303
Other general expenses 3.120 2,539
Other expenses of subsidiaries 37,466 33,735
Total 74,806 69,355

Fees paid for the audit of the Bank's consolidated financial statements and the
annual financial statements of its subsidiaries amounted to EUR 163 thousand
and EUR 145 thousand to PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. in 2018 and
2017, respectively. PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. also received EUR
18 thousand in fees in 2018 for other non-audit services to the Bank and ifs
subsidiaries. These related to the Customer Asset Protection Report and TLTRO
procedures (in 2017 the Bank paid EUR 15 thousand for other services). In 2018,
firms linked to the PricewaterhouseCoopers brand provided other services for
a tfotal amount of EUR 9 thousand.

In 2018 and 2017, fees for auditing subsidiaries paid to auditors other than the
statutory auditors totalled EUR 9 thousand and EUR 7 thousand, respectively.
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33. Provisions and reversals

The detail of this line of the consolidated income statement is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Provisions for commitments and guarantees given (Note 18): 3.091 1,148
For contingent liabilities - 3.360
For contingent commitments 3.091 (2,212)
Other provisions (Note 18) (2,378) (20,811)
Total 713 (19.663)
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34. Net impairment/reversal of financial assets not measured at fair
value through profit or loss

The detail of this line of the consolidated income statement is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017

Financial assets at amortized cost/Loans and receivables (Note 10) (9.179) (13,628)
Customers (7.614) (13,629)
Debt securities (1,565) 1
Held-to-maturity investments (Note 11) - 53
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

income/Available-for-sale financial assets (Note ?) 735 (495)
Debft securities 735 (495)
Equity instruments - -
Total (8,444) (14,070)
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35. (Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets)
and Gains or (-) losses from non-current assets and disposal
groups held for sale not classified as discontinued operations

The detail of this line of the consolidated income statement is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets) (154) (953)
Tangible assets (Notfe 15) (36) (302)
Intangible assets (Note 15) - -
Other (118) (651)
Gains or (-) losses from non-current assets and disposal groups
held for sale not classified as discontinued operations 1,635 3,444
(Impairment) reversal (Note 13) 2,789 62
Gains or (-) losses on derecognition (1.154) 3.382
Total 1,481 2,492
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36. Contribution to consolidated Profit or (-) loss for the year
attributable to owners of the parent

The breakdown of the conftributions to consolidated profitmade by consolidated
companies is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Parent Company (after consolidation adjustments) 91,018 93,690
Subsidiaries (affer consolidation adjustments) (675) (3.691)
Associates 3.159 2,414
93,502 92,413
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37. Related parties

In addition to the information set forth in Note 5 in relation to remuneration
received, details of the balances included in the consolidated statement of
financial position at 31 December 2018 and 2017 and in the consolidated
income statements for 2018 and 2017 that arise from transactions with related
parties are as follows:

Governing Board
Associates and senior Oiher.relaled
parties (*)
management

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Assets
Loans and advances to customers 14,935 27,048 679 679 4,990 10,606
Liabilities
Customer deposits 14,451 13,194 560 1,502 17,603 19,228
Other
Contingent exposures 3,479 1,633 14 - 94 2,386
Commitments 5,530 4,869 110 48 5,739 10,265
Income
Interest income 229 69 11 2 151 21
Interest expense 4 1 - - 15 4
Income from equity investments 2,059 2,023 - - - -
Fee and commission income 49 - 1 - 17 -

(*) “Other related parties” includes direct family members and companies related
to members of the Governing Board and senior management tfeam in accordance
with the provisions of Circular 4/2004 as amended.

All fransactions with related parties were performed at arm’s length.
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38. Information to be kept by mortgage bond market issuers and
the special accounting register

As stated in Note 17, the Parent Company is an issuer of mortgage covered
bonds (cédulas hipotecarias). It therefore includes below the information
from the special accounting register required by Artficle 21 of Royal Decree
716/2009, of 24 April, in accordance with Bank of Spain Circular 7/2010, to credit
institutions, regulating certain aspects of the mortgage market. The information
is broken down as required by Bank of Spain Circular 5/2011, of 30 November.

Also, inaccordance with Royal Decree 716/2009, of 24 April, developing aspects
of Act 2/1981, of 25 March, on regulation of the mortgage bond market and
other rules governing the mortgage and financial system, the Governing Board
states that, at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group had in place a set of
policies and procedures to guarantee compliance with the rules governing the
mortgage bond market and takes responsibility for their fulfilment.

These policies and procedures include the following points:

* The criteria for accepting risk are based on the borrower’s ability to pay,
estimated using internal scoring and rating models.

* The main mitigants considered are the mortgage collateral, particularly LTV
(loan to value ratio), and the guarantors.

* The models, based on the data input and historical performance of several
variables, are able to estimate the probability of default and assign an initial
credit rating to the application. Each transaction is rated on a scale from
lower to higher risk and assigned a probability of default (PD).

* The models consider different variables quantifying revenue and income, assets
and debt, past payment behaviour, number of other products with the Bank and
personal factors relating to the borrower as well as certain features of the risk.

» Specifically, the current models consider the following variables: personal
characteristics, default history, ability to obtain revenue and income, debt, net
assets, number of other products with the institution, features of the transaction
itself and the collateral or guarantees backing the loan (mitigants).

There are also procedures to check information in the system against input
data, especially income, assets, mortgage collateral based on the apypraisal
value of the property, the purpose of the loan, general data on the customer
and the customer’s behavioural history.

The value of real estate assets to be pledged as mortgage collateral against

risky loans is determined using appraisals that are:

» Carried out by appraisers registered with the Bank of Spain’s Official Appraisal
Registry

* Compliant with Ministerial Order ECO/805/2003, of 27 March
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The value of these assefts is reviewed at different intervals depending on the
status of the loan for which they are pledged as collateral, its amount and its
LTV. Different policies are applied to loans classed as problematic (doubtful,
special watch or foreclosed) and those classed as standard or special mention.

a) Lending

The total nominal value of the portfolio of mortgage loans and advances
outstanding at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was EUR 4,927,175 thousand and
EUR 4,692,738 thousand, respectively, of which EUR 3,349,391 thousand and EUR
3.081,904 thousand, respectively, qualified as eligible (without taking account
of the limits set by Article 12 of the Royal Decree).

Below, we give a breakdown of the nominal values of all the Group’s loans and
advances backed by mortgage collateral, and all loans eligible under current
legislation for inclusion in the calculation of the mortgage bond and mortgage
covered bond issuance ceiling:

Thousands of euros
Nominal value

2018 2017
Total loans (a) 4,927,175 4,692,738
Mortgage securities in issue (b) 41,565 37,287
Of which: loans recognized as assets (c) 32,744 26,764
Mortgage transfer certificates in issue (b) 157,807 177,754
Of which: loans recognized as assets (c) 157,448 177,326
Mortgage loans pledged as security for funds received - -
Loans covering issues of mortgage bonds and mortgage covered bonds 4,727,803 4,477,697
Non-eligible loans (e) 1,378,412 1,395,793
Meet all eligibility requirements except the limit in article 5.1 of RD 716/2009 1,378,412 1,395,793
Other non-eligible loans - -
Eligible loans (f) 3,349,391 3,081,904
Loans used to back issues of mortgage bonds - -
Loans eligible for cover pool of mortgage covered bonds 3,349.391 3,081,904
Non-qualifying portions (g) 81,768 70,518
Qualifying portions 3,267,623 3,011,386

(a) Principal drawn down pending collection of loans secured by mortgages fo the Bank (including
those acquired via mortgage securities and mortgage fransfer certificates), whether or not they
have been derecognized from the statement of financial position and irespective of LTV.

(b) Principal drawn down on loans transferred info mortgage securities or mortgage fransfer
certificates, even if derecognized.

(c) Principal drawn down on transferred loans that have not been derecognized from the
statement of financial position.

(d) Total loans less the sum of all mortgage securities issued, mortgage transfer certificates and
mortgage loans pledged in guarantee of finances received.

1(e) Loans secured by mortgages not transferred fo third parties nor pledged as securi’ra/ for
unds received which do not meet the requirements of Article 3 of Royal Decree 716/2009 to
be eligible as collateral for the issuance of mortgage bonds and mortgage covered bonds.
(f) Loans eligible as collateral for the issuance of mortgage bonds and mortgage covered
bonds under Article 3 of Royal Decree 716/2009 without deducting the limits setin Article 12 of
the Royal Decree.

(g) Amount of eligible loans which, in accordance with the criteria set out in Article 12 of Royal
Decree 716/2009, do not qualify as collateral for issues of mortgage bonds and mortgage
covered bonds.
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Below we present a breakdown of the mortgage loans and advances by different
criteria, at 31 December 2018 and 2017:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Loans covering Loans covering
issues of issues of

mortgage mortgage

bonds and bonds and

mortgage Of which: mortgage Of which:
covered bonds Eligible loans covered bonds Eligible loans

(a) (b) (a) (b)

TOTAL 4,727,803 3,349,391 4,477,697 3,081,904

1 ORIGIN OF LOAN 4,727,803 3,349,391 4,477,697 3,081,904
1.1 Originated by Bank 4,055,538 2,899,373 3,886,447 2,676,030
1.2 Transferred to other entities 672,265 450,018 591,250 405,874
1.3 Other - -

2 CURRENCY OF DENOMINATION 4,727,803 3,349,391 4,477,697 3,081,904
2.1 Euros 4,727,803 3,349,391 4,477,697 3,081,904
2.2 Other currencies - - - -

3 PAYMENT POSITION 4,727,803 3,349,391 4,477,697 3,081,904
3.1 Standard 4,471,455 3,219,607 4,240,526 2,961,457
3.2 Other 256,348 129,784 237171 120,447

4 AVERAGE RESIDUAL TERM 4,727,803 3,349,391 4,477,697 3,081,904
4.1 Up to 10 years 2,037,115 1,454,362 1,960,582 1,358,878
4.2 10 to 20 years 2,681,191 1,887,913 2,503,473 1,713,691
4.3 20 to 30 years 1,909 460 6,141 2,310
4.4 More than 30 years 7,588 6,656 7,501 7.025

5 INTEREST RATE 4,727,803 3,349,391 4,477,697 3,081,904
5.1 Fixed 84,937 45,995 62,074 33,722
5.2 Floating 4,642,866 3,303,396 4,415,623 3,048,182
5.3 Split fixed/floating - - - -

6 BORROWER 4,727,803 3,349,391 4,477,697 3,081,904
6.1 Legal entities and self-employed (business activities) 1,103,421 577,723 1,117,104 564,520
Of which: construction and real estate development
(including land) 76,259 24,089 90,948 26,727
6.2 Other households 3,624,382 2,771,668 3,360,593 2,517,384

7 TYPE OF COLLATERAL 4,727,803 3,349,391 4,477,697 3,081,904
7.1 Assets/buildings 4,685,338 3,335,502 4,421,725 3,063,332

7.1.1 Housing 3,762,922 2,814,276 3,509,466 2,567,059
Of which: State-subsidized housing 673,943 490,723 644,646 458,319
7.1.2 Offices and commercial premises 28,098 8,591 35,682 8,301
7.1.3 Other buildings and constructions 894,318 512,635 876,577 487,972
7.2 Assets/buildings under construction 6,845 4,722 17,515 5,140
7.2.1 Housing 1,757 1,134 16,716 4,341
Of which: State-subsidized housing 475 151 15,317 2,941
7.2.2 Offices and commercial premises 2,110 610 799 799
7.2.3 Other buildings and constructions 2,978 2,978 - -
7.3 Land 35,620 9,167 38,457 13,432
7.3.1 Consolidated urban land 25,554 8,069 34,808 11,102
7.3.2 Other land 10,066 1,098 3,649 2,330

(a) Principal drawn down and pending collection of loans and advances secured by mortgages
fo the Bank, irrespective of their LTV, not fransferred to third parties nor pledged as security for
funds received.

(b) Loans eligible as collateral for the issuance of mortgage bonds and mortgage covered
bonds under Article 3 of Royal Decree 716/2009 without deducting the limits set in Article 12 of
Royal Decree 716/2009.
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The total amount of loans which, in accordance with the criteria set out in
Article 12 of the Royal Decree, qualified to be used as collateral for issues of
mortgage bonds and covered bonds at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was EUR
4,727,803 thousand and EUR 4,477,697 thousand, respectively.

Regarding nominal and present value, the latter being calculated in
accordance with Article 23 of the Royal Decree, the Group had no mortgage
bonds in issue at 31 December 2018 and the nominal value of the mortgage
loans and advances remaining on the loan book that had been used for
mortgage securities or mortgage transfer certificates at 31 December 2018
and 2017 was EUR 199,372 thousand and EUR 215,041 thousand, respectively.

The nominal value of all non-eligible mortgage loans and advances was EUR
1,378,411 thousand and EUR 1,395,793 thousand at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Of this, the amounts classed as non-eligible for failing to comply
with the limits set in Arficle 5.1 of Royal Decree 716/2009 while meeting all other
requirements for eligibility (Arficle 4 of the same standard) were EUR 1,378,411
thousand and EUR 1,395,793 thousand at end-2018 and end-2017, respectively.

The breakdown of the nominal values of mortgage loans and advances eligible to
be used as collateral for mortgage bonds and mortgage covered bonds by LTV
based on their latest appraisal value at 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

At 31 December 2018

Thousands of euros
Loan to value (b)
Between 40% Between 60%

Up to 40% and 60% and 80% Above 80% TOTAL
Loans eligible to cover issues of
mortgage bonds and mortgage
covered bonds (a) 500,121 795,272 1,203,873 850,125 3,349,391
- Onhomes 346,319 624,427 994,539 850,125 2,815,410
- On otherreal property 153,802 170,845 209,334 - 533,981

At 31 December 2017

Thousands of euros

Loan to value (b)
Between 40% Between 60%

Up to 40% and 60% and 80% Above 80% TOTAL
Loans eligible to cover issues of
mortgage bonds and mortgage
covered bonds (a) 525,599 792,591 1,060,856 702,858 3,081,904
- Onhomes 353,973 618,575 895,994 702,858 2,571,400
- On otherreal property 171,626 174,016 164,862 - 510,504

(a) Loans eligible as collateral for the issuance of mortgage bonds and mortgage covered
bonds under Article 3 of Royal Decree 716/2009 without deducting the limits set in its Article 12.

(b) Loan to value is the ratio that comes from dividing the principal loaned for each transaction
by the last available appraisal value of the collateral.
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The change in nominal value of mortgage loans and advances used to cover
the issue of mortgage bonds and mortgage covered bonds (eligible and non-
eligible) in 2018 and 2017, is as follows:

Thousands of euros
Eligible loans (a) Non-eligible loans (b)

1 Opening balance 2017 2,777,168 1,549,728
2 Eliminations in period 342,693 533,481

2.1 Principal past-due paid in cash 297,084 163,566

2.2 Repaid before maturity 9.571 5,773

2.3 Transferred to other entities - -

2.4 Other eliminations 36,038 364,142
3 Additions in the period 647,429 379.546

3.1 Originated by Bank 20,625 275,559

3.2 Transferred from other entities 204 24,648

3.3 Other additions 626,600 79.339
4 Closing balance 2017 3,081,904 1,395,793
1 Opening balance 2018 3,081,204 1,395,793
2 Eliminations in period 389,833 447,193

2.1 Principal past-due paid in cash 335,489 200,766

2.2 Repaid before maturity 8.806 6,564

2.3 Transferred to other entities - -

2.4 Other eliminations 45,538 239,863
3 Additions in the period 657,320 429,811

3.1 Originated by Bank 20,117 265,026

3.2 Transferred from other entities 249 74,689

3.3 Other additions 636,954 90,096
4 Closing balance 2018 3,349,391 1,378,412

(a) Loans eligible as collateral for the issuance of mortgage bonds and mortgage covered
pbonds under Article 3 of Royal Decree 716/2009 without deducting the limits setin Article 12 of
Royal Decree 716/2009.

;b) Loans secured by mortgages not fransferred to third parties nor pledged as securi‘ral for
unds received which do not meet the requirements of Article 3 of Royal Decree 716/2009 to
be eligible as collateral for the issuance of mortgage bonds and mortgage covered bonds.

The amounts of mortgage loans and advances available to be used as
collateral for the issue of mortgage bonds and mortgage covered bonds at 31
December 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Amounts available.  Amounts available.
Nominal value (a) Nominal value (a)
Mortgage loans covering issues of mortgage bonds and mortgage covered bonds 307,288 355,969
Potentially eligible (b) 202,098 199,498
Non-eligible 105,190 156,471

(a) Amounts committed (limit) less amounts drawn of all loans secured by mortgages,
irrespective of their loan to value, not transferred to third parties nor pled%ed as security for
funds received. Amounts available also include those that are only granfed to developers
once homes are sold.

(b) Loans potentially eligible to cover the issue of mor’r?o%e bonds and mortgage covered
bonds in accordance with Arficle 3 of Royal Decree 716/2009.
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At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Parent Company did not consider it
necessary to identify replacement assets for outstanding mortgage covered
bonds as these represented only 55.23% and 60.03% of total eligible assets,
respectively, compared to the maximum 80% allowed by Act 2/1981, of 25
March, on regulation of the mortgage market.

b) Funding

Details of issues of collateralized securities backed by the Group’s portfolio of
mortgage loans and advances at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are given below:

Thousands of euros
2018 2017

Nominal Average residualterm Nominal  Average residual term to
Mortgage backed securities valve to maturity (months) valve maturity (months)

1 Mortgage bonds in issue (a) - -

2 Mortgage covered bonds in issue (a) 1,850,000 1,850,000
Of which: recognized as liabilities 1,550,000 1,550,000
2.1 Debt securities. Issued via public offering - -

2.1.1 Residual term up fo 1 year

2.1.2 Residual term 1 to 2 years

2.1.3 Residual term 2 to 3 years

2.1.4 Residual term 3 to 5 years

2.1.5 Residual term 5 to 10 years

2.1.6 Residual term more than 10 years - -
2.2 Debt securities. Other issues 1,850,000 1,850,000

2.2.1 Residual term up to 1 year - 500,000

2.2.2 Residual term 1 to 2 years - -

2.2.3 Residual term 2 to 3 years - 100,000

2.2.4 Residual term 3 to 5 years 1,000,000 -

2.2.5 Residual term 5 to 10 years 800,000 1,200,000

2.2.6 Residual term more than 10 years 50,000 50,000
2.3 Deposits - -

2.3.1 Residual term up fo 1 year

2.3.2 Residual term 1 to 2 years

2.3.3 Residual term 2 to 3 years

2.3.4 Residual term 3 to 5 years

2.3.5 Residual term 5 to 10 years

2.3.6 Residual term more than 10 years - -

3 Mortgage securities in issue (b) 32,744 158 26,764 170
3.1 Issued via public offering - - -
3.2 Other issues 32,744 158 26,764 170

4 Mortgage transfer certificates in issue (b) 157,448 159 177.326 171
4.1 Issued via public offering - -
4.2 Other issues 157,448 159 177,326 171

(a) Mortgage covered bonds include all those issued by the Bank which have not been
redeemed, even when they are not recognized on the liabilities side of the balance sheet
(because they have been placed with third parties or bought back by the Bank).

(b) Amount of mortgage securities and mortgage transfer certificates issued, only including
mortgage loans and advances recognized as assets (held on the balance sheet).
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39. Agency agreements
The Bank had no “agency agreements” within the meaning of Article 22 of

Royal Decree 1245/1995, of 14 July, either at the 2018 and 2017 balance sheet
close or at any time in the course of those years.
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40. Abandoned balances and deposits

Pursuant to the provisions of Article 18 of Act 33/2003, of 3 November, on the
Property of Government Institutions (Ley del Patrimonio de las Administraciones
PUblicas), the Parent Company has no balances in accounts qualified as
abandoned in accordance with the definition provided in the aforesaid article.
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41. Customer Services Department

The accompanying management report includes a summary of the report
presented to the Parent Company’'s Governing Board on the work performed

by this Department in 2016, as required under Ministry for the Economy Order
ECO/734/2004, of 11 March.
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42.Segment reporting

Business segments

The core business of the Caja Rural de Navarra Group is retail banking. It has no
other material business lines that, pursuant to prevailing regulations, require the
Group to provide information segmented by business lines.

Geographical segments

The Parent Company and all other companies of the Caja Rural de Navarra
Group carry out virtually all their activities in Spain and have a similar customer
base in all parts of the country. It therefore reports all its operations under a
single geographical segment.
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43. Disclosures of average payment period to suppliers. Third

additional provision “Disclosure obligation” of Act 15/2010, of 5
July

As required by the second final provision of Act 31/2014, of 3 December,
amending the third additional provision of Act 15/2010, 5 July, itself amending
Act 3/2004, 29 December, which set out measures to combat bad debt in
commercial fransactions and disclosures to include in the notes to the financial
statements on delayed payments to suppliers in commercial transactions,
calculated in accordance with the Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute
(ICAC) Resolution of 29 January 2016, the details of the Parent Company’s
average supplier payment period in 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

2018 2017
Days
Average supplier payment period 18 30
Ratio of transactions paid 18 30
Ratio of transactions outstanding 40 32

Amount (thousands of euro)
Total payments made 139,328 146,739
Total payments outstanding 1,382 1,497
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CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO

Statement of financial position at 31 December 2018
(Thousands of euro)

ASSETS 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 334,669 328,749
Financial assets held for trading 7,730 7,483
Derivatives 2,643 3,564
Equity instruments 3,727 3,919
Debt securities 1,360 -
Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge - -
Financial assets not held for trading mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss 17,555
Equity instruments -
Debt securities 7.170
Loans and advances 10,385

Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge -

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss - -
Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge - -

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 746,330
Equity instruments 201,953
Debt securities 544,377
Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge -
Available-for-sale financial assets 2,810,983
Equity instruments 166,181
Debt securities 2,644,802
Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge -
Financial assets at amortized cost 10,587,163
Debt securities 2,716,139
Loans and advances 7,871,024
Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge 65,020
Loans and receivables 7,435,731
Debt securities 4,540
Loans and advances 7,431,191

Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge -

Held-to-maturity investments 611,833
Memorandum items: lent or given in guarantee with right of sale or pledge -

Derivatives — hedge accounting 4,774 80

Fair value changes to hedged items in porifolio hedges for interest rate risk - -

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 124,503 117,808
Group companies 90,118 84,863
Associates 34,385 32,945

Tangible assets 98,436 101,736
Property and equipment 93,505 96,762

For own use 93,334 96,591
Assigned to social projects 171 171
Investment property 4,931 4,974
Of which: assigned under operating leases 584 627

Memorandum items: acquired under finance leases - -

Intangible assets - -

Tax assets 37,864 42,063
Current tax assets 3,170 2,733
Deferred tax assets 34,694 39.330

Other assets 31,018 33,669
Other 31,018 33,669

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale 48,212 66,995

TOTAL ASSETS 12,038,254 11,557,130
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CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO

Statement of financial position at 31 December 2018
(Thousands of euro)

LIABILITIES 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Financial liabilities held for trading 769 1,116
Derivatives 769 1,116

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss - -
Memorandum items: subordinated liabilities - -

Financial liabilities at amortized cost 10,748,828 10,262,805
Deposits 9,047,995 8,525,332
Central banks 927,862 931,642
Credit institutions 99,160 60,173
Customers 8,020,973 7,533,517
Debt securities issued 1,653,935 1,657,010
Other financial liabilities 46,898 80,463

Memorandum items: subordinated liabilities - -
Derivatives — hedge accounting 251 -

Fair value changes to hedged items in porifolio hedges for interest rate risk - -

Provisions 90,482 93,511
Pensions and other defined-benefit post-employment obligations 1,019 1,001
Commitments and guarantees given 8,195 9,919
Other provisions 81,268 82,591

Tax liabilities 5,340 18,981
Current tax liabilities 1,721 1,467
Deferred tax liabilities 3,619 17.514

Share capital redeemable on demand - -

Other liabilities 93,990 122,892
Of which: mandatory contributions to Social Welfare Fund 26,579 20,686

Liabilities included in disposal groups held for sale - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,939,660 10,499,305
EQUITY (*)

Shareholders’ equity 1,092,019 1,018,716
Share capital 167,380 168,272
Called up paid capital 167,380 168,272

Memorandum items: uncalled capital
Retained earnings 834,422 749,593
Other reserves 552 17.180
(Treasury shares) - (1,158)
Profit for the year 91,250 86,792
(Interim dividends) (1,585) (1,963)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 6,575 39,109
ltems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 8,928 -
Iltfems that may be reclassified to profit or loss (2,353) 39.109
TOTAL EQUITY 1,098,594 1,057,825
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 12,038,254 11,557,130

Memorandum items: off-balance sheet exposures

Contingent commitments given 1,118,679 1,170,068
Financial guarantees given 83,597 86,251
Other commitments given 556,581 678,613
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CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO

Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2018
(Thousands of euro)

Interest income
(Interest expense)
(Expense on share capital redeemable on demand)

NET INTEREST INCOME

Dividend income

Fee and commission income

(Fee and commission expense)

Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through
profit or loss, net

Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net

Gains or (-) losses on financial assets not held for trading mandatorily measured at fair value through
profit or loss, net

Gains or (-) losses on financial assets or liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, net
Gains or (-) losses from hedge accounting, net

Gains or (-) losses from translation differences, net

Other operating income

(Other operating expenses)

Of which: mandatory contributions to Social Welfare Fund

GROSS INCOME

(Administrative expenses)
(Personnel expenses)
(Other operating expenses)
(Depreciation and amortization)
(Provisions or (-) reversals)
(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or
loss)
(Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income)
(Financial assets at amortized cost)
(Available-for-sale financial assets)
(Loans and receivables)
(Held-to-maturity investments)

INCOME FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net (impairment)/reversal of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets)
(Tangible assets)

(Other)

Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of non-financial assets and investments, net
Of which: investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

Negative goodwill recognized in profit or loss

Gains or (-) losses from non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale not classified as
discontinued operations

PROFIT OR (-) LOSS BEFORE TAX
FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

(Tax expense or (-) income on profit from continuing operations)

PROFIT OR (-) LOSS AFTER TAX
FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Profit or (-) loss after tax from discontinued operations

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2018 2017
161.056 174.754
(22.921) (31.847)
138,135 142,907
11,878 11,388
73,922 70,635
(4,784) (4,452)
2,140 48,200
(198) 147
(2,956)
100 197
939 751
3,882 4,652
(16,147) (57,053)
(9,963) (9,425)
206,911 217,372
(88,971) (86,322)
(51,631) (50,702)
(37.340) (35,620)
(6,343) (6,804)
713 (19,663)
(8,529) (14,195)
735
(9.264)
(495)
(13,753)
53
103,781 90,388
(5,542) (8,966)
(1s) -
(15) -
1,112 (6)
1112 (6)
3,707 3,858
103,043 85,274
(11,793) 1,518
91,250 86,792
91,250 86,792
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CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO

Statement of Recognized Income and Expense for the year ended 31 December 2018
(Thousands of euro)

2018 2017
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 91,250 86,792
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 8,896 (52,064)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 11,506 -

Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans - -

Changes in fair value of equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income, net 11,264
Gains or losses from hedge accounting for equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, net -

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale - -

Other valuation adjustments - -
Changes in fair value of financial liabilities at fair value with changes in income attributable to
changes in credit risk 242

Income tax on items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss - -

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (2,610) (52,064)

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations (effective portion) - -
Valuation gains or (-) losses recognized in equity - -
Reclassified to profit or loss - -
Other reclassifications - -

Currency translation - -
Gains or (-) losses on currency translation recognized in equity - -
Reclassified to profit or loss - -
Other reclassifications - -

Cash flow hedges (effective portion) - -
Valuation gains or (-) losses recognized in equity - -
Reclassified to profit or loss - -
Reclassified to initial carrying amount of hedged items - -
Other reclassifications - -

Available-for-sale financial assets (57,145)
Valuation gains or (-) losses recognized in equity (9.241)
Reclassified to profit or loss (47,904)

Other reclassifications -

Hedging instruments (undesignated) -
Valuation gains or (-) losses recognized in equity -
Reclassified to profit or loss -
Other reclassifications -

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (3.719)
Valuation gains or (-) losses recognized in equity (4.117)

Reclassified to profit or loss 398
Other reclassifications -

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale - -
Valuation gains or (-) losses recognized in equity - -
Reclassified to profit or loss - -
Other reclassifications - -

Income tax on items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 1,109 5,081

TOTAL RECOGNIZED INCOME AND EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR 100,146 34,728
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CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO

Comprehensive statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2018
(Thousands of euro)

At 31 December 2018

Accumulated
() () other
Share  Retained ~ Other  Treasury Profitfor  Inferim comprehensive
Source of change in equity capital earnings reserves  shares theyear dividends income Total

Balance at 01 January 2018 168272 749593 17180 (11%8)  ge792  (1,963) 39,109 1,057,825
Adjustments due fo error correction - ; ; ] ;

Adjustments due to changesin (17,718)
accounting policies . - . - - (414300 (59.48)

Balance at 01 January 2018 168,272 749,593 (538)  (1158)  ge792  (1963)  (2321) 998677

Total recognized income and expenses .
for the year - - - 91,250 - 8,896 100,148

Other changes to equity (892) 84,829 1,090 1158 (86,792) 378 . (229)
Ordinary shares issued 2,594 - - - - 2,59
Preference shares issued -

Other equity instruments issued

Exercise or maturity of other equity
insfruments issued

Debt/equity conversion - -
Capital reduction (3,486) - - - - - - [3.486)
Dividends (or payments to members) - - - (2329 - (1,589) - 3914
Buyback of treasury shares - - - 3,487 - - 3,487
Sale or cancellation of treasury shares - -

Transfers of financial instruments from

equity to liabilities

Transfers of financial instruments from

liabilities to equity - - - - -

Transfers between equity ifems - 84,829 - - [86792) 1963

Increase (-) decrease in equity due fo

business combinations

Share-based payments -
Otherincreases (-) decreases in equity - - 1,090 - - - - 1,090

Of which: discrefionary allocation fo
social projects and funds

Balance at 31 December 2018 167,380 834422 552 - 91250  (1,585) 6,575 1,098,594
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CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO

Comprehensive statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2017
(Thousands of euro)

At 31 December 2017
Accumuloted

() () oher
Share  Retained  Other  Treasury Profitfor  Inferim  comprehensiv
Source of change in equity capital earnings reserves shares the year dividends eincome  Total

Balance at 1 January 2017 167249 685188 17,180 - 60460  (2055) 91,173 1,025,195
Adjustments due o error correction - - - - - - - -
Adjustments due to changes in accounting

policies

Balance at 01 January 2017 (*) 147249 45188 17180 O GhA0  (2055) 9173 1025195

Total recognized income and expenses for .
the year - - - 86792 - (52004) 34728

Other changes to equity 1,023 64,405 = (1,58) (66,460 92 - (209)
Ordinary shares issued 2422 - - - - - 2422
Preference shares issued -

Other equity instruments issued

Exercise or maturity of other equity
instruments issued
Debt/equity conversion - -
Capital reduction (1.399) - - - (1.399)
Dividends (or payments to members) - - - - - (1963 - (1963
Buyback of freasury shares - - - (118) - - - (1188)
Sale or cancellation of freasury shares - - - - -
Transfers of financial instruments from equity
to liabilities
Transfers of financial instruments from
liabilities to equity - - - - -
Transfers between equity items - 64,405 - - [66.460) 2,055
Increase (-) decrease in equity due fo -
business combinations
Share-based payments
Otherincreases [-) decreases in equity

Of which: discretionary allocation fo social

projects and funds

Balance at 31 December 2017 08272 749593 11180 (L1S8)  ggme2  (1963) 39109 1057825
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CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE CREDITO

Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2018
(Thousands of euro)

2018 2017
H) CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 3,987 40,326
Profit for the year 91,250 86,792
Adjustments to obtain cash flows from operating activities 28,698 65,159
Depreciation and amortization 6,343 6,804
Other adjustments 22,355 58,355
Net (increase) decrease in operating assets (487,017) (628,023)
Financial assets held for trading (247) 965
Financial assets not held for trading mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss (17,555)
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss - -
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 2,063,918
Available-for-sale financial assets (116,747)
Financial assets at amortized cost (2,530,335)
Loans and receivables (524,725)
Other operating expenses (2,798) 12,484
Net (increase) decrease in operating liabilities 370,180 515,695
Financial liabilities held for tfrading (347) (85)
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 486,023 552,206
Other operating expenses (115,496) (36,426)
Company income tax receipts (payments) 876 703
1) CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 3,252 39,297
Payments (48,118) (36,013)
Tangible assets (4,079) (6.372)
Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates (12,28¢) (3,515)
Non-current assets and liabilities held for sale (31,753) (12,421)
Held-to-maturity investments (13,705)
Receipts 51,370 75,310
Tangible assets 996 4,761
Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 2,106 20,000
Non-current assets and liabilities held for sale 48,268 16,417
Held-to-maturity investments 34,132
J) CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1.319) (2,097)
Payments (7.400) (4.520)
Dividends (1,585) (1,963)
Subordinated liabilities - -
Cancellation of own equity instruments (3.486) (1,399)
Acquisition of own equity instruments (2,329) (1,158)
Other payments related to financing activities - -
Receipts 6,081 2,423
Subordinated liabilities - -
Issue of own equity instruments 2,594 2,423
Disposal of own equity instruments 3,487 -
Other receipts relating to financing activities - -
K) EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATIONS - -
L) NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (A+B+C+D) 5,920 77,526
M) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT START OF YEAR 328,749 251,223
N) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 334,669 328,749
MEMORANDUM ITEMS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 334,669 328,749
Cash 46,194 45,164
Cash equivalents in central banks - -
Other demand deposits 288,475 283,585

Other financial assets - -
Less: Bank overdrafts repayable on demand - -
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Information at 31 December 2018 of the Caja Rural de Navarra Group provided
in accordance with Act 10/2014 and Directive 2013/36/EU of the European
Parliament and Council.

The information below has been prepared in compliance with article 87 and
the twelfth transitional provision of Act 10/2014, of 26 June, on the regulation,
supervision and solvency of credit institutions, published in the Spanish Official
State Bulletin on 27 June 2014, transposing Article 89 of Directive 2013/36/
EU of the European Parliament and of the Council, of 26 June 2013, on
access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of
credit institutions and investment firms, amending Directive 2002/87/EC and
repealing Directives 2006/48/EC and 2006/49/EC (“CRD IV").

CRD IV requires credit institutions to file with the Bank of Spain and publish
an annual country-by-country breakdown of the following information on a
consolidated basis

a) Name, nature and geographical location of activities.
b) Turnover.

c) Number of employees on a full time equivalent basis.
d) Profit or loss before tax.

e) Tax on profit or loss.

f) Public subsidies received.

Detailed information on these points is set out below:

a)Name, nature and geographical location of activities: Caja Rural de
Navarra (the “Bank”), with registered office in Pamplona (Navarre), first
opened for business on 23 January 1946. The Bank's articles of association
state that its activity is national and its corporate purpose is to meet the
financial needs of its members and third-parties by carrying on the activities
typical of a credit institution. The Bank may therefore engage in all kinds of
lending, deposit and service activities in which other credit institutions are
permitted to engage, prioritizing the financial needs of its members in the
exercise of such activities. Caja Rural de Navarra is the Parent Company
of a group of investees that together make up Caja Rural de Navarra and
Subsidiaries (the “Group”). The entities making up the Group carry out a
range of activifies.

b) Turnover: EUR 276,758 thousand. For the purposes of this report, turnover is
taken to be the gross income reported in the 2018 consolidated income
statement.
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c) Number of employees on a full time equivalent basis: 764 in the Caja Rural
de Navarra parent company and 749 in its non-financial subsidiaries. FTE
employee data was based on the headcount at each entity at end-2018.

d) Profit or loss before tax: EUR 106,081 thousand. Return on consolidated assets
was 0.76% at 31 December 2018.

e) Tax on profit or loss: EUR 12,579 thousand

f) Public subsidies received: The amount of public subsidies received by the
Group in 2018 was EUR 1,068 thousand, all of which was paid to non-financial
subsidiaries.
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CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT
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INTRODUCTION

Throughout 2018 the tone of activity on global financial markets was heavily
conditioned by a range of economic and geo-political uncertainties,
ranging from US/China trade tensions to a potential Brexit deal in Europe. All
these factors impacted capital markets which in turn hampered the global,
European and Spanish economies, affecting both 2018 performances and
2019 forecasts. Prices of the vast majority of financial assets worldwide ended
the year down. The modest slowdown in the world economy was complicated
by some potentially highly destabilizing factors such as rising protectionism and
frade disputes, the ascent of populist political parties, Brexit negotiations, falling
commodity prices, violent bouts of monetary crisis in emerging markets such as
Turkey and Argentina and swelling public and private debt worldwide.

Overthe year, the maininternational bodies downgraded their annual estimates
for global growth, most recently the OECD in November which trimmed 4 tenths
of a point from its May forecast to 3.5%. The euro zone economy was one of
the big disappointments, with growth dipping below 2% after unexpectedly
weak performances by the German and Italian economies in H2. More than
a decade on from the outbreak of the global financial crisis the monetary
authorities for the world's leading economic zones are still very active although
the divergence between Europe and the US continued in 2018. The Fed stuck to
an openly restrictive tone and put through four 0.25 point rate hikes in the year,
most recently in December to 2.50%. The European Central Bank (ECB) started
to row back its expansionary policy and, although benchmark rates remain
at zero, purchases of public and private debt have been gradually reduced
since January to vanish by end-December. As from the beginning of 2019, the
bank will only be reinvesting the proceeds of maturing debt. Expectations of an
initial ECB rate hike were repeatedly pushed back until at end-2018 they were
no longer expected before 2020.

In Spain, the economy entered a more mature phase of the cycle in 2018,
as expected, reflecting the gradual diminution of favourable tailwinds and
the impact of specific risk factors, notably the slowdown in the global and
European economies and crisis in some emerging economies. Two drivers of
the Spanish economy sputtered: consumption, undermined by the gradual
erosion of pent-up demand and other factors, and exports, suffering knock-
on effects from less dynamic European and emerging markets. On this point,
the sharp decline in the oil price over the last two months is good news for
the Spanish economy, cutting energy bills and making imports cheaper. As
is the fact that the expected economic slowdown in Europe and instability
around the euro zone's struggles with the finances of major member states
like Italy, are extending the euro’s slide and so structurally boosting the intense
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and dominant export business of the principal Spanish companies, most of
which are listed. The Bank of Spain, European Commission and OECD have alll
reduced their estimates and by the end of 2018 were forecasting GDP growth
of 2.6% in 2018 and 2.2% in 2019. By component, consumption and exports
were downgraded but investment and consfruction estimates were raised as
were those for capital goods and intangibles.

The world’s leading stock market indices ended 2018 with substantial
accumulatedlosses, oscillating between -9.1% and -10.7%, following sharp gains
of near 20% in the prior year. The sharpest falls in stock prices were concentrated
on December. European and Spanish stock markets lost more than the global
average. The IBEX 35, Spain’s leading index, fell 15% and the pan-European
EuroStoxx50 14.3%.

In summary, Spain’s macro-economic and corporate environment was mainly
determined in 2018 by the following poinfs:

» Cooling expectations for national and international growth with a switch in
consensus opinion during Q4 towards a less positive short- and medium-term
outlook.

e The US brought forward the timing of the change in monetary policy cycle.
Europe is expecting the same in 2019 with weakened growth fundamentals.

* The euro slipped versus the dollar. Oil prices rose steadily year-long only to fall
sharply by near 35% in the final quarter. Spain’s risk premium rose 80% in the
last 9 months.

* In Europe, weak public revenues and spending promises drove politicians
to make near impossible and unwise commitments: the euro and welfare
policies remain under pressure amid growing migratory pressures.

* After the Commission rejected the Italion budget, triggering a face-off
between Rome and Europe, downgraded growth forecasts and political
instability are also feeding through to Spain via the difficulties in getting the
budget through.

* Listed companies defied the uncertainties with their earnings and improved
financial strength.

These points will mostly continue to apply in 2019, which means that the macro
uncertainty is unlikely to disappear, although forecasts seem to be moving
increasingly foward a central scenario of economic slowdown without tipping
into recession.
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2018 FINANCIAL YEAR

GENERAL SECTOR

The key points affecting the financial sector as a whole during 2018 were as
follows:

* Short term interest rates remained negative after the expected interest rate
rise failed to materialise.

* Net interest income in the sector confinued to be squeezed by negative
interest rates and their impact on the profitability of assets.

* NPL ratios improved.

* Asset quality improved, reducing the need for contingent provisions against
customer insolvencies.

* Loans and advances outstanding in the financial system fell for another year.

» Digitization continues to progress, both with customers and within financial
institutions, which, coupled with a new regulatory framework, is creating a
fast-changing competitive environment.

In this context, we have to work hard, both on dynamic marketing and internal
management, to achieve the Bank’s targets.

The performance of the Bank's key variables in 2018 is set out below:

PROFIT:

Caja Rural de Navarra Group posted consolidated profit of EUR 93.5 million, a
1.2% increase on the previous year's profit.

Continuing its long-standing strategy of prudence and strengthening solvency,
the Bank allocated nearly all its profit (EUR 91.9 million) to increase reserves,
strengthening its capital and ability to grow in the future.

SOLVENCY:

The Bank’s consolidated equity totalled EUR 1,123 million, 7.0% more than the
previous year.

Caja Rural de Navarra’s solvency measured by its Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1)
ratio was 16.4%, among the best in the Spanish financial sector.
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INCOME STATEMENT:
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 2018 2017 Change % 2018/2017
(millions of euro)
Net interest income 136.0 140.9 -3.5%
Gross income 276.8 278.7 -0.7%
Profit for the year 93.5 92.4 +1.2%

The Bank's asset quality and low NPL rate meant a lower need for provisioning
for insolvencies and writedowns on the loan book. This helped mitigate the
squeeze on margins from ordinary banking activities due to negative interest
rates and their impact on asset profitability.

Another significant factor in these results was the earnings contribution made
by businesses including Insurance, Investment Funds, Securities and Private
Banking, where the Bank is consolidating its position as a leading competitorin
the market.

TURNOVER:

Customer deposits

Private sector customer funds under management on the consolidated
balance sheet rose by 6.5% in 2018 to EUR 8,012 million at year-end.

Available figures show that the overall Spanish financial sector grew this measure
by 1.6% in 2018, which means Caja Rural de Navarra outperformed the market
by nearly 5 percentage poinfs.

In Navarre, the Bank’s market share in this item was more than 29%.

The Bank also maintained the balance of its loan-to-deposit ratio (new loans to
customers vs. deposits made by customers), which stood at 97% (similar to the 97.1%
achieved in the previous year), underlining the stability of its recurrent business.

Other savings products:

Despite the negative impact of revaluations due to interest rate movements,
Caja Rural de Navarra grew funds managed in Investment Funds by 0.72%. The
Bank is achieving a high degree of specialisation in this product class, reflected
in a wide range of products, marketed through an advisory model that adds
considerable value for the customer. This has been driven by the work of Bank
employees, the vast majority of whom have obtained external qualifications
enabling them to advise customers.

In Pension Plans and similar products, Caja Rural de Navarra increased assets
under management by 2.5% from the prior year.
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Loans And Advances:

Loans and advances to customers outstanding at the Bank totalled EUR 7,789
million, 6.2% more than the previous year. This is very positive progress in what
was yet another year of shrinking loan books for the overall Spanish financial
sector. Data available to November shows total loans outstanding in the industry
fell by 3.3% in 2018.

This means that, like last year, the Bank grew its loans book by 9.8 percentage
points more than the market. A performance that underlines the Bank’s
commitment to regional economic and social development and its willingness
to provide the finance required to individuals, companies and institutions. On
this point, note that 40% of all mortgages granted in Navarre in 2018 were
managed and granted by Caja Rural de Navarra.

NON-PERFORMING LOANS:

The Bank's NPL rate at end-2018 was 1.8%, well below the 6.03% average for the
Spanish financial system based on data available at November.

Caja Rural de Navarra also has substantial provisions for possible future doubtful
loans. The coverage rate of doubtful loans is 100.9%, one of the highest in the
sector.

RATING:

Caja Rural de Navarra is rated by Fitch and Moody'’s, and is one of only four
institutions whose rating by both agencies has remained in the investment
grade band (the others are Banco Santander, BBVA and Caixabank).

The Bank’s ratings were again upgraded during the year and in December
2018 stood at: Baa2 by Moody's and BBB+ by Fitch, both with stable outlook.

OTHER FIGURES:

1.- Caja Rural de Navarra is based on a local model of banking, that is close
to people, accessible and has an in-depth knowledge of the local community
in which it operates. Its dedication to this business model is reflected in the
following figures:

¢ Caja Rural de Navarra has 252 branches disfributed as follows: Navarre
139, Guipuzcoa 37, Vizcaya 35, Alava 17 and La Rioja 24. It opened 3 new
branches in 2018 and another is planned for 2019, with no closures.
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* At end-2018 the number of employees was 965.

* Asin the previous year, in 2018 a total of 34,130 new customers began financial
operations with Caja Rural de Navarra, of which 3,560 were legal entities, the
vast majority companies.

* In the retail customers segment, 1 in 4 people in Navarre now collect their
pay or pension through Caja Rural de Navarra, which entitles them to major
benefits from our loyalty programme.

* On young customers, Caja Rural de Navarra is a close collaborator in the
Government of Navarre's Carné Joven scheme, having distributed a total
of 42,500 of these young person’s cards, 56.5% of all Carnés Joven issued in
Navarre.

2.- INSURANCE is one of the Bank’s key strategic objectives because of its
major contribution to margins. The Bank is now an established benchmark in
the bankassurance business (home, life, casualty, etc.), and is building a strong
presence in other specialist advisory products and services, credit insurance
being a clear example.

Also, compliance with the training and organisational requirements imposed
by sector regulations (now enhanced by the Insurance Distribution Act) means
that the Bank has a highly specialised and trained human team for proper
management of sales and post-sales of insurance products.

3.- Another strategic objective for the Bank concerns the areas of INVESTMENT
FUNDS, SECURITIES AND PRIVATE BANKING with the aim of improving the customer
offering. In 2018 there was a substantial increase in its Advisory and Wealth
Management Service.

4.- Regarding DIGITIZATION of the Bank and customer relations, in 2018 58%
of transactions by Bank customers were done online and 40% at branches
(compared to 51% the previous year).

The Bank’s expectations for 2019 envisage a rise in productivity, thanks to:

» Refocusing the Bank’s retail business on advisory and value-added relationships
with its customers, with special attention on Insurance, Investment Funds,
Securities and Private Banking

» Strengthening the Bank's solvency

* Productivity improvements, led by developing the Bank’s digitization both
internally and externally in its fransactional relationships with customers

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

SUMMARY OF THE ANNUAL REPORT OF THE CUSTOMER SERVICES
DEPARTMENT

In accordance with Article 17.2 of Ministerial Order ECO/734/2004, of 11 March,
on the Customer Services Department of Financial Institutions, a summary of
the Department’s activities in 2018 is presented below.

The Customer Service Department is there to attend to and resolve complaints
and claims by customers and users of the Bank's financial services where these
are grounded in legally recognized rights and interests derived from contracts,
transparency regulations, customer protection rules or good financial usage
and practice.

Summary of the department’s activity in 2018.

We ended 2018 with a fallin new complaints and claims received. This reflected
the lack of unity in the various rulings handed down on mortgage-contract
clauses in 2018, which resulted in a substantial reduction in contacts related to
this issue.

As in previous years, we take the opportunity to highlight the fundamental
issues affecting our department which are clearly reflected in the number
of complaints and claims received by the Customer Services Department:
an ongoing sensitivity to and irritation with banks in general that runs through
society and customers, easy access to new channels for filing complaints and
claims, and huge advertising and media pressure from lawyers and consumer
groups, at national and regional level, encouraging people to claim.

Given these prevailing social perceptions, today it is more important than ever
to maintain the high quality standards that have always marked out Caja Rural
de Navarra. To do this, and aware that most financial institutions offer rather
similar products and prices, we have to make sure that Service Quality and
proximity to customers are differentiating factors and, probably, the key identity
markers for the Bank. By offering customers good service, proximity, satisfaction
and empathy we can secure their trust and continued custom.
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In 2018, the Customer Services Department was contacted by 2,433 customers
with a total of 1,921 complaints, claims or suggestions. This represents a 65.95%
fall compared to 2017. These contacts are broken down by type below:

DISTRIBUTION BY TYPE

Type 2018 2017
Complaint 183 203
Claim 1,606 5,334
Suggestion 5 7
Request 124 98
Congratulations 3 0
Total 1,921 5,642

By Autonomous Region, they broke down as follows:

DISTRIBUTION BY REGION
Autonomous Community 2018
Navarre 1,007
Basque Country 754
La Rioja 160
Total 1,921

By subject matter the 5,642 complaints and claims broke down as follows:

DISTRIBUTION BY SUBJECT

Subject 2018
Assets — Loans and mortgages 1,397
Assets — Other loans and accounts 29
Assets — Other 0
Liabilities — Current accounts 126
Liabilities — Other 4
Other loans — Cards, ATMs, POSs 95
Other loans — Other 1
Services — Direct debit 9
Services — Transfers 36
Services — Bills and cheques 3
Services — Other 19
Investments — Funds 3
Investments — Other investment services 11
Insurance and plans — Life 9
Insurance and plans — Property & Casualty 0
Insurance and plans — Pensions 3
Insurance and plans — Other insurance 14
Miscellaneous 164
Total 1,921
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In 2018, claims for “floor clauses” were for the first time handled by the official
Control and Monitoring Body set up in accordance with Royal Decree Act
1/2017 and were therefore not included in the statistics reported. Even so, as the
table shows, in 2018 the most complained about issue was clauses in mortgage
contracts, mainly clauses allocating administration costs, with a total of 1,169
received, 60.85% of all claims. Many of these also referred to other clauses,
such as those dealing with origination fees and late-payment interest.

Of the 1,921 contacts received, 424 were settled in favour of the customer, 897
were dismissed and 600 were not admitted for consideration.

Also, 31 claims were passed up to the Bank of Spain’s Market Conduct and
Claims Department. Of these, 13 related to mortgage administration costs.

The official response times were amended, following publication of Act
2/2017 of 2 November, incorporating into Spanish Law Directive 2013/11/EU
of the European Parliament and Council, on alternative dispute resolution for
consumer disputes, and are currently as follows:

e Two months for non-consumers.
¢ One month for consumers.

* 15 working days for complaints and/or claims regarding issues regulated by
Titles Il and Il of Royal Decree-Act 19/2018, of 23 November, on Payment
services and urgent measures in financial matters.

The annual average response time of the Customer Services Department was
14 days, well below the 33 days average for 2017. This reflected the efforts
made by the Department to comply with the new regulations in force.

Every sixmonths the Bank of Spainrequires a detailed report on complaintsreceived
by the Customer Service Department over the period. We therefore continue to
stress that as far as possible we should manage complaints effectively at branch
level, to avoid complaints being passed up to this department and damaging the
Bank’s image and perceived quality of service in the eyes of the regulator. Also,
following changes made to response fimes and with a view to meeting them, it
has become more essential than ever to file documents as soon as possible.

Every four months the head of the Customer Services Department, acting as
Secretary, convenes the Quality Committee for a detailed presentation of the
complaints and claims received over the period. He/she comments particularly
on the most numerous or material grounds for complaint in order to highlight
the different criteria applied to resolve them, identify possible future events
which might affect the Bank, ensure each area of the Bank represented on the
Committee takes due note and adopt appropriate preventative orimprovement
measures in the departments and products that were complained about.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks to which the Group is exposed in its transactions in financial
instruments are detailed in Note 6. In addition, Notes 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17
include information on the various portfolios of financial instruments.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES

The Group engaged in no research and development activities in 2018.

AVERAGE SUPPLIER PAYMENT PERIOD

Payments to suppliersin 2018 were made in an average of 20 days, below the 60-day
legal term required by Act 15/2010, of 5 July, on measures to combat bad debt in
commercial fransactions, amended by Act 31/2014, of 3 December, itself amending
the Capital Companies Act on the improvement of corporate governance. The
average payment period was calculated using the method set out in this law.

OUTLOOK FOR 2019

Financial year 2019 is covered by the 2016-2019 Strategic Plan which lays out
the general strategic lines of action to be applied over these years. The Plan is
constantly reviewed to monitor progress and will serve as a blueprint for annual
planning over the period.

Forecasts for 2019 are for a continuation of the improving trend in profitability and
a strengthening of the Bank’s solvency, coupled with a stronger market presence
measured by its main business metrics: funds from customers, loans and advances,
customer numbers, etc. That said, economic and regulatory uncertainties and
doubts about the financial sector itself may have a substantial impact this year, in
addition to the Bank’s own efforts, on whether these forecasts are achieved.

ANNUAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT AND CSR REPORT AND
NON-FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018

In accordance with regulations in force, we annex to the Consolidated
Management Report the Annual Corporate Governance report of Caja Rural
de Navarra.

Act 11/2018, of 28 December, on non-financial information and diversity,
regulates the disclosure of informationin these two areas. Caja Ruralde Navarra,
as a public interest entity, has also published Non-Financial Statements for the
Caja Rural de Navarra Group, in compliance with its obligations under the
regulation. These were published alongside the Corporate Social Responsibility
Report (CSR Report) in accordance with international standards.
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ANNUAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT BY OTHER INSTITUTIONS — NOT
CAJAS DE AHORROS OR STATE OR PUBLICLY OWNED BUSINESSES — THAT ISSUE
SECURITIES TRADED ON OFFICIAL MARKETS

ISSUER INFORMATION

DATE OF YEAR END: 31/12/2018
C.LF.: F-31021611
Company name: Caja Rural de Navarra S. Coop. de Crédito

Registered office: Plaza de los Fueros, 1. 31.003 - Pamplona (Navarra)

A.- OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

A.1.- Give details of the owners of significant holdings in the company at the
close of the year:

Name or company name of the shareholder or other owners % of share capital

No data

A.2.- Indicate, as appropriate, any relationships of a family, commercial,
contractual or corporate nature existing between the owners of significant
holdings, insofar as they are known to the company, unless they have scant
relevance or arise from the ordinary course of business:

Related-party names or company names Type of relationship Brief description
No data

A.3.- Indicate, as appropriate, any relationships of a commercial, contractual
or corporate nature existing between the owners of significant holdings and the
company, unless they have scant relevance or arise from the ordinary course
of business:

Related-party names or company names Type of relationship Brief description
No data

A.4.- Indicate if there is any restriction (statutory, legislative or of any other kind)
on the transfer of securities and/or any restrictions on voting rights. Specifically,
indicate any type of restriction that may obstruct the takeover of the company
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through the acquisition of its shares in the market and any systems of prior
authorisation or disclosure of acquisitions or transfers of the company’s securities,
imposed by sector standards:

YES X

NO

Description of the restrictions

Rights and obligations of new members: Members’ rights and obligations start on
the day after the agreement of the Governing Board or General Meeting takes
definitive effect pursuant to article of association 10. Members must remain in
the Institution for at least five years. The rights and obligations of members are
set out in articles of association 11 and 12.

Loss of membership: Articles of association 14, 15 and 16 list the grounds on
which a member may lose their membership and the financial consequences
this will entail.

Misconduct and penalties: Article 17 lists the actions defined as minor, severe
and gross misconduct and the penaltiesimposed, which may involve suspension
of membership rights. Availability of members’ contributions

Arficle 18 describes the composition of the share capital and, among other
matters, sets the maximum ceiling on share capital that can be held by any
one member at 20% for a legal entity and 2.5% for an individual.

Arficle 19 states that redemption of contributions to the share capital can be
refused by the Governing Board at its entire discretion.

Article 22 specifies the cases in which contributions can be transferred. Transfer
is condifional on the Governing Board's approval.

Reduction of Share Capital: Under article of association 23, any reduction in
the minimum share capital set by article 18 requires the consent of the General
Meeting. If the reduction goes beyond the minimum requirement per member
official authorization is also needed. Contributions shall not be repaid if there is
insufficient coverage as measured by Share Capital, Reserves, Solvency Ratio,
or any other measures applicable now or in the future.

Voting rights: Arficle 39 defines the votes to which each member is entitled in
proportion to their contribution to the share capital. The treatment of conflicts
of interest is described in article 48.
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B.- GENERAL MEETING OR EQUIVALENT BODY

B.1.- List the quorums for convening general assemblies established in the
articles of association. Describe how these differ from the system of minimum
quorums established in Spanish Capital Companies Act or other applicable
legislation.

For general assemblies to be validly convened, at least three-quarters of the
Preparatory Meetings must first have taken place, as established in the articles
of association. For assemblies to be duly convened on first call, no less than
half of the representatives elected in these Preparatory Meetings must be
present. On second call, the presence of 40% of the elected representatives
and corporate officers is sufficient.

All of which complies with the regulations in force (Royal Decree 84/1993 of 22
January, Regulations governing Credit Cooperative Institutions) and Article 38
of the Bank’s articles of association.

B.2.- Explain the rules for adopting corporate resolutions. Describe how they
differ from the system of minimum quorums established in Spanish Capital
Companies Act, or other applicable legislation.

Except where regulations in force explicitly require otherwise, the General
Meeting adopts resolutions by simple majority of the valid votes cast by those
attending, not including spoilt ballots and abstentions. A maijority of two-
thirds of the votes present or represented is necessary for the adoption of
resolutions modifying the articles of association or relating to a merger, spin-
off, transformation, liquidation or global assignment of the Institution’s assets
and liabilities, even when these do not involve contributions to share capital
and members of the transferring institution do not become members of the
acquiring institution by virtue of the transfer, and in any other circumstances
provided for by Act notably including the issue of bonds or other securities. The
same enhanced majority is also required to agree the removal or revocation of
appointment of members of the Governing Board and to adopt any resolutions
relating to asset, financial, organizational or operational changes at the
Cooperative Credit Institution where such changes are of an essential nature.

Amendments are considered to be essential when they affect at least twenty-
five per cent of the Bank’s total assets. All of which complies with the regulations
in force (Royal Decree 84/1993 of 22 January, Regulations governing Credit
Cooperative Institutions) and Article 40 of the Bank’s articles of association.

The resolutions adopted by the Governing Board will be subject to the Bank’s
article of association 47.
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B.3.- Briefly indicate the resolutions adopted by shareholders at the general
assemblies held in the reporting year and the percentage of votes with which
each resolution was adopted.

The agenda for the Bank’s General Meeting was as follows:

1.- Appointment of two member-controllers to draw up and validate the list of
aftendees.

2.- Appointment of two member-controllers to approve the minutes for the
Ordinary General Meeting.

3.- Report on the convocation and staging of the Preparatory Meetings.

4.- Election, appointment and acceptance of positions on the Governing
Board.

5.- Reading and approval, where appropriate, of the annual financial
statements (statement of financial position, income statement, statement
of recognized income and expense, statement of changes in equity,
cash flow statement and notes to the financial statements), proposal for
the calculation and appropriation of net surplus for the year, proposal for
setting the basic policy for application of the Education and Development
Fund, and Management Report for 2017 of Caja Rural de Navarra, Sdad.
Coop. de Crédito and Subsidiaries making up the Caja Rural de Navarrag,
Sdad. Coop. de Crédito Group.

6.- Ratification of membership of an institutional protection scheme in
accordance with Arficle 113.7 of Regulation (EU) 575/2013 as part of the
Spanish Association of Cajas Rurales.

7.- Reading of the opinion issued by the auditors.

8.- Proposal for the company that is to audit the annual financial statements
and the management report for 2018.

9.- Proposal to authorise the Governing Board to issue securities, shares and
other finance vehicles.

10.- Various matters
11.- Any other business
All agenda items were unanimously approved.

B.4.- Indicate if at the general assemblies or equivalent bodies during the year
any agenda item was rejected by shareholders.

This did not occur.
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B.5.- Indicate the URL and means of accessing corporate governance content
on your website.

Caja Rural de Navarra’s web address is: www.cajaruraldenavarra.com

The corporate governance content on the website is accessed via the following
links: https://www.cajaruraldenavarra.com/cms/estatico/rvia/navarra/ruralvia/
es/interface/contenido_pie/Tablon_de_anuncios/pdf_tablon_anuncios/
Corporate-Governance-Report.pdf

B.6. State whether the various syndicates of holders of securities issued by the
company, if any, have met and, if so, the purpose of the meetings held in the
reporting year and the main resolutions adopted.

N/A
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C.- MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY

C.1.- Board of Directors

C.1.1.- Detail the maximum and minimum number of directors or members of
the governance body as per the articles of association:

Maximum number of directors/board members 14

Minimum number of directors/board members

Number of directors/board members set by the meeting or assembly

One director is appointed by the Bank’'s employees as their representative in
accordance with Article 44 of the Bank’s articles of association. Currently the
employee representative is Fernando Olleta Gayarre

C.1.2.- Fill out the following table on the members of the board and their status:

Name or company name of director/board member Representative Date last appointed
IGNACIO TERES LOS ARCOS 08/05/2015
JOSE ANGEL EZCURRA IBARROLA 08/05/2015
ALBERTO ARRONDO LAHERA 08/05/2015
FERNANDO OLLETA GAYARRE 23/12/2016
ROBERTO ZABALETA CIRIZA 10/05/2013
FRANCISCO JAVIER ARTAJO CARLOS 08/05/2015
PEDRO MARIA ECHARTE SEVINE 08/05/2015
JESUS ANDRES MAULEON ARANA 08/05/2015
PEDRO JESUS IRISARRI VALENCIA 08/05/2015
MARCELINO ETAYO ANDUEZA 05/05/2017
GABRIEL URRUTIA AICEGA 05/05/2017
JESUS MARIA DEL CASTILLO TORRES 05/05/2017
CARLOS SANCHEZ DIESTRO 05/05/2017
MANUEL GARCIA DIAZ DE CERIO 05/05/2017

C.1.3.-List the board members, if any, who hold offices as directors,
representatives or executives at other companies forming part of the
company'’s group:

Name or company name of director/board member | Company name of group company Position
No data
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C.1.4.- Fill out the following table to show the number of female directors on the
board and its committees, and how this has changed over the last four years:

Number of female directors
2018 2017 2016 2015
Number VA Number % Number Yo Number A

Board of Directors 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00
Executive or

Delegate Committee 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Audit Committee 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Appoiniments 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Committee

Remuneration 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Committee

Risk Committee 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

C.1.5.- Indicate whether the company has diversity policies in relation to the
governance, management and supervision of the company in respect of
matters such as, forinstance, age, gender, disability, or training and professional
experience. Small and medium-sized companies, as defined in the Audit Act,
must report as a minimum on its policy on gender diversity.

YES X

NO

PARTIAL
POLICIES

If yes, describe the diversity policy, its aims, measures, their application and
their results during the year. Also indicate the concrete measures adopted by
the administration body and the appointments and remuneration committee to
achieve a balanced and diverse presence of directors and executives.

If the company has no diversity policy, explain why not.

Caja Rural de Navarra has an Equality Plan which promotes gender equality
and addresses all types of diversity in the Bank. Gender equality is essential to
developing policy with the Bank’s employees, 1o its support and commitment
for the communities it works with in this area and to delivering a gender-aware
product range.

Caja Rural de Navarra's commitment to diversity and inclusion is embodied not
only in progress so far, with an equal workforce, but also in the commitment to
confinue managing all types of diversity.
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The key targets of the Equality Plan are:

1.1.To promote the hiring of men and women in occupations where they are
under-represented.

1.2. To promote the incorporation of women into posts of responsibility.
2.1.To develop HR management indicators broken down by segment.

3.1. To instil a comprehensive focus on equality in the organization’s policy and
strategy.

3.2. To raise awareness and change the organization’s discourse and culture.

3.3. To use the right language, images and treatment within and outside the
company.

4.1.To highlight Caja Rural de Navarra’'s commitment to managing equality
outside the company.

4.2.To highlight Caja Rural de Navarra's commitment to managing equality
among our customers.

5.1. To monitor working and personal responsibilities.
6.1. To define procedures for specific actions in the event of sexual harassment.
7.1.To deal appropriately with customers

7.2.To include in the Social Welfare Fund programmes or actions designed to
support women or favour equal opportunities.

C.1.6.- Fill out the following table on the aggregate compensation paid to
directors in the year:

Thousands of euros
Concept
Individual Individual
Fixed compensation 12
Variable compensation

Per diems 48

Other compensation
TOTAL 60

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

C.1.7.- List the members of senior management who are not executive directors
and indicate the total compensation paid to them in the year:

Name or company name Position
ALBERTO UGARTE ALBERDI Risk department director
ANGEL LECUMBERRI SEVIGNE Commercial director
IGNACIO MAEZTU ZAPATERIA Commercial director, branches
JUAN MARIA AYECHU REDIN Business banking director
FRANCISCO JOSE RODRIGUEZ LASPIUR Management control director
IGNACIO ARRIETA DEL VALLE Managing Director
CARLOS ALBERTO SAGASETA GARCIA Audit committee secretary
MIGUEL GARCIA DE EULATE MARTIN-MORO Treasury operations director
SERGIO TABOADA PLATAS Head of technology and organization
ARTURO CORRAL BENGOECHEA Head of housing and real estate assets
FERNANDO CAMPOS JIMENEZ Head of human resources
IGNACIO MENA SOLA Head of legal affairs
FRANCISCO JAVIER BERAZALUCE MINONDO Head of equity investments
Total compensation received by senior management (in Thousands of euros) 1,882

C.1.8.- State whether the bylaws or board regulations set a limited term of office
for members of the board of directors:

YES

NO X

C.1.9.- State whether the individual and consolidated financial statements
submitted to the board of directors for formulation are certified previously:

YES

NO X

Identify, if appropriate, the person(s) certifying the individual and consolidated
accounts for their presentation by the Board:

Name Position

No data
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C.1.10.- Explain the mechanisms, if any, established by the board of directors
to prevent the separate and consolidated financial statements prepared by it
from being presented at the general meeting with a qualified auditors’ report:

The Governing Board has an Audit Committee, whose regulations include the
oversight of published financial information and the financial statements for
the year as well as monitoring the work and recommendations of the external
auditors.

C.1.11.- Is the board secretary a director?

YES X

NO

If the secretary is not a director complete the table below:

C.1.12 Describe the mechanisms, if any, established by the company to
preserve the independence of the external auditors, of financial analysts, of
investment banks, and of rating agencies, including how legal provisions are
implemented in practice:

The Audit Committee carries out annual checks to ensure the auditor (currently
PriceWaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L.) complies with requirements and that
there is no situation that could pose arisk to theirindependence, as established
by the Committee’s rules of procedures.

On this point the Audit Committee has received from the auditor, Price
Waterhouse Coopers Auditores S.L., written confirmation of its independence
from Caja Rural de Navarra and these bodies, directly and indirectly related
fo the Bank in accordance with requirements for the Audit Act as it relates to
independence.

Before the start of any type of service commissioned from the External Auditor
selected for the audit of the financial statements, the service is presented by
the auditor to the Audit Committee which, afterreview, decides if the proposed
service falls outside any of the prohibitions in Articles 39 and 14 of the New Audit
Law, identifies possible threats to independence and safeguards to apply to
eliminate or reduce these so as not to compromise their independence as
auditors.
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C.2.- Committees of the Board of Directors

C.2.1.- List the Board or other governance body committees:

Committee Number of members
Executive or Delegate Committee 5
Audit Committee 4
Appointments Committee 4
Remuneration Committee 5
Risk Committee 4

C.2.2.- Give details of all committees of the Board or other governance body, their
members and the proportion of executive, controlling company, independent
and other external members (entities that are not capital companies need not
complete the member category column and should explain in the text section
the category of each member based on their legal form and how they fulfil the
composition requirements of the audit and appointments and remuneration

committees):
EXECUTIVE OR DELEGATE COMMITTEE
Name Position Category
IGNACIO TERES LOS ARCOS CHAIRMAN Other external
JOSE ANGEL EZCURRA IBARROLA MEMBER Independent
PEDRO MARIA ECHARTE SEVINE MEMBER Independent
MARCELINO ETAYO ANDUEZA SECRETARY Independent
PEDRO JESUS IRISARRI VALENCIA MEMBER Independent
% executive directors 0.00
% of controlling company members 0.00
% of independent members 80.00
% of other external members 20.00
Number of meetings 12

Explain the functions assigned to the committee, describe its procedures
and organizational and functional rules. For each function indicate the most
important actions taken during the year and how it has put into practice each
function assigned to it by law, statute or other corporate agreements.

The Executive Committee was established by resolution of the Governing
Board and is composed of a chairman, deputy chairman, secretary and two
members of the Governing Board. Its functions are those delegated by the
Governing Board and its attributes and powers are limited to those temporarily
or permanently delegated by the Board.
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The main purpose of the Committee, which meets once a month, is to give the
Bank greater flexibility in decision making and approval of risks.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Name Position Category
JOSE ANGEL EZCURRA IBARROLA MEMBER Independent
PEDRO MARIA ECHARTE SEVINE CHAIRMAN Independent
MARCELINO ETAYO ANDUEZA SECRETARY Independent
PEDRO JESUS IRISARRI VALENCIA MEMBER Independent
% executive directors 0.00
% of controlling company members 0.00
% of independent members 100.00
% of other external members 0.00
Number of meetings 4

Explain the functions assigned to the committee, including any not required by
law, and describe its procedures and organizational and functional rules. For
each function indicate the most , important actions taken during the year and
how it has put into practice each function assigned to it by law, statute or other
corporate agreements.

The Audit Committee is made up of members of the Governing Board with the
appropriate knowledge, abilities and experience to understand and control the
Bank’s risk strategy and risk propensity.

Ordinary meetings are held each quarter. Extraordinary meetings are held
when so decided by the Chairman or requested by a majority of members,
duly constituted when a majority of members are present. The functioning and
functions of the Audit Committee are set out in Article 43 Bis of the issuer’s Statutes
and has been approved by the Bank of Spain and its Regulations approved by
this Committee and subsequently by the Bank’s Governing Board. Specifically,
the Committee’s core responsibility is fo maintain an efficient internal audit system
via ongoing monitoring and supervision of its operation, using to this end the
services of both the internal audit unit and the external auditors, and its functions
therefore include the following:

1.- To report to the General Meeting on the questions posed by members in
areas of its competence.

2.- To propose to the Governing Board for submission to the General Meeting
the appointment of the Bank’s external auditors and Group subsidiaries
referred to in Article 204 of the refounded text of the Spanish Corporations
Law, implemented by Legislative Royal Decree 1564/1989, of 22 December.

3.- To supervise the internal audit departments where they exist.
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4.- To approve the annual internal audit plan and its organisational structure.

5.- To oversee follow-up of recommendations made by internal and external
audifs.

6.- To supervise any financial information published and the financial
statements for the year.

7.- To check compliance with internal standards, rules and laws that effect
the activities of the organization.

8.- Toreview the systems in place to ensure efficient management.

9.- To check that plans and programmes are being put into effect and
achieving their designated aims.

10.- To maintain the ethics of the organization, investigate any cases of
iregular or fraudulent conduct and any allegations or suspicions brought
to the Committee’s attention as well as any conflicts of interest affecting
employees.

11.- To report to the Governing Board on the appropriateness of the internal
control system.

12.- To monitor the financial reporting process and internal control systems.

13.- To liaise with external auditors to receive information on questions that pose
a risk to their independence and any other matters related to the audit
process, as well as other reporting required by audit law and technical
standards.

The head of intfernal audit is Carlos Sagaseta, who works with the Secretary
and advises and informs the Committee,which he attends as a non-voting
participant.
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Identify the directors on the Audit Committee who have been appointed for
their knowledge and experience in accounting, audit or both and report on the
date of appointment of the Committee Chairman.

Names of experienced directors JOSE ANGEL EZCURRA IBARROLA
Date of appointment of the Chairman 22/09/2017
APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE
Name Position Category
PEDRO MARIA ECHARTE SEVINE CHAIRMAN Independent
MARCELINO ETAYO ANDUEZA SECRETARY Independent
IGNACIO TERES LOS ARCOS MEMBER Other external
PEDRO JESUS IRISARRI VALENCIA MEMBER Independent
% executive directors 0.00
% of controlling company members 0.00
% of independent members 75.00
% of other external members 25.00
Number of meetings 1

Explain the functions assigned to the committee, including any not required by
law, and describe its procedures and organizational and functional rules. For
each function indicate the most , important actions taken during the year and
how it has put into practice each function assigned to it by law, statute or other
corporate agreements.

The Remuneration Committee has four members of appropriate expertise,
ability and experience and who are all also members of the Governing Board.
It meets as often as its responsibilities require and at least once a year.

The Committee is quorate when at least half its members are present. Members
cannot appoint other natural or legal persons as proxies. Resolutions are
approved by simple maijority of the valid votes cast. The Chairman’s vote is
casting.

Any Committee member who finds themselves in a conflict of interest willrecuse
themselves from the meeting when the situation giving rise to the conflict of
interest is discussed and abstain from discussion or vote on the matter. The
Committee’s functions include:

- Toidentify andrecommend for approval by the Governing Board, candidates
for vacant posts on the Governing Board and procedures for assessing the
aptitudes and capacities of future directors.
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- To assess the balance of expertise, ability, diversity and experience on the
Governing Board and draft a description of the functions and apftitudes
required for a specific appointment, assessing the time required to fulfil the
demands of the post.

- Toreview periodically and atleast once ayear the structure, size, composition
and work of the Board and to make recommendations to the Board on
possible changes.

- Toreview periodically and at least once a year the suitability of the members
of the Bank’s Board and the Board in general and report to the Board on its
conclusions.

- To periodically review the corresponding reviews of the suitability of the
General Management and key management personnel in accordance
with regulation 30 of Bank of Spain Circular 2/2016.

- To periodically review the Board’s policy on the selection and appointment
of senior management personnel and make appropriate recommendations.

- To establish, in accordance with regulations, a target for representation of
whichever gender is least represented on the Governing Board and draw
up guidelines on how to increase the number of members of the under-
represented gender so as to meet this target. As regards the suitability of
Governing Board members, all current members have been appointed
since the entry into force of Circular 2/2016 on a favourable report from this
Committee and with the express approval of the Bank of Spain.

The Committee’s principal actions taken during the year all fell within one of
the functions described above.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Name Position Category

MARCELINO ETAYO ANDUEZA CHAIRMAN Independent
PEDRO MARIA ECHARTE SEVINE SECRETARY Independent
IGNACIO TERES LOS ARCOS MEMBER Other external
FERNANDO OLLETA GAYARRE MEMBER Other external
PEDRO JESUS IRISARRI VALENCIA MEMBER Independent

% executive directors 0.00

% of controlling company members 0.00

% of independent members 60.00

% of other external members 40.00

Number of meetings 1
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Explain the functions assigned to the committee, describe its procedures
and organizational and functional rules. For each function indicate the most
important actions taken during the year and how it has put into practice each
function assigned to it by law, statute or other corporate agreements.

The Remuneration Committee has four members of appropriate expertise,
ability and experience and who are all also members of the Governing Board.
It meets as often as its responsibilities require and at least once a year.

The Committee is quorate when atleast halfits members are present. Resolutions
are approved by a majority of those attending, with the Chairman’s vote being
considered casting.

The functions of the Remuneration Committee is described below:

- To propose to the Governing Board the remuneration policy for Board
members, including their individual remuneration, and for the designated
group of executive personnel.

- To monitor compliance with the Bank's remuneration policy for Directors and
senior management.

- To oversee the fransparency of remuneration programmes, considering their
appropriateness and effectiveness and seeking to ensure that remuneration
is moderate and appropriate to the Bank'’s results.

The Committee’s principal actions taken during the year all fell within one of
the functions described above.

RISK COMMITTEE
Name Position Category
JOSE ANGEL EZCURRA IBARROLA CHAIRMAN Independent
MARCELINO ETAYO ANDUEZA SECRETARY Independent
PEDRO MARIA ECHARTE SEVINE MEMBER Independent
PEDRO JESUS IRISARRI VALENCIA MEMBER Independent
% executive directors 0.00
% of controlling company members 0.00
% of independent members 100.00
% of other external members 0.00
Number of meetings 4
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Explain the functions assigned to the committee, describe its procedures
and organizational and functional rules. For each function indicate the most
important actions taken during the year and how it has put into practice each
function assigned to it by law, statute or other corporate agreements.

The Risk Committee holds ordinary meetings each quarter. Extraordinary
meetings are held when so decided by the Chairman orrequested by a majority
of members, duly constituted when a maijority of members are present.

In accordance with Royal Decree 84/2015 which is reflected in the regulation
approved by the Committee and ratified by the Governing Board, its key
functions are as follows:

- To advise the Governing Board on the Bank's overall propensity to risk,
current and future, and risk strategy and also helps oversee the application
of this strategy. Specifically, it supports the Governing Board in drawing up,
approving, updating and monitoring the Bank’s Risk Appetite Framework
and Recoveries Plan.

Notwithstanding the above, the Governing Board is responsible for the risks that
the company takes on.

- It also ensures the pricing policy of assets and liabilities offered to customers
takes fully info account the Bank’s business model and risk strategy. If not,
the Risk Committee will present a plan to the Governing Board to remedy the
situation.

- To determine, alongside the Governing Board, the nature, quantity, format
and frequency of the risk information that the Committee and Governing
Board should receive.

- To collaborate in establishing reasonable remuneration policy and practices.
To this end, the Risk Committee reviews, without prejudice to the role of the
Remuneration Committee, whether the incentives policy envisaged in the
remuneration system takes due account of risks, capital, liquidity and the
probability and appropriateness of the benefits.

- - Any other function that is specifically delegated to the Committee by law,
regulations or resolution of the Governing Board.

The Head of Risk is Francisco José Rodriguez Laspiur.
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D.- RELATED PARTY AND INTRAGROUP TRANSACTIONS

D.1.- Give details of tfransactions between the company and companies within
its group, and shareholders, cooperative members, holders of controlling rights
to the company or equivalent entities.

Name or company name Name or company name Amount
C Nature of Type of
of significant of the company or group . h . (Thousands of
relationship transaction
shareholder/member company euros)

No data

D.2.- Give details of transactions between the company or entities of its group
and the company’s directors or executives:

Name or company nhame Name or company name Nature of Amount
. pany pany Relationship . " (Thousands of
of directors or managers of the related party relationship euros)
No data
D.3.- Give details of intragroup transactions
Company name of group company Brief description of fransaction (Thous‘:::!cguc;feuros)
No data

D.4.- Give details of the mechanisms in place for detecting, identifying and
resolving any potential conflicts of interest between the company and/or its
group, and its directors/board members of executives.

Arficle 48 of the Bank’s articles of association contains the following provisions
in this regard:

Contracts concluded and/or obligations assumed by Caja Rural that do not
form part of the provision of the financial services that constitute its corporate
purpose and are made in favour of members of the Governing Board or senior
management, or their first- or second-degree relatives by blood or marriage,
shall not be valid unless first approved at the General Meeting. Persons
involved in the conflict-of-interest situation shall not be permitted to take part
in the related vote at this Meeting. Approval at the General Meeting shall not
be required when the contracts or obligations in question are related to the
person’s status as a member.

Resolutions of the Governing Board or Executive Committee relating to
cooperative fransactions and services in favour of members of the Governing
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Board, Executive Committee, General Management or their first- or second-
degree relatives by blood or marriage shall necessarily be adopted by secret
ballot, subject to the item’s inclusion on the agenda with due transparency,
and shall require a majority of at least two thirds of all Directors.

Where the beneficiary of the tfransactions or services is a Director or relative
thereof, as indicated above, the beneficiary shall be deemed to be in a
conflict-of-interest situation and shall not be permitted to take part in the vote.

Once the secret ballot has taken place and the result has been announced,
any reservations or disagreements with regards to the resolution adopted must
be duly recorded in the minutes.

The provisions of the foregoing paragraphs shall also apply in relation to
the establishment, suspension, modification, renewal or extinguishment of
obligations and rights between the cooperative entity and entities at which the
aforesaid persons or members of their family are proprietors, board members,
directors, senior executives, advisors or core members with capital interests or
five per cent or more.

Also considered when granting loans to members of the Governing Board or
their natural or legal related parties are the provisions of Act 10/2014 for the
management, supervisionandsolvency of creditinstitutions anditsimplementing
Royal Decree 84/2015, particularly on reporting transactions involving directors
and executives to the Bank of Spain for authorization.

Caja Rural de Navarra is fully signed up to the Framework Internal Rules of
Conduct on securities markets of the Spanish National Union of Cooperative
Credit Institutions (UNACC). These rules apply to members of the Bank’s
Governing Board, executives and employeeswhose work is directly or principally
related to securities market activities and services.

Caja Rural de Navarra has Internal Rules to assess the suitability of Senior
Management and other key persons of the Bank which were approved by the
Bank’s Board and comply withregulationsin force, especially Act 10/2014 on the
regulation, supervision and solvency of credit institutions and its accompanying
regulations. These Rules define what information the Appointments Committee
should look at when considering the professional and commercial reputation,
knowledge and experience and good governance practice of employees
and applicants for posts subject to these requirements.

The Bank also has a policy to manage conflicts of interest, approved by the
Bank’s Governing Board, with a special focus on those related to MIFID Il on
investment products.
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E.- CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

E.1.- Explain the scope of the company: s risk management system.

The credit risk management system is centralised in the risk area, including
responsibility for admitting, administering, monitoring and recovering credit
risk, in accordance with the policies set by the Governing Board. The system is
overseen by the Risk Committee.

Measurement and control of interestrate, liquidity and marketrisk are conducted
through the Assets and Liabilities Committee, which reports quarterly and
monitors the various risks.

The Operational Risk Committee monitors operational risk.

E.2.- List the bodies within the company responsible for preparing and executing
the risk management system.

The Risk Committee ensures compliance with the policies, methods and
procedures approved by the Governing Board to meet the requirements of
Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004, of 22 December, on credit risk. Circular 4/2004
states that “entities shall establish policies, methods and procedures for the
issue, analysis and documentation of debt instruments, contingent risks and
contingent commitments ... and the identification of their impairment and
measurement of the amounts necessary to hedge such credit risk, whether
from insolvency attributable to the customer...”

The Bank's infernal audit department ensures that the various areas comply
with policy, reporting any instances of non-compliance to the Governing
Board, having evaluated or established their extent, and proposing remedial
or enhancement measures when it sees fit.

The Assets and Liabilities Committee oversees market, liquidity and interest risks.
The Operational Risk Committee manages and monitors operational risk.
E.3.-State the main risks that could affect achievement of the company'’s
business targets.

The main risks inherent in our banking activities are the following:

Credit risk: This is the risk of potential losses being incurred when loans and ad-
vances cannot be recovered. Where the bank acts as guarantor, the risk lies
in the possibility of customers’ defaulting on their commitments, and the Bank
therefore being required to assume these commitments by virtue of guaran-
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tees provided. This is the most significant risk assumed by the Bank, since its ac-
tivities are concentrated mainly on the retail banking business.

Interest rate risk: This consists of the risks arising as a result of potentially adverse
fluctuations in interest rates on assets and liabilities.

Liquidity risk: This is the risk of potential difficulties in raising or accessing liquid
assets in sufficient quantity and value to cover the Group's payment com-
mitments at any fime.

Market risk: This consists of the risks arising as a result of potentially adverse
fluctuations in the market price of marketable financial instruments and the ex-
change rates of the currencies in which the Group's balance sheet assets and
liabilities or off-balance sheet commitments and exposures are denominated.

Operational risk: Operational risk is the risk of suffering losses due to inadequate
or failed processes, personnel or internal systems or due to external events. This
definition includes legal risk, but excludes strategic and reputational risks.

E.4.-State whether the company has risk tolerance level.

The Bank establishes risk tolerance levels, defined in the risk appetite framework
(RAF), defined using various criteria according to the type of risk;

* Creditrisk: risk tolerance depends on levels of NPLs and coverage as well as
rating/scoring levels associated to probability of default.

* Risk tolerance: is established by sefting a maximum limit on possible loss for
each exposure, in terms of both margin and economic value.

* Liquidity risk: risk tolerance is measured based on minimum liquidity levels.

¢ Market risk: limits are based on VaR.

E.5.- State which risks have materialized during the year:

The normal processes of the Bank's operations include all required controls
and methods to manage the risks inherent to its business and there were no
particular instances to report that affected the normal functioning of the Bank.

E.6.- Explain the response and oversight plans to address the main risks facing
the company, and the procedures followed by the company to ensure the
board of directors responds to new challenges:

Credit risk: Risk management begins as soon as the customer subbmits a request for
financing and ends when the whole of the loan has been repaid. When appro-
ving fransactions, the Bank prioritizes case-by-case analyses, which take account
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of the type of applicant, type of facility, the applicant’s repayment capacity and
the guarantees provided. Once approved and arranged, all fransactions are sub-
ject to ongoing monitoring: in the case of high-risk customers (either individually or
as part of an economic group), the Bank monitors financial position, any increases
in system debt, payment history, etc.; for all other customers, all fransactions that
result in payment incidents are monitored. The Group monitors its investment port-
folio by product, by interest rate and by decision-making centre, to identify poten-
tial changes in portfolio returns and the manner in which credit facilities are being
granted (amounts, rates, charges, etc.) so that decisions affecting the investment
policy to be adopted at any given time can be taken as quickly as possible.

In respect of credit risk concentration, the Bank of Spain’s regulations establish that
exposure to any one customer or group of customers constituting an economic
group must not exceed 25% of an entity’s eligible capital base. The entity’s eligible
capital base is used for the purpose of calculating the solvency ratio. The Bank
complies with all legal limits established in this regard. Regulations on solvency re-
quirements lay great emphasis on concentration risk but it is not included in the
regulatory calculations. The Internal Capital Adequacy Report must disclose the
institution’s own assessment of the capital required to meet this risk (Pillar 11).

Interest rate risk: To analyse and control thisrisk, the Bank has established an Assets and
Liabilities Committee (ALC) that meets quarterly to assess, inter alia, the sensitivity of its
statement of financial position fo changes in the yield curve in various scenarios and
set short- and medium-term policies for managing prices and applications of funds.
Liquidiity risk: Caja Rural de Navarra monitors the performance of those balance sheet
items that affect its liquidity on an ongoing basis, keeping within certain limits and using
dedicated tools to predict potential fluctuations that may require action to sustain
short-, medium- and long-term liquidity. These controls are caried out by the ALC.

Market risk: The main conftrols applied for market risk are the various limits on
market activity in the form of ceilings on fixed income and equity investments
and stop-losses. The Bank also applies concentration limits on exposures to se-
curities and economic sectors, as well as on positions in foreign currency.

Operational risk: Caja Rural de Navarra has adopted a standard model for identi-
fying and monitoring operational risk. Improvement plans for critical risks have been
drawn up, and the persons responsible for their execution and corresponding time-
table have been defined. Loss events are registered in a loss event data base which
is also used to produce reports that facilitate decision making to minimize risk.

The Governing Board has a Risk Committee, a delegated body that advises the Board
on management and supervision of all relevant risks and on correct application of the
globalrisk appetite in light of the Bank’s strategy. Through this body and its functional
procedures the Board responds to new challenges that come up in this area.
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F.- INTERNAL SYSTEMS FOR INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING (ICFR)

Describe the control and risk management processes that make up the
company’s system for internal control over financial reporting.

F.1.- The control environment.
Report, highlighting as a minimum the main features of:

F.1.1.- The bodies and/or functions responsible for: (i) the existence and
regular updating of a suitable, effective ICFR; (ii) its implementation; and (iii) its
monitoring.

- The Governing Board is ultimately responsible for the existence and regular
updating of a suitable, effective ICFR.

- The Audit Committee is responsible for supervision of ICFR, including control
of the preparation and presentation process, compliance with applicable
standards, appropriate definition of the scope of consolidation and correct
application of accounting principles. The Committee relies on Internal Audit
to oversee the ICFR system.

- The Management Control Department is responsible for the design, imple-
mentation and operation of ICFR. It will run a process to identify risks in the
preparation of financial reporting, draw up the descriptive documentation
and flow charts of activities and control and direct the implementation and
execution of ICFR. The Governing Board states in Artficle 39 of the Corporate
Governance Code: Public relations, general:

- The Governing Board shall take all necessary steps to ensure that annual,
half-yearly or quarterly financial reporting and any other financial repor-
ting that may be done in the interests of prudence is prepared in accor-
dance with the same principles, criteria and professional best practice as
the annual financial statements and is equally true and fair. To this end, all
such information shall be reviewed by the Audit Committee.

- The Governing Board, if considered necessary or convenient, shall include
in its annual published documentation the governance rules of the Bank
and the degree of Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.

The rules of the Combined Audit and Risk Committee, which is drawn from the
Governing Board, includes the following duties:

-- To supervise any financial information published and the financial statements
for the year.

- To check compliance with internal standards, rules and laws that effect the
activities of the organization.
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F.1.2.- The existence or otherwise of the following components, especially in
connection with the financial reporting process:

Department and/or mechanisms in charge of: (i) the design and review of the
organizational structure; (ii) defining clear lines of responsibility and authority, with
an appropriate distribution of tasks and functions; and (iii) deploying procedures
so this structure is communicated effectively throughout the company:

Oversight of the organizational structure is the responsibility of General
Management via the Human Resources Department which, based on needs
identified by the Caja Rural de Navarra Group, analyses and adapts the
departmental and branch structure, defining and assigning functions to the
different members of each department and business line.

Any material change to the organization is approved by the Managing Director
and published through Internal Communications by corporate email and on the
corporate intranet, to which all employees have access. The intranet contains
an organizational chart that is continuously updated.

There are operational procedure manuals covering most of the Bank's business
areas, available to all employees through the infranet.

Code of conduct, approving body, dissemination and instruction, principles
and values covered (stating whether it makes specific reference to record
keeping and financial reporting), body in charge of investigating breaches
and proposing corrective or disciplinary action:

There is a code of conduct, with which all employees of Caja Rural de
Navarra Group are familiar, setting out guidance for good conduct based
on professional ethics and the obligation to be aware of and comply with
regulations applicable to the Bank.

It is planned to incorporate specific reference to record-keeping and financial
reporting as recommended by the supervisory authorities.

Whistle-blowing’ channel, for the reporting to the Audit Committee of any
irregularities of a financial or accounting nature, as well as breaches of the
code of conduct and malpractice within the organization, stating , whether
reports made through this channel are confidential:

There is no specific formal whistle-blowing channel for the confidential
reporting of financial or accounting irregularities to the Audit Committee
under conditions of anonymity. However, the employees’ code of conduct
expressly establishes the possibility of employees’ highlighting instances of
iregular or unethical actions, under conditions of confidentiality, which
would obviously include financial and accounting irregularities.

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

Communication of Unethical or Fraudulent Actions

If any employee should become aware of irregular or unethical actions by
Company employees, he/she is obliged to notify the Bank immediately.

The Bank has a number of persons to whom such circumstances may be reported,
in addition to the line manager, who should be the first port of call. The Area
Manager or Chief of Human Resources are the most appropriate persons to notify.

All communications of this type will be immediately investigated under
conditions of confidentiality.

The Bank will ensure the absence of reprisals for any employee who makes
allegations of this kind. Similarly, the rules of the Audit Committee Rules list
among the Committee’s responsibilities for internal control and compliance:

To maintain the ethics of the organization, investigate any cases of irregular or
fraudulent conduct and any allegations or suspicions brought to their attention
as well as any conflicts of interest affecting employees.

Training and refresher courses for personnelinvolved in preparing and reviewing
financial information or evaluating ICFR, which address, at least, accounting
rules, auditing, internal control and risk management.

Once ayear, every employee of CajaRuralde Navarraundergoes a professional
assessment and an action plan is drawn up including measures to improve
areas where they are found to be weak, which is centred on training.

The Training Department within the Human Resources Department has developed a
tfraining plan including traditional and online courses which are open to allemployees
of Caja Rural de Navarra. All units involved in the preparation of financial reporting
have been trained in financial reporting and receive continuous refresher courses
as standards change. These courses cover first-time adoption of standards in the
current year and those in the process of adoption that will take effect in future years.

F.2.- Financial reporting risk assessment.

Report, as a minimum, on:

F.2.1.-The main characteristics of the risk identification process, including risks
of error or fraud, stating:

Whether the process exists and is documented:

For Caja Rural de Navarra, like any other banking institution, risk management is a
core part of its business. Risk identification processes are therefore clearly defined
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Whether the process covers all financial reporting objectives (existence
and occurrence; completeness, valuation, presentation, disclosure and
comparability, and rights and obligations), is subject to update and, if so, with
what frequency:

The Bank knows which areas and departments impact financial reporting
and therefore which areas or departments are material, as well as the risks
of error within these which may have an impact on financial reporting. The
risk assessment process covers all financial reporting objectives (existence
and occurrence; completeness; valuation; presentation, disclosure and
comparability; and rights and obligations).

Whether a specific process is in place to define the scope of consolidation,
with reference to the possible existence of complex corporate structures,
special purpose vehicles, holding companies, etc.:

The material areas and departments have identified where the possibilities of
error in financial reporting lie which might have a material impact on the Bank.
Risks of error or omission in financial reporting are included in the design and
development of operating procedures for every area with critical impact on
financial reporting.

Whether the process addresses other types of risk (operational, technological,
financial, legal,, reputation, environmental, etc.) insofar as they may affect the
financial statements:

Nevertheless:

- The accounting information used to prepare the financial statements is
based on heavily automated processes. The vast majority of transactions
are automatically recorded and associated with a process that generates
the right accounting information for record keeping.

- The design and maintenance of the accounts used to monitor tfransactions
is the responsibility of the Management Control Department. No other area
is authorized to interfere with this process. In this way the system ensures that:

- All events reflected in financial reporting exist and have been recorded at
the proper time.

- The information reported reflects all the tfransactions and events to which the
Bank was party.

- All fransactions are recorded and measured in accordance with applicable
accounting standards. Transactions are classified, presented and disclosed
in line with applicable regulations.
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Which of the company’s governing bodies is responsible for overseeing the
process:

Internal Audit will oversee the process of preparing financial reporting and the
effectiveness of controls put in place to ensure its proper publication

F.3.- Control.

Report, highlighting as a minimum and where available the main features of:

F.3.1.- Procedures for reviewing and authorizing financial information and
description of ICFR to be provided to the markets, stating who is responsible
in each case. Also, documentation and flow charts of activities and controls
(including those addressing the risk of fraud) for each type of transaction that
may materially affect the financial statements, including procedures for closing
accounts and specific review of critical judgements, estimates, evaluations
and projections.

Caja Rural de Navarra has an action plan in place to document formally and in
standardized format all areas and processes identified as material fo the Bank,
including those covering the closing of accounts, consolidation and exercise
of critical judgements, estimates, and projections, among others.

The Bank has controls in place for the processes of closing accounts and review
of critical judgements, estimates, evaluations and projections for the following
processes and transactions, which might materially affect the financial
statements:

Impairment losses on certain financial insfruments

o The assumptions used in the actuarial calculation of liabilities and
commitments for post-employment benefits. The useful lives of property and
equipment and intangible assets The measurement of goodwill arising on
consolidation

o Thefairvalue of certain financial assets not listed on official secondary markets
Estimates used to calculate other provisions Income tax and deferred tax
assets and liabilities
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F.3.2.- Internal control policies and procedures for IT systems (including secure
access, control of changes, system operation, continuity and segregation of
duties) giving support to key company processes regarding the preparation
and publication of financial information.

The rural credit cooperatives that make up the Caja Rural Group have set up a
number of companies to improve efficiency and achieve economies of scale.
These include the technology services company Rural Servicios Informdaticos SC
and Banco Cooperativo Espanol, SA. Rural Servicios Informdaticos SC provides IT
services to all rural credit cooperatives making up the Caja Rural Group. Banco
Cooperativo Espanol SA provides services including treasury management and
capital markets services, investment fund administration and management,
Spanish and international fransfer systems, and support services for the rural credit
cooperatives in relation to tax, legal, organizational and regulatory issues, etc.

Rural Servicios Informdticos SC uses a shared centralised IT applications and
management platform, including systems for transactions accounting and
preparation of financial reporting. IT applications supporting the Bank's core
banking operations are developed to comply with CMMI standards, designed
to ensure IT systems function as infended, thus minimising the risk of infroducing
errors in financial reporting.

Regarding business continuity, the abovementioned Caja Rural Group companies
have a Systems Continuity Plan which, among other things, provides IT backup
centres on separate sites which can replace the main centre in case of need.

o0 Banco Cooperativa Espanol has a dedicated technology centre for SWIFT,
freasury back office and private banking, and another alternative backup
centre specifically for supporting tfreasury and capital markets, so that market
operators and the control and support units for these activities can continue
to function in the event of an emergency affecting the building now in use.

o Rural de Servicios Informdticos SC, which supports core banking and
accounting operations, has an alternative backup centre, synchronized
through a system of daily backup copies, one saved on the host itself and
the other in the alternative IT centre. The integrity of backups is regularly
reviewed. The backups are checked regularly for comprehensiveness.

Finally, Caja Rural de Navarra has a specific Business Continuity Plan, with
alternative workstations identified with duplicate systems for other operations,
and the possibility for those in key functions to work remotely with access to the
Group'’s IT systems from designated locations over a secure connection.

CajaRuralde Navarrahas appropriate security protocols thatinclude controlling
access to each of the systems described.
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F.3.3.- Internal control policies and procedures for overseeing the management
of outsourced activities, and of the appraisal, calculation or valuation services
commissioned from independent experts, when these may materially affect the
financial statements.

The Bank regularly reviews which activities connected to financial reporting
are subcontracted out and, where applicable, the Management Control
Department puts in place control procedures to carry out sanity checks on
information received. Caja Rural de Navarra uses independent third parties to
provide certain valuations, calculations and estimates used in the preparation
of the consolidated and separate financial statements provided to financial
markets, such as asset appraisals, actuarial valuations, etc.

At present, it has supervision and review procedures in place for activities
outsourced to third parties, such as calculations or valuations by independent
appraisers which are material to the process of financial reporting. These
supervision procedures will be expressly reviewed to check their compliance
with ICFR and brought into line with market best practice. The procedures cover
the following areas:

- Formal designation of those responsible for particular actions.
- Pre-contract analysis, looking at alternative proposals.
- Supervision and revision of information generated or services provided:

- For subcontracted activities: requests for regular reports, inclusion in internal
audit plans, mandatory external audit where applicable, regular review of
the service provider’'s capacity and qualifications.

- For valuations carried out by external appraisers: reviews of the correctness
of the information provided, regular review of the appraiser’'s capacity and
qualifications.

The Bank reviews its estimates internally. Where it is deemed appropriate, the
Bank brings in third parties for certain specific tasks, having checked their
competence and independence, and that the methods they use are valid
and any assumptions made are reasonable
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F.4.- Reporting and communications

Report, highlighting as a minimum and where available the main features of:

F.4.1.- A specific function in charge of defining and maintaining accounting
policies (accounting policies area or department) and settling doubts or
disputes over their interpretation, , which is in regular communication with the
team in charge of operations, and for maintaining and uvpdating a manual of
accounting policies and communicating these to allthe company’s operational
units.

The Management Control Department is responsible for defining and maintaining
the accounting policies applied to the Bank’s tfransactions. New and amended
standards are analysed by this department, which is responsible for giving
instructions about how they should be implemented in the IT systems.

There is no complete manual of accounting policies as such. Instead the
Bank’s accounting polices follow Bank of Spain circulars (Circular 4/2004 as
amended) and international financial reporting standards (IFRS-EU). However,
the Management Control Department does have documentation setting out
accounting policies for certain critical activities and procedures.

At subsidiaries of Caja Rural de Navarra, the accounting guidelines and
standards applied are determined by the Management Control Department
based on standardized criteria and formats which facilitate the preparation of
consolidated financial information.

F.4.2.- Mechanisms in standard format for the capture and preparation of
financial information, which are applied and used in all units within the entity or
group, and support its main financial statements and accompanying notes as
well as disclosures concerning ICFR.

The process of consolidation and preparation of financial information is carried
out cenftrally.

IT applications are organized according to a management model structured
around the requirements of a banking IT system. This structure includes different
areas providing different types of services:

- general IT systems that supply data to the area or unit heads. management
systems that provide business monitoring and control information.

- operational systems, i.e. applications to cover the full life-cycle of products,
contracts and customers.

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

- structural systems, that support data shared by all applications and services.
These systems include all systems related to accounting and economic data.

A key objective of this model is to provide the infrastructure needed to run
the software that manages all fransactions and their subsequent accounting
freatment and to allow access to the various types of support data. Based on
this accounting infrastructure, processes are developed for the preparation,
communication and storage of all regulatory financial reporting and internal
accounting data, under the supervision of the Management Control Department.

Financialinformation is consolidated and prepared through a centralized process
run by the Management Control Department.

Subsidiaries are responsible for their own account-keeping in the dedicated and
all report accounting information in Spanish GAAP format.

The consolidation process is very straightforward and is carried out quarterly
using an office software programme. There are nevertheless procedures to
control and verify the information to ensure that infragroup items are identified
and eliminated in the consolidation process. Also, to ensure the information is
accurate and complete, the consolidation software is programmed to make the
adjustments to eliminate infragroup equity holdings and transactions, which is
done automatically in accordance with the validation procedures defined in the
system.

F.5.- F.5 Monitoring of system operations.

Report, highlighting as a minimum the main features of:

F.5.1.- The Audit Committee’s ICFR supervisory activities and whetherthe company
has an internal audit function whose competencies include supporting the audit
committee in its role of monitoring the internal control system, including ICFR.
Companies should also report on the scope of the ICFR assessment conducted in
the yearandthe procedure by which the assessor communicates its findings. State
also whether the company has an action plan specifying corrective measures
for any flaws detected, and whether it has taken stock of their potential impact
on its financial information.

Internal Audit regularly presents to the Audit Committee the results of its
verification and validation work, and the resulting action plans. Work done by
the external auditor or other independent experts follow the same procedure.

The minutes of the Combined Audit and Risk Committee document the work
done from its planning to the reviews of results obtained.
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Internal Audit functions are carried out by the Internal Audit Department of
Caja Rural de Navarra which reports to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee relies on the Internal Audit Department to monitor the
Internal Control System and ICFR. Internal Audit reviews the risk management
systems, internal operating procedures and compliance with internal and
external regulations.

The assessments carried out by the Internal Audit Department cover certain
aspects of the process of financial reporting, mainly taking the form of reviews
of accounting issues.

The reports and documents produced as a result of these reviews show the
recommendations for various improvements and the impact each would have
on financial reporting.

F.5.2.- Indicate whether there is a discussion procedure whereby the auditor
(pursuant to technical accounting standards), the internal audit function
and other experts can report any significant internal control weaknesses
encountered during theirreview of the financial statements or other assignments,
to the company’s senior management and its Audit Commitiee or Board of
Directors. State also whether the entity has an action plan to correct or mitigate
the weaknesses found.

The auditor issues an annual report of recommendations which is presented
to the Audit Committee. This sets out any weaknesses in the internal control
procedures identified during the audit of the financial statements. The report
is passed on to the units/areas concerned which are then responsible for
proposing improvements to resolve the weaknesses identified.

The rules of the Audit Committee include the following functions:

- To propose the appointment of an external auditor for the Bank and Group
subsidiaries, the terms of their engagement, the scope of their professional
mandate and if applicable, their termination or non-renewal

- To supervise the internal audit function and monitor the work of the external
auditors.

- review the final auditors’ report, discussing, where necessary, any points that
it considers appropriate, before these are made known to the Governing
Board.

- To oversee follow-up of recommendations made by internal and external
audits.
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F.4.- Other relevant information.

Nothing to report.

F.7.-Auditor’s report.

Report on:

F.7.1.- Whether the ICFR information delivered to the markets has been reviewed
by the external auditor. If it has, the Entity is to include the corresponding report
as an Annex. If it has not, the reasons for the absence of this review should be
stated.

The ICFR information delivered to the markets has not been reviewed by
the external auditor in line with the policy on other information in the Annual
Corporate Governance Report, only the accounting content of which is
reviewed by the auditor. Also, it was felt that an external audit of the ICFR
information delivered to the markets would be largely redundant, as technical
audit standards require, in any case, that the external auditor review internal
control as part of its audit of the financial statements.
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G.- OTHER DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Briefly describe any other material points affecting the corporate governance
of the company or its group subsidiaries that have not been included elsewhere
in this Report, but which are essential to the full and reasoned disclosure of the
company’s or group’s governance structure and practices:

This section may also include any other relevant but not re-iterative information,
clarification or detail related to previous sections of the report.

Specifically, indicate whether the company is subject to corporate governance
legislation from a country other than Spain and, if so, include the compulsory
information to be provided when different from that required by this report.

The company can also indicate whether it has voluntarily signed up to any
other codes of ethics or best practice, whether international, industry-specific
or covering some other scope. If so, the company should identify the code and
its date of adoption..

Caja Rural de Navarra’s good governance model includes the following best
practices:

- The Bank has a Customer Services Department which manages, as required
by the Bank of Spain, all the claims and suggestions which the Bank receives
through the various channels it provides.

- The Bank has a Compliance Unit which oversees strict compliance with
legislation in force regarding: Corporate Governance, Prevention of Money
Laundering, Data Protection and Customer Protection in the marketing of
banking and investment products and services.

- The Bank has a code of conduct for managers and employees of the Bank
approved by the Governing Board.- The Bank has approved a handbook
summarising the Bank's Marketing Communications Policy.- The Bank has a
handbook which summarises the Bank’s anti-corruption policy.

- The Bank has handbook summarising the Policy on Purchases and Expenses
Management for the Bank.

- The Bank has an Internal Governance System that aims to:

i) promote transparent, independent, effective and prudent management
of the Company and its Group, in compliance with the requirements of
regulators and supervisors;

ii) To clearly aftribute responsibilities and competences for internal control,
including defining audit and internal control units and functions.
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ii)To make sure that decisions are taken in an appropriately informed manner
and in the interest of the Bank and hence its members and to look after the
interests of investors, customers, employees and other stakeholders.

The section below highlights any corporate governance issues that the Bank
considers material and expands on previous sections of this report where the
Bank considers it appropriate.

The information given in section A.4 complies with the requirements of the
applicable standards: Act 13/1989, on Cooperative Credit Institutions, Royal
Decree 84/1993, of 22 January, on Regulation of Cooperative Credit Institutions,
and Act 27/1999, on Cooperatives.

In section C.1.2., which lists members of the Governing Board it should be noted
that the Board is currently chaired by Ignacio Terés Los Arcos.

The suitability for their post of people covered by regulation 30 of Bank of Spain
Circular 2/2016 and EBA Guidelines 2017/12 on the assessment of the suitability
of members of the management body and key function holders, is assessed
by the Bank’'s Appointments Committee as one of its functions. The suitability
of those joining the Bank’s Governing Board for the first time is also assessed by
the Bank of Spain, whose approval is essential for anyone to take up their post
on the Board.

The Appointments Committee also assesses issues of incompatibility in
compliance with regulation 34 of Bank of Spain Circular 2/2016 and and EBA
Guidelines 2017/12 on the assessment of the suitability of members of the
management body and key function holders, looking at each member of the
Bank’'s Governing Board and General Management. This information is passed
on to the Bank of Spain on request for its controls in this respect.
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REMUNERATION OF GOVERNING BOARD

The per diems approved at the General Meeting of 9 May 2014 to remunerate
Caja Rural de Navarra's directors for attending Board and Committee meetings
were approved with quorum of 77 people, 1,253 valid votes, 1,253 votes in
favour, 0 against and 0 abstentions. Total remuneration (in thousands of euros)
accrued by each board member is as follows:

Ignacio Terés Los Arcos: 21.6

José Angel Ezcurra Ibarrola: 4.2
Carlos Sdnchez Diestro: 2.8
Alberto Arrondo Lahera: 3.0
Pedro Maria Echarte Sevine: 3.6
Jesus Andrés Mauledn Arana: 2.6
Pedro Jesus Irisarri Valencia: 4.7
Manuel Garcia Diaz de Cerio: 2.6
Fernando Olleta Gayarre: 2.3
Marcelino Etayo Andueza: 4.4
Roberto Zabaleta Ciriza: 2.6
Francisco Javier Artajo Carlos: 2.2
Jesus Maria del Castillo Torres: 1.4
Gabriel Urrutia Aicega: 1.8

INFORMATION ON IDENTIFIED PERSONNEL IN ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATION
1 OF CIRCULAR 2/2016

Regarding identified personnel as specified in the Circular’s regulation 1, the
categories of personnel whose professional activities have a material impact
on the risk profile were as follows:

General management: 1 person

Risk management: 1 person

Audit: 1 person

Marketing: 1 person

Sales management: 1 person

Sales management, branches: 1 person
Corporate clients management: 1 person
Treasury/private banking management: 1 person
Management conftrol: 1 person

Head of equity investments: 1 person
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- Head of legal affairs: 1 person

- Head of human resources: 1 person

- Head of technology and organization: 1 person
- Head of housing and real estate assets: 1 person

Total remuneration paid to this group in 2018 was EUR 1,882 thousand.

Remuneration to the identified group is paid as fixed individual remuneration
to fairly reflect each employee’s responsibility and professional career. This is
reviewed regularly (at least annually) and changed where appropriate. The
Remuneration Committee analyses the basic principles of the policy applied.

Remuneration is adjusted through variable remuneration taking account of the
results of each working team and the overall results of the Bank. They are always
based on the qualitative issues most closely related to long-term performance
(maintenance of the customer base, customer satisfaction, balanced growth
in terms of segments and products, etc.). Part of this remuneration may be
deferred for between 3 and 5 years, tied to completion of the Strategic Plan for
this period. No variable remuneration exceeding 100% of fixed remuneration
has ever been approved.

This Annual Corporate Governance Report was approved by the Company’s
Board at the meeting held on: 22/03/2019

List the directors that voted against or abstained from approving this report:
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CSR REPORT AND NON-FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT OF CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA
AND CONSOLIDATED NON-FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF CAJA RURAL DE
NAVARRA GROUP 2018

EXTERNAL VERIFICATION DATE 11 APRIL 201

In this Corporate Social Responsibility Report Caja Rural de Navarra has

comprehensively applied GRI Standards which have been verified by Aenor as
external assurer.

Annex Il contains the 2018 Non-Financial Statements in accordance with Law
11/2018 of 28 December.

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

1. CHAIRMAN'S LETTER

This is the second year in which Caja Rural de Navarra presents its Corporate
SocialResponsibility Report. Last yearwe combined the preparation of thisreport
with the publication of non-financial information, which certain companies
were obliged to publish for the first time, to improve transparency in these fields.

This year, following publication of Act 11/2018, Caja Rural de Navarra has
decided that this report should also address all the required standards thereby
fulfiling both sets of reporting requirements: regulatory and corporate.

The information is principally based on the Global Reporting Initiative
(GRI) Sustainability Reporting Standards to provide greater objectivity and
comparability, a format that ultimately improves the Bank’s tfransparency vis-a-
vis wider society. Also, as the new regulations require, the information has been
verified by specialist external assurers, in our case this year by the company
AENOR, which has a widely respected track record in the field.

The Bank's social vocation is grounded in its legal form as a cooperative, its
corporate mission, carrying on its business in all economic sectors, and in its
local regional footprint, creating a form of symbiosis that is almost existential
for the Bank in that the Bank’s development parallels that of the community
where it is active and each relies on the other. The region generates initiatives
for development and we support these initiatives financially and socially.

Caja Rural de Navarra's business keeps it close to its community and impacts
its social environment. This helps encourage sustainability and embodies its
commitment to local economic development which, in turn, helps shape the
present and future environment in which we operate.

New regulations are ever more demanding on corporate transparency issues
in all areas and social responsibility reporting is one of the most important.
Companies have to meet the economic objectives that underpin our
development. But we have to do this sustainably and taking account of the
impact our business has on our community.

Making progress on this front is part of our engagement with society and our
main stakeholders (employees, customers and suppliers), and strengthens our
relationships with people, customers and our community. This helps guarantee
our economic and social sustainability.

We hope this report will help make the Bank betfter and more widely known
among all those who, in whatever way, are interested in and committed to its
development.

IGNACIO TERES LOS ARCOS
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2. ABOUT THE REPORT

2.1. ABOUT THE REPORT

This is the second Corporate social responsibility report, based on data at 31
December 2018 and compiled in accordance with GRI standards with a closely
drawn focus on the most significant disclosures and the same scope as the first
report.

In Annex Il Caja Rural de Navarra publishes the Non-Financial Statements for
the consolidated Group in accordance with Law 11/2018 of 28 December,
on non-financial information and diversity, including European Commission
Communication 2017/EC/215/01 on Guidelines for the presentation of non-
financial reports.

The report seeks to give an overall view of Caja Rural de Navarra’s progress in
2018, its management model, its place in the Spanish financial system and its
exercise of corporate social responsibility in the various areas where it applies.

The report contains the most relevant economic and financial and corporate
governance information, as well asinformation on the social and environmental
issues that have been judged relevant for our stakeholders.

As for the reporting scope, we report on Caja Rural de Navarra, as a financial
institution, and in Annex Il we also report on the set of companies in which it
invests and those included in its scope of consolidation.

Regarding dissemination of the report, we plan to issue it through the following
channels:

- Made available to people and agents who contributed to its preparation.
- Publication on www.cajaruraldenavarra.com
- Breakdown among principle stakeholder groups.

Request for information:

Information that is not included in this report can be found at www.
cajaruraldenavarra.com or requested by applying to the contact addresses
below:

- e-mail: See “"Contacta” section of www.cajaruraldenavarra.com,
buzon.crnavarra@cajarural.com

- mail: Servicio de Atencion al Cliente (Customer Services Department) CAJA
RURAL DE NAVARRA, Plaza de los Fueros 1 31003 Pamplona.
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In2017, Caja Ruralde Navarra preparedits first CSRreport. In 2018, it publishes the
second CSR report for Caja Rural de Navarra and the Non-financial Statement
for Caja Rural de Navarra Consolidated Group, with external assurance by
Aenor.

Caja Rural de Navarra's Governing Board will sign off the CSR report, which will
be presented after its approval at the General Meeting.

The intention is to publish this Report each year.

2.2. DIALOGUE WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Having carried out an analysis and initial diagnostic, one of the measures
implemented was to set in train a dialogue with stakeholders. This process was
seen not only as an essential tool to determine what should be included in this
report but also as a channel through which the Bank’s different stakeholders
could participate actively in its CSR strategy.

Caja Rural de Navarra has identified the people or groups of people which
have an impact on or are affected by its activities, products and services and
which therefore have a stake in Caja Rural de Navarra.

It is important to embed a commitment to stakeholders. This means initiating
a range of actions and efforts to understand and involve these groups in the
Bank’s activities and decision-making.

Stakeholder groups participating in the process:

- Retail customers

- Private banking customers
- Corporate customers

- Institutional customers

- People

- Suppliers

Caja Rural de Navarra’'s management of its stakeholders is based on trust and
open dialogue, which allows us to forge close relationships with each of them,
understand their needs and expectations and make commitments to improve.

The abovementioned groups have been consulted by Caja Rural de Navarra
to determine which CSR issues they see as most pressing for Caja Rural de
Navarra and this has been distilled into a single priority list of relevant material
issues for the stakeholders consulted.
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Channels for communication with stakeholders:

Caja Rural de Navarra has set up a number of channels and mechanisms
to generate dialogue with its stakeholders. All the information collected and
analysed through these dialogue processes feeds into future CSR guidelines
and initiatives.

STAKEHOLDER GROUPS COMMUNICATION CHANNELS
CUSTOMERS Customer services departments - Social networks
Quality surveys - Te escuchamos (we are listening)
Retail Customer satisfaction review
Corporate Suggestion boxes
Private banking Cajaruraldenavarra.com website
Institutions General commercial relationships

Materiality survey for the preparation of this report
Personal materiality interviews for the preparation of this report

Materiality focus group of corporate customers for the preparation of this
report

EMPLOYEES Caja Rural de Navarra infranet

Internal website: ideas and experiences

Comité de Empresa (works council)

Internal Communication Group

Materiality focus group for the preparation of this report

Materiality survey with employees of Caja Rural de Navarra for the prepa-
ration of this report

SUPPLIERS Commercial and contractual relationships
Quality surveys

Materiality survey of the biggest-billing suppliers of Caja Rural de Navarra
in2018

2.3. EXTERNAL MATERIALITY ANALYSIS AND INTERNAL VISION

For the second year, as part of the process of preparing the CSR report to GRI
standards (see www.globalreporting.org/standards/), Caja Rural de Navarra
has carried out a materiality analysis.

This analysis was done only at Parent Bank scope. (Caja Rural de Navarra).

The aim is to identify those issues that most impact the organization and its
stakeholders and which it is therefore essential to report on.

The guidelines state that sustainability reporting should be based on the
following principles:stakeholder inclusiveness, sustainability context, materiality
and completeness.

E A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA


Cajaruraldenavarra.com
www.globalreporting.org/standards

Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

In applying these principles to report content, Caja Rural de Navarra has
defined and applied a number of methodologies to identify which issues are
material.

This document summarises the main conclusions of Caja Rural de Navarra's
materiality analysis, which was carried out between December 2017 and
March 2018 and updated in March 2019.

In preparing this CSR report, the Bank consulted closely on expectations with its
suppliers and employees to make sure it was representative of their views.

RESPONSES
EXTERNAL VIEW CONSULTANCY METHODS OBTAINED
Retail customers Online questionnaire 2,633
Private banking customers | Focus group with managers 24
Face-to-face interviews with customers
Written questionnaire
Corporate customers Focus group with managers 33
Focus group with customers
Face-to-face interviews with customers
Written questionnaire
Institutional customers Online questionnaire 27
Employees Focus group with the Internal Communications
Committee 20
Questionnaire 2018 468
Questionnaire 2019
Suppliers Questionnaire 2018 2
Questionnaire 2019 6
RESPONSES
INTERNAL VIEW CONSULTANCY METHODS OBTAINED
Management Committee | Online questionnaire 31

After analysing the consultations with stakeholders, the areas of information
considered to be a priority by each stakeholder group and on which Caja
Rural de Navarra should therefore report were found to be:

RETAIL CUSTOMERS
* Caja Rural de Navarra’s policy on CSR and social engagement.

* Reporting on the Commercial Model: transparency, marketing channels,
ethical behaviour, etc.

* Corporate reporting: Bank strategy, corporate and organizational structure,
etc.
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INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS
» Caja Rural de Navarra’s policy on CSR and social engagement.

» Corporate reporting: Bank strategy, corporate and organizational structure, etc.

* Reporting on the Commercial Model: transparency, marketing channels,
ethical behaviour, etc.

PRIVATE BANKING CUSTOMERS

* Reporting on the Sales Model: tfransparency, marketing channels, ethical
behaviour, etc.

» Corporate reporting: Bank strategy, corporate and organizational structure, etc.
e Caja Rural de Navarra's policy on CSR and social engagement.

PEOPLE

* Financial strength of the Bank and global risk management.

Caja Rural de Navarra’s policy on CSR and social engagement. ¢ Marketing
fransparency.

Quality of service and customer satisfaction.

Work-life balance.
CORPORATE CUSTOMERS

* Reporting on the Sales Model: tfransparency, marketing channels, ethical
behaviour, etc.

» Corporate reporting: Bank strategy, corporate and organizational structure, etc.
» Caja Rural de Navarra’s policy on CSR and social engagement.

SUPPLIERS

» Strategy.

» Corporate and organizational structure.

* Quality of service and customer satisfaction.

Caja Rural de Navarra’s materiality analysis take into account internal and
external elements in order to identify the material scope.

Thus, once the stakeholders’ priorites have been identified, members of
management committee and product managers are questionned to complete
Caja Rural de Navarra’s vision and estrategy.
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PPRIORITIES OF STAKE- | ISSUES:

HOLDERS * ECONOMIC  ® SOCIAL  ® ENVIRONMENTAL
EXTERNAL VIEW

® Quality of service and customer satisfaction

® Caja Rural de Navarra’s policy on CSR and social engagement
® Marketing transparency

® Financial strength of the Bank and global risk management
® Strategy
® Corporate culture

HIGH

® Sales model
® Management of suggestions, complaints and claims
® Corporate and organizational structure

® Marketing channels

® Personal development

®* Work-life balance

MEDIUM ® Equality and diversity

® Education and environmental awareness

® Code of conduct

® Reduction of consumables

LOW ® Payment systems
® Conftracting criteria

PRIORITIES OF STAKE- | ISSUES:

HOLDERS * ECONOMIC  ® SOCIAL  *® ENVIRONMENTAL
INTERNAL VISION

® Financial strength of the Bank and global risk management

® Strategy

® Caja Rural de Navarra's policy on CSR and social engagement
® Marketing transparency

HIGH

® Quality of service and customer satisfaction
® Corporate culture

MEDIUM

® Corporate and organizational structure
® Codes of conduct

® Marketing channels

® Commercial model
® Personal development
® Equality and diversity

® Work-life balance
®* Management of suggestions, complaints and claims
® Contracting criteria

Low

® Payment systems
® Reduced use of consumables

® Education and environmental awareness
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PRIORITIES OF STAKE- | ISSUES:

HOLDERS ® ECONOMIC  ® SOCIAL  ® ENVIRONMENTAL
GLOBAL VIEW

® Financial strength of the Bank and global risk management

® Caja Rural de Navarra's policy on CSR
® Social engagement Strategy

HIGH

® Marketing transparency
® Quality of service and customer satisfaction
® Corporate culture

® Corporate and organizational structure

® Commercial model
® Marketing channels
®* Management of suggestions, complaints and claims

MEDIUM

® Codes of conduct Codes of conduct
® Personal development

® Equality and diversity

® Work-life balance

LOW ® Education and environmental awareness

® Reduction of consumables

® Payment systems
® Conftracting criteria

The following table shows the relative importance of the different issues
addressed by the analysis

° Strategy

a Corporate strategy and organisation
e Corporate culture
o Financial strength of the Bank ang global risk management

o ©
2]

e Caja Rural de Navarra's CSR Policy and Social Commitment
o Personal development

0 Work/life balance

e Equality and diversity

o Commercial model

@ Marketing channels

m Transparency in marketing

@ Service quality and customer satisfaction

Importance for stakeholders
MEDIUM

m Contracting criteria

@ Code of conduct

m Payment systems

Q Reducing use of consumables
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Strategic importance for Caja Rural de Navarra
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The materiality analysis conducted by Caja Rural de Navarra identified the
following material issues for mandatory inclusion in the CSR Report:

ECONOMIC

* Financial strength of the Bank and global risk management.
* Strategy.

* Marketing transparency.

* Quality of service and customer satisfaction.

SOCIAL
* Caja Rural de Navarra's policy on CSR and social engagement.

* Corporate culture.

e Employee issues were not identified as material. But we have nonetheless
reported on measures taken by the organization and management focus in
this area.

ENVIRONMENTAL

¢ No environmental issues were identified as material. This is consistent with the
nature of Caja Rural de Navarra's business.

This report sets out the environmental measures taken in our organization as
an indication of the Bank’s commitment to the environment.

The materiality analysis also yielded interesting information on our stakeholders
which will feed into the design of our Corporate Social Responsibility Plan during
the next few years.

The Materiality Analysis was carried out between December 2017 and March
2018 and updated in March 2019.

In 2018, the materiality analysis was updated. The consultation to employees
and supplier stakeholder groups was deeper however the issues considered as
material did not change.
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2.4. MANAGEMENT FOCUS

Guided by the conclusions of the materiality analysis following consultation
with our stakeholders, Caja Rural de Navarra bases its relationship with its
stakeholders on the following criteria:

1. CUSTOMERS

The Bank focuses overwhelmingly on local and retail banking. Little surprise then
that the main points identified in our materiality matrix have to do with how we
relate to our customers (retail, private banking, corporate and institutional).

The Bank prioritises responsible banking with a long-term view of its customers’
needs regarding products (fransparency and advice on investment and
financing products) and in its marketing processes, emphasising local
connections and quality of service.

See the “"Customers’” section below for further details of the Bank’s activities in
this area.

2. THE TEAM

Regarding employees, the materiality analysis identified a number of key points
to which the Bank is paying special attention. Partficularly important were the
issues of involving the tfeam in strategy, career management plans, training and
a policy on professional selection and development based on merit and effort.
All this is being implemented over a long-term horizon, something we believe is
fundamental to avoid conflicts of interest and make sure the work being done
by our teams aligns with the aims of our different stakeholder groups, a crucial
point for a services company if it is to flourish over the long tferm.

3. THE COMPANY

Our relationship with wider society is a differentiating factor for Caja Rural de
Navarra. Our structure as a regional cooperative bank inevitably implies a
close relationship with the region where we operate and a longer term vision.
This reflects its cooperative ownership and business structure, which helps limit
the risk of taking decisions on too short term a basis or where the interests of one
group take excessive precedence over the rest.

On this point, it is essential for the Bank that society in the regions where we
operate continues to see us as a local institution, supporting local initiatives,
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which has a far more direct knowledge of the economic and social realities
of the towns and cities in our regions, and which supports key social groups
fo support long-term community development, such as SMEs, entrepreneurs,
grass-roots sport, educational and cultural activities, etc. with an inclusive focus
for the different social groups that is sustainable over time.

4. ENVIRONMENT

As a financial services institution, the Bank has limited direct material impact on
environmentalissues. Nonetheless, the Bank is developing multiple initiatives not
only by reducing the negative impact of its own activities but also by supporting
initiatives designed to improve the environment in our regions through fraining,
awareness-raising, direct investment in environmental business projects (forest
management, renewable energy, etc.) and by supporting projects to improve
the environment through its financing lines (sustainable agriculture, sustainable
forest management, waste management, renewable energy and energy
efficiency).

5. SUPPLIERS

Caja Ruralde Navarra seeks to maintain with its suppliers and partner companies
a close, respectful, trusting and transparent relationship which promotes in-
depth knowledge of the companies we contract with and confidence in the
quality of the services provided, as we explain in greater detail below.

In its selection processes, the Bank measures suppliers against its own set of
ethical principles, which besides including quality and financial costs, also
requires that companies respect workers’ rights, behave transparently and
have a clean record on social and environmental issues.

2.5. STRATEGY

Caja Rural de Navarra is a cooperative institution specialising in retail and
regional banking, which serves its customers through a network of 252 branches
in the regions of Comunidad Foral de Navarra, the Basque Country and La
Rioja as well as through its virtual channels.

The Bank has drawn up a 4-year Strategic Plan to complement its annual plans.

The key principles of the Strategic Plan are based on balanced growth which
allows the Bank to keep growing market share in all areas where it operates
while maintaining its differentiating model of a regional retail cooperative bank.
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To achieve this, it is essential to maintain the levels of profit, efficiency, solvency
and liquidity set out in the Strategic Plan, as well as to develop a marketing
approach that meets the needs of customers and adapts as necessary to the
needs of each segment and type of demand. An important tool for this is the
digital customer service that the Bank offers its customers through Ruralvia, its
e-banking facility, accessible through a range of devices including computers,
smart phone, tablet and other IT apps (Ruralvia pay, etc.) as well as the ATM
network.

The Bank also belongs to Caja Rural Group, a financial group based on a
federal banking model. This overcomes the limitations of its member Rural
Credit Cooperatives regarding scale and the geographical reach of their
business while safeguarding their full autonomy and the essential requirement
of banking effectiveness and business efficiency.

To run its business, the Caja Rural Group relies on shared central services provided
by the companies set up by the group and covering each of the main business
areas of the member Rural Credit Cooperatives. Banco Cooperativo Espanol,
Seguros RGA and Rural Servicios Informdticos give the group a competitive edge
in meeting the challenges of an increasingly innovative and demanding market.

The main challenges and strategies of the Bank can be summed up as achieving
the profitability to guarantee its future sustainability through a high-quality
financial offer and a cost structure that provides the necessary competitiveness.

The strategy is to be a leader, or a benchmark institution, in its natural market.
The Bank is an integral part of society and, by virtue of its origins and deep
roots in local society, is an important and energizing confributor to social
development.

It is fully committed to its environment, on which the Bank is completely
dependent for its own development, while always taking a long-term view.

The Bank’s strategy incorporates the following points:

* Continuing improvement of market share in its key segments: retail, corporate
and institutional banking.

* Further digitization of internal and external processes and of the bank’s
institutional and marketing communications.

* Maintenance and on occasion expansion of the bank’s branch network in
the regions where it is active (navarre, the basque country and la rioja).

* Promotion of advice and distribution of investment products, with a special
focus on private and personal banking in accordance with the changes
brought in by mifid ii requlations.
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* Maintaining levels of solvency, liquidity, efficiency and asset quality.

* Support for the cooperative banking model through the spanish association
of cajas rurales and companies in which it has equity investments (banco
cooperativo espanol, rural grupo asegurador, rural informdatica, etc.) with the
aim of maintaining the economies of scale, efficiency and competitiveness
essential for the market.

» Continuous training for employees and development of new products and
services to further the abovementioned aims.

* Development of insurance distribution.

* Stepping up communication of the bank’s esg strategy, by publishing the
first corporate social responsibility (csr) report and sustaining initiatives in this
field, such as the sustainability framework that applies to the loan book.

2.6. PROGRESS OF CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA'S STRATEGIC PLAN

Strategic planning has long been one of the Bank’s key management tools, with
a series of plans over several years. The current plan was drawn up in 2015 for the
following four years: 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019. At the time of writing in 2019 we
can say that we are meeting the targets planned. Key targets included:

Loans and Advances:

This target is on track. The Strategic Plan foresaw annual growth of 7% overall.
In 2018, global growth was 6.31%, or 9.53% in the branches outside Navarre,
meaning these branches outside Navarre are now contributing 50% of total
lending.

Liabilities:
Liabilities slightly underperformed the projected annual growth of 7% in the

Strategic Plan. In 2018 growth was 5.21%, 8.17% outside Navarre with ex-Navarre
branches contributing 38% of all liabilities at the end of the year.

New customers:

The bank attracted 33,835 new customers in 2018, more than envisaged in the
Strategic Plan.

Non-performing loans:

NPLs remained very low at 1.77% in 2018, which is in fact below the plan target
of 2.08%.

Profit:

Total profitin 2018 was EUR 91.25 million, beating the EUR 71.63 million projected
in the Strategic Plan.
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Solvency:
The Bank achieved its budgeted solvency ratio of 16.40%.

Overall, we can report that we hit most of the economic targets set in the Plan,
improved market share and expanded our network in the markets of Vizcaya
(2 new branches in 2018) and Alava (1 new branch in 2018).

Other strategic targets included the Digital Transformation Plan which will help
us improve productivity and multi-channel banking to better compete in the
market.
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3. ABOUT US: STRUCTURE OF THE BANK

3.1. ABOUT US

Caja Rural de Navarra is a credit institution that operates in Spain. Although its
origins date back to 1210 as the central body for several Navarre cooperatives,
Caja Rural de Navarra was founded in its current legal form in 1946. It is subject
to the laws and regulations on credit institutions operating in Spain including Act
13/1989, of 26 May, on Cooperative Credit Institutions, Royal Decree 84/1993, of
22 January, and Act 27/1999, of 16 July, on Cooperatives. The Bank is governed
by its articles of association, as officially amended to comply with Act 27/1999.

It is a member of the Deposit Guarantee Fund and registered in the Special
Register of Banks and Bankers under number 3008.

Caja Rural de Navarra has more than 164,900 members representing a wide
diversity of sectors and society. The Company has no maijority or controlling
members.

Its business originally focused on the agri-business and fisheries sector but
developed over the years as the region became increasingly industrialised.
Now, Caja Rural de Navarra operates a universal banking model, with a culture
based on fransparency, responsibility , austerity and risk management.

It retains its local focus and, following the tradition of the European cooperative
model, its financial activities serve all retail banking segments (retail, corporate,
the self-employed, institutions, etc.) through a network of 252 branches in the
regions of the Comunidad Foral de Navarra, Basque Country and La Rioja.

Its strategy is local growth. Despite the radical changes that have redrawn
the map of Spanish banking in recent years it has been neither the object nor
protagonist of any mergers and has retained its name and the historical brand
of Caja Rural de Navarra.

The Bank has maintained its business model of pursuing confinued growth
over tfime and has proved successful in improving its market position, financial
statements, solvency and liquidity, having emerged stronger from the 2008
financial crisis.

Caja Rural de Navarra has been, since the early 1990s, the a founding member
of the “Grupo Caja Rural” (the “Group” or “Caja Rural Group”) in which
regional cooperative banks came together as a way to generate synergies
and economies of scale. This association is not however a “Group” in the sense
of Article 42 of the Spanish Commercial Code. The system of association based
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on a federated banking model means members can retain their autonomy,
provided they adhere to the essential prerequisites of banking activity and
business efficiency, while overcoming the limitations of small scale and regional
scope they would otherwise have to confront. Currently, the Group's corporate
structure looks as follows:

GROUP CORPORATE STRUCTURE
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This modelis typical of European cooperative banking (Crédit Agricolein France,
DZ Bank in Germany, Rabobank in the Netherlands, etc.) and provides greater
security and stability to its member institutions. Its core principles are strong
regional roots and collaboration in the economic and social development of
the local communities where member institutions operate.

This system of integration based on a federated banking model means members
can retain their autonomy, provided they adhere to the essential prerequisites
of banking activity and business efficiency, while overcoming the limitations of
small scale and regional scope they would otherwise have to confront.

1. Spanish Association of Cajas Rurales

An association constituted under Organic Act 1/2002 of 22 March regulating
the Right of Association in Spain and additional regulations, with its own legal
personality and authorised to work, on a not-for-profit basis, for the fulfilment of
the corporate purposes for which it is founded, these generally being to foment
cooperation between its member institutions, so strengthening their solvency
and stability and improving their functioning and financial results.

The Association was created in 1989 and currently includes 29 Rural Credit
Cooperatives, all of which are independent of each other. It is governed by
its articles of association and, in matters not covered by these, by applicable
regulations. These include as an integral part the Regulations and Disciplinary
procedures of the IPS (Institutional Protection Scheme).

The governing bodies of the Association are the General Meeting, attended by
allmember banks, and the Management Board, which statutorily has between
6 and 12 members. Caja Rural de Navarra, because of its size, has always been
a part of the Association’s Management Board since its creation. These bodies
also exercise governance over the IPS.

A. The IPS.

Constituted in 2018, the IPS is an intercooperative mutual support and defence
scheme created within the Association for the benefit of its members. It is an
Institutional Protection Scheme in the sense of Article 113.7 of Regulation (EU)
no. 575/2013 of the European Parliament and Council of 26 June 2013.

The IPS has no legal personality and is understood as the complex set of assets,
rights, obligations and commitments included in the Association’s articles of
association and its protocols.

The purpose of the IPS is to help sustain the financial stability of its members
individually and as a whole and help reduce the risk profile of its members.
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The IPS's membership is made up of banks belonging to the Spanish Association
of Cajas Rurales (the "Association”), Banco Cooperativo Espanol and the
Holding Company.

The IPS has a Management Committee, constituted as a Delegated committee
of the Association’s Management Board, which is responsible for day-to-day
management of the IPS and acts as its main management body. Caja Rural
de Navarra, due to its weight in the Group, is @ member of the Management
Committee.

B. The Holding Company

The Holding Company is owned by the member Rural Credit Cooperatives
pro rata their average total assets (ATA) in the Group. Caja Rural de Navarra
currently has a 20.35% stake. The Holding Company's name is “Grucajrural
Inversiones S.L.". It also owns the shares in the following companies belonging
to the Caja Rural Group:

» Seguros RGA, which is composed of the following companies:
- RGA Seguros Generales Rural S.A. de Seguros y Reaseguros

- RGA Rural Vida S.A. de Seguros y Reaseguros

- RGA Rural Pensiones S.A.

- RGA Mediacion OBSV S.A.

- RGA Rural Grupo Asegurador

* Banco Cooperativo Espanol:

Caja Rural de Navarra, because of its weighting within the Group, sits on the
Board of Directors of this company, which it also currently chairs.

2. Banco Cooperativo Espanol S.A. (BCE)

BCE is an equity investment of the Caja Rural Group, whose capital is 84.73%
owned by the member Banks — either directly or indirectly via Grucajarural
Inversiones S.L. — and 12% owned by DZ Bank, a similarly inspired German
cooperative banking group. Since being set up, BCE has confributed
considerable know-how and experience to the Group and given it an
international dimension.

The main purpose of Banco Cooperativo Espanol, set up in 1990, is to help
the Group's banks achieve an appropriate market position and exploit the
synergies and competitive advantages offered by their association. To achieve
this, the bank is segmented into different specialist areas, responsible for dealing
efficiently with shareholders and customers.

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

These are: Retail, Corporate, Private Banking, Treasury and Capital Markets,
International, Human Resources, Organization and Legal Affairs and Tax.

The board of directors has 13 members, mostly drawn from the Caja Rural
Group companies. Caja Rural de Navarra, because of its weighting within the
Group, sits on the Board of Directors of BCE. It also currently chairs the Board.

The Group has its own fund manager, Gescooperativo S.G.II.C, SA, whose
management is controlled by BCE, which is responsible for managing and
marketing its in-house Investment Funds.

BCE is also supported in specific aspects of its business by the following
companies: Rural Informdtica S.A., Rural Inmobiliaria S.L., BCE Formacién S.A.,
Espiga Capital Riesgo S.A. and Rural Renting S.A.

Caja Rural de Navarra has no presence on any of these companies’ governing
bodies as they are operating companies of the bank itself.

Links: www.ruralvia.com/bancocooperativo
3. Seguros RGA

Seguros RGA was founded in 1986 with the aim of allowing Rural Credit
Cooperatives to offer their customers a broad range of insurance and
comprehensive provident solutions.

Members of Caja Rural Group own 97.3% of the company’s capital. The
component companies of Seguros RGA are as follows:

* RGA Seguros Generales Rural, SA de Seguros y Reaseguros.

* RGA Rural Vida, S.A. de Seguros y Reaseguros.

* RGA Rural Pensiones, S.A. Enfidad Gestora de Fondos de Pensiones.

» RGA Mediacioén, Operador de Banca-Seguros Vinculado, S.A.

* RGA Grupo Asegurador, Agrupaciéon de Interés Econdmico.

Caja Rural de Navarra is represented on the Boards of Directors of RGA Seguros
generales rural SA and RGA Rural vida SA.

Links: www.segurosrga.es

4. Rural Servicios Informdaticos (RSI)

Rural Servicios Informdaticos, founded in 1986, is the Caja Rural Group's vehicle
for defining and implementing the shared strategy for automated data
processing at the Caja Rural Group. It is a Banking IT firm that designs, develops
and manages solutions and services for the Caja Rural Group Banks and now
also for other customers.

RSI's share capital is wholly owned by the members of the Caja Rural Group
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and it currently earns 67% of its revenues from Group members and 33% from
third parties. The Board of Directors has 12 members, all representatives of Group
entities. Caja Rural de Navarra, because of its weighting within the Group has
always had a seat on the Board. It currently has an 18.03% stake in the company.

There are two other companies whose activities are closely linked to those of RSI.

A. Nessa Global Banking Solutions

Created in 2011, Nessa Global Banking Solutions is the vehicle through which
RSI does business in international markets with companies outside the Caja
Rural Group. It gives RSI a presence in four continents: Asia, America, Africa
and Europe.

Atthe moment, itisgoverned by aSole Directorwho acts asits top representative
and management body. Caja Rural de Navarra currently has a 14.43% stake
in this company.

B. Docadlia S.L.

Docalia was created in 2003 when it was spun out of RSI's Post-Production
Services Area. It is now a benchmark in Spain for infegrated management
and personalization of documents, cheques and cards.

At the moment, it is governed by a Sole Director who acts as its top
representative and management body. Caja Rural de Navarra currently has
a 18.04% stake in this company.

Links:
http://www.ruralserviciosinformaticos.com
www.nessagbs.com, www.docalia.com

5. UNACC

Caja Rural de Navarra is also a member of UNACC (the National Union of
Cooperative Credit Institutions). UNACC was created in 1970 as the trade body
for cooperative credit institutions representing the sector at institutional level.
It is a free association and its membership includes all the Cooperative Credit
Institutions in Spain. Its core purpose is to represent and defend the interests of
its members, promote the credit cooperative model and act as interlocutors
and representatives with public authorities and other bodies.

Its governance bodies are: The General Meeting of the 43 cooperatives that
are currently members and a 15-strong Governing Board, which Caja Rural de
Navarra currently sits on and vice-chairs.

UNACC has aninternational presence through the EACB (European Association
of Cooperative Banks) an umbrella organization for Europe’s cooperative
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credit institutions, which, with a market share of 20%, play an important role in
the continent’s economic and financial system. The association represents the
interests of its 27 members, with their 3,100 affiliated cooperative banks and
80.5 million members, in European institutions.

Links:
WWW.UNnacc.com, www.eacb.coop

COMPOSITION OF THE CAJA RURAL GROUP

GRUPO CAJA RURAL 100% RSI
Rural Credit Cooperatives 100% SEGUROS RGA
(AECR members) 88%| BANCO COOPERATIVO ESPANOL | 12% DZ BANK

THE CAJA RURAL GROUP - KEY FIGURES
EMPLOYEES BRANCHES ATMs MEMBERS CUSTOMERS
8,401 2,341 2,500 1.5 millones 6.8 millones

3.2. PROFILE OF THE ORGANISATION

1. NAME
CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito.

2. LEGAL PERSONALITY (FORM)
Credit Cooperative.

3. CORPORATE PURPOSE

To engage in all types of lending and deposit-taking operations and provide
services typical of the financial institutions that comprise the Spanish Financial
System.

4. REGISTERED OFFICE
Pamplona (Navarre), Plaza de los Fueros, N°1.

5. REGISTRATION AND LICENSES

Registered in the Register of Cooperatives and Limited Partnerships of the
Directorate General for the Spanish Labour and Social Security Ministry with
number 2163/344.S.M.T., in the Bank of Spain with number 3008 and the Navarra
Companies Register with volume 11, page 175, sheet NA 183.

6.Tax Identification N°. (NIF)
F/31021611
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7. CORPORATE BODIES
A. General Meeting.
B. Governing Board.

8. SCOPE OF OPERATIONS

Caja Rural de Navarra’s territorial scope of operation covers the whole of
Spain, although the bank currently operates in the provinces of Navarre, La
Rioja, Guipuzcoa, Alava and Vizcaya.

3.3. GOVERNING BODIES

The Caja Rural's corporate purpose as a credit institution, means that
the Governing Board, besides its general competence to define and
oversee implementation of a governance system for effective and prudent
management of the bank, is also obliged by the EBA internal governance
guidelines [EBA/ GL/2017/11] to create and oversee an appropriate and
effective internal control framework that defines an organizational structure.
This must, among other points, provide internal risk management, compliance
and audit functions, with the independence, authority, scope and resources to
properly fulfil their functions.

In line with the Company’'s permanent commitment to best corporate
governance practice, the Governing Board of Caja Rural de Navarra, in exercise
of its powers to set the Company’s strategic aims including those for risk and
infernal governance, approved this System for Internal Governance of Caja
Rural de Navarra (the “System”). Its implementation and development will be
overseen by the Governing Board with the support of its delegated committees.

The System has the following aims:

* To promote transparent, independent, effective and prudent management
of the Company and its Group, in compliance with the requirements of
regulators and supervisors.

e To clearly attribute responsibilities and competences for internal control,
including defining audit and internal control units and functions.

* To make sure that decisions are taken in an appropriately informed manner
and in the interest of the Bank and hence its shareholders and to look after
the interests of investors, customers, employees and other stakeholders.

General principles:
To comply with its aim of ensuring sound and prudent management of the

Company, the System and the policies and procedures for its development are
based on a number of principles, including the following:
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Promoting efficient and organised functioning of the Governing Board in
coordination with its Committees. The Governing Board has at the core of
its mission the general role of representation, administration, management
and control of the Company and is therefore responsible for reviewing and
steering corporate strategy, the principle action plans, risk policies, budgets
and annual plans, setting targets, overseeing their implementation and
fulflment within the corporate scope, delegating day-to-day management
Company to the management team.

* Defining appropriately the essential bases of the structure, organization
and functioning of Caja Rural de Navarra, guaranteeing efficient strategic
coordination.

* Establishing a robust system for supervision and internal control as one of
the System'’s objectives, based on a clearly defined framework for relations
between the Company’s governing bodies and management.

« Commitment to fransparency, fulfiled by defining a System based on clear,
fransparent and documented decision-making processes.

* Embedding a corporate culture based on ethical and sustainable action
by the Company’s governing bodies, control units, management and
employees.

* Compliance with regulations and good governance practices, so that the
Company complies in all its actions with applicable law and best practice
for corporate governance, including with any future international standards
and guidelines applicable to the Company and its Group that may be
approved by the competent authorities.

3.3.1. Governing bodies and internal management and control structure

Caja Rural de Navarra has an organizational structure and an appropriate
and transparent operating model for management and conftrol that ensures
it can act efficiently action and comply with the principles of good corporate
governance. It is a core function of the Governing Board to make sure the
Company'’s structure is aligned with its business and risk model. It therefore
regularly reviews its organization and how any changes affect the Company,
adjusting its structure and functioning where necessary.

The Company’'s corporate governance model also includes internal
management bodies. At the highest level are the Managing Director supported
by the Management Committee. The former is the permanent channel
for relations and communications between the Governing Board and the
Company'’s executive operations as represented by its senior management.
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The corporate structure of Caja Rural de Navarra is as follows:

GENERAL MEETING

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE
RISK
COMMITTEE

APPOINTMENTS
COMMITTEE
AUDIT
COMMITTEE

GOVERNING BOARD

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

MANAGING DIRECTOR

1. General Meeting

The General Meeting, constituted by the members or their representatives, is
the supreme decision-making body for the Bank. The General Meeting is held
following a system of Preparatory Meetings. Members, whether individuals or
legal entities, take part in Meetings via delegates appointed at the Preparatory
Meetings and cannot reserve the right to attend the General Meeting in person.

2. Governing Board

The Governing Board is the collegiate body responsible for governance,
management and representation of Caja Rural. Its responsibilities include as
a minimum the oversight of executives and representing the cooperative. Ifs
representative powers cover all actions relating to the activities constituting its
corporate purpose. It is competent to set general guidelines for actions and to
exercise all powers that are notreserved by law or by the articles of association to
other corporate bodies. It shall conduct its business in accordance with the law,
the articles of association and the general policy set by the General Meeting.

For information on reporting lines and functiosn see:
https://www.cajaruraldenavarra.com/sites/default/files/lineas%20de %20
responsabilidad%20y%20funciones%205-2019.pdf

Members of the Governing Board are chosen from among the cooperative’s
members according to the procedure set out in articles 44 and 45 of
the Bank's articles of association. These can be found (in Spanish) at:
www.cajaruraldenavara.com/sites/default/files/fles/Estatutos_Caja_Rural_de_Navara.pdf
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The Board is made up of a minimum of 5 and a maximum of 15 members.
Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Secretary and up to twelve other Board
members. The members are chosen from among the members by the General
Meeting, by secret ballot based on the greatest number of votes. The remaining
memberis an employee of the Bank appointed by its fixed-contract employees.

The eleven other Board seats, excluding those for corporate officers and the
employee representative, are assigned to the different regions where the Bank
operates so that all have a member from their region on the Governing Board.

The Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Secretary can come from any of the regions
where the Bank operates.

All Board members must be fit and proper persons who have the knowledge,
competences and experience to carry out their functions and can act with
honesty, integrity and independence of ideas and dedicate sufficient time to
fulfil their functions in the Bank.

The Bank’'s Appointments Committee assesses whether each Board member
meets these criteria both when a person first presents themselves for a seat on
the Board and when they seek re-election at the General Meeting. The Bank
has a suitability policy and internal regulations on assessing the suitability of
senior management and key staff. If the Committee gives its approval, the
Bank of Spain must then confirm its decision and authorise the Board member's
registration in the Register of Senior Officers kept by its supervisor.

Also, each year, the Appointments Committee assesses the suitability of the
members of the Governing Board as a whole to verify that this body has the
knowledge and experience to understand the Bank's business, including the
main risks, and confirm that there is nothing to prevent the free expression
of opinion and decision-making by any of its members with complete
independence.

The Governing Board has rules of procedure setting out measures and guidance
foritsactionsand basic organizationaland functionalrules and codes of conduct
for its members, to improve efficiency, tfransparency and unity of criteria in the
management of Caja Rural de Navarra (the “Bank™ or “*CRN"). They define the
Governing Board’s general principles for the Bank’s governance: responsibility,
fransparency, independence, confidentiality, loyalty, suitability and efficiency.

3. Governing Board delegated committees

The Governing Board can designate from among its members, subject to
prior or subsequent ratification by the General Meeting, whatever Delegated
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Committees it considers necessary or that regulations require. These committees
can have executive or informative powers. Organizationally, they must have a
Chairman and Secretary.

Caja Rural de Navarra currently has the following Delegated Committees:

* Executive Committee.

* Audit Committee.

* Appointments Committee.
* Remuneration Committee.
* Risk Committee.

These committees are made up of 4 directors except the Executive Committee and
the Remuneration Committee which are made up of 5 members of the Bank’s Board.

Functions of CajaRural de Navarra’s Supervisory Bodies

GOVERNING BOARD

Representation of the Bank, high-level management and management
supervision. Each year it analyses issues relating to CSR and regularly reviews
economic and social impacts, risks and opportunities.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

A statutory body delegated by the Governing Board to provide more agile
decision-making on any matter within the Board’s remit except where these
cannot be delegated by law.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

A statutory body delegated by the Governing Board to oversee the internal
audit services, understand the financial reporting process and internal control
systems and oversee compliance with codes of conduct and the Bank’s
Regulatory Compliance.

APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE

A delegated body of the Governing Board. It identifies candidates for the Governing
Board, assesses the suitability of its members and the balance of expertise, capacities,
diversity and experience of the Board as a whole. It defines targets forimproving the
representation of the gender least represented on the Board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Adelegatedbody ofthe Governing Board. It proposes the generalremuneration
policy to the Governing Board, carries out an independent annual review of its
application and reports on the remuneration policy for executives classed as
“identified staff”.
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RISK COMMITTEE

A delegated body of the Governing Board. It advises the Board onmanagement
and supervision of all relevant risks and on correct application of the global risk
appetite in light of the Bank’s strategy.

4. Collective knowledge of highest governance body

Regarding the collective knowledge within Caja Rural de Navarra’'s Governing
Board, the Bank has Internal Rules to assess the suitability of senior managers
and key staff. Its last update in 2018 was approved by the Governing Board at
its meeting on 19 October.

Section 7 of these Rules addresses the aims for integration and training of
members of the Governing Board, stating that:

“The Bank shall put in place programmes to integrate and train the members of
the Governing Board to make sure they fully understand the structure, business
model, risk profile and corporate governance systems of the Bank, and their
role within it as well as the benefits of diversity within this body.

New members of the Governing Board shall receive appropriate information
within a month of taking up their functions and their integration should be
complete within six months.

Members of the Governing Board shall maintain and expand their knowledge
and the skills necessary to fulfil their responsibilities. The Bank shall allocate
adequate resources to integrate and train members of the Governing Board,
with the aim of ensuring their suitability for the role. In this respect, the Bank shall
putin place a continuous training programme for allmembers of the Governing
Board, which will identify the specific areas where training is required at any
fime. This must be updated regularly. Also, any member of the Governing
Board can ask the Appointments Committee for specific training sessions and
the committee shall examine the request.

The Appointments Committee shall regularly review the execution and quality
of the infegration and fraining programmes and whether they are meeting the
aims set out in this section.”

5. General Management and Management Committee

The Bank must have a General Management structure, whose head will be
appointed and contracted by the Governing Board from among persons
who meet the conditions of professional capacity, technical preparation and
experience to carry out the role.
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The remit of the General Management shall include matters related to the
ordinary business or dealings of the Credit Cooperative. It shall be free to
exercise all powers and functions granted to it in pursuit of this aim. These powers
and functions must be listed in the corresponding public deed of aftorney
which must be established. The General Management may, to this end, take
whatever measures are in the Cooperative’s interest in accordance with the
guidelines indicated and within the powers conferred on it.

The Managing Director’s duties shall be those set out in his/her contract and in
the general guidelines for action defined by the Governing Board. Within three
months of the end of each financial year, he/she must present the financial
statements and management report on the company to the Governing Board,
forits report and subsequent consideration by the General Meeting.

He/she must also notify the Chairman of the Bank of any issue that he/she
considers requires the convocation of the Governing Board and/or General
Meeting or whose importance requires that it be made known to the Governing
Board.

Caja Rural de Navarra’'s Management Committee is an internal committee
with no delegated or executive functions which acts as a consultative body
adyvising the Managing Director.

The Governing Board of Caja Rural de Navarra is responsible for appointing
the Company’s Managing Director, the only post considered to be senior
management, reporting directly and exclusively to the Governing Board. The
Managing Director must have the experience and fulfil the requirements of
regulations and the Bank’s own Internal Rules for Suitability Assessment, including
having the commercial and professional reputation required for the job.

As part of the Bank’s Suitability Assessment, the Company’s Appointments
Committee identifies and conducts annual reviews of the key staff of Caja Rural
de Navarra, who are also subject to the same requirements of commercial and
professional reputation, knowledge and experience.

The governance structure is based on the mandatory framework governing
relations between the Governing Board and exercise of their powers by
members of the Company’s ordinary and permanent management.

6. Areas/Internal Departments

Under the supervision of the Managing Director, the Bank is structured into
a number of Internal Areas/Departments which play a significant role in
segmenting the Company's different functions and areas of responsibility,
thereby conftributing to effective internal governance. Within their fields of

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

responsibility, these Internal Areas/Departments can decide, report on, consult,
coordinate or propose on all issues within their fields of activity or relating to
their internal or business areas.

Specifically, Caja Rural de Navarra has created Internal Areas/Departments
with responsibilities appropriate to their fields of activity, such as corporate
governance (Legal and Tax or Regulatory Compliance Departments), control
and risk management (Department of General Intervention and Risks and
Internal Audit) or business (Corporate Banking, Sales, Companies and Private
Banking Departments) among others.

The Bank also has separate internal units addressing these functional areas,
such as Human Resources, Organization and Technology, Legal, Compliance,
Internal Audit, General Intervention, Risk Management, Management Control,
Equity Investments, Treasury and Markets and Housing and Property Assets.

3.3.2. Internal control framework for Caja Rural de Navarra

Caja Rural de Navarra has an appropriate organizational structure and
operational management and control model.

1. Principles and responsible bodies

Caja Rural de Navarra has a clear organizational structure which includes
an appropriate distribution of functions with well-defined, transparent and
coherent reporting lines and which permits sound and prudent management
of the Bank.

Specifically, the Company’s internal control framework is tailored to the specific
features of Caja Rural de Navarra’s business, its complexity and associated
risks, and also takes into account its membership of Caja Rural Group.

CRN'’s infernal control framework is sustained, among other matters, by the
following principles:

* A well-defined and appropriate organizational and operational structure
with an efficient internal control and governance framework.

* The creation of appropriate procedures for exchanging information between
the Governing Board and Managing Director on the different business lines
and between the Governing Board and heads of internal control through
the Board’s Internal Committees.

* Arisk management and control model based on three lines of defence with
differentiated functions and responsibilities.

* Appropriate segregation of functions, establishing the information barriers
needed to guarantee good governance.
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* A comprehensive risk management framework covering all business lines
and internal units.

* And procedures to guarantee the monitoring and control of outsourcing of
certain functions or services.

The Governing Board of Caja Rural de Navarra is the body responsible for
defining the general framework for internal control and risk management. The
Audit Committee supports the Board by overseeing the effectiveness of internal
control, internal audit, compliance and other risk management systems and
liaising with the auditor on material potential weaknesses in the internal control
system identified in the course of the audit, without impairing its independence.
To this end, the Committee can put recommendations or proposals to the
Governing Board and conduct regular follow-ups where appropriate.

The Risk Committee advises the Governing Board on the Bank’s overall propensity
to risk, current and future, and risk strategy.

2. Three lines of defense

Caja Rural de Navarra's internal control model has a three-line defence system,
structured around the activities and processes that give rise to the risks and so
determine who is responsible for them.

* The first line of defence lies with the business units. They are responsible
for control within their field of activity and for implementing the measures
decided by higher management.

* The second line is the confrol units, particularly the compliance and risk
management units. They oversee control of all units throughout the group
that affect their area of responsibility, define mitigation and improvement
measures where necessary and make sure these are properly implemented.

* The third line is the Internal Audit unit, which conducts independent reviews,
verifying the compliance and effectiveness of corporate policies and
providing independent information on the control model. Internal Audit’s
principle functions include:

* Assessing the effectiveness and efficiency of the Internal Control System:s,
overseeing compliance with applicable law and internal policies and
regulations.

* Issuing recommendations to resolve weaknesses identified in the review
processes and following these up.
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3. Internal control functions

Caja Rural de Navarra’s internal control functions (risk management, regulatory
compliance and internal audit) act separately and independently. Functionally
they report to the Bank Governing Board's Internal Committees as a guarantee
of their independence. Their role is fo make sure that the policies, mechanisms
and procedures laid down in the internal control framework are being correctly
applied in their areas of competence.

For this purpose, the Governing Board ensures, with the help of the Audit and Risk
Committees, that the heads of internal control functions can actindependently
and present recommendations or proposals.

Notwithstanding their reporting obligations within each business area or to other
areas, internal control functions must also immediately report any significant
case of regulatory non-compliance, incident or anomaly that they identify to
the Governing Board, its Committees and the Managing Director.

A. The Risk Management Function

The quality of our risk management is one of the Bank’s hallmarks and a
priority area of action. It is a differentiating factor in the running of the Bank
which, through a combination of prudent policies and the use of different
methodologies and procedures, helps generate sound and recurrent profits
and a robust solvency position.
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Note that the Bank is also a member of an Institutional Protection Scheme (as
defined by EU Regulations), created as a tool for mutual support and defence
between cooperatives in the Spanish Association of Cajas Rurales for the
benefit of its members.

Risk Management is conducted by the Risk Management unit which, reporting
functionally to the Bank’s Risk Committee as a guarantee of its independence,
is charged with implementing all actions and procedures required to fulfil its
functions.

To maintain its modest and prudent risk profile Caja Rural de Navarra monitors
a set of key metrics for different risks, quality and recurrence of earnings,
liguidity and solvency. Specific risk tolerance levels are defined for each of
these metrics. The most important metrics also include long-term targets. These
aims and levels are updated and approved at least annually by the Governing
Board on proposal of the Risk Committee.

Allmetrics come with an assigned target, tolerance and limit. In each metric, the
target is the value achieved at a defined risk appetite. Tolerance is the (alert)
threshold at which the Bank starts taking additional management, control and
follow-up measures to get back onto target. The limit is the level that the Bank
never wants to breach and, if attained, triggers decisive measures to get back
to the Board’s guidelines.

Regular reports are prepared for the Governing Board on risks tfaken and their
breakdown, Caja Rural de Navarra’s capitalization, risk measurement and
control and the internal control system and whether it can guarantee orderly
and prudent management of the Company’s business and risks, with special
focus on indicators and metrics approved under the Risk Appetite Framework
and Recoveries Plan.

B. Compliance Function

Caja Rural de Navarra is committed to strict compliance with all national
and international regulations governing its activities and proper conduct and
development of its business. To this end, it has a permanent and effective
Compliance Function. The aim of the Regulatory Compliance Function is to
manage prevention and, where applicable, mitigate risks including financial,
penal and reputational risks arising from regulatory compliance if they do not
meet the standards required of a credit institution.

Compliance is conducted by the Compliance unit which, reporting functionally
to the Bank’s Audit Committee as a guarantee of its independence, is charged
with implementing all actions and procedures required to oversee fulfilment of
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its obligations under regulations in force, acting independently of the services
and activities it conftrols.

To this end, the unit has a Procedural Haondbook and an Annual Action Plan
approved by the Bank's Audit Committee. Also, the unit designs and maintains
systems to identify the degree of compliance with different regulations,
contfinually assessing the Company’s regulatory compliance, reporting on its
work quarterly to the Audit Committee and annually to the Governing Board.

In turn, the Compliance Function supports the Governing Board on upcoming
regulations to guarantee compliance with applicable laws, regulations and
standards.

Certain activities to guarantee regulatory compliance are directly managed
through specialist units, with Compliance taking a coordination and monitoring
role. These include Combating Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing
through Internal Control, personal data protection through the Data Protection
Officer (DPQO), customer protection in the distribution of banking and investment
products through the Product Committee and criminal liability through
Corporate Compliance.

C. Internal Audit

Caja Rural de Navarra has an independent and effective internal audit
function, with the scope and resources to properly carry out its remit.

This function is fulfiled by the Bank’s Internal Audit Department which reports
functionally to the Audit Committee. To this end, an annual working plan is
drawn up in coordination with the Audit Committee. Its principle aims are to
verify the existence and maintenance of an adequate and effective system
of internal control, a system for measuring the different risks affecting the
Company'’s activities and appropriate procedures to oversee compliance with
law, regulations and internal supervisory policies.

The Internal Audit Department reports regularly to the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of Group risk management policies, methods and procedures,
ensuring that these are appropriate, implemented effectively and regularly
reviewed.

D. Control of the delegation or outsourcing of functions or services

Caja Rural de Navarra's areas/business lines can commission certain services
or activities from other Group companies or outsource them to third parties. The
Bank has appropriate monitoring and control mechanisms to ensure necessary
standards are maintained in each case.

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

_________ legdl Documentdation

Specifically, the Bank’s policy is to embed control and audit mechanisms in any
contracts to outsource internal functions or activities to third parties.

Thereis also aninternal procedure for “Delegation of service provision or exercise
of essential services” that incorporates all relevant regulations on organization,
supervision and solvency of credit institutions and the requirements in Bank of
Spain Circular 2/2016.

E. Product Committee

Caja Rural de Navarra has a Product Committee which fulfils its role in
accordance with the Product Handbook. Its role is essentially to analyse and
approve all new financial products and services, monitor the Bank's sales
strategy and review and approve the policies, procedures and applications
required fo market the various products.

It thus works as a tool to manage the Bank’s codes of conduct on transparency
and customer protection in an orderly and effective way.

The Product Committee’s structure and rules of procedure are governed by a
policy approved by the Bank’'s Governing Board.

F. Business Continuity Plans

CajaRuralde Navarra has drawn up a Business Continuity Plan that it defines as a
contfinuous process of planning, development, verification and implementation
of procedures and methods for recovering from emergencies.

The aim of the process is to guarantee an efficient and effective restart of vital
functions in the event of a major interruption of IT and/or telecommunications
resources in the Bank's main offices, and to do this within the recovery times
set down for each of the applications and services that have been marked as
critical.

3.3.3. Corporate Culture of Caja Rural de Navarra
1. Code of Conduct and other rules of conduct for Caja Rural de Navarra

CajaRuralde Navarra's Governing Board defines the Bank’s corporate principles
and values. These are then set out in the Company'’s internal procedures and
rules of conduct.

Specifically, Caja Rural de Navarrais a signatory to the Internal Rules of Conduct
for dealing on securities markets drawn up by UNACC (the National Union
of Cooperative Credit Institutions) and agreed with the CNMV which covers
banks dealing on securities markets. The Bank’'s Governing Board approved
the signature at its meeting of 26 October 2010.
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Also, Caja Rural de Navarra has a Code of Conduct for Executives and
Employees. The main aim of this Code of Conduct is to instil confidence in
members, customers, employees and the wider community by ensuring the
Company at all fimes acts in an ethical manner that meets their expectations
and deepens existing relationships.

These are the core documents for standards of conduct. They are extended
and complemented by other internal rules and procedures such as Principles
for action on the Prevention of Criminal Risks — part of its policy of zero tolerance
of any conduct that is illegal, banned or contrary to best banking practice —
and combating money laundering and terrorist financing. All this is included in
the framework of Caja Rural de Navarra’s commitment to promote an ethical
and compliance corporate culture and encourage responsible behaviour
within the Company.

2. Model for Prevention of Criminal Risks

Caja Rural de Navarra has drawn up a Model for Prevention of Criminal Risks
in accordance with arficle 31 bis of the Criminal Code, whose main aim is to
set limits on the controls in place to prevent or, if necessary, mitigate the com-
mission of each of the crimes that might by committed in the conduct of the
Bank'’s business and which might give rise to criminal liability on its part.

The Model forms part of the ethical and compliance culture that Caja Rural
de Navarra seeks to instil in its executives and employees through the different
codes of conduct and Principles for action (see above). Allemployees must be
aware of and apply these. This is ensured through continuous and appropriate
training in high-incidence or high-risk areas.

For information on reporting lines and functions see:

www.cajaruraldenavarra.com/cms/estatico/rvia/navarra/ruralvial/es/
particulares/informacion_institucional/galeria_descargas/LINEAS-DE-
RESPONSABILIDAD-Y-FUNCIONES. pdf

3. Policy on conflicts of interest

El Consejo Rector de Caja Rural de Navarra tiene la obligacion de definirun Caja
Rural de Navarra’'s Governing Board is obliged to define a system for corporate
governance that guarantees sound and prudent management of the Company
and, among other matters, addresses the issue of conflicts of interest.
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Caja Rural de Navarra has put in place a series of measures to identify those
types of conflict of interest that could potentially arise in the course of its
relationships and put in place procedures to manage them and ensure business
is conducted independently and without harming the interests of the customers
or the Bank itself.

The mechanisms are set out in three areas:

e Article 48 of the Bank's Arficles of association.

* Article 24 of the Governing Board's Rules of Procedure. Both these documents
can be found at: www.cajaruraldenavarra.com (News)

* Internal mechanisms created by the Bank to comply with Royal-Decree
84/2015 regarding limits on loans, pledges and guarantees to the senior
managers of the Bank.

In this way, the organizational and functional structure of the Bank provides
appropriate segregation of functions which allows it to conduct activities that
could potentially give rise to conflicts of interest, by persons or segregated
areas, while avoiding undue interference.

This segregationis complemented by the establishment of barriers to information
between the functional departments or areas vulnerable to the potential
conflicts of interest identified.

The main areas where it was felt likeliest conflicts of interest could occur are as
follows:

* Relationships of Governing Board members with the Bank. To address this risk,
the Governing Board’s Rules of Procedure specify the duties and prohibitions
that Board members must comply with to exercise their role in accordance
with the Bank’s good governance guidelines.

* Employees and Executives with the interests of customers and the Bank. Both
groups must tailor their actions to the policies and procedures that govern
the different areas/departments and comply with the principles in the Code
of Conduct for Executives and Employees referred to in section A above. The
same Code of Conduct contains the principles of action and rules to prevent
employees acting in ways likely to produce conflicts of interest, whether
with customers or with the Bank itself, especially in the area of targets and
variables.

* Related Party finance. Caja Rural de Navarra has policies on Credit Risk,
including definitions and reporting and control requirements for such
financing transactions, which in any case must be done on an arm’s length
basis.
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4. Confidential whistle-blowing and communication channels

To promote its values throughout the organization and create a structured
path for the resolution of ethical dilemmas that may arise, the Bank has
created a Whistle-blowing channel for employees. Employees can use this
to securely and confidentially report any potential irregularities so that they
can be investigated and studied by the competent bodies, to prevent any
inappropriate or unauthorised actions being committed. This is in addition to
the ordinary internal control and review work instituted by the Company.
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3.4. OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE

The operational structure of Caja Rural de Navarra is as follows:

This structure allows Caja Rural de Navarra to meet with confidence the
management challenges posed by its annual and strategic planning. It gives
the organization sufficient scope for action and responsibility in all areas of its
business.

The structure includes a number of working groups and committees that
control and coordinate management, including the following: Management
Committee, Marketing Management Committee, ALM Committee, Quality
Committee, Product Committee, Internal Control (OCIl) and Internal
Communications Committee.

OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE OF CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA

GENERAL
MANAGEMENT

Insurance, buildings,
agriculture, management
control, sales, marketing,

regional and branch

managers.

SALES & MARKETING

Transfers, direct debits,
cash and accounting.

INTERVENTION

NG A
STATE A

Research, administration,
monitoring, cards and
trading portfolio.

Corporate banking,
leasing/renting,
international, institutions,
remote banking.

CORPORATE

Treasury, securities,
private banking,
pension,
investment funds

ORGANIZATION Organization, micro-IT,
AND IT data centre

TREASURY AND
CAPITAL MARKETS
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3.5. CORPORATE CULTURE

Staff and governance bodies in Caja Rural de Navarra share a Mission, a Vision
and Corporate Values that lend coherence to the Organization’s behaviour.

The Corporate Social Responsibility Code of Conduct is a guide to the principles
and duties that must govern all actions by employees and the Bank itself,
forming part of the corporate culture.

The Corporate Culture consists of the following elements:

MISSION

To generate sustainable confidence among customers by involving them
through our teams, to contribute to the economic and social development of
our community.

OUR CORPORATE VALUES

Our aim is fo support the development the people we work with on our
corporate project, as well as that of our customers and the community where
we operate.

Asthe basic system for progress and success, the values of Caja Rural de Navarra
are spread via its wide network of branches complemented by its advanced
virtual access systems, which help create a close and trusting relationship with
all customers, and via the collaboration of its team, which includes everyone
and considers the community in the pursuit of progress.

VISION

Caja Rural de Navarra’s vision is to be one of the leading groups in Spain, with
an international presence, while maintaining Caja Rural style (human qualities,
personal treatment, professionalism and modernity), and to be a benchmark
for our community.

ACTION PRINCIPLES

Everyone in Caja Rural de Navarra takes their inspiration from the action
principles described below:

- Commitment: we inspire people to be part of our project.

- Professionalism/responsibility: We seek to make things better every day to
achieve our objectives.

— Localism: We care for and strengthen relationships based on trust and
commitment.
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3.6. EQUITY INVESTMENTS

1. Equity Investment Policy

Traditionally, Caja Rural de Navarra has maintained a portfolio of equity
investments in the field of finance and in other business sectors.

One of Caja Rural de Navarra's defining features is the rooting of its financial
activities in its regional environment, with its proximity to cooperative members
and customers as the nucleus of its operations.

Every day, Caja Rural de Navarra receives requests to invest in companies in
various sectors and, through its activity and that of its equity investments, also
analyses opportunities for innovation and/or growth.

As a financial entity with a dense presence in its community, Caja Rural
de Navarra bases its investment or divestment decisions on the following
fundamental criteria: (i) avoid any distortion of sector competition andrecurrent
activities of its cooperative members and customers; (i) support the regional
economy in an omnidirectional form, but with special relevance to the agri-
business and agri-industrial sector reflecting its historical origins; (i) viability
and profitability of the business being analysed, and, (iv) synergies with the
operations of Caja Rural de Navarra and/or its equity investments.

Caja Rural de Navarra carries on its financial business solely in the Basque
Country, La Rioja and Navarre. But the industrial or services activities of its
equity investments are global in reach and some of these companies export
very significant percentages of their output.

We divide the activities of Caja Rural de Navarra’s equity investments info
companies in the financial sphere, support companies for the financial business
and non-financial business groups (see chart):
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GENERAL STRUCTURE OF CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA GROUP
NAVARRA, s.C.C.

FINANCIAL NON-FINANCIAL

ACTIVITY BUSINESS GROUP
FINANCIAL ACTIVITY FINANCIAL SECTOR COMPLEMENTARY
BY THE BANK COMPANIES BUSINESSES
COMPLEMENTARY SERVICES DEVELOPED COMPLEMENTARY SERVICES FOR COMPANIES ACTIVE OUTSIDE
NATIONALLY BY CAJA RURAL GROUP C.R. DE NAVARRA THE FINANCIAL SECTOR

BANKING

According to the Bank of Spain circular, to qualify as an equity investment an
institution must own at least 10% of its capital or voting rights. Exercising signifi-
cant influence over management is defined as appointing at least 20% of the
Board. Caja Rural de Navarra has equity investments in different percentages.
But its investments in its complementary services and non-financial businesses
are usually controlling. Exceptions to this rule are attributable to policies of sup-
porting a newly emerging area.

Companies offering complementary services at national level provide the Caja
Rural Group with a way to act efficiently despite the regional size of each of
its member Banks individually. They also often offer their services to other small-
scale or foreign financial firms.
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The companies provide non-financial but related services to Caja Rural de Na-
varra or its customers across the same regional footprint as Caja Rural de Na-
varra.

Companies comprising Caja Rural de Navarra Group, which are wholly owned
by the Bank and consolidated in the financial statements:

SUBSIDIARIES IAX D 7 OWNERSHIP

INTEREST
FLOUR GROUP
HARIVASA 2000 S.A A31013402 100%
Transnoain S.A A31870058 100%
Cerelia I+D S.L B71312888 100%
Cerelia S.L B31949217 100%
Harinera de Tardienta S.A A22001499 100%
Harinas Selectas S.A A50107143 100%
Reyes Hermanos S.L B36000818 100%
Harinera del Mar S.L B97832232 100%
Haribéricas SXXI S.L B64939341 100%
Harivenasa S.L B71075774 100%
WINERY SUPPLIES GROUP
Industria Tonelera de Navarra S.L B31688336 100%
Tonnelleries de L'Adour S.A.S FR?6425029972 100%
Bouquet Brands S.A A31884000 100%
Bahia de Cadiz S.L B84996743 100%
SENIOR CARE GROUP
Solera Asistencial S.L B71150866 100%
Solera Navarra S.L B71186654 100%
Torre Monreal S.L B31872872 100%
SERESGERNA S.A A31697808 100%
Preventia Sport S.L B71008783 100%
AUXILIARY FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP
Promocidn Estable del Norte S.A A31663651 100%
Informes y Gestiones Generales de Navarra S.A A31437635 100%
Informes y Valoraciones S.L B31917305 100%
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Caja Rural de Navarra maintains a portfolio of equity investments in the field of
finance and in other business sectors. The table below shows the companies
and percentage equity stake held:

ASSOCIATES ACTIVITY 72 OWNERSHIP

INTEREST
Company
Bodegas Principe de Viana S-L. Agri-business 50.00%
Rioja Vega S.A. Agri-business 25.07%
lparlat S.A. Agri-business 21.54%
Omegageo S.L.. Construction Services 50.00%
Renovables de la Ribera S.L. Energy 50.00%
Bosqgalia S.L. Forestry 48.40%
Errotabidea S.L. Real State 46.01%
Servicios Empresariales agroindustriales Agri-business 33.33%
Rural de Energias Aragonesas S.A. Energy 25.00%
Compania Edlica de Tierras Altas S.A. Energy 23.75%

Annex Il contains details of the Non-Financial Statements for 2018, covering the
Group scope, in accordance with Act 11/2018.

3.7. RISK MANAGEMENT

The Bank incurs the following risks in the course of its business: Credit, market,
counterparty, equity, interest rate, exchange rate, liquidity, reputational,
trading, operational and regulatory risks. These risks are managed by the Bank
through the following measures:

1. Risk Committee

The committee is headed by a senior independent director of the Bank
whose operational functions do not conflict with proper risk management. The
Committee advises the Governing Board on the Bank's overall propensity to
risk, current and future, and risk strategy and also helps oversee the application
of this strategy. Specifically, it supports the Governing Board in drawing up,
approving, updating and monitoring the Bank's Risk Appetite Framework and
Recoveries Plan.

The Committee determines, alongside the Governing Board, the nature,
quantity, format and frequency of the risk information that the Committee and
Governing Board shouldreceive. It meets atleast quarterly with the participation
of independent directors of the Bank.
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2. Regulatory Compliance Function

The Bank's Regulatory Compliance Function deals with the areas of anti-money
laundering and terrorist financing (Internal Conftrol), personal data protection,
compliance with codes of conduct for securities markets and the provision of
banking services (Products Committee), corporate governance of the Bank
and issues of corporate criminal liability.

3. Operational Risk Committee

Responsible for analysing and minimising risks incurred due to the Bank’s
own trading and operational activities. The Committee is composed of the
executives of the Bank responsible for the areas handling the highest volume
and most sensitive tfransactions, and is coordinated by the Organization area.

4. Sustainability Committee

The Bank applies a “Sustainability Framework” to screen its loan book for loans
that qualify for inclusion in its sustainable bond issues.

The Sustainability Committee includes representatives of all departments
involved in lending (corporate, institutions, housing, risk) and is coordinated
by the Treasury and Capital Markets Division. The Committee decides the
structure and criteria of the framework. It also decides which loans should be
included in each framework Category, drawing here on an “external review”
by consultancy Sustainalytics.

A4 CAJA RURALDE NAVARRA



Annual Report 2018

3.8. KEY FIGURES

CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA KEY FIGURES

_________ legdl Documentdation

Thousands of euros 2015 2016 2017 2018
TURNOVER

Total assets 9,728,120| 10,952,597 11,557,130 12,038,254
Shareholders’ equity 866,295 934,022 1,018,716 1,092,019
Customer deposits 6,493,935 7,080,743| 7,533,517| 8,020,973
Loans and advances to customers 6,351,615 6,832,108 7,315,406| 7,781,407
SERVICES

Branches 246 249 250 252
ATMs 291 299 302 312
PEOPLE

Number of employees 918 933 959 965
PROFIT

Net interest income 148,514 147,278 142,907 138,135
Gross income 208,396 210,704 217,372 206,911
Administrative expenses 81,783 83,299 86,322 88,971
Profit before tax 62,274 66,460 86,792 91,250
DISTRIBUTION OF WEALTH GENERATED

Directly generated economic value 228,182 230,218 278,345 229,058
S;gsesr:?ec:s?me (before deducting other operating 225 598 227 811 274,45 223,058
]%cr]eirésk;récsjoclsssérsroperfy and equipment and 2584 2407 3.920 6,496
Distributed economic value 108,795 108,672 143,820 118,496
Payments to suppliers (operating expenses) 45,258 44,369 83,248 43,525
- Other general administrative expenses 34,717 34,418 35,620 37,340
- Other operating expenses 10,541 9,951 47,628 6,184
Personnel expenses 47,065 48,881 50,702 51,631
Income tax 7,485 6,212 -1,518 11,793
Payments to members 2,327 2,055 1,963 1,585
Investments/Donations fo the community 6,661 7,156 9,425 9,963
- Welfare Fund(EDF) 6,661 7,156 9,425 9,963
Retained economic value (1-2) 119,386 121,546 134,525 111,058

Financial information used for key figures has been extracted from
the audited annual financial statements, which can be found at:
www.cajaruraldenavarra.com (Informacion Institucional)
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CAJA RURAL DE NAVARRA CONSOLIDATED GROUP - KEY FIGURES

Thousands of euros 2015 2016 2017 2018
TURNOVER

Total assets 9,860,147 11,085,569 | 11,726,238 12,227,884
Shareholders' equity 885,803 956,620 1,049,187 1,122,515
Customer deposits 6,480,414 7,054,214 7,524,305 8,011,914
Loans and advances fo customers 6,370,613 6,849,057 7,334,762| 7,814,204
PEOPLE

Number of employees 1,440 1,532 1,608 1,766
PROFIT

Net interest income 146,150 145,437 140,947 135,957
Gross income 259,652 266,741 278,719 276,758
Administrative expenses 126,796 132,190 141,274 150,334
Profit before tax 66,091 69,512 92,418 93,502
DISTRIBUTION OF WEALTH GENERATED

Directly generated economic value 479,552 480,944 557,151 534,622
S;gsesni?;())me (before deducting other operating 476,968 478,537 553,231 508,126
%Seirésloc;régo(;fss,ersroper’ry and equipment and 2584 2407 3,920 6,496
Distributed economic value 354,532 352,778 416,781 415,866
Payments to suppliers (operating expenses) 273,450 268,659 334,442 316,211
- Other general administrative expenses 62,795 64,019 69,355 74,806
- Other operating expenses 210,655 204,640 265,087 241,405
Personnel expenses 64,001 68,171 71,919 75,528
Income tax 8.093 6,737 -968 12,579
Payments to members 2,327 2,055 1,963 1,585
Investments/Donations to the community 6,661 7,156 9,425 9,963
- Welfare Fund 6,661 7,156 9,425 9,963
Retained economic value (1-2) 125,020 128,166 140,370 111,058
Public subsidies received* 526 648 920 1,068

*Amount fransferred to income statement for each financial year.

Companies comprising Caja Rural de Navarra Group, which are wholly owned
by the Bank and consolidated in the financial statements are shown in section 3.6:
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4. CUSTOMERS

4.1. CUSTOMERS

The focus of the Bank's corporate activity is the customer in general, and particularly
the member in their dual role as both owner and customer. For this reason, one of
the Bank’s core principles that has always run through its business is customer focus.

Customers have financial needs that they seek to address with the products and
services offered by the Bank, but also have expectations on the service they expect
from the Bank. The Bank’s response on both issues (needs and expectations) will
differentiate us from the competition.

The principles underlying the Bank'’s relationships with its customers are as follows:
* To maintain a clear communication and information policy.

* Noft to use publicity that might be misleading, ambiguous or insufficiently
clear for customers;

* To promote asocially responsible investment policy, by giving the right advice
on customers’ investment decisions and maintaining a set of lending policies
based on sustainability criteria.

* To improve quality and accessibility for customers to the Bank and vice
versa, promoting the use of new channels and technologies, developing
innovative products and services.

e To protect the confidentiality of all data collected on customers as a
consequence of business relationships.

The Bank took the following actions on this point in 2018:
A. Multichannel banking

One of Caja Rural de Navarra’s priorities is continuously to improve our banking
channels to offer an ever-improving customer experience which will help
encourage the digitization of our customers. Standout improvement projects
include:

» Updating the Ruralvia remote banking service, offering new services such
as instant transfers, the option to activate different alerts (through SMS, push
notification or email).

* Updating the Rvia remote banking app. In light of the rise of the mobile,
we are providing ever more functionalities for mobile environments. Users
can now use the app to, for instance, set alerts, temporarily block cards or
recover passwords.
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Creating Ruralvia Report, a new mobile app for retail customers who want a
better way to manage their savings day-to-day.

Updating the Ruralvia Pay app’s Bizum option to include charities as Bizum
beneficiaries.

Work began during the year on sending out digital articles through our blog.
We want to become a source of digital know-how for our customers.

The Bank has also decided to give customers regular reports on cyberfraud,
seeking to minimise the risks these pose.

The Bank has also made it easier to apply for products such as credit cards,
gift cards, prepaid cards, virtual cards and Via T.

In funds, it is now possible to contract independent fund managers and sign
the corresponding documentation.

Other developments now mean customers can make regular pension
conftributions using the remote banking services.

All contracts offered via Ruralvia and the Bank are now compliant with the
GDPR (general data protection regulation).
INn 2019, we will be doing further work on this front, the main projects in progress being:

* The"HagaseCliente” (becomeacustomer)processthroughvideoconferencing.
Customers can sign up online in just 8 minutes.

The new website cajaruraldenavarra.com will give the Bank a new image.

We will continue working on Ruralvia’s signature capabilities so that customers
can eventually sign up for any sort of product without needing to come into
a branch.

Work is ongoing to develop the functionalities of our remote banking facility:
Ruralvia.

Work is also continuing on compliance with the PSD2 Directive and on the
resulting new business models.

B. Digital Transformation

The Bank’s digital transformation has two aims: first, fo make the banking
system more accessible for customers by any channel as easily as possible,
and, second, to combine this with the provision of personal advice services
through its branch staff. There is a specific Digital Transformation Committee to
carry this through in a coordinated way across all areas of the Bank and with
the companies of Caja Rural Group which provide us with services, mainly the
Banco Cooperativo and Rural Servicios Informaticos.
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C. Transparency

Caja Rural de Navarra has been a member of Autocontrol since January 2011.
Autocontrolis an association that seeks to promote responsible advertising that
is frue, legal, honest and fair. In 2018, Caja Rural de Navarra launched 181 new
publicity items, of which 128 were approved by Autocontrol. The rest had been
through the Bank’s internal regulation process.

D. Image

A campaign was run to reposition Caja Rural de Navarra’s image. It sought
to highlight the corporate fraits that make us stand out from the competition,
such as the dense branch network delivering better service to customers,
the qualities of being close to customers, trust, direct personal relationships,
efficiency, local decision-making and basically all the elements of corporate
identity that we value in our day-to-day dealings with customers.

E. Marketing

To improve fransparency and clarity in the way the branch network markets
products and services, work was done in 2018 to draw up new communications
products with a single shared format and image.

Examplesinclude: Depdsito Bienvenida fornew customers, Depdsito Vinculacion
Mas por Mds, etc.

Branches could also email these communications out, with all the benefits this
implies for savings of costs and materials.

F. Product Committee

The Product Committee continued its work in 2018. It was set up in 2016 to bring
all the products and services offered by the Bank under a validation process.

In 2018 it looked at issues such as:
» Definition and drafting of product brochures.

* Approval of marketing or distribution of new products such as guaranteed
funds or structured products.

* Update and approval of standard documents such as the banking product
and services marketing policy or the Product Committee’s own handbook.

* Approval ofrelevant measures for correctimplementation of new regulations,
notably MIFID Il in 2018.

The Committee held all its scheduled quarterly meetings but these were
supplemented by 10 sessions of the permanent Committee to approve one-off
measures that were subsequently ratified in a full Product Committee meeting.
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G. Quality surveys and Mystery Shopping

In January 2018, the Bank launched its “Measuring customerservice in branches”
project. The project covers all Banks in Caja Rural Group and has two aims:

* Tocomply withregulationslaid down by the European Banking Authority (EBA)
and European Securities Markets Authority (ESMA) on criteria for defining and
setting remuneration policies in the branch network so that they incorporate
quality variables.

* To improve the customer experience by infroducing procedures and
methodologies to analyse contacts with new customers and set metrics for
how to deal with existing customers.

The project is based on two methodologies, which run simultaneously:

* Mystery Shopping: The points tested and their weighting in the overall score
are: Physical aspects of the branch, speed, freatment, explanation of
products, sales approach.

» Satisfaction/Recommendation questionnaire: The points tested and their
weighting in the overall score are: Emotional value = 20% service + 20%
explanations + 20% documentation + 40% NPS recommendation

H. MIFID Il training plan

The training plan was launched in 2017 for employees providing financial advice.
The Bank has a good starting level as 91.86% of its employees have university
education. Accordingly, the Bank’s training programme targets the top level of
cerfification, that of investment advice. At the end of 2018, 100% of branches
and 846 employees (87.67% of the total), were qualified to give advice.

* The Bank has a process by which employees can contribute ideas and
experiences to improve any aspect of external services (dealing with
customers) and internal services (between the various areas of the Bank).
In 2018 employees suggested 80 improvements via this channel. The Bank
awarded a prize for the two best suggestions and another shared by all
participants.

* As part of the policy of personalised negotiation when customers have
difficulties paying their mortgage, the Bank applies, when the requirements
are met, the Code of Best Practice. Since March 2012 this has included a
backstop mechanism to reduce the financial burden and other social
measures. In 2018, 5 requests were dealt with in this way, relating to loans
totalling EUR 681 thousand.

* Marketing of Investment Funds continued in 2018, with actions designed
to improve the quality of customer service and improve transparency and
protection for customers who choose to invest.
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To meet the target ofimproving customer service, Caja Rural de Navarra offered
all customers three services through which they can subscribe to Investment
Funds:

* “Advisory service”: we offer our customers advicel on the Investment Funds
managed by Gescooperativo and recommend those that best suit their
level of knowledge, experience, financial resources and investment aims.
To do this, we offer customers the opportunity to review the suitability of the
investment funds they have subscribed for with us and how well these match
their investor profile, undertaking to recommend only the most suitable
products.

* “Discretionary porifolio management service”: customers delegate
management of their financial assets to the Bank, following an assessment of
theirinvestment profile by Caja Rural professionals. They subsequently remain
in permanent contact with the Bank so they can monitor their investments
and make any changes to the instructions and limits set in the portfolio
management contract.

» “Execution only service”: since the start of 2018, Caja Rural de Navarra has
offered its customers a wide range of Investment Funds, including different
options from prominent and respected third-party investment managers
unrelated to Caja Rural de Navarra, which allow customers to invest in
different markets through a diverse set of investment vehicles managed by
international leaders in the sector. We also make available to our customers
straightforward tools that provide objective information and help them
choose the Funds that best suit their needs. Similarly, customers can compare
various alternatives to see how they differ and take their own decisions.

To meet the target of increasing transparency and protection for our customers
when investing, Caja Rural de Navarra meets all regulatory requirements for
precontractual information on funds by companies offering investment services
including the upfront estimate of costs and expenses required by MIFID Il.

I. Socially responsible investment

Advances in Socially Responsible Investment (SRI) in Spain are being applied to
the asset management industry. The SRI policy helps manage the sustainability
of the investments over their investment horizon, by factoring environmental,
social and corporate governance (ESG) issues intfo investment decisions.

Issues of companies’ sustainability are considered upstream of investment
process, so as to identify a universe of securities that meet the requirements of
the SRI policy — the investible universe.

At Caja Rural de Navarra, we have made progress in this area and all the
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pension plans we offer are managed through an SRI investment policy for all
European equities and Spanish sovereign and corporate bonds.

In May 2018, Caja Rural de Navarra extended its investment fund range to
market two new funds that followed socially responsible investment criteria:
Rural Gestion Sostenible | and Rural Gestion Sostenible |l

These are balanced funds managed according to sustainability criteria.
Managers select issuers and investments that apply good environmental,
social and corporate governance policies. Companies that infringe human
and labour rights, harm public health or manufacture arms etc. are excluded
from the investment universe.

Caja Rural de Navarra also applies a socially responsible investment policy to
managing its cash on behalf of its portfolio of listed assets on organised markets
(fixed income and equities).

The responsible investment strategy for the portfolio is based on the following
practices:

 Companies involved in sectors or products considered controversial or in
breach of widely accepted international ethical standards are excluded.
Companies are also liable to be excluded if they are found to engage in
extraordinarily poor environmental, social and/or governance behaviour.

Specifically, we will not invest in companies who meet the following exclusion
criteria:

* Controversial sectors. Arms, tobacco, gambling, pornography.

» Serious environmental impacts. Companies involved in major controversies
on environmental issues such as water, soil, air or noise pollution or freatment
of contaminated waste.

e Serious social impacts. Companies involved in confroversies or incidents
involving social considerations such as human rights, labour rights,
occupational health and safety or projects with major negative impacts on
communities.

* Corporate governance practices. Companies with a major involvement in
controversies or incidents in the field of corporate governance, corruption
and bribery, money laundering or tax evasion.

In addition to these exclusions, the Bank is also drawing up a ranking of assets
based on their overall sustainability behaviour, allowing it to identify those whose
performance is above average which will then be included in the investible
universe.
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* The security selection process also applies a best-in-class or best-in-sector
criterion, based on high-quality and transparent global sustainability ratings,
i.e.looking at financial and hon-financial criteria. Thisencourages the inclusion
of companies that are applying leading-edge sustainability strategies.

The selections of securities by ESG criteria takes account of the ratings awarded
by sustainability ratings agency Sustainalytics. Sustainalytics, an independent
global consultancy specialising in ESG issues, carries out qualitative and
quantitative analyses on ESG factors to arrive at a universe of companies that
meet these criteria.

4.2. PROFILE AND DISTRIBUTION OF CUSTOMERS

At end-2018, Caja Rural de Navarra had a total of 594,670 customers. Of these
48,834 (8.21%) were classed as “Companies, institutions and other” and 545,836
(91.78%) were “Individuals™.

The table below shows the breakdown by customer type:

2018

SEGMENT TOTAL CUSTOMERS
Individuals 545,836
| Legal entities 48,8341
Corporate 37,067
Institutions 11,229
Other 538
TOTAL (Individuals + Legal entities) 594,670

The distribution of customers between the different provinces where the Bank
operates and the associated business volumes is as follows:

Geographical area | Loans And Advances Deposits Customers
Navarra 49.29% 61.66% 53.97%
C.AV. 40.82% 8.97% 36.95%
La Rioja 9.89% 29.37% 9.08%

100% 100% 100%
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4.3. DIALOGUE WITH CUSTOMERS

CajaRuralde Navarra uses the following methods to communicate withits customers:
1. TE ESCUCHAMOS/WE'RE LISTENING

The Bank’s customers expressed their opinions through the “Te escuchamos”
initiative in 2018 on matters including an overall rating of the Bank’s services,
customerservicein branches, the working of unmanned channels andinformation
on and value of the Bank’s social activities.

These opinions came from the 4,423 people who responded to an online
questionnaire devised by the Bank.

The overall rating obtained by the Bank in 2018 was 7.50. This is a 2 tenths
improvement on a year previously and the Bank considers these scores to be
favourable compared to its banking competitors. Ratings for specific aspects
of the customer-Bank relationship were highest for “courtesy and friendliness of
branch staff”, with 8.32 and lowest for “functionalities and service provided by
the ATMs" with 7.35.

Channels provided by Caja Rural de Navarra for stakeholders to respond to
consultations and pass on advice or crificisms in a public forum, via this link:
www.cajaruraldenavarra.com

2. LISTENING AND PARTICIPATING IN SOCIAL NETWORKS
The Bank is present on the following social networks:

* blog.cajaruraldenavarra.com; 70,605 visits in 2018.

* Facebook; Caja Rural de Navarra page; 10,266 followers.

* Twitter, Caja Rural de Navarra feed; 2,607 followers 14,726 visits.

* Facebook; Joven In — Caja Rural de Navarra; 10,860 followers.

* Instagram; Launch of a new Joven IN — Caja Rural de Navarra account.

3. CUSTOMER SERVICES DEPARTMENT

The Customer Services Department is responsible for resolving all complaints and
claims received from Caja Rural de Navarra customers.

The Regulations governing Caja Rural de Navarra’s Customer Services Department
were created by Act 44/2002 of 22 November, on Measures to Reform the Financial
System, and Ministerial Order ECO/734/2004 of 11 March, on customer services
departments or services of financial institutions and other applicable rules.
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There are several channels that customers can use to make submissions to this
Service: post, burofax, fax, email, official forms of the Autonomous Regions in
which Caja Rural de Navarra operates or through the Bank’s official documents.

In 2018, the Service received 1,921 complaints or claims, which broke down as follows:
998 from customers; 22 from public bodies (local and regional government); 234 from
private consumer associations; 636 from lawyers and 31 from the Bank of Spain.

They were resolved as follows (with comparison with 2017):

CONCLUSION OF COMPLAINTS AND CLAIMS
FORM OF RESOLUTION 2018 2017
Not accepted 600 392
Dismissed 897 4,547
Upheld in full 324 99
Upheld in part 100 604
Claims dealt with 1,921 5,642

Unlike in 2017, complaints and claims received in 2018 fell sharply, due to a fall-
off in the number of claims for “arrangement costs for mortgages”. These had
represented 87.34% of all claims in 2017, falling to 60.85% in 2018.

The Customer Services Department prepares an annualreport for the Governing
Boardin accordance with Article 17 of Ministerial Order ECO/734/2004, including
a summary of all complaints and claims received, the processes applied by
the Bank following their reception, the general criteria applied when resolving
complaints and claims and the recommendations and suggestions made
during the year. The report is available to the Supervisor.

In addition, any critical concerns identified in the year are brought to the
attention of the Governing Board. In 2018, no critical complaint or claim was
identified as having to be reported up to the Board.

Every four months, there is a meeting of the Quality Committee, where it is
explained how complaints and claims were dealt with, possible risks are
identified, criteria to apply are decided and appropriate recommendations
made. The Committee is attended by people from a range of departments.

We analyse a number of specific issues below:

A. Fraudulent use of payment media, phishing and product security.

The Customer Services Department received 13 claims for fraudulent use
of payment media, all relating to credit or debit cards. Most of these were
ultimately resolved in the customers’ favour.
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The others concerned transactions that had been authorised by the victims and
which were therefore not considered to be a fraudulent use of the payment
medium concerned.

Unlike 2017, Caja Rural de Navarra was the subject of no complaints to the Bank
of Spain for fraudulent use of payment media, phishing or product security.

There were no penalties, warnings or cases of non-compliance in this area in
2018.

B. Information on products and services.

The Customer Services Department prepares an annualreport for the Governing
Boardin accordance with Article 17 of Ministerial Order ECO/734/2004, including
a summary of all complaints and claims received, the processes applied by
the Bank following their reception, the general criteria applied when resolving
complaints and claims and the recommendations and suggestions made
during the year. The report is available to the Supervisor.

In addition, any critical concerns identified in the year are brought to the
attention of the Governing Board. In 2018, no critical complaint or claim was
identified as having to be reported up to the Board.

C. Pubilicity for products and services.

In respect of publicity for products and services we received two claims for
gifts for having salaries paid into accounts, but these failed to meet the terms
and conditions which had been correctly published on the website. We also
received a complaint for failing to apply our pension programme from the
first day the conditions for it were met. We notified the complainant that, as
explained in the ferms and conditions for the programme, there was a waiting
period which had to elapse before it became active.

There were no penalties, warnings or cases of non-compliance in this area in
2018.

D. Breach of data protection rules.

In 2018, the Bank dealt with 1,726 requests to delete personal data following
publication of the EU General Data Protection Regulation. We received 6
complaints, one of which was passed up to the Spanish Data Protection Agency
(AEPD) and is currently pending resolution.

There were no penalties, warnings or cases of non-compliance in this area in
2018.
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4.4. CUSTOMER RELATION CHANNELS

1. Branch network

The branch is the usual place for conducting relationships with the customer.
Caja Rural de Navarra had 252 branches to serve its business at the end of
2018, distributed among the Autonomous Regions as follows:

BASQUE COUNTRY NAVARRE LA RIOJA
89 139 24

3 new branches were opened since the prior year, both in the Basque Country.

Access to financial services is identified as a fundamental factor in social
cohesion. In Spain, the erosion of branch networks seen in recent years could
increase levels of financial exclusion in the regions.

The latest available Bank of Spain report on “Closure of banks and access
to cash in Spain” shows that 4,109 municipalities, mostly small — 194 of them
have less than 30 residents and 521 less than 50 — had no bank branch at
end-2017. This means that 2.7% of the population, approximately 1.26 million
people, have no bank in the municipality where they live. Also, at end-2017
there were 50,839 ATMs, 17.06% fewer than ten years ago. The report justifies
this reduction citing the “period of adjustments and cost-cutting” that the
sector is undergoing.

In these circumstances, Caja Rural de Navarra stands out as the number of
branchesinlocations with fewer than 3,000 inhabitantsis 73, none having been
closed in recent years. The Bank’s presence in these locations is fundamental
to its provision of a full financial service, which unquestionably helps sustain
economic activity and so over the medium term helps prevent depopulation
in these areas. This is part of the social commitment that the Bank maintains
with the rural world, which was its original market and environment many
decades ago.

Architectural barriers: At Caja Rural de Navarra we have long been aware of
the need to have an accessible network of branches, not only to comply with
Accessibility Regulations but also to benefit our employees and customers.

There are now no architectural barriers in most branches. However, some,
due to the features of the building where it is located, do present some minor
accessibility problems. Whenever a branch undergoesrenovation work, we take
the opportunity to make improvements designed to improve its accessibility. In
2018, we carried out such work on 3 branches.
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2. ATMs and other devices

The Bank has finished modernising its ATMs so that they can accept
deposits, issue receipts for cash deposits (customers and non-customers)
and conduct “contactless” transactions. Ownership of the ATMs continues
to be hived off to Redsys. This project should be completed in the course
of 2020.

At the end of the year, the Bank had 312 ATMs, of which 285 were in branches
and 27 elsewhere. It also had 21,668 PoS terminals in 18,564 stores and other
businesses.

Note that, following the collaboration agreements signed with other entities
such as Grupo Cajamar, Banco Popular, Laboral Kutxa, Deutsche Bank,
Bankinter, Targo B